



OCCASION

This publication has been made available to the public on the occasion of the 50th anniversary of the United Nations Industrial Development Organisation.

TOGETHER

for a sustainable future

DISCLAIMER

This document has been produced without formal United Nations editing. The designations employed and the presentation of the material in this document do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of the Secretariat of the United Nations Industrial Development Organization (UNIDO) concerning the legal status of any country, territory, city or area or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries, or its economic system or degree of development. Designations such as "developed", "industrialized" and "developing" are intended for statistical convenience and do not necessarily express a judgment about the stage reached by a particular country or area in the development process. Mention of firm names or commercial products does not constitute an endorsement by UNIDO.

FAIR USE POLICY

Any part of this publication may be quoted and referenced for educational and research purposes without additional permission from UNIDO. However, those who make use of quoting and referencing this publication are requested to follow the Fair Use Policy of giving due credit to UNIDO.

CONTACT

Please contact <u>publications@unido.org</u> for further information concerning UNIDO publications.

For more information about UNIDO, please visit us at <u>www.unido.org</u>





MICROCORY RECOLUTION THAT SHARE

Har has a second of the bound of

11120

UNITED NATIONE INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT ORGANIZATION

Distr. LiMITED

UNIDO/IS.285 17 December 1981

English

RESTRUCTURING WORLD INDUSTRY IN A PERIOD OF CRISIS - THE ROLE OF INHOVATION

An Analysis of Recent Developments in the Semiconductor Industry*

Ernst

Prepared by the Global and Conceptual Studies Branch Division for Industrial Studies

UNIDO Working Paper on Structural Changes

002363

* This document has been reproduced without formal editing.

The designations employed and the presentation of the material in thi document do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of the Secretariat of the United Fations concerning the legal status of any country, territory, city or area of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries.

V.81 33549

CONTENTS

Foreword Χi An Outline of the Study 1 Chapter 1 Innovation and Industrial Restructuring -What Can Be Learnt from Historical Experience? 11 1.1. Innovation and Industrial Restructuring in a Period of High Growth - the Concept of a "Cumulative Virtuous Circle" 13 1.1.1 Some Basic Facts 13 1.1.2 The Concept of a "Cumulative Virtuous Circle" of Industrial Growth and Restructuring - the Basic Message 15 (a) The role of the capital gools sector 16 (b) International competitiveness 16 (c) Lessons for today 17 1.1.3 Factors Conditioning the Post-War Industrial 19 Growth Boom 1.2. From a Virtuous to a Vicious Circle of Growth and Productivity - Conditioning Factors of the 25 Economic Crisis 1.2.1 The Profit Squeeze and Industrial Decline 25 1.2.2 Factors Behind the Profit Squeeze - a Highly 28 Simplified Model 1.2.3 Major Structural Changes Underlying the Crisis 29 (a) Rising unit labour costs 30 (b) Changes in the cost structure 3.2 (c) The sharpening fiscal crisis of the state 33 (d) Demand stagnation, particularly for former 35 growth industries (e) Intensifying world market competition 37 Crisis, Innovation and Industrial Restructuring 1.3.

- Some Preliminary Conclusions

Page

30

Chapter 2	The Crisis of Semiconductor Manufacturing - From the Chip Shortage of 1979 to Demand Stagnation and Profit Squeeze	42
2.1.	An Industry Highly Vulnerable to the Economic Crisis	43
2.1.1.	The Myth of a Crisis-Resistant Industry	43
2.1.2.	The Semiconductor Crisis Cycle - A Simpli- fied Model	կկ
2.2.	The Chip Shortage of 1979	46
2.2.1.	Monopsonistic Trends on Open Semiconductor Markets	47
2.2.2.	The Dramatically Rising Fixed Capital Requirements	47
2.2.3.	Insufficient and Declining Profitability and Problems to Find Investment Capital	48
2.3.	Demand Stagnation and Profit Squeeze - Some Underlying Factors	50
2.3.1.	Some Basic Facts	50
2.3.2.	Factors Conditioning Excess Capacities	51
2.3.3.	Causes Underlying the Increasing Cost Burden	53
2.3.4.	The Impact on Chip Demand	53
2.3.5.	Potential Future Growth Areas for Applications	55
2.3.6.	Crisis and Corporate Strategy - the Case of Texas Instruments	56
2.4.	Perspectives for the Future	58
2.4.1.	Conflicting Projections	58
2.4.2.	A Ferocious Price War	60
2.4.3.	Recent Trends in the Memory Market	61
2.4.4.	The Forthcoming Rounds of the Semiconductor War - Changing Starting Positions of Major Competitors	62

Page

hapter 3 Innovation and the Changing Economics of Semi- conductor Manufacturing		63
3.1.	Innovation, Structural Transformation and Inter- national Location - the Context	64
3.2.	Trends in Electronics Technology	
3.2.1.	Relevance and Criteria of Selection	65
3.2.2.	A New Type of Market Segmentation and the Emergence of New Technological Sub-branches	
3.2.3.	The Custom Chips Bottleneck	77
3.2.4.	Trends in Circuit Design	79
	(a) Constraints inherent to the conventional design approach	79
	(b) Gate array technology	80
3.2.5.	Recent Developments in Production Technology	84
	 (a) Conditioning factors and major areas of change 	84
	(b) Changes in lithographic techniques	86
	(c) New processes for wafer fabrication	88
	(d) The proliferation of automation	89
	(e) The transition lowards automated assembly	92
	(f) Changes of manufacturing technology in application areas	93
3.2.6.	The Increasing Importance of Application Technology	94
	 (a) Options for increasing application orientation 	94
	(b) The convergence between circuit and system design - the pressure to increase technical and industrial synergism	95
3.3.	The Changing Economics of Semiconductor Manu- facturing	97
3.3.1.	Significant Changes in the Overall Cost Structure	97
3.3.2.	Changing Skill Requirements	9 9
3.3.3.	The Dramatic Increase in the Costs of Marke. Entrance	102

ø

		Page
3.3.4.	Factors Underlying the Increasing Cost Burden of Semiconductor Manufacturing	103
	(a) The decreasing importance of basic re-	
	search and the increasing weight of design and mask making	103
	(b) The increasing importance of firmware	104
	(c) Rising budget requirements for circuit development	104
	(d) The expansion of new and rigid forms of a technological protectionism	105
	(e) The soaring costs of equipment used to make semiconductors	106
Chapter 4	The Software Sector - Conditioning Factors and Possible Future Trends	110
4.1.	The Concept of Software and Some Major Issues	111
4.2.	The Emergence of a Separate Software Sector	113
4.2.1.	The Origins	113
4.2.2.	Cor itioning Factors	115
4.3.	Tryids in the Market Structure	118
4.3.1.	Software - A Part of Computer Services	119
4.3.2.	Types of Market Segmentation	122
4.3.3.	Software Packagez	125
4.3.4.	Identifying the Actors	127·
4.4.	The Software Bottleneck - Relevance and Under- Lying Causes	132
4.4.1.	The Increasing Software Cost Burden - Some Basic Figures	132
4.4.2.	The Relevance	134
4.4.3.	Some Underlying Causes	136
4.5.	Perspectives for the Future	139
4.5.1.	Counter-Strategies	139
4.5.2.	The Failure of Attempts to Reorganize the Production of Software	140
4.5.3.	Implications for Industrial Restructuring	142
4.5.4.	The Concentration and Globalization of Control	144

0 1

- iv -

		Page
Chapter 5	The Interaction between Recent Technological Breakthroughs and Industrial Festructuring	147
5.1.	Implications for Corporate Structure and Strategy	148
5.1.1.	The Search for New Modes to Finance Growth	148
	 (a) The traditional approach: focus on yield improvement and learning curve pricing 	150
	(b) The defensive approach: cutting back production	153
5.1.2.	Transition to Cut-throat Competition - the Role of Japanese Firms	154
	(a) The subordinate role played by West European firms	154
	(b) The scope for further market penetration by Japanese firms	155
	(c) The widening US-Japanese trade gap in electronic-based products	158
	(d) Towards a new "Japanese challenge" for the world computer and telecommunications markets?	159
5.1.3.	The Search for New Patterns of a Division of Labour Between Firms Involved in Semiconductor Manufecturing	1 61
	(a) he driving forces	161
	(b) New subcontracting arrangements in the field of "silicon foundry services"	163
	(c) The new trend towards inter-company co-operation	1 6 7
	(d) The underlying logic	169
5.2.	The Dialectics of Forward and Backward Integra- tion - Towards a New Semiconductor Industry of Corporate Giants?	171
5.2.1.	Forward versus Backward Integration - Conditioning Factors, Constraints and Recent Trends	171
	(a) The emergence of a "Global Electronics Sector"?	171

		Page
	(b) Types of vertical integration	173
	(c) A viable approach?	174
5.2.2.	The Recent Wave of Acquisitions and Mergers in the US	
5.2.3.	The Emergence of New Start-Up Companies - Does it Indicate a Reversal of Consolida- tion Trends?	178
5.2.4.	Acquisitions and Concentration - The Fate of Firms Producing Semiconductor Equipment?	181
	(a) The semiconductor equipment business - growth potential and structural change	181
	(b) The equipment shortage and the dramatic increase in equipment cost	184
	(c) Acquisition and concentration - trends and underlying causes	185
5.3.	Who Will Dominate the Electronics Complex? Recent Moves by Major Actors	
5.3.1	3.1 Patterns of Technological Spin-offs - Who Will Control and Benefit From Them?	
	(a) "he "Electronics Complex"	187
	(b) A typology of firms involved in the information processing sector	188
	(c) Consequences for industrial restructuring in the information processing sector	189
	(d) Semiconductor versus system firms: the changing balance	190
	(e) Towards radical structural changes of firms engaged in information processing	193
5.3.2.	The New Economics of Computer Building - Its Implications for Corporate Strategy and Structure	196
	(a) Rising المنابعة requirements - towards a "capital crunch"?	196
	(b) The new focus on low-cost production	197
	(c) A further push towards backward integration?	198

- vi -

- vii -

		Page
5.3.3.	Innovation and Corporate Strategy - the Case of Olivetti	200
	(a) Indicators of success	200
	(b) The Olivetti strategy	201
	(c) Lessons to be drawn	203
<u>Chapter ó</u>	Lapter óImplications for the International Restructuring of Semiconductor Manufacturing and for Global Patterns of Technological Dominance and Dependence	
6.1.	Crisis, Innovation and International Restruc- turing of Industry - The Key Questions of this Study	206
6.2.	Will Industries Be Relocated Back to the North? A Review of Recent Studies on the TV and the Garment Industry	210
6.2.1.	The "Relocation Back to the North" - Hypothesis	210
6.2.2.	An Empirical and Theoretical Critique	211
6.2.3.	The Case of Manufacturing TV Sets	
6.2.4.	Applying Microelectronic Industrial Auto- mation Systems to the Garment Industry - the Gap Between Expectations and Reality	217
6.3.	Innovation, Comparative Advantage and Changes in International Location Patterns - the Over- all Picture in the Semiconductor Industry	220
6.3.1.	The Context and the Basic Message	220
6.3.2.	The Lack of Empirical Evidence	223
6.3.3.	Recent Changes in the International Location of Semiconductor Manufacturing	225
	 (a) Four levels of international restruc- turing 	225
	(b) Locational shifts within the OECD region	227
	(c) Three main conditioning factors	228
	(d) Shifting high-technology investment to Japan - the trend of the future?	232
6.4.	The Restructuring of Offshore Chip Assembly - An Empirical Assessment	235
6.4.1.	Major Developments in the Industrial Restruc- turing of Offshore Chip Assembly	235

;

Page

6.4.2.	A Slowing-down of Investment into Offshore Assembly		
6.4.3.	Stagnating, If Not Declining Employment		
6.4.4.	Output and Export Figures Continue to Rise for all Major Offshore Locations		
6.4.5.	The Rise and Fall of Value-Added in Offshore Chip Assembly		
6.5.	Possible Future Trends - the Conflicting Evidence	252	
6.5.1.	Options Depend on the Actors Involved - the Complex and Dynamic Interplay of Factors Conditioning International Location Patterns	252	
6.5.2.	"Automate, But Bring It Back Onshore" - the Rationale Underlying Future Trends in Semi- conductor Assembly	254	
6.5.3.	A Renewed Drive for Internationalization - the Case of Siemens	257	
6.5.4.	From Worldmarket-Oriented Chip Assembly to an Integrated Electronics Industry - a Realistic Option for Developing Countries?		
6.6.	International Transfer of Technology and Industrial Restructuring - Perspectives for the 1980s		
6.6.1.	Increasing Constraints to a Consensus among Privileged Actors	266	
	 (a) A qualitative intensification of inter- national trade competition 	268	
	(b) New challenges to the technological dominance of OECD-based firms	270	
	(c) Capital goods exports to developing countries and transfer of technology - possible future trends	271	
6.6.2.	Strategic Options for OECD-Countries	275	
	(a) The new OECD doctrine of industrial restructuring	275	
	(b) The impact of the economic crisis	276	
	(c) Constraints to intra-OECD co-operation	279	
6.6.3.	Perspectives	230	

<u>Chapter 7</u>	Innovation and International Restructuring of Industry in a Period of Crisis - Some Tentative Conclusions Drawn from the Experience of Semiconductor Manufacturing	281
7.1.	The Basic Message of this Study	282
7.2.	The Need for a Fresh Theorecical Approach	285
7.3.	The "New International Division of Labour" Theory - 3 Critique	287
7.3.1.	The Theory	287
7.3.2.	Two Key Analytical Statements	290
7.3.3.	A Theoretical and Methodological Critique	291
7.4.	Towards an Alternative Approach: Capital Accumulation, Work Relations and New Informa- tion Technologies	295
7.4.1.	Work and Labour Rationalization	295
7.4.2.	Rationalization of Constant Capital	298
7.4.3.	New Information Technologies - Towards a Radical Change of Established Modes of Industrial Production	300
7.4.4.	Implications	306
Notes		307
Bibliography		329

- :x -

Page



FOREWORD

This study was undertaken in the framework of the research programme of UNIDO on industrial redeployment and structural change. Through the programme it is attempted to carry out a continuous surveillance of the international process of industrial restructuring. By identifying major determining factors and indicating the likely direction and possible implications of this process, uncertainties and rigidities of international restructuring may be reduced and a basis created for a forward looking concept of industrial co-operation between developed and developing countries.

In this study the role of innovation in the changing industrial structure is treated, through an analysis of a particular type of innovation, i.e., the manufacturing and application of micro-electronic circuits.

The study was carried out by Mr. Dieter Ernst, Projekt Technologietransfer, University of Mamburg, as UNIDO Consultant.

- xi -

The Issue

Amidst a serious economic crisis, world industry today is undergoing important structural changes. One of them relates to the application of major innovations to industrial products and processes which has already initiated a process of turning upside down established modes of industrial production. In addition, a new breed of "industrializing industries" is emerging together with new patterns of a social and international division of labour in industry which will have considerable implications on how science and technology and economic and social development will be related in the future.

What are we to expect? Will the application of new technolohelp to contain the crisis of the world economy, and thus allow major actors to switch to more accomodating positions with regard to international competition and co-operation? Will it further broaden the base for an integrated and increasingly self-reliant transformation of Third World 30cieties and thus improve their scope for choice of international specialization patterns and their bargaining power in the newly emerging global economic and geopolitical conflicts? Or will it rather lead to an increased hierarchization of international economic, political and military relations, especially with regard to the North-South context, with all the resulting consequences for growing misery and the proliferation of global and regional conflict acenarios?

Purpose of the Study

Obviously, the present study cannot give ready answers to these questions. What it will try to do however, is to set out a framework for analyzing the interaction between the introduction of new technologies and the restructuring of world industry, particularly with regard to emerging new international location patterns. Its main purpose is to contribute to recent attempts to redefine and operationalize the concept of "industrial restructuring" in order to make it a more viable guideline for international negotiations. To achieve this goal, it would not be enough to be responsive to the structural issues which are clearly visible today. Future structural changes must be anticipated. The vulnerabilities of the world economy and particularly of nor-oil exporting developing countries generated by such structural changes must be taken into account right now, in order. to formulate a strategy for the future.

Research for this study has been guided by one overriding concern which is reflected in the following three basic questions:

- How will innovation in a period of crisis affect global patterns of control over international trude and strategic assets needed for developing and producing industrial products and services, particularly technology and capital?
- What impact are we to expect on the capacity of major actors in the restructuring of world industry to push through their strategies?
- And, finally what are the implications for developing countries trying to implement strategies of transition to more selfreliant patterns of industrialization?

Focus on Microelectronic Innovations and their Impact on Semiconductor Manufacturing

The study focusses on one particular type of innovation, i.e. recent breakthroughs in designing and manufacturing microelectronic circuits and in applying them to industrial products and processes. In particular, it analyses how recent developments in microelectronic technology, both hardware and software, have already changed considerably the economics of semiconductor manufacturing and how this is going to be reflected in corporate structure and strategies and in changing patterns of industrial restructuring, both sector-wise and geographically. The key question is: what have been the driving forces behind recent changes of international location patterns in

- 2 -

semiconductor manufacturing and in particular, what lessors can be drawn from this sector concerning the interaction between innovation and industrial restructuring in a period of crisis?

The Basic Message of the Study

Based on a vast body of empirical material, this study tries to convey four basic arguments:

- <u>First</u>, amidst a severe crisis of the world economy, innovation and industrial restlucturing are interacting in a rather different manner than during a period of high growth of industrial production and trade, as experienced until the early 1970s. This is reflected in particular in the choice of priority areas for the development of microelect onic technologies, ranging from circuit design to applications software, and in the speed of introducing these vechnologies into industrial products and services and to the process of production.

- <u>Second</u>, the study underlines that, in a period of crisis, the actors involved in innovation and industrial restructuring are confronted with rather different constraints than in the period of high growth and that this is bound to be reflected in their scope for compromise and in the intensity of the conflicts prevailing between them.

- <u>Third</u>, it is shown that innovation has been an important but by no means exclusive factor behind the new patterns of industrial restructuring and international location which have been recently emerging in the semiconductor industry. It matters of course, that new technologies are available for automating the whole cycle of semiconductor manufacturing ranging from design to final testing. But this is only part of the story. What this study basically is trying to show is that the use of new microelectronic technologies and the dirtribution of control over the relevant innovative capacities conditions, but does not determine by itself the restructuring of world industry.

- 3 -

In the final analysis, industrial restructuring is determined by the economic, social and political power structures within which the social actors who are engaged in industrial production, trade, and in the exchange of production factors, have to operate.

- <u>Fourth</u>, and finally, the evidence presented shows that most of the prevailing expectations of how restructuring of industries in the industrialized countries and redeployment of industries to the Third World would interrelate, will have to be considerably revised. Furthermore, established modes of analyzing trends in international transfer of technology are of only limited relevance today and a fresh approach is needed to the conceptualization of how control over technology and industrial redeployment are interrelated. In short, without a theory of the international economic crisis, it will be impossible to link together technology, demand and structural change in world industry.

The Contents of the Study

The study consists of seven chapters. <u>Chapter One</u>, entitled "Innovation and Industrial Restructuring - .hat can be Learned from Historical Experience?" sets the stage for the more empirical and policy-oriented chapters. It reviews the historical experience of innovation and restructuring in the OECD area and develops, albeit in a still tentative menner, a theoretical framework for analysing the interaction of innovation and industrial restructuring.

What this chapter basically tries to do is to relate the concept. of industrial restructuring to a much broader context, i.e., the int actions between the crisis of the world economy and patterns of growtu and innovation. It shows that, in a period of crisis, innovation and industrial restructuring are bound to interact in a different menner than in a period of high growth of industrial production and trade. In particular, this chapter analyzes some major structural changes underlying the present crisis which have caused a transition from a virtuous to a vicious circle of industrial growth and productivity.

- 4 -

Chapter Two, entitled "The Crisis of Semiconductor Manufacturingfrom the Chip Shortage of 1979 to Demand Stagnation and Profit Squeeze" documents that, in contrast to the fashioLable myth of a crisis-resistant industry, the electronics industry, and particularly semiconductor manufacturing have turned out to be highly vulnerable to cyclical ups and downs and even more so to the underlying structural crisis. It identifies some key factors underlying the semiconductor crisis cycle and analyzes in particular the transition from the chip shortage of 1979 to the memory to the underlying actors in the semiconductor business are reacting towards the crisis and that the starting positions for the next round of a global semiconductor war are undergoing rapid change.

<u>Chapter Three</u>, entitled "Innovation and the Changing Economics of Semiconductor Manufacturing", presents an in-depth analysis of some basic interrelations between innovation and the changing economics of semiconductor manufacturing. Its main purpose is to identify the impact which new technological developments, both in electronics hardware and software, are going to have on market structures and on patterns of control over strategic assets of this industry. Recent trends in circuit design and production technology are discussed in detail and the convergence between circuit and system design due to the increasing importance of application requirements.

The chapter then documents that as a result of these technological developments, the economics of designing and manufacturing semiconductors have been subordinated to a radical change. This industry which used to be characterized by a relatively high labour intensity, today experiences sky-rocketing capital outlays and a dramatic upsurge in capital intensity. In addition, there has been a tremendous pressure to increase technical and industrial synergism and thus to go ahead with acquisition moves and vertical integration. In particular, three types of changes in the economics of semiconductor manufacturing are extensively analyzed: changes in the overall cost structure; the radically changing skill requirements; and the dramatic increase in the costs of market Finally, this chapter identifies some major causes underlying entrance. the increasing cost burden of semiconductor manufacturing.

- 5 -

<u>Chapter Four</u>, entitled "The Software Sector - Conditioning Factors and Possible Future Trends", analyzes some recent trends in the software sector and evaluates the perspectives for strategies to reduce the software bottleneck. This is in fact ar issue of crucial importance for understanding the scope and constraints for applying microelectronicsrelated innovctions to industrial products and processes.

The chapter sets out to define the concept of software and the functions software is supposed to fulfil. It then reviews the origin and driving forces behind the emergence of a separate software sector and recent structural changes in the software market. The main thrust of this chapter is to identify more clearly some major causes underlying the software bottleneck and the strategies of major actors involved. Finally, an attempt is made to evaluate the effectiveness of strategies to reorganize the production of software and to identify the impact of forthcoming structural changes in this sector on corporate structure and strategy.

<u>Chapter Five</u>, entitled "The Interaction between Recent Technological Breakthrough and Industrial Restructuring", is concerned with some new patterns of competition and control emerging in the semiconductor industry and their interaction with the application of recent breakthroughs in electronic technology. The combined effect of demand stagnation and profit squeeze and the semiconductor industry's high vulnerability to an economic recession has made this industry in fact less attractive as an investment opportunity. Consequently, the semiconductor business is increasingly running into problems of capital formation and investment.

It is in this context that this chapter discusses some recent approaches to a re-adaptation of corporate structure and strategy and the search for new patterns of a division of labour between firms involved in semiconductor manufacturing. The dialectics of forward and backward integration are analyzed in detail and the trend towards a new semiconductor industry of corporate giants. In addition, this chapter analyzes some recent structural changes in the semiconductor equipment and and the information processing sectors and shows that consequently the prevailing modes of integrating the semiconductor industry into the overall electronics sector are considerably changing.

- 6 -

Finally, this chapter documents the complexity of this process of transition to new patterns of hierarchical control and shows that, by and large, huge and highly diversified firms are best placed to reap the major benefits of this type of industrial restructuring.

The subject of <u>Chapter Six</u>, entitled, "Implications for the International Restructuring of Semiconductor Manufacturing and for Global Patterns of Technological Dominance and Dependence", is the interaction between innovation, comparative advantage and changes in international location patterns. In particular, this chapter identifies some major trends in the international restructuring of semiconductor manufacturing and presents an in-depth empirical assessment of recent developments in offshore chip assembly, especially in South-East Asia.

The main message of this chapter can be summarized as follows:

- <u>First</u>, the issue of immediate concern is not so much the possibility of outright relocation of industrial activities from the South, particularly some South-East Asian "export platform " countries, back to the OECD region. Manufacturing of semiconductors in the Third World will continue to expand - at least for certain product families, for those specific stages of production which are not essential for exercising systems control and restricted to a fairly small number of "exclusive" production sites.

However, offshore chip assembly is already undergoing major structural changes, with the result that positive effects to be reaped by developing countries on employment generation, forward and backward inter-industrial integration, skill formation and technological spin-offs might become even smaller and less viable than today. It is to these changes and their impact on industrialization scenarios in the Third World that future analysis should be mainly geared.

- <u>Second</u>, the new economics of semiconductor manufacturing are already having a considerable impact on international location patterns. However, our understanding of what is really happening is handicapped by a serious lack of empirical evidence which would allow us to differentiate the analysis of changes in international location patterns according to products and stages of production involved.

- ? -

Moreover, the mono-causalistic approaches of prevailing theories of "international restructuring of industry" are unable to capture the complex interaction of factors conditioning the new strategies of international location in semiconductor manufacturing and thus could lead to a serious misreading of reality.

- <u>Thi.d</u>, attempts to project the most likely future scenarios for the international restructuring of the semiconductor industry are based on very unsafe grounds. This would apply in particular to the role which production sites in the Third World are going to play. What is possible, however, is to identify some of the options facing the major actors of international restructuring in this sector, particularly private firms based in the CECD region, and to confront them with those bits and pieces of mostly conflicting evidence which is available today.

- Fourth, as long as developing countries would continue to rely predominantly on the willingness and capacity of private firms originating from the OECD region to redeploy production facilities and technology, they could hardly expect to increase the viability of their existing segmented world market - oriented chip assembly lines. Within such a scenario of passive and unselective world market integration, the vulnerability of these production lines to the economic crisis and to the impact of radical technological breakthroughs will remain excessive and there will be not much chance to proceed to an increasingly integrated electronics industry which could be subordinated to the specific requirements of these countries.

- Fifth, any projection on possible future trends in international location patterns of industry could hardly claim to be realistic, if it would not be related to a much broader context, i.e., the overall perspectives for future interactions of innovation, international transfer of technology and international restructuring in a period of crisis. In the final analysis, it is the overall trend towards increased concentration of control over strategic assets and the comcomitant emergence of new patterns of global and regional oligopolistic competition which should be in the centre of future discussions. Intra-OECD rivalry, particularly among US firms and

- 8 -

between them and the Japanese firms is the main driving force and gives rise to ever new rounds of a global technological race.

Finally, <u>Chapter Seven</u>, entitled "Innovation and International Restructuring of Industry in a Period of Crisis - Some Tentative Conclusions Drawn from the Experience of Semiconductor Manufacturing" has a two-fold purpose:

- <u>First</u>, to identify the driving forces behind recent changes of international location patterns in semiconductor manufacturing, particularly the role of technology, and to assess to what degree prevailing theories of international industrial restructuring are capable of answering this question and thus could be used as guidelines for policy prescriptions.

- <u>Second</u>, based on the experience of the semiconductor industry, to present some theoretical conclusions on how innovation and industrial restructuring are going to interact in a period of crisis.

Based on a critical assessment of some of the more refined attempts to analyze how innovation, restructuring and redeployment of industries to the Third World interrelate, this chapter demonstrates that we still lack an adequate theoretical approach to these problems. It is shown in particular that this critique would apply also to three otherwise very useful attempts to demystify conventional wisdom on international economic relations: the neo-technological theories of international trade, those theories of the internationalization of capital which tend to restrict their analysis to a specific branch; and the "New International Division of Labour" school.

In order to understand the impact of innovation on industrial restructuring and on international location patterns, we need to know more about the conditioning factors of innovation and technological development and their interactions with the economic crisis. The study argues that two factors are of primary importance: the modes of capital accumulation prevailing in a specific historical and geographic context and the related changes in the social relations of production, particularly in the work relations. The study demonstrates that the interrelations between capital accumulation, work relations and technical change have been experiencing considerable changes. The once predominant focus on work and labour rationalization still continues to play an important role - but to view it as the all decisive factor of capital accumulation would be misleading indeed. In fact, the rationalization of constant capital, particularly of energy and raw materials used, machine utilization and product flow speeds, together with attempts to decrease the systems vulnerability of capital accumulation have gained considerably in importance

It is in this context that the introduction of new technology, particularly of new information technologies based on microelectronics circuits, can be expected to play a prominant role in the restructuring of world industry.

- 10 -

CHAPTER 1. INNOVATION AND INDUSTRIAL RESTRUCTURING - WHAT CAN BE LEARNT FROM HISTORICAL EXPERIENCE?

. .

1. <u>Innovation and Industrial Restructuring - What Can Be Learnt</u> from Historical <u>Experience</u>?

Industrial restructuring does not occur in a vacuum. If we want to understand its logic and its major constraints, we have to relate it to a much broader context, i.e. the interactions between the crisis of the world economy and patterns of growth and innovation.

The interactions are fairly complex and do not remain constant over time. We have shown elsewhere $\frac{1}{}$ to what degree patterns of innovation and the economic crisis have been closely interrelated in major OECD countries and how this has been reflected in major industrial sectors. In other words, in a period of crisis, innovation and industrial restructuring are bound to interact in a different manner than in a period of high growth of industrial production and trade.

- 12 -

1.1. Innovation and Industrial Restructuring in a Period of High Growth - the Concept of a "Cumulative Virtuous Circle"

1.1.1. Some Basic Facts

For major OECD countries, explosive industrial growth rates were one of the basic characteristics of the post-war period at least till roughly the first half of the 1970s. Whereas during the fifty years from 1900 to 1950, industrial production in these countries grew at an annual rate of 2.8%, it reached 6.1% during the period of 1950-75. $\frac{2}{}$

Obviously, this period of industrial dynamism gave rise to a wids range of structural changes both within industry and in other related sectors, particularly in agriculture and services. For instance, it modified considerably the prevailing modes of agricultural production by pumping in agricultural implements and chemicals and pulling out labour and a considerable amount of the agricultural surplus. It also caused significant changes in established patterns of service activities by increasingly subordinating them to the requirements of producing, financing and commercializing industrial goods. In addition, prevailing patterns of transport and communications infrastructure were considerably modified. Further, industrial growth and restructuring meant that the role of public sector activities and the prevailing modes of government intervention had to undergo significant changes.

Innovation did play a crucial role in this process of industrial growth and restructuring. In fact, the rise of the two most important post-war growth industrie, i.e. bulk chemicals and the car industry, would have been inconceivable without a broad range of innovations concerning both product and process technologies and complementary changes in industrial organization techniques. Let us take the case of bulk chemicals. It was due to the existence of basic innovations in chemical engineering, particularly in oil refining (fluid catalytic-cracking process) $\frac{3}{}$ and in the development of synthetic materials to be substituted for natural resources (fibres, plastics and fertilizers) most of which date back to the early interwar period, $\frac{4}{}$ that after the war the leading chemical firms could set out and implement their radical strategies of converting this industry from one based on coal to one relying predominantly on petrochemical feedstocks.

In addition, product innovations were promoted in such a way that fibres and plastics became applied to an ever increasing number of industrial products. If we add to that the penetration of fertilizers into growing segments of the world agriculture, it is obvicus that hoday practically all economic activities depend heavily on these products.

A third group of innovations which has been essential for the post-war industrial growth has been the application of highly centralized modes of industrial automation and control and the consequent proliferation of continuousflow process techniques from resource-oriented basic industries like the steel industry into a growing number of mechanical engineering industries geared to the production of durable consumer goods, particularly electric household appliances and cars.

Overall, one of the most important effects of the post-war industrial boom in some major OECD countries was, what Fajnzylber called "... a generalized dissemination of the techniques, criteria and organizations typical of industry, within the economy as a whole." $\frac{5}{2}$

In other words, when we talk about industrial restructuring, we should not restrict purselves to sectorial and geographic changes taking place within industry, but should put them

- 14 ~

into the context of much more wide-ranging economic, social and political changes. For instance, if we would stick to conventional but outdated statistical classifications which strictly separate industrial production from industrial services, we would hardly be able to understand the logic inherent to one of the most pertinent features of post-war industrial growth and restructuring, i.e. the upsurge of service activities subordinated to the needs of financing, producing and commercializing industrial products. As long as one argues within such a limited concept of industrial restructuring, the proliferation of new services might easily be interpreted to mean that a process of transition to a "post-industrial or service society" is underway - which in my opinion is a very serious misreading of reality.

But before trying to identify the scope for industrial restructuring during this period and its economic, social and political implications, let us first inquire into some of the conditioning factors underlying this period of industrial dynamism. It is in this context that the concept of a "cumulative virtuous circle" has been developed.

1.1.2. The Concept of a "Cumulative Virtuous Circle" of Industrial Growth and Restructuring - the Basic Message <u>7</u>/

This concept tries to link together growth, innovation, productivity and international competitiveness. It starts from the assumption that the higher the growth rate of an economy, the faster the incorporation of innovations into industrial equipment, processes and products. This in turn would transform the overall structure of industry, enabling it to take advantage of the scale economies generated by the growth of overall demand, and increasing the cap: tal-labour ratio. This type of industrial restructuring would take place both at the level of corporate structure and strategy and with regard to the overall division of labour between industries (the "industrial organization").

- 15 -

Increased productivity, on the other hand, would allow an increase in the market through a rise in remuneration; it would increase the resources available for r+d; it would facilitate the funding of the required expansion in public infrastructure services without affecting the financial capacity of enterprises for sustaining the expansion. Thus a "cumulative virtuous circle" would emerge which links and provider feedbacks between growth and productivity.

(a) The role of the capital goods sector

It is important to note however that there is a basic prerequisite for realizing this virtuous circle: the existence of an integrated capital good sector. Being "... an embodiment of technological progress...", the capital good sector "... exerts a strong influence on changes taking place in labour and investment, productivity, and, as a result, in the international competitiveness of national economies." $\stackrel{\mathcal{Y}}{\rightharpoonup}$ This is why the capital good sector "... can be considered as a basic element for the analysis of special properies of different national industrial systems. The magnitude of its presence and behaviour, moreover, marks one of the fundamental differences between the advanced industrial economies and the semi-industrialized economies, especially those of Latin America." 2/ It is this strategic role of an integrated capital good sector which has been stated quite explicitely in the original versions of this concept but which, as we shall see, tends to be neglected in more recent discussions.

(b) International competitiveness

A third element of this concept relates to international competitiveness. Let us assume that a country has been able to get moving a cumulative virtuous circle between growth, innovation and productivity. It is claimed that this would enable our country to enlargen the scope for integrating its

- 16 -

economy into the world market and for participation in the expansion of international trade and transborder flows of investment and technology.

This would be so basically for two measons:

- First, with a highly dynamic internal demand, the pressure to raise barriers for importations of foreign productions will decrease. In other words, for a country with repidly growing internal markets, the scope for propagating "free trade" will increase as will the scope for subordinating this type of world market integration to the country's growth requirements.
- Second, the greater the growth of productivity and innovations, the greater are the possibilities for competing on the international market, with the additional incentive of reaping scale economies which in turn intensify growth, productivity and technological change. $\frac{10}{10}$

To conclude, the concept of a "cumulative virtuous circle" claims to have ... identified the economic mechanisms which would allow to link together growth, technological change and the internationalisation of trade and production. It underlines, albeit in a somewhat vague memore, the strategic role of capital goods production and shows that without a dynamic internal market, expanding world market integration could become a mixed blessing for most countries indeed.

(c) Lessons for today

What lessons can be drawn today from this concept of a "cumulative virtuous circle", particularly with regard to understanding the interrelations between the economic crisis, innovation and international restructuring in industry?

Originally, this concept was developed in an attempt to define a framework for analysing some of the basic factors

conditioning post-war industrial growth and restructuring in some OECD countries, particularly in the U.S. and Western Europ. $\frac{11}{j}$

Today, there is a growing tendency, both in OECD and Third World countries, to use this concept as kind of a normative guideline for policies to break through stagflation and industrial decline. $\frac{12}{}$ Amidst a deteriorating economic crisis, expectations are in fact running high that strategies to reestablish such a "cumulative virtuous circle" for industrial growth could show a way out and the key variables are said to be innovation, productivity and international competitiveness.

Yet, in order to evaluate the chances of success for such an approach today, we need to be explicit on what have been the specific historical and structural conditions characterizing the post-war industrial development of OECD countries roughly till the end of the 1960s.

First of all, this was a period of very high growth linked with rapidly expanding international trade flows - and this is very much in contrast to what exists today. In fact, during 1950-75, growth of international trade in industrial products even exceeded the already very high growth rates of industrial production - 8.8% versus 6.1%, $\frac{13}{f}$ whereas today both of them have very much declined.

Table1.1 documents recent structural changes in world industrial production. For Western industrialized countries the decline of industrial dynamism has been dramatic indeed - from an average annual growth rate of 6.4% during 1960-69, industrial growth was practically reduced to half.

Tab.1.1 Manufacturing Industries - Growth of Output in Volume Terms (Compound average annual growth rates, in %)

		1960-1969	1969-1978	
(1)	OECD countries	6,4	3,2	
(2)	Developing countries	6,2	7,1	

Source: UN - Monthly Bulletin, New York, August 1979

- 18 -

When these figures were collected, i.e. in the summer of 1979, it seemed that, at least for some growth poles in the Third World, industrial dynamism had become a major and irreversible fact. Since then however the picture has changed dramatically and a profound erosion of industrial dynamism became obvious even in some former show-pieces like Brazil and South Korea. $\frac{14}{7}$

With regard to international trade, latest figures released by GATT $\frac{15}{}$ show that world trade in real value terms has been continuously declining since mid-1980 from a peak of \$2.000 billion. According to GATT, such a real value decline occured only twice during the last 25 years: in the first half of 1958 and in 1975. Each time it was related to an important decline of industrial production.

In addition, world demand for industrial products has been significantly declining since around 1973 $\frac{16}{}$ with the result that, again according to latest GATT statistics, the share of trade with industrial products in world trade has declined from 60% in 1978 to 55% in 1980. $\frac{17}{}$

1.1.3. Factors Conditioning the Post-War Industrial Growth Boom

One could hardly assume that the specific historical and structural factors which have played an important role for post-war industrial growth and restructuring in OECD countries could be reproduced automatically today. In fact, what this report is trying to show is that since then the once prevailing reference of capital accumulation and industrial growth have been radically changing, as have international trade patterns and modes of moving around capital, labour and technology. In addition, new actors have entered this game and the patterns of conflict and cooperation prevailing between them have also been exposed to significant change. Rapid post-war development of industry in OECD countries was due basically to the following four factors:

- First, the availability, at low wage rates, of a pool of skilled and highly disciplined labour. Originally, this cheap, highly trained labour force cou'd be easily found within the OECD region itself. This was due to the very high unemployment, prevailing especially in Germany and Japan at the end of the war, and to the fact that real wages, particularly again in the fascist countries, had been kept at very low levels and some times even had declined and to the fact that the traumatic experience of the "Great Depression" was still very fresh. In addition, there was a huge mass immigration of workers from agricultural areas to the industrial sectors - witness in Gernany the huge inflow of refugees from the former "Ostgebiete" or in Italy the massive immigration from the South. Further, the female labour force was dramatically increased and predominantly restricted to unskilled, low wage occupations.

At the end of the 1950s, when the first signs of a scarcity of cheap and docile labour force apt for industrial production, were emerging, migrant labour then arrived on a massive scale - in Western Europe particularly from the Meditteranean region.

When, as during the 1960s, international competition became more intense and labour more costly, the internationalization of industrial production, resulting in the location of new plants in countries with abundant and cheap labour, was able to counter for a certain while at least the shift to a labour shortage and increasing wage levels. During the 1970s however constraints inherent to this approach have gained in importance and have forced headquarters management of multinational corporations to look for complementary strategic concepts. 18.7

- <u>Second</u>, the availability of a huge stock of scientifictechnical knowledge, developed primarily for military purposes during the 1930s and the second world war. After the war and amidst a period of reconstructing and heavily subsidized investment, private firms were able to tap this stock of basic innovations at relatively low cost and could selectively develop and commercialize profitable "civilian spin-offs". <u>19</u>/
- <u>Third</u>, as a result of the internationalization of capital, expanding now particularly in production and finance, growth patterns and the dominant technology systems of major OECD countries became increasingly homogenized and adapted to the U.S. model. Basically this model displays four major characteristics:
 - a) Industrial expansion centers around three growth poles, i.e. durable consumer goods and particularly cars, bulk chemicals derived from petrochemical feedstocks, and a broad range of capital goods industries.
 - o) The progressive separation of manual and mental labour in the very process of production itself. This separation of manual and mental labour strongly affects the way in which science and technology are produced and used for accumulation and social development. In fact, it has two highly interrelated effects. On the one hand it leads to a progressive deskilling of a majority of the labour force. On the other, it leads to a growing centralization of control over information and knowledge ("software") by "think tanks", engineering firms, software and systems houses and central management headquarters.
 - c) A progressive computerization and automation not only of industrial production and services but also of industrial products. This relates particularly to the introduction of flexible industrial automation and control systems
based on programmable microelectronic devices and their application both to manufacturing techniques in a narrow sense and to a wide range of productive services from r+d and design, plant layout, process flow planning and work scheduling, maintenance, inventory and global cashflow management and the logistics of worldwide marketing. Products on the other hand tend to be increasingly homogenized; in some extreme cases they are already well on their way to become "black boxes" to be adapted to specific purposes by applications software. $\frac{20}{7}$

- d) An excessive consumption of energy and natural resources and the prevalence of highly capital-intensive, centralized and environmentally degradating modes of energy provision both for material production and human reproduction (foodstuffs). $\frac{21}{1}$ It was the availability, at a low cost, of oil, which between 1950 and 1970 decreased its relative price by 50% $\frac{22}{1}$ that enabled a few key countries of the OECD, particularly the U.S., to stick for such a long time to this extremely wasteful pattern of energy generation and use.
- <u>Fourth</u>, a dynamic demand was secured for a relatively long period by the interplay of the following four developments:
 - a) Due to the depression and the war a lot of fixed capital had been devaluated or even physically destroyed, thus creating a huge demand for "reconstruction investment".
 - b) The demand boom related to the Korean war and the consequent establishment of huge government procurement markets in the U.S., and later on also in Western Europe.
 - c) The massive incorporation of durable consumer goods, particularly electrical household applemices and cars, into the consumption patterns of Western European countries and Japan, thus adapting the U.S. consumption model. As

Fajnzylber recently observed, in markets characterized by high per capita income levels, low birth rates and increasingly limited possibilities of transferring labour from the agricultural sector, "... demand growth was necessarily linked to the launching of new products whose characteristics might include either savings in time or effort, and at the same time goods that provide the possibility of utilizing the time saved through other products." $\frac{23}{}$ This spread of durable consumer goods in turn implied an increase in the capital-labour ratio, and a growing differentiation, particularly in the production branches of foods, clothing, pharmaceuticals, household good and transport - an excellent breeding-ground for the development of oligopolistic competition. $\frac{24}{}$

Yet, the afore-mentioned four basic factors hardly would have enabled major OECD countries to get off ground a process of cumulative and mutually reinforcing industrial growth and restructuring, had there not existed certain structural prerequisites, such as:

- A well-established scientific-technical and productive infrastructure, both in material and organizational terms, and embodied in individual and collective learning and innovative capacities of the labour force, ranging from skilled labour to entrepreneural skills à la Schumpeter, which, inspite of the vaste destructions caused by the fascist holocaust and the war regained relatively rapidly its former strength.
- An agricultural sector which due to its early and far reaching "industrialization" was able to produce a sufficiently high agricultural surplus.
- The existence of well-established institutional and informal mechanisms to define areas of cooperation and to manage conflicts of interst between the major social carriers of industrialization, i.e. private firms, the state, and, to some degree, organized labour.

- And finally, an international economic and geopolitical framework conducive for the worldwide projection of OECD based firms via international trade, investment and transfer of technology.

1. 2. From a Virtuous to a Vicious Circle of Growth and Productivity -Conditioning Factors of the Economic Crisis

1.2.1. The Profit Squeeze and Industrial Decline

A loss of dynamism of industrial growth and restructuring has become evident in major OECD countries since the end of the 1960s. Obvicusly, it has been reinforced and intensified by the fourfold rise in oil-prices in 1973 and by the recent second oil-shock of 1979/1980.

But the really decisive forces have been structural ones. In other words, the decline of industrial dynamism is due to some of the basic socio-economic properties and mechanisms built into those patterns of industrial growth and trade which, in the leading OECD countries at least, have been so successful during the 1950s and 1960s.

Table 1.2. shows that the erosion of industrial dynamism has been accompanied by a significant and lasting decline of gross profits and rates of return for practically all of the ten sample countries. In addition it shows that profits had already started to decline much before the first oilshock of 1973.

Falling rates of profit and industrial stagnation are mutually interlinked in such a way that each tends to increase the other. On the one hand, falling profit rates reduced the propensity to invest and this applies particularly to capacity-enlargening investment. On the other hand, declining investment propensities and the consequent industrial stagnation add further to the decline of profit rates.

But it is certainly the profit squeeze which is the key variable for any analysis trying to explain why industrial growth and restructuring in the OECD are not anymore linked together through a virtuous but rather through a vicious gircle of mutually cumulative structural changes. Tab. 1.2 cass radits and arts or astron. Where cturing

		<u>8</u>	38	1351	135	8	×.	×.	ž.	196	¥	<u>*</u>	. <u></u>	<u>R</u>	ž					<u></u>	VC VC	561	37 6
coneda	522	37.6 37.6	36.4 55.0 10.0	34.5	34.0	34.2		1.11	35.0 15.6	35.6 45.1 16.4	1.92	***			1.5	1.00	2.5.2	2.02	0.0	5.40	44 v • v v	1.0	1.02
United States	555	0.1.1. 1.18 %	22.0 22.0	25.4 78.0 19.8	23.6 70.0	26 78. 2 26. 4	27.0 80.5 21.7	26.6 78.5 20.9	26.8 83.3 22.4	27.5 85.2 23.4	28.0 88.1 24.7	23.5 92.0 27.1		90 S	27.5	25.6 35.6	2.9 B	04.0	- 0	20.7 C		0.04	6.9.7
veder	; ; ;	6.64 1.54 0.6	4. 6 7.7	49.2 53.2 26.2	27.1	47 I 55.0 25.3	51.3 63.4	52.1	49.7 58.9 29.2	1.0.1 5.3.5 2.9.5	8.67 58.7	54.7 54.7 26.0	55.5	7.63.5	50.8		446	2.8 7.7 9.7		52.8 52.8	53.9 9.9 9.9	6 8	
lenur;	: X X	41 58.4 24.0	33.6 57.6 22.8	39. J 56. J 22. I	39.5 55.3 21. 8	13.7 55. 8 22.1	38.6 56.9 21.3	36.7 55.7 20.5	34.2 53.6 10.1	31.8 50.7	35.2 52.2 19.4	35.8	33.4 53.9	171	35.8 32.6	33.6	7.1	5.00		27 59. 0	2.64	28.2 2.5 2.5	1.9
li o i y	ç ç ş	41.5 31.0	35.2	40.4 28.5 11.5	38.8 27.4 10.9	61.2 28.1 11.6	4018 29.3 12.0	43.0 29.8 11.9	35.8 36.0	32.4 29.8 9.7	23.9 26.0 20.1	33.5 37.1	35. 8 10.5	5°53	24.5			8.98 9.0		73.4	28.2	1	
1 1	5XX	31. J 60.6	31.9	32.7 40.1		252	19.6 19.6	30.5	20.9 39.2	1.4 1.5 1.5	29.4 38.1	1	197 17.5 1.5		37.4	1.5	0.00		0.4 0.			8.4. 8.5.=	9.7
the stand	<u>: < 5</u>	33.7 46.1	32.0	31.3 33.8 12.6	9.1 1.9 1.2	32.] 39.6 12.8		30 12 2	29.0 38.2	30.6 37.9	31.0	30 3 8 . 2	28.0 37.9		20.5 10.5	27.5 26.5 10.1	4 6 6	5.4 6.6.6		22.9	29.6 29.6	28.3 4.5	16. J
Australia	1/4	25.9	3.8	27.5	Jo. k	J 0.9	29. 1	27.6	28.0	۲.,9	35.2	4.4	33.8	33.5	33.9		9.4		5.6	0.16	28.0	22.5	
	24	1.1	1.5	42.9	1.1	13.8	4.14	3	3	5	45.0	43.7	1.1			1. I	0.0	0.0	0.3	1.6	34.2	. .	
Rechar Lands	2	5	5.64	12.5	F	1 .1	7.7	4. 4	38.8	36.5	37.1	ус. В	33.1	- ×		16. 4 J	5.8		13.7	¥.9	35.7	35.8	
Parts sera		1	. L. Ž Z			Ĩ.	Ū 4 .		40 (ca) 175	stock													

- 26 -

What structural changes have occured in industrial capitalist societies which are behind the falling rates of profit and the consequent decline of industrial dynamism?

A sound theory of the present economic crisis does not yet exist. So we have to start from those bits and pieces of a crisis theory which seem to be rather well established. $\frac{25}{2}$

To start with, let us focus on four factors: $\frac{26}{-1}$

- The development of global factor productivities;

- Changes in the demand structure, based on substantial modifications of consumption patterns;
- Structural changes of the labour market; and

- Structural changes in the role of the state.

1.2.2. Factors Behind the Profit Squeeze a Highly Simplified Model

Let us assume that the rate of profit in industrial production P/K, where P represents all profits made in industry and K is invested capital, is basically determined by the following six variables:

- w = the wage level
- e = price levels of energy and natural resources and costs of "externalities" $\frac{28}{}$
- t = the tax burden
- d; = growth of internal demand
- d_= growth of demand for the country! exports
- i = contribution of innovation to productivity of fixed capital Q/K where Q is the volume of industrial production.

We now present some hypotheses about how each of these six basic variables is supposed to change. We assume that w, e and t will significantly increase, that d_i and d_e will considerably decline and that also i will decline.

If we then break down the rate of profit P/K into P/Q \cdot Q/K, it can be seen that due to the hypothetical changes in the basic variables, each of these components moves towards a drop in the rate of profit to be reaped in industrial production. In fact, rising w and t cause a decline of P, i.e. the share of the economic surplus available for profits, thus reducing P/Q. Rising e in turn increases K and thus reduces Q/K. Further, declining d_i + d_e cause a decrease in the use of installed productive capacity that exerts a downward pressure on Q/K. Finally, with a decreasing capacity of innovation to increase the productivity of fixed investment, Q/K is falling per definition.

Overall, the productivity of capital Q/K would clearly decline. This could be interpreted to mean that productivity growth has been lower than the increases in the ratio of capital to labour.

- 28 -

Thus, in the framework of our very simplified model, we can conclude that a transition towards a vicious circle of growth and productivity would occur,

- if wage increases significantly exceed productivity;

- if falling growth rates lead to declining rates of productivity increase and to a decreasing use of existing capacities;
- if, due to rising barriers to international trade and investment, the dynamic effects of expanding world market integration cannot anymore be reaped;
- and, finally, if the process of innovation is slowing down and producing decreasing returns in terms of productivity improvments for major factors of production.

In other words, our simplified model contains in a nutshell the message which extensive controversies on "the puzzling drop in productivity" ^{29/} have tried to convey, sometimes in a rather confusing manner.

1.2.3. Major Structural Changes Underlying the Crisis

Any analysis trying to capture the logic underlying the falling rate of profit will have to start from the following five major structural changes which have been emerging in major OECD countries since the mid-1960s:

- rising unit labour costs;
- changes in the cost structure;
- the sharpening fiscal crisis of the state;

- demand stagnation, particularly for former growth industries; - intensifying world market competition.

(a) <u>Rising unit labour costs</u>

Real wages and particularly real unit labour costs have significantly increased, particularly the indirect ones (social security contribution, payments for time off, negotiated benefits in kind, etc.). 31/

This was basically due to the fact that the once easy access to cheap, sufficiently skilled and docile labour increasingly gave way to a labour shortage, particularly for certain key industries and for certain classes of skills. This transition from a labour surplus to a labour shortage did not occur by chance. It is the logical outcome of the prevailing post-war "industrial growth model".

By and large, this mode of industrial growth and restructuring turned out to have much too high labour requirements. This is an important point for the later argumentation of this report, so let me quote two pieces of evidence:

- First, overall employment in the manufacturing sector expanded during the 1950s and the first half of the 1960s, and the most rapidly growing branches, i.e. chemicals and engineering, have been those which showed the greatest growth of employment. 32.
- Second, one of the two key "growth industries", the engineering sector and particularly the capital goods industries, continuously displayed a labour absorptive capacity substantially higher than industry's avenage. This is due to the fact that its capital intensity has been significantly lower than the industry average. In fact, a study of the Economic Commission for Europe has shown that, if the average for industry in general is defined as 100, than the production of electrical and non-electrical machinery in major European countries has a level fluctuating roughly between 60 and 80. 33/

It is this relatively lower capital intensity of capital goods production which has meant that this strategically important sector had to require an increasing share of industrial employment.

Table 1.3. documents trends in labour requirements of the capital goods sector in major OECD countries.

Table	1.3.	Growing	Labour	Requirements	of	the	Capital	Goods
-------	------	---------	--------	--------------	----	-----	---------	-------

	<u>s</u>	ector in Major OECD C	ountries	
		mployment in the capi verall industrial emp	tal goods sector loyment	, in %)
		1963	1973	1977
(1)	Japan	38		44.6
(2)	U.S.	38.1		41.2
(3)	FRG	_ a)	46.7	47.2

a) Earlier figures would not be comparable due to a change in the classification system in 1973

Source: Figures are taken from OECD - "The Impact of the Newly Industrializing Countries on Production and Trade in Manufactures", Paris, 1979, p. 43

Overall, the share of the engineering branch in total manufacturing employment has been significantly increasing, reaching a level of approximately 40% in 1977. $\frac{34}{}$ In addition, the engineering industries and again particularly the machinery and equipment branches have been the only industrial sectors with significant increases in their employment shares between 1963 and 1976. $\frac{35}{}$

It was this shift to a labour shortage in the classical locations of industrial production which allowed the trade unions to strengthen their bargaining position and which gave rise to the "reformist" social policies prevailing especially in some Western Europen countries between the mid-1960s and the beginning of the 19/0s, with the result that the increase of real wages began to exceed the growth of productivity. $\frac{36}{}$ Table 1.^{1,}. shows the consequent increase of real unit labour costs in manufacturing for major OECD countries. $\frac{3?}{2}$

Table 1	.4. Rising Unit Labour Costs a) in Manufacturing for Major
	OECD Countries b), 1963 - 1976
	(average annual growth rates, in %)
1963-70	3.3
1970-73	6.2
1973-76	9.8
a) ₌ adj b) ₌ ave: the	usted for changes in effective exchange rates rage for Canada, the US, Japan, France, the FRG, Italy, UK, and weighted by 1970 exports of manufactures
Source:	Adapted from table 22 of OFCD - "The Impact of the Newly

Source: Adapted from table 22 of OECD - "The Impact of the Newly Industrializing Countries on Production and Trade in Manufactures", Paris, 1979

(b) Changes in the cost structure

Significant changes have been taking place in the cost structure of industrial production and labour costs are no longer the only major concern. First of all, there has bean the abrupt, and probably irreversible, shift upward in real energy prices, resulting in an increased search for alternatives to crude oil, and for methods of conserving energy. Similar developments have occured, at least till 1977, in the costs of certain raw materials, for instance phosphates and various non-ferrous metals. Further, viewed from a capitalist perspective, environmental and social regulations of industrial production meant additional costs. $38\overline{1}$ In fact, as Barnett has shown, $\frac{39'}{100}$ the cests of those measures needed simply to keep at a constant level the environmental changes and the health hazards for the labour force, characteristic for the prevailing mode of industrial production, have reached already astronomic dimensions.

In addition, the cost structure of firms has become increasingly rigid, as the proportion of fixed costs, including interest and wages, that do not decrease with a fall in production, has significantly increased. This has been due basically to two developments:

- Changing patterns of industrial financing, with the recourse to external funding increasing in importance, which in turn increased debt levels of firms;
- The increasing interventions of social and labour legislation and the growing pressure exerted by trade unions to increase job stability.

With the transition to industrial stagnation and in the context of oligopolistic competition this increasing rigidity of corporate cost structure has led to a chain effect of rising costs leading to rising prices which, in turn, determine the increase in wages which, in order to keep real standards of living, had to exceed productivity growth.

In other words, the declining scope for pricing policy due to the increasing rigidity of corporate cost structure further contributed to the vicious circle of industrial stagnation and monetary inflation, called stagflation. $\frac{40}{2}$

(c) The sharpening fiscal crisis of the state

During the industrial boom period, the domiant modes of state intervention in major OECD countries have been considerably changing. Public expenditures have been increasing, public recepts declining, and the consequent fiscal crisis has meant that, overall, the state has become increasingly less capable to create the preconditions for and to guarantee sustained growth. <u>41</u>/ In addition, this meant a decline in the state's capacity to neutralize and counter the unequalizing effects of market-led growth on specific income groups, sectors and regions, together with a weakening of its capacity for crisis management.

Underlying this intensifying fiscal crisis have been various developments:

<u>First</u> of all, public expenditures geared to non-productive uses, in particular to welfare and military purposes have been significantly increasing, with the result that a growing part of the economic surplus has been taken away from capital formation.

<u>Second</u>, rising public expenditures associated with the expansion of government interventions and other public sector activities have increased the relative tax burden to such levels that neo-conservative fiscal doctrines found easy ground for counter-vailing campaigns, the socalled "tax revolts". $\frac{42}{}$

<u>Third</u>, as a result of the growing concentration and internationalization of some leading industrial, commercial and financial capital groups, their capacity for evading at least partially tax payment via global transfer pricing techniques and through technical and geographic relocation has dramatically increased, $\frac{43}{}$ further adding to a reduction of government receipts.

Fourth, concerning public investment, the increasing importance of investment outlays for welfare and military purposes has meant that the already low productivity of capital prevailing in public sector investments has further declined, $\frac{44}{4}$ thus adding to the already explosive growth of public expenditures. All of these aforementioned developments have dramatically increased public sector debt levels in major OECD countries, with the result that the state is increasingly running into difficulties to found r+d outlays geared to the development of new basic innovations. $\frac{457}{10}$ In addition, growing public sector debt adds considerably further pressure to the already fairly intensive inflationary processes.

(d) Demand stagnation, particularly for former growth industries

With regard to demand, probably the most significant changes relate to consumption demand: strong saturation trends for major durable consumption goods, such as cars, TVs and watches, and qualitative changes, such as a new preference for reliability and quality and for new products and services related to health, education, leisure and energy-saving.

A case in point would be the dramatic erosion of demand for cars in major OECD countries.

Table 1.5. gives the trend estimates of demand, both for commercial vehicles and passenger cars, as developed by the OECD-Interfutures project. This table is based on the assumption that by 1990 car demand in major OECD countries will have reached limits of saturation; from then onwards new demand will have to come from COMECON countries, NICs and OPEC countries.

Table 1.5. Trends of demand in the car industry

Region	Passeng	er cars	Connercia	l vehicles
	1960/1976	1976/2000	1950/1976	1976/2000
OECD developed countries	83	31	72	35
Less developed European countries	ŧ	8	3	4
Eastern countries	5	25	9	17
fest of the world	8	36	16	44
World total	100	100	100	100

(i) Share of the various regions in growth of world stock of motor vehicles (%)

(ii) Total demand for passenger cars

Region	Number (thousands) 1974	Percentage of world demand	Number (thousands) 2000	Percentage of world demand	Percentage of replacement demand in 1990
North America	11273	41.0	13500	23.7	84.8
Western Europe	9498	34.6	14900	26.1	87.8
Japan	2670	9.7	4400	1.1	84.3
World	27477	100	57000	100	75.0

(iii) Demand for commercial vehicles (millions)

Region	1976	2000
North America	28.4	43.0
Western Europe	10.5	<i>.</i> 6.0
Japan	10.9	16.0
World	67.1	164.0

Source: OECD-Interfutures - "Facing the Future. ...", Table 59, p. 354.

In addition, also the second major growth industry of the post-war industrial growth pattern, i.e. bulk chemicals based on petrochemical feedstocks, is confronted with significant reductions in demand. This would apply in particular for fertilizers, fibres and plastics and other synthetics substituting natural products. $\frac{46}{5}$

(e) Intensifying world market competition

Amidst a sharpening world economic crisis, private firms based in OECD countries are facing increasing difficulties to open up new markets and to further internationalize industrial production and finance. In a growing number of world market segments, competition tends to become increasingly intense and new forms of cut-throat competition and neo-protectionist regulations are rapidly emerging. We have shown elsewhere $\frac{47}{7}$ that the dominant concern remains intra-OECD rivalry which gives rise to ever new rounds of a global technological race and that competition between major OECD based firms is now encompassing even the remotest corners of the world economy. In addition, cost competition from prodcution sites in some NICs and COMECON countries has also gained in importance, but still remains restricted to a handful of industrial sectors and here again to products and stages of production which overall are characterized by a low-value added and by a still relatively low technological complexity. $\frac{48}{2}$

The upsurge of barriers to global market penetration and a further internationalization of industrial production and finance occurs at a moment when the pressure both for private firms based in and governments of major OECD countries to expand the world market integration of their industrial production, trade and finance has been dramatically increasing. For instance, for a growing variety of market segments, private firms based in the OECD region are faced with stagnating and even declining demand and thus do not have much choice but to try by practically any means to open up new markets abroad. In addition, major economies like for instance the FRG have reached already very high levels of dependence on expanding exports and worldwide sourcing networks and this would apply particularly for their key industrial sectors. $\frac{49}{7}$

In other words, the pressure to expand world market integration of industrial production, finance and trade is a logical outcome of the "industrial growth model" which has evolved after the second world war in major OECD countries. What is new today is that the scope for crisis management via global economic projection, which has worked so well during the 1960s and the first years of the 1970s, has become extremely narrow today.

1.3 <u>Crisis, Innovation and Industrial Restructuring - Some</u> Preliminary Conclusions

Since the end of the 1960s, a profound economic crisis has been building up in practically all economies of the OECD region. Its indicators are all too familiar: stagnating private investment, falling rates of productivity growth, the increasing fragmentation of the labour market and the decline of real wages, the consequent pressure on state expenditures, particularly welfare-related expenditures, the worsening fiscal crisis, and, in a sense reflecting all of these various developments, the increasing rates of unemployment and of inflation.

More than ever since the 1930s, Western societies are experiencing a retrogression of living standards and major social unrest would seem to be imminent. $\frac{50}{}$

In addition, what is new about the present crisis, is its global nature: simultaneously it hits countries and regions with widely diverging socio-economic structures and it does so on a truly world-wide scale.

This means that the scope for overcoming the crisis in the context of a national economy has become extremely narrow, even for a country like the US.

Add to this that, as in any crisis of a society, major economic actors are loosing their confidence in established patterns of anti-crisis management. In fact, the social consensus on how government intervention should be organized to counter the economic crisis has been rapidly withering away in practically all societies of the OECD region, with the probable exception of Japan (how long?). In a situation, where much more public intervention and other forms of social control over market forces would have been needed to stem the tide of the economic crisis and where the selectivity and coherence of these interventions should be improved, the very opposite seems to occur: a powerful movement towards the disengagement of the state from economic regulation seems to be under way, aiming at the re-establishment of a 19th century-type laisser-faire capitalism. $\frac{51}{}$ Besides its extreme manifestations in the UK and in the US, this movement, under the pressure of the deteriorating fiscal crisis, has already started to spill over to practically all other OECD countries with the possible exception of the new government in France. In other words, in a situation where concerted policies of immediate crisis management and long-term structural change would be needed, the institutional and instrumental foundations for such policies are being increasingly undermined.

This is the situation in which we have to analyze the interplay of innovation and industrial restructuring. The key question is what type of conditions should prevail if innovation is to induce a process of transition to new growth patterns?

In the final analysis, the rythm and the forms of technological change depend as much on the underlying social and economic structure and the actors involved as on the availability of innovations. In a period of crisis, the dominant economic circuits and social relations need to undergo a profound change. In other words, innovation and industrial restructuring are confronted with the need to converge structural changes in production and consumption in such a way that new forms of coherence can be established between the prevailing modes of production, the industrial organization, and the prevailing patterns of wage formation and income generation. It should be remembered that after the Big Depression of the 1930s it took nearly three decades to establish this kind of dynamic coherence between patterns of production, wage formation and consumption patterns which have been one of the basic factors underlying the post-war growth period. $\frac{52}{}$

Today, however large may be the potential for applying available technical innovations, the problem seems to be much more one of social innovation. Whether or not Western societies will be able to make available new product and process technologies at the right time and at sufficiently low cost, is indeed a crucial issue. In addition, however, four major challenges would have to be met: $\frac{53}{}$

- Will it be possible to avoid a transition to a cumulative crisis guaranteeing minimum levels of real income?

- 40 -

- Will it be possible to define in a new way the time spent on labour and its contents?
- Will it be possible to reformulate a viable doctrine for public intervention underlying any type of crisis management and industrial restructuring?
- And finally, will it be possible to increase the degree of social consensus on what type of innovation should be promoted and how should it be linked to production and consumption?

CHAPTER 2. THE CRISIS OF SEMICONDUCTOR MANUFACTURING -FROM THE CHIP SHORTAGE OF 1979 TO DEMAND STAGNATION AND PROFIT SQUEEZE

2. <u>The Crisis of Semiconductor Manufacturing - From the Chip</u> <u>Shortage of 1979 to Demand Stagnation and Profit Squeeze</u>

2.1. An Industry Highly Vulnerable to the Economic Crisis

.2.1.1. The Myth of a Crisis-Resistant Industry

Because of its high growth and increasing pervasiveness, it has become fashionable to view the electronics industry as crisis-resistant. But this is clearly a misleading belief. In fact, this industry, and particularly semiconductor manufacturing, have turned out to be highly vulnerable to cyclical ups and downs, and even more so to the underlying structural crisis. Annual variations in demand, and consequently also in production, of 10 to 20% are assumed to be "normal" in this industry.

Figure 2.1. and table 2.1. give a picture of annual fluctuations in production and demand for the US and France.





Source: Chase, P.S. et al - "Trends in Components", Stanford Research Institute, 1975, p. 13

Table 2.1. Demand	for Semiconductors	in France - Annual	Fluctuations,
4070	10-00 (13-3-1)	、 、	

	1970		<u>5</u> (mitti	ion irai	ics)		
1969	19 70	1971	1972	1973	1974	1975	1976
577	677	557	701	1046	1475	1183	1407

S: rce: Usine Nouvelle, April 1975, quoted from: Truel, February, 1980, p.59.

What is behind these fluctuations is a built-in gap between supply and demand - periods of chip shortage alternate with periods of demand stagnation and consequently surplus production.

2.1.2. The Semiconductor Crisis Cycle - A Simplified Model

The following highly simplified model identifies some basic factors conditioning these wide fluctuations. Three periods can be discerned:

I) Periods of chip shortage

They induce users of electronic devices to pile up surplus inventories. $\frac{1}{}$ Producers on the other hand tend to invest heavily in new production lines and the development of new devices.

II) The transition to demand stagnation, surplus production and profit squeeze

When the new production lines get on stream and the new products are about to emerge on the markets, demand growth turns out to lag behind the original projections. The relative decline of demand growth is basically due to the following factors: the already mentioned surplus inventories; the fact that it turns out to be much more burdensome and costly than originally projected to expand the applications of microelectronic devices to industrial products and processes; the accelerating speed of technological obsolescence; and, last but not least, the overall impact of a general economic crisis.

III) The way back to a new chip shortage

Demand stagnation and profit squeeze usually induce firms to cut r+d outlays and investment to lay cff workers and, to some degree, also trained personnel, and to phase out unprofitable product lines. In other words, the foundations for a new chip shortage are laid.

Reality is of course much more complex. The interrelations for instance between the various types of product families and product generations are highly complex and are undergoing rapid change; further, it makes a difference whether products are related in a complementary or substitutive manner. More importantly, firms do not act in a homogenous manner; newcomers for instance like the Japanese firms after 1974/75 tend to take a more aggressive position and thus would not immediately adapt their r+d and production capacities to any decline in demand. Some of these developments, i.e. the interaction between crisis and industrial restructuring, are reviewed now more in detail.

2.2. The Chip Shortage of 1979

During 1979 and the first half of 1980 the semiconductor industry could no longer keep up with expanding demand. Even big user firms like NCR (=National Cash Register) and Data General were hit by this chortage of chips. $\frac{2}{}$

What are the factors behind this chip shortage? First of all it is the logical outcome of the reaction of major US semiconductor firms to the crisis of 1974/75. Then, US firms, in trying to adapt to stagnating demand, faltering prices and the concomitant profit squeeze, cut back on investment, r+d outlays and laid off a significant part of their research teams and skilled personnel. $\frac{3}{}$ With demand taking off at a much faster rate than expected, these firms only two years later were in the somewhat paradoxical situation of being unable to build up in time sufficient productive capacities, let alone to hire skilled personnel. The Japanese firms which through aggressive pricing policies during 1979 were beginning to increase their market shares, especially for mass-produced memory chips, still did not have sufficient production capacities to compensate for this increasing gap between growth of demand and supply.

In addition, three structural factors did play a role:

- monopsonistic trends on open semiconductor markets;
- the dramatically rising fixed capital requirements of semiconductor production;
- the insufficient and declining profitability and increasing problems to find investment capital.

2.2.1. Monopsonistic Trends on Open Semiconductor Markets

During the last years, some of the largest users of semiconductors which traditionally relied almost exclusively on captive production, have been forced to buy chips on the open market. This is due on the one hand to the unexpected demand surge for end products, for instance computers. On the other hand, internal semiconductor production facilities have been running increasingly into problems.

Take for instance IBM. Because of a demand boom for its computers, IBM since 1971 has become a major purchaser of chips on the open market. By the end of 1979, informed estimates put IBM's 1980 open market needs at 25 million-30 million 16 kRAMs which amounts to half the industry's 1979 production of that kind of chips. $\frac{4}{2}$

The number of large users purchasing chips on the open market is likely to increase permanently. According to <u>Dataquest</u>, the number of companies using more than \$ 100 million worth of chips a year has increased from one to seven since 1976 and will reach 17 by the end of 1981. $\frac{5}{}$ This has important consequences for industries now designing chip-based products. For them, the lesson of the 1979 chip shortage has been that, even for huge demand volumes, they cannot be sure to steer clear of difficulties to secure regular chip supply. For instance, even the US car industry had some difficulty during 1979 in persuading semiconductor firms to bid for its business.

2.2.2. The Dramatically Rising Fixed Capital Requirements

In the late 1960s, a basic semiconductor-making facility could be built for about \$ 2 million. Today, it would cost at least \$50 million - and probably very much more.

- 47 -

This has had basically two effects:

- Increasing barriers to entry, with the effect that during the 1970s only three new firms were started in the United States.
- Increasing financial burdens for the established firms. In 1978 for instance, and again in 1979, fixed capital spending has been increased by 50% so that fixed investment represented 16% of total sales.

Basically, a radical change of the economics of producing semiconductors is taking place. We will take up this issue more in detail. $\frac{6}{}$

2.2.3. Insufficient and Declining Profitability and Problems to Find Investment Capital

At least till 1979, the semiconductor industry was not earning enough profit to finance its own phenomenal growth. According to the US based broker firm Merrill Lynch, from 1975 to 1979 the industry has suffered a 31% fall in its average return on equity funds and an 18% decline in pretax profit margins. $\frac{7}{}$

During 1979 at least, this falling profit rate had the result that venture capital kept avoiding the semiconductor industry. Instead, it was put in firms applying chips or looking for entirely new sectors such as biotechnology to exploit. Beginning of 1980, it seemed unlikely that the US semiconductor industry which at that time supplied over 60% of the world market, could expand capacity to keep pace with demand. This would mean that user industries, particularly those outside the big established oligopolies like for instance the car industry, would be forced to take a much more conservative view on decisions to launch chipbased products.

Then, the prevailing perception was that for the first time, the price of microelectronics circuits could become an issue. During 1979 in fact the shortagehave been increasingly reflected in semiconductor prices. Their long-term decline was abruptly stopped. For some products, prices have actually risen by 15-20%. 8/

In summarizing the outcome of the 1979 chip shortage in March 1980, <u>The Economist</u> stated: "In theory, this (=price increase, D.E.) should provide the inducement needed to expand capital investment at a sufficient rate to abolish the shortages. But it will not, because there is an even more fundamental shortage than that of capital - a shortage of skilled people. This will incidentally frustrate the ambitions of Europe to fill the gap in the market being left by the US and Japan." 2/ 2.3. <u>Demand Stagnation and Frofit Squeeze - Some Underlying Factors</u>

2.3.1. <u>Some Basic Facts</u>

Since the last quarter of 1980, manufacturers of microchips are clearly feeling the impact of the current world economic crisis. These firms, which have been used to extremely dynamic demand much in excess of existing capacities, very high growth rates of turnover and first class profit margins, are all of a sudden faced with demand stagnation, ferocious price wars, dramatically rising cost burdens and with a very significant reduction of profit margins. Already a process of adapting existing production capacities, and of re-shaping corporate strategies and structures is under way, ranging from periodic short-term plant shut-downs and reduced work schedules, to massive lay-offs of personnel and the pulling out from unprofitable product lines.

Of immediate importance for manufacturers of semiconductors is the fact that, starting from the second half of 1980, the electronics industry in general is again in for a new crisis. According to the 1981 Worla Market Forecast of the renowned trade journal Electronics, $\frac{10}{10}$ the "... economic outlook ranges from voor (in Europe), to confused (in the U.S.), to so-so (in Japan). Electronics growth rates are generally expected to be flat or to slow, but as usual, there are silver linings. Computers and peripheral equipment, for example, will chalk up substantial gains in all three major markets." The Electronics survey then predicted a 12% increase for total equipment consumption from \$ 150 billion to \$ 168 billion. In the meantime, the sagging worldwide economy, coupled with the tight monetary policies, particularly of the new US administration, have rendered these projections completely obsolete and even the more dynamic sectors of electronics equipment like computers and peripheral equipment, are increasingly running into difficulties. The cricis of the electronic equipment sector is bound to be reflected in the semiconductor business.

Particularly hard hit are the makers of "mass market" chips like Texas Instruments, Intel, Mostek and National Semiconductor.

Take, for instance, the market for 16 K RAM chips used in almost every product in which a microprocessor is to be found. Here a ferocicus price war has been sparked off, basically due to a combination of two factors: the enormous excess capacity which has come on stream since the beginning of 1980, together with the demand stagnation for chips in practically all major application areas except the military sector, mini-computers and telecommunications. In February 1980 for instance the average price of a 16 K HAM was β 5.38 and by February 1981 it was β 3.82 according to the U.S. Semiconductor Industry Association (SIA). But in June 1981 no one would expect to pay more than β 1.50 for it. $\frac{11}{2}$

In order to understand what happened we need to analyse more in detail the following questions:

- what are the factors behind the emergence of enormous excess capacities?
- what are the causes for the dramatically rising cost burden of semiconductor manufacturing, particularly with regard to LSI and VLSI chips?
- what has been the impact of the world economic crisis on chip demand in major application sectors?

2.3.2. Factors Conditioning Excess Capacities

Today's excess capacity, particularly for mass-produced, noncustomized chips which go into a diverse range of products from computers to pocket calculators and electronic games like Space Invaders, was installed by the leading US and Japanese semiconductor firms, primarily in reaction to the great shortage of micro-chips between 1976 and the middle of 1980. At the time of the last slump in the semiconductor industry in 1975 all the US companies slashed capital investment programmes and staffing levels and this left them unable to meet the boom in demand when the market picked up again.

The result was that, when the boom came, it was mainly the Japanese firms who, because they had kept increasing r+d and production capacities, particularly for 16 K RAMs, were able to react. While Japanese sales in the key US markets were minimal in 1975, in 1981 they were estimated at 7% by the SIA. But for certain products it is much higher. For instance, the Japanese now have 40% of the market for 16 K RAMs which are consumed in great quantities by computer makers. $\frac{12}{}$ There are considerable fears in the US that the Japanese will have an even bigger share of the next generation of memory chip, the 64 K, which can store 4 times as much information as the 16 K. Figure 5.2. shows that in October 1980, estimates on the Japanese share of the 64 K RAM market ranged from 40% to 60%. $\frac{13}{}$

This in turn has led US manufacturers, particularly the leading ones, to devise a two-pronged counter-vailing strategy:

- All of them rushed to invest heavily in modernized production facilities dedicated to mass produced non-customized chips such that economies of scale could be pushed to the extreme which would make it possible to counter the aggressive pricing policy of Japanese firms.
- All of them invested in r+a and the procurement of state-ofthe-art equipment in order to be the first to bring to the market new generations of increasingly miniaturized and powerful chips.

2.3.3. Causes Underlying the Increasing Cost Burden

This leads us to our second question, i.e. the causes underlying the dramatically increasing cost burden of semiconductor manufacturing. The accelerating technological race caused by the aforementioned conflicting corporate strategies has meant that as each generation of equipment gets more expensive, it also becomes obsolete much more rapidly.

A recent study by the US Semiconductor Industrial Association (SIA) for instance found that the average US semiconductor company has to spend 28% of sales revenue on investment and research. $\frac{14}{/}$

It is important to note that according to the same report the R+D element has remained more or less constant throughout the last decade at 7% of sales. In other words, it is safe to assume that the increasing cost burden will not be matched by an increasingly strong innovative capacity. Without such an improved innovative capacity, however, the industry will hardly be able to cut through the Gordian Knot of demand stagnation and profit squeeze, by developing new devices, applications and most important of all, by designing much more cost-efficient processes.

The rising cost burden is due primarily to a tremendous increase of capital investment which has risen from 12% of sales revenue in 1970 to 21% in 1981. Finally, the accelerating speed of obsolescence can be gathered from the fact. that the average age of installed equipment to make the chips has been falling steadily to 4.4 years, 12% less than in 1975. $\frac{15}{7}$

2.3.4. The Impact on Chip Demand

With regard to demand it is not so much that demand has fallen, rather that its previously phenomenal growth has slowed down. And this hurts the manufacturers because they are totally geared to expanding at growth rates of 25%, 30% or more, which have been normal for most of the 1970s. Furthermore, they need the growth to finance the ever greater cost of developing new generations of products that cram even more electronic components like transistors c. to a chip. Take for instance computer manufacturers. They still absorb vast quantities of micro-chips, but a number of these firms are running increasingly into problems, like Burroughs in the US, ICL in Britain and CII-Honeywell-Bull in France. Still computers remain a growth area, particularly for the makers of mini-computers like Nixdorf in the FRG and Digital Equipment in the US. However, some companies are delaying their purchases of more expensive systems. There has been also a significant destocking of components.

Besides computers, there will be two other areas were demand will probably remain fairly strong, although it may not grow as fast as the chip makers would like.

There is no doubt a huge demand potential in telecommunications, and this potential would grow even further once the converging of telecommunications and informatics will gather momentum.

With regard to military spending, the Reagan Administration has been outspoken in its intentions to initiate a huge increase in outlays for military hardware and R+D. Yet, it remains to be seen to what degree it will be politically feasible to implement this militarization programme. After all, defence intellectuals from the RAND corporation and other think-tanks have rightly pointed out that due to supply rigidities most of these expenditures will probably result in a reheating of inflation rather than in fuelling the demands for avionics and other military -related electronic devices. $\frac{16}{}$

Hardest hit by demand stagnation have been consumer products containing electronics, from TVs and radios, hi-fi equipment and video to sophisticated washing machines and micro-chip controlled hair-dryers. This would apply especially to Western Europe -- witness for instance the growing difficulties of Philips with its still dominant consumer productsorientation. $\frac{17}{7}$

- 54 -

2.3.5. Potential Future Growth Areas for Applications

But what about possible future trends in applications?

Semiconductor manufacturers claim that, however bad their present situation, there are a number of areas which will bring massive growth and justify the current investments in increased capacity.

Five future growth areas for applications are usually mentioned :

- Office automation which is expected to become one of the major growth areas as big companies install sophisticated communications and data-processing equipment.
- Huge programmes to establish telecommunications networks in developing countries, particularly in OPEC countries and NICs, and programmes to revamp existing telecommunications networks, particularly in Western Europe.
- The car industry, both with regard to the computerization of the end product (for instance, computerized engine control systems) and with regard to expanding the scope for robotization and flexible machining systems.
- Industrial applications in general, but particularly robots and industrial control systems.
- Finally, consumption-oriented applications are still expected to grow but at a much slower rate as originally expected. In fact, most industrial analysts would admit today that in the context of the present crisis, were growing unemployment and falling real incomes have already considerably reduced effective demand for a great variety of non-essential goods and services, the scope for spending more on electronic gadgets will tend to decrease rather than to increase. This is in striking contrast to the euphoric expectations which dominated public discussions hardly two years when slogans like "The computer will soon put the US Library of Congress into every home" and "L'informatisation de la Société", were still taken very much at face value. ¹⁸/

All said and done, the question is not whether a nuge potential for applying microelectronics-related innovations exists sather it is the impact of the present economic crisis on the behaviour of the social actors involved in these various areas and it is with regard to this question that practically no-one can give a sound answer. This has been apply put by one semiconductor manufacturer quoted by <u>Financial Times</u>: $\frac{19}{}$ "We can see the light at the end of the tunnel alright, but we still can't make out how long the tunnel is yet".

2.3.6. Crisis and Corporate Strategy - The Case of Texas Instruments

The impact of the present crisis of chip manufacturing on major US firms has been considerable. In addition, the scope for counter-vailing corporate strategies would seem to have been fairly reduced.

Take for instance Texas Instruments, 20/ the world's largest vendor of micro-chips. Despite a \$ 100 million increase in sales to \$1.06 billion, this company, during the first quarter of 1981, reported a 32% drop in net profits in comparison to the first quarter of 1980, i.e. from \$50.3 million to \$34.2 million. The 'er-measures taken by Texas Instruments' management were swift and far-r. .ing indeed: reduced work schedules for over 10% of its employees have been in effect since the beginning of Since end of May 1981, Texas Instruments is starting to cut its 1981 US labour force by 2800, i.e. by 3%, and will phase out a number of production activities both in components manufacture and applications. In addition, there are plans to reduce and reshuffle considerably the company's global labour force. Activities to be phased out include liquid crystal displays, magnetic bubble memories, plasma panel displays, Tiscos' distribution operations in the US, appliance electronics and selected lines of low-margin discrete semiconductors. In addition, the company intends to begin a phase-out of digital watch operations, in order to withdraw from this business.

Probably of greatest significance is the decision to axe bubble memories. $\frac{21}{}$ Texas Instruments in fact had a major share in this industry. By industry estimates, it ranks second to Hitachi as a supplier of bubbles, holding 27% of the world market. Its sudden decision to back away from bubble memorics has greatly upset their customers - makers of data terminals, instruments and small computer systems - and severely shaken confidence in the future of bubble memories. According to insiders quoted in the <u>Financial Times</u>, ²²⁷ Texas Instruments did not have much choice left. Given its emphasis on the broad range of diversified activities based on a strategy to build up industrial synergism through planned forward integration, the sudden fall in profits meant that "... the company simply did not have the recources to continue development work in every field."

In other words, the Texas Instruments strategy of broad yet balanced diversification based on forward integration, which originally was developed to protect the company against the vagaries of the economic cycles, in the context of the present crisis turns out to increase rather than to decrease the company's vulnerability. $\frac{23}{2}$
2.4. Perspectives for the Future

2.4.1. Conflicting Projections

Projection on future trends in the worldwide semiconductore market differ considerably, even for the relatively short perspective of the next two years. We will document this by quoting three different projections which have been made public within a period of no more than one year, i.e. between July 1980 and July 1981. We have deliberately quoted three of the most renowned sources in order to indicate that even the most serious attempts to project future trends in chip demand are based on very unsafe grounds.

Figure 2.2. presents estimates of Gnostic Concepts In c., alleading US semiconductor consultant firm. In July 1980 it assumed that the crisis would be over in the second quarter of 1981 and that from then on, consumption would be "back to normal", i.e. rise nearly exponentially.



Source: Business Week, 21 July 1980

A market study of Mackintosh Consultants Inc., published in October $1920 \frac{24}{5}$ correctly predicted that a chip shortage would not become a problem, at least during 1981. In fact, because of heavy investment during 1980 in chip production facilities and the recession of 1981, considerable surplus capacities have been piling up.

Consequently, Mackintosh Consultants predicted that, in 1981, the growth rate of investment in chip production facilities would be considerably reduced. (Mackintosh estimate = -6%) This then would mean that in 1982, a chip shortage again would be highly probable. Based on this assumption, Mackintosh projects for the mericd 1982 - 1985 an average per annum growth rate of chip production capacities of 42%.

Let us finally take a statement by

Ben Rosen, a leading semiconductor industry analyst and editor of the renowned Rosen Research Inc. Newsletter of New York, at the recent annual meeting of the American Electronics Association (AEA), in Santa Clara/California, July 1981. Its major message is that the crisis of the semiconductor industry will probably continue well into 1982. According to Rosen, the US electronics industry will be down 4% and world-wide electronics business down 5% for 1981. The second quarter of 1981 would be flat like the first quarter, and the third quarter would turn down. Rosen expects a gradual upturn in the fourth quarter in the US, but Europe "is still a desaster". He sees the German IC business turning up again in mid-1992 and the US market getling back to a "healthy"20% growth rate in 1982.

2.4.2. <u>A Ferceious irice War</u>

In contrast to the crisis of 1974/75, the present one has not been primarily caused by a slump in unit demand, but by a ferocious price war leading to massive price reductions. In fact, some of the most important customers of IC companies are doing very well, and this would relate particularly to telecommunications, military applications and non-mainframe computers.

The real issue is the ever more intensive battle for market shares in this industry which still is expected to have a very high growth potential in the long term. According to Rosen for instance, world-wide growth rates of semiconductor production could be expected to return to 30% a year starting from mid-1983. $\frac{26}{}$

It is this global competition for market shares which has led firms to increase production capacities very rapidly and at practically any cost - with the result that since the second half of 1980 enormous overcapacities have been piling up. In the words of Keith Chappel, managing director of Intel's UK operations: "The global pattern this year (=1981, D.E.) has been a steady rise in unit sales but with overcapacity driving prices through the floor." $\frac{27}{}$ Add to this that Japanese firms are continuing to use cut-throat price competition as their major instrument to increase their market shares, then it becomes clear why price reductions have become irresistible.

The resulting price reductions have been substantial indeed: the price of the 2716 EFROM has fallen by a factor of 9 from January 1980 till June 1981 while the 16 K RAM has gone from \$5.50 to \$1 over the same time. "It is impossible to make up in volume", Rosen concludes.

2.4.3. <u>Recent Trends in the Memory Market</u>

The introduction of VLSI circuits seem to require much more time than originally perceived. A case in point would be the protracted introduction of 64 K RAMs.

Hardly two to three years ago, around 1978/79, expectations were running high, assuming that at least by 1980 the 64 K RAMs would have already found a viable market and that highly complex standard devices would allow merchant semiconductor firms to start a new round of penetrating additional applications areas.

Yet, by mid-1981, it has turned out that all these projections have been mere wishful thinking. In fact, according to <u>Semiconductor International</u>^{29/} practically all major Japanese and US firms would seem to agree on one point: whoever would dare to come out now with this 64 K RAMs on the market would probably make a huge loss. This would be so basically for two reasons:

- First, the overall decline of demand for ICs which has been caused by the worsening world economic crisis.
- <u>Second</u>, due to the rapidly falling prices for 16 K RAMs, there would be no-one on the market to buy these devices, simply because four 16 K RAMs would be substantially cheaper than one 64 K device.

<u>Semiconductor International</u> in fact comes to a very pessimistic conclusion: transition to real mass-production of 64 K RAMs will not start to materialize before the second half of 1982 and this would apply both to Japan and the US.

- 61 -

2.4.4. The Forthcoming Rounds of the Semiconductor War -Changing Starting Positions of Major Competitors

The fight for the control over semiconductor world markets is becoming more intense than ever before. It is too early still to speculate which firms are going to win and which ones will be the loosers, but there are already some indications that, for the next battles to emerge, starting positions of major competitors have already substantially changed compared to their relative positions in the 1974/75 crisis. This would relate particularly to the three following issues:

- Major US merchant firms would seem to be in a somewhat better position to maintain market sharesafter the present slump than after the recession of the mid-1970s. Overall, US semiconductor industry has cut this time capital spending only by 10% and its work force only a few percent. This contrasts with the 1975 crisis where the industry cut capital spending by 52% and many companies cut jobs by a third.
- With regard to yields and the quality of ICs, US firms, according to Rosen at least, would seem to have somewhat improved their position with regard to Japanese firms. Rosen derives this evaluation from recent remarks by John Young president of Hewlett-Packard, who said that his company's most recent measurements showed the quality and reliability gap between Japanese and US IC suppliers was closing rapidly. Young added that HP would not be surprised to see quality and reliability of US made 16 K RAMs become equal to that of Japanese parts in the next few months. 30/
- Finally, with regard to innovation, it would seem as if circuit innovation would be decisive for the next rounds of competition. In this area, US companies still seem to be the undisputed leaders. With regard to process technology, cMOS seems to become the most important semiconductor process for the 1980s, and it is in this area that Japanese firms have a very strong position.

- 62 -

CHAPTER 3. INNOVATION AND THE CHANGING ECONOMICS OF SEMICONDUCTOR MANUFACTURING

 \mathbf{N}

3. <u>Innovation and the Changing Economics of</u> <u>Semiconductor Manufacturing</u>

- 64 -

3.1. <u>Innovation, Structural Transformation and</u> <u>International Location - the Context</u>

Since around 1975, the semiconductor industry is experiencing some major transformations, both in its internal structure and in its integration into the overall electronics industry.

In fact, the nature of its product has developed considerably: from once being an intermediate input to specific types of electronic equipment, particularly data processing equipment and military systems, semiconductors have developed into powerful subsystems which are about to be integrated in an ever increasing amount of application devices perveding into pratically every aspect of social and economic reproduction. In addition, the links between the semiconductor industry and the overall electronics industry have changed substantially. Rather than being dominated by exchange relations, technological spin-offs both from circuit design to equipment architecture and vice versa have increasingly gained in importance.

In trying to analyse these recent structural changes of the semiconductor industry, we will focus on the following three aspects:

- the interrelation between innovation and the changing economics of semiconductor manufacturing (chapter 3);
- an analysis of recent developments in the software sector, particularly the socalled software bottleneck, and some of its implications (chapter 4);
- the interaction between recent technological break-throughs and industrial restructuring (chapter 5);
- and, finally, some implications for the international restructuring of semiconductor manufacturing and for global patterns of technological dominance and dependence prevailing in this industry (chapter 6).

3.2. Trends in Electronics Technology

3.2.1. Relevance and Criteria of Selection

Identifying trends in technology is of importance for various reasons. One of them would be the need to get a clearer picture of what are the most likely changes in the market structure, and in the sectorial and geographic location patterns of the industry.

Will the emergence of new technological developments contribute to a destabilization of prevailing market structures and will it allow late-comers to enter successfully the semiconductor field? Or will it rather lead to an increasing concentration of control over strategic assets of this industry, such that huge, highly internationalized and diversified firms will become the dominant actors?

Overall, it would seem that basic changes are already underway which have hardly received a sufficient treatment in the existing literature. Take for instance market access.

Access to a specific market depends to a considerable degree on what kinds of technology are prevailing, and whether they are old or new. Thus it has been argued that to enter market segments for products using mature technologies can be extremely difficult, because of their high-volume, fiercely competitive nature. Instead, market penetration would seem to be easier for products using newly emerging and developing technologies. $\frac{1}{}$

There is in fact a lot of confusion on what are old and new technologies. Technological developments currently receiving considerable publicity - for instance microprocessors and LSI circuits - represent the application of research ten years old or more. These are in fact areas where significant further technological advances are hardly to be expected. Figure 3.1 presents long-term trends of technologies to design and produce microelectronic circuits. It shows that in this specific area of electronics technology a long way has been covered since the invention of the valve in the 1920s. In addition, this figure charts the massive changes that have taken place since the early days, and provides a glimpse into the future, when very high speed integrated circuits (VHSIC) are expected to dominate the market.

Figure 3.1. Long-term Trends of Electronics Technology, 1920-1990



Source: Electronics Times, No. 109, 15 January 1981, p. 23

What then are the major technological trends to be expected in electronics and particularly in the semiconductor industry?

The term "electronics technology" is a short-hand for a great variety of problems and technological approaches. Table 3.1 shows that electronics technology, by and large, can be segmented into six main areas, ranging from materials technology to applications and interface technologies.

Table 3.1. Electronics Technology - Main Areas

(1)	MATERIALS::	The technology concerned with the basic raw materials consumed in fabricating electronic products (Example: Purifi- cation of raw silicon up to a purity level of 99.999 999%)
(2)	COMPONENTS:	The technology concerned with a single unit which performs <u>one</u> electrical function
(3)	SUB-SYSTEMS AND MODULES:	The technology concerned with a composite of components (or a single, multifunction unit) that performs a specific <u>set</u> of functions
(4)	PROCESSES :	The technology - composed of both tangible fabricated products and conceptual exper- tise - required for the manufacture of electronic products
(5)	APPLICATIONS:	The technology - primarily composed of conceptual expertise - used in the design of specific electronic products to a defined applications market segment
(6)	INTERFACE:	The technology - requiring a completely new combination of skills - concerned with the problem of interfacing electronic devices and end-user systems (capital goods or consumer goods).(Example: the technology of machine-tool controls.)

Source: Further developed from Scottish Development Agency; April 1979, p. 17

The important points to note here are:

- the great variety of knowledge required, encoupassing for instance solid state physics, chemical engineering and high mathematics;
- the delineations between main areas are in a constant state of flux;
- the high degree of interdependence between the various areas of electronics technology.

In what follows we will focus on recent trends in designing and manufacturing microelectronic circuits.

According to one leading expert, the "... manufacture of large-scale integrated circuits has as its primary goal the lowest possible cost per electronic function performed. The main features of the fabrication processes adopted by the microelectronics industry can be best understood in terms of this goal. These features include the fabrication of many circuits at a time (an extraordinary example of mass production), the reduction of the circuits to the smallest possible size and the maximum simplification of the processing technology." $\frac{2}{}$

Basically, the manufacturing of microelectronic circuits consists of four stages:

- design
- mask making
- wafer fabrication
- assembly.

The important point to note is that any firm striving to achieve systems control, should be able to master the first two stages.

Table 3.2 gives an overview of the major stages involved.

Table 3.2. Designing and Manufacturing Microelectronics Circuits - Major Stages				
<pre>I. Design 1. Conception of a New Circuit - Specifying the functional characteristics of the device - Selecting the processing steps required to manufacture it</pre>				
 2. <u>Preliminary Design</u> Estimating the size and approximate location of every circuit element Computer simulation of operational characteristics 				
 <u>Final Layout</u> Determining the precise positions of the various circuit elements, by means of CAD 				
II. Mask Making				
1. Generation of Optical Reticle1. Pattern Generation by Electron-Beam Lithography(= Generating from the computer memory a com- 				
2. Master Masks Made by Step-and-Repeat Method				
3. Working-Copy Masks Made for Photolithography III. Wafer Fabrication Inputs: Photomasks, process chemicals and prepared silicon wafers (can be produced in-house or bought from sub-contractors, see stage III.1)				

: | |

(1. Producing the Frepared Silicon Wafers)

- Reduction of raw silicon from its oxide, the main constituent of common sand
- Purification of raw silicon up to a purity level of 99.999 999%
- Melting (1420 °C) and adding desired impurities, known as dopants, to produce a specific type of conductivity, characterised by either positive (p type) charge carriers or negative (n type) ones
- Growing of a large single crystal
- Cutting into wafers with a thin high-speed diamond saw
- Smoothing the wafers by grinding and polishing them in an absolutely clean environment

2. Fabrication of the Integrated Circuits



- 70 -

<u>Diffusion</u> (Silicon is heated to a temperature of ca 1000 degree C, so that impurity atoms begin to move slowly through the crystal)

Ion Implantation

(Dopant atoms are ionized, i.e. stripped of one or more of their electrons, and are accelerated to a high energy by passing them through a potential difference of tens of thousands of volts. Advantages: can be done at room temperature; duping level can be very acura ely controlled)

2.4. Depositing and Patterning Thin Films (forming the uppermost layers of integrated circuits; is of critical importance for the overall yield and performance of the circuits)

chemical-vapour deposition (wafers are heated at around 1200 °C in a dilute atmosphere of silane, and a uniform film of polycrystalline silicon slowly forms on the surface) low-temperature deposition (Advantage: High temperatures can cause warping and damage to the fine features that have already been inscribed upon the wafer)

- 2.5. <u>Electrical Test</u> (each die on the wafer is probed to determine whether it functions correctly; usually computer-aided)
- IV. Assembly
 - 1. Sectioning of the wafers into individual chips
 - 2. Bonding the good circuits into packages
 - 3. Connecting them to the electrodes leading out of the package by extremely fine wires, the socalled wiring
 - 4. Sealing of the packages
 - 5. <u>Final Testing</u> (the packaged circuit goes through an exhaustive series of electrical tests; except for simple devices, final testing today is in most cases automated)

With the race on to find the best way of packing more information elements on a sliver of silicon, i.e. with the transition from large scale (=LSI) to very large integrated circuits (=VLSI), three types of constraints ϵ e getting of increasing importance:

- design capacities
- software capacities
- and the tools used to fashion microelectronic circuits.

We will analyse in chapter 4 the factors conditioning recent developments in the software sector $\frac{3}{}$ and possible future trends. On the hardware side, three major trends were of particular importance:

- a transition to new approaches to circuit design;

- recent developments in production technology;
- the increasing importance of applications technology and the consequent convergence between circuit and system design.

All of these three major trends are closely interlinked and share one common concern - the need to break through the increasingly burdensome custom chip bottleneck.

This bottleneck has become in fact an important constraint for expanding the application of microelectronic devices, particularly to information processing systems. In order to understand its importance, let us first review recent changes in the structure of demand for semiconductors and how this has been reflected in the genesis of various types of semiconductors.



3.2.2. <u>A New Type of Market Segmentation and the</u> <u>Emergence of New Technological Sub-branches</u>

For a long time, the market for semiconductors has been a relatively simple one: market size was directly related to the price elasticity of demand and to the ability of semiconductor producers to proceed with price reductions along their learning curves. On the other hand, there was a fairly unequivocal relation between the type of technology used and market segments: bipolar devices mainly went to the data processing industry, and MOS devices to consumer electronics.

During the 1970s, a new type of market segmentation has emerged which is basically due to the following developments:

- the convergence of circuit and systems design due to the increasing incorporation of systems functions on the chip;
- the increasingly complex interrelations between technology and applications, with the MOS technology in fact penetrating into most application areas;
- The increasing number of supplier firms and end users and their increasingly complex interrelations.

In order to get hold of the recent restructuring of the semiconductor markets, we start from a categorization of semiconductors, as developed by Truel. $\frac{4}{2}$ He proposes to differentiate between five types of semiconductors:

- standard devices;
- exclusive devices;
- specific devices;
- dustom devices;
- microprocessors.

Standard devices are technically indifferent to the final use.

For them the compatibility between different producers is far-reaching, if not total. This would apply particularly to memories and to most of the discrete semiconductors.

Exclusive devices, like the standard devices, are technically indifferent to the final use, but are produced by just one producer, or a very small number of them, enjoying a technological monopoly. Of course, this category is the most fluid one, because the entrance of new producers could undermine the original position of "technological leadership".

<u>Specific devices</u> are semiconductors which can be mass produced but which can only be used in specific markets: logical circuits for the data processing or the watch industries, codecs for the telecommunications industry and semiconductors for car applications.

<u>Custom devices</u> are designed to respond to very particular applications, often only for one client, and are usually offered by just one firm or at least only very few. Consequently, production runs are extremely short and unit costs of production tend to be very high.

<u>Microprocessors</u> are circuits which can be mass-produced and used for multiple purposes, and which, because they are "programmable" could, in principle at least, be fine-tuned to the specific needs of the final user. This adaptation could be realized by the end-user himself, for instance through the use of appropriate application software. Or it could be done by the producer of the device who would then build some of the specific application requirements into the microprocessors. But the second solution, due to its very high costs in terms of additional design activities, will only be feasible at very large production runs and consequently is mainly used today in the area of car applications. On the other hand, reprogramming in reality can be much more difficult and costly than originally assumed. due to the increasing "software bottleneck", $\frac{27}{10}$ it might simply turn out that appropriate programmes will not be available, or only at a prohibitive cost. In spite of these shortcomings, general purpose microprocessors or single chip microcomputers till the beginning of 1980 have been the preferred choice over custom LSI circuits for an increasing percentage of applications. For instance, General Motors and Ford Motor Co. both choose microprocessors for million unit applications as more cost-effective than custom LSI circuits. $\frac{6}{7}$

Recently, a new type of semiconductor has emerged on the market which is also a programmable device, the so-called <u>semi-customized devices</u>, based on the gate array technology. We will discuss this sixth category later on in more detail.

The structure of demand for semiconductors is becoming increasingly complex and difficult to predict. There seem to be four basic trends involved which, to some extent, are overlapping or contradicting each other:

a) The market for semiconductors, overall, is undergoing a transition from a market where only a few "big shots" had to be supplied to markets with rapidly increasing numbers of fairly beterogenous final users.

A case in point would be the data processing industry where the emergence of seperate mini- and micro-computer industries and of a computer periphals industry has fragmented this market into hundred of firms and where the huge mainframe firms are increasing their in-house semiconductor production capacities in order to secure their own requirements.

The same is about to happen, albeit on a much smaller scale, for the industrial electronics sector.

- b) The emergence of new mass markets for standard devices, particularly in the data processing industry, due to the development of semiconductor memories, both of the RAM and ROM type. Increasingly, mass produced standard memories are also used in the other main market segments.
- c) The penetration of new markets for integrated circuits, particularly the telecommunications industry and consumer electronics. A growing part of the integrated circuits used in these sectors are specific devices which have to be designed according to the very strict specifications received from the final user. This would apply for instance to the codecs used in the telecommunications sector for transforming analogous signals into numerical figures, and for the integrated circuits used in the car industry, particularly for engine control systems or for the ICs used in the watch industry.

Table 3.3 documents the increasing IC consumption of these to sectors. For the car industry alone, world-wide IC consumption in 1985 is projected to be at least β 1 billion. $\frac{7}{}$

<u>lable 3.3.</u>	<u>Sector-Specific</u>	Consumption of	Integrated Circuits
	<u>as a Share of T</u>	otal World Demar	id, 1970-1985 (%)

	Telecommunications ^{a)}	Consumer Electronics		
1970	. 5	5		
1976	. 10	15		
1985	. 15	25		

a) = excluding military communications

Source: Figures are from <u>Mission pour les Circuits Intégrés</u> as quoted in: Truel, Jean-Louis - "L'industrie mondiale des semi-conducteurs", Dissertation, Université de Paris IX, Paris, February 1980, p. 226 d) The emergence of the industrial electronic sector, which previously used to consumeonly custom devices, as a market for memories and specific devices, like for instance interface and control circuits.

For the marketing strategies of semiconductor merchant firms, these developments had basically three consequences:

- distribution networks had to be established or improved in such & way that they could also reach medium- and smallsized users of less sophistication;
- the range of products to be offered had to be broadened;
- the emphasis on standard devices had to be even further increased.

The restructuring of demand thus has led to a considerable revision of prevailing strategies of choice of products and of marketing. This process of revision still seems to be in an experimental stage and this probably explains much of the seemingly "irrational" zig-zags of corporate strategies during the last few years.

3.2.3. The Custom Chips Bottleneck

Custom chips are generally logic chips, similar to microprocessors, but they are designed to perform specific functions. Orders for custom parts usually run into the tens of thousands or even less. Consequently, mass production seemed to be out of question - at least as long as one stuck to a specific design philosophy which assumed that chips have to be fully customized. This traditional design approach to custom circuits meant that, although they take just as much time to decide and cost as much to put into production as standard circuits, profitability was low because high costs could not be spread over long production runs. "Complex IC designs for low volume applications have always been an accountant's nightmare. The costs could not be justified most of the time." $\frac{8}{2}$ This is why chip manufacturers tended to focus on standard devices.

_ 78 _

From a user's point of view however, standard circuits have some serious shortcomings. It is extremely difficult to operationalize them with regard to specific "user needs". It takes in fact a lot of corrective software engineering to fit them ex post to the requirements of the end user. The economic rationale underlying this distorted and extremely wasteful way of interlinking microelectronic circuit technology and end user needs has been analysed elsewhere in detail in this report. $\frac{9}{2}$ Suffice it to say here that semiconductor firms, when designing new chip generations, were only marginally concerned with end user needs. They are driven by a cut-throat competition forcing them to centre most of their activities on a frantic race to offer ever new generations of lowcost hardware. The speed of introducing new hardware has been such that semiconductor firms had no choice but to try to adapt ex post the existing software to make the new hardware applicable to user needs.

Yet, there are clear limitations to this approach. Today, the costs of applying standardized chips to highly specific applications via corrective software engineering are rapidly getting out of control. There is a growing deficit of applications software and software engineer. who are able to understand inverface problems and translate them under heavy time pressure into viable programmes. Further, standard chips are also uneconomic with regard to size, wastage of surplus capacity which will never be needed by most end users, and insufficient reliability. In short, with ICs becoming increasingly complex, equipment makers' need for custom devices has been increasing dramatically. The reaction of the bigger user firms (for instance computer firms) has been to build up in-house design and production capacities for proprietary custom chips. $\frac{10}{}$ But in most cases this has not been cost-effective.

Recently, however new approaches to attack the custom chips bottle have been emerging both in circuit and system design and in production technology. This has been due to the interplay of various factors. Two of them are of particular importance, i.e. a new design approach made possible by recent progress in computer aided design (CAD) and processing tools and some interesting adaptations of corporate strategy. In what follows I will discuss some of these issues in more detail.

3.2.4. Trends in Circuit Design

At least till the end of the 1970s, research was focussed at producers of high-volume, high-density <u>standard circuits</u> which can be "personalized" or programmed to perform different functions through software. Yet, this type of research focus is increasingly running into problems today.

a) Constraints inherent to the conventional design approach

There are three major constraints inherent to the conventional design approach:

- Increasing constraints to produce in an efficient manner reliable high-density circuits: a case in point would be the problems faced even by leading US semiconductor firms to develop marketable 64 K RAM devices. 11/

- VLSI devices will have to demonstrate a cost advantage over LSI devices. Today this is becoming increasingly difficult given the price slump for major standard devices. Take for instance the problems to open up new markets for 64 K RAMs. According to <u>Semiconductor International</u>, ^{12/} as prices for 16 K RAMs are driven through the floor, marketing perspectives for the new generation of 64 K RAMs are becoming extremely bleak. According to T. Atsuyoshi, Vice President of Nippon Electric Corporation (NEC): "If 64 K RAMs are brought to the market, no one will buy them, because four 16 K chips will cost less than one 64 K chip." ^{13/}
- Increasing problems to produce devices which meet, with the help of appropriate software, the precise needs of end-user applications.

In other words, the focus on high-volume, high-density standardized devices characteristic for the 1970s, is increasingly becoming an impasse today. It is in this context that recent changes in the philosophy of circuit design, like for instance the development of semi-customized chips, based on the gate array technology, have to be analysed. Of equal importance are recent developments in the attempt to overcome the increasingly troublesome software bottleneck.

(b) Gate array technology $\frac{14}{}$

Recently, a new programmable LSI device has been emerging which will increasingly challenge microprocessors: uncommitted, i.e. programmable, logic arrays, the socalled gate arrays. Made with low power TTL Schottky or ECL circuits, gate arrays are roughly ten times faster than microprocessors. Of immediate concern are high speed applications in information processing and communications. Computer firms for instance which want to compete with IBM's 4300 machines, are increasingly requiring gate arrays.

The term "gate array" refers to a technique for producing complex microelectronic circuits quickly and cheaply. It has been pioneered eight years ago by Ferranti and was then called uncommitted logic arrays (ULAs). Until very recently it has been a truly marginal technological paradigm. But today experts would agree that the 1980s will go down in electronics history as the decade of the gate array. $\frac{15}{2}$

The gate array concept is simple; standard chips are massproduced containing a selection of logic gates and other basic circuit elements, omitting only the final inter-connection layer(s). The secret lies in the fact that chips are built up layer by layer. All the logic elements (called "gates" because of the way they pass or obstruct electronic signals) can be fabricated in the lower layers, leaving only a last layer or two of metal to make the vital connection between the gates. As long as the final interconnection pattern is not specified, the chip remains uncommitted or programmable. It is that final pattern of connections which determines what the chip will do. So the customer simply specifies the final layer on an otherwise standard chip defining the particular interconnect pattern specific to his application. Then a suitable mask is produced and final metallization applied.

In short, a new type of integrated circuit has been created, the semi-customized chip: it can be mass-produced with a standardized arrangement of gates, but without the final circuit connections between the gates that determine how the chip functions. Experts further agree that gate arrays could solve the problem of designing increasingly complex circuity - and ensuring that this is done cost-effectively and that it works. In fact, this new technology in addition to improving dramatically product and process technology, could also "revolutionize" the economics of chip design.

There are two issues involved:

First, to make the step from the orthodox design concept of fully customized chips to the much more flexible design concept of semi-customized chips based on gate array technology. There is general agreement that this in fact will lead to significant reductions in design lead time and costs. Experts of Texas Instruments for instance suggest that to design a fully customized chip of medium complexity, say between 500 and 1000 logic elements in density, could take up to a year

- 61 -

and cost up to US \$ 250,000 - and then it might not work first time. $\frac{16}{16}$ An additional assumption would be that design would be done by hand. $\frac{17}{10}$ By comparison, they claim that to design semi-customized chips would take them as little as 14 weeks and cost US \$ 40,000. Ferranti, after eight years' experience in this area quotes even significantly lower design costs within a roughly similar design lead time: 16 to 18 weeks and L 3,000 for a 500 gate circuit.

In other words, the transition from fully to semi-customized chips will clearly pay off.

The <u>second</u> issue concerns the design technique and instruments and the way of organizing the design process. On this issue opinions clearly diverge, especially with regard to the speed of change needed to secure cost-efficient design.

Let us first describe the objective problem: with increasing complexity of gate arrays, the disadvantages of conventional design techniques and instruments ("Manual Design Methods") might rapidly become a new bottleneck. The main reason would be that with highly trained and lavishly paid engineers it could become increasingly difficult to retain the fast design cycle time and low development costs. With design cycle time over-stretched and developments costs soaring, it would hardly be possible to realize a market penetration pricing policy, i.e. aggressive price reductions following the "learning-cost curve". Nor would it be possible for captive producers to secure cost-efficient in-house production.

It is no surprise that both Texas Instruments and IBM subscribe to this position and stress the need to "revolutionize" prevailing modes of design. The design approach of Texas Instruments for instance underlines the superiority of automatic interconnection routing in the reduction of design lead times. Using a sophisticated software package to determine automatically the placing of circuit elements and the interconnect patterns, Texas Instruments claims to need about 8 weeks to build up the necessary computer files which describe the hardware elements and the transfer function of the device. Another week would then be required to run the autorouting package on the 5 IBM 3033s at the Dallas, Texas, computer center. Overall design lead time from inception to samples would be 12 to 14 weeks and maximum chip utilization would be 76% (for the A540 gate array) and 84% (for the 1008 gate array).

A completely different design approach is taken by Ferranti, the pioneer of gate array technology. Ferranti claims that manual design methods aided by computer techniques to test consistency and produce mask making tapes, are perfectely adequate and more economical for today's gate arrays. Ferranti's manual design methods give consistently better chip utilization factors: from 85 to 90% over the last 5 years. $\frac{19}{}$ Consequently, Ferranti is able to sell its 1,000 gate circuits for L 2.50 each whereas original price quotations (February 1981) for Texas Instruments' new arrays, which are comparable to Ferranti's in complexity but outdo them in speed, range from L 10 - L 25 each. Asked for the reason for Ferranti's superiority in performance, David Grundy, Chief Engineer of Ferranti, claims that "... people are still better than computers at the kind of pattern recognition needed to design an efficient array interconnection pattern." $\frac{20}{}$

Ferranti's design approach might be caluable today but will it also be tomorrow? For instance, Ferranti admits that as complexities and array sizes increase still further, it will have little choice but to take advantage of computerized methods. In fact, it has recently spent more than L 1 million on computer equipment for this purpose.

There is reason to doubt whether firms the size of Ferranti or even smaller, for instance the newly founded LSI Logic Corp., $\frac{21}{}$ will be able to survive in this market. Giants like







MC ROCOPY REVOLUTION TEST SHAFT

IBM and Texas Instruments are already heavily engaged in devicing strategies which would dramatice'ly increase the "barriers to entry" and the "cost of survival" for medium and small scale firms. Fully integrated automatic layout systems require extremely high capital outlays and IBM and probably also Texas Instruments are already about to connect these integrated automated systems directly with an electronic beam machine (minimum unit costs for such a machine in 1980 exceeded US \sharp 2 million)^{22/} which writes the final connection patterns on the wafer. In other words, it is difficult to see how medium sized firms like Ferranti, whatever their original technological strength, let alone newcomers like LSI Logic, would ever be able to break this new constraint of interlinking directly design and production via new computer aid systems.^{23/}

3.2.5. Recent Developments in Production Technology

a) Conditioning factors and major areas of change

Changes in production technology are becoming of increasing importance. In fact, Booz, Allen and Hamilton in their influential study on how to develop an electronics industry in Scotland even go as far as to claim: "Process technology holds the key to major advances in microelectronics." $\frac{24}{7}$

The major driving force behind recent changes in manufacturing technology has been the reduction of the direct labour content of the product. This statement is backed by the findings of a recent OECD study on the electronics industry which has been based on interviews with scientists, technologists and managers in leading firms and research institutions. $\frac{25}{2}$

The study found that "preduct and process innovations resulting from r+d activities in the electronic sector have majnly resulted in savings on labour costs rather than in a reduction of energy or material costs." $\frac{26}{}$ Consequently, "...capital costs were increasing as a proportion of total production costs; and ..., at least in manufacturing, labour costs formed a declining proportion." $\frac{27}{}$ For the semiconductor industry in particular "...it was felt that: 'in the last five years the rate of increase of labour productivity has increased' and that there has perhaps been a tendency to over-invest in labour-saving process innovation." $\frac{28}{}$

Four main areas of changes in production technology can be discerned:

- the use of new lithographic techniques
- the introduction of new processes for wafer fabrication
- the rapid proliferation of automation into all stages of production, including chip assembly
- the introduction of new production technologies in application areas and the consequent convergence of process and product technology.

Each of these changes could have important implications for the economics of semiconductor manufacturing and thus are likely to induce major realignments in the structure of this industry, the strategies and organizational patterns of major firms involved and in the prevailing patterns of international location.

We will trace out later on in detail some of these implications. But first we will discuss each of these four major types of changes in production technology.

Overall, we will see that, due to the frantic race to squeeze more logic on tiny silicon chips, the first generation of chip making equipment, first introduced less than ten years ago, is already becoming obsolete. Consequently the pressure to introduce a new generation of semi-automatic and extremely expensive equipment is becoming all-pervasive.

b) Changes in lithographic techniques

Changes in lithographic techniques center on generating resolution of individual features with dimensions less than one micron. Conventional optical photolithography cannot achieve these dimensions - new lithographic techniques such as electron beam and eventually X-ray techniques offer a significant improvement over current photolithographic methods. Electron-beam systems for instance can print much smaller circuit details on a wafer, more acurately than optical systems.

Yet, the new lithographic techniques require extremely expensive equipment and thus are not yet profitable to use. This is the basic message of a recent study by <u>Mackintosh</u> <u>Consultants</u> on the semiconductor micro-lithography equipment and materials sector. ²⁹/According to this study, the following generations of lithographic equipment can be discerned:

- Earliest techniques used photographic masks in contact with the wafer surface to produce the circuit pattern. Called contact aligners, this type of equipment today is mainly used for discrete semiconductors.
- The move in recent years has been to projection aligners where mask and silicon surface are separated and now to direct step-on-wafer techniques, the socalled wafer steppers, where each circuit pattern for each chip is impressed separately onto the wafer surface (each wafer yields 300 or more individual chips).

Contact aligners, projection aligners and wafer steppers all belong to the family of optical semiconductor equipment used to imprint circuit patterns on the silicon surface.

There are two other types of equipment, more sophisticated but also more expensive - X-ray equipment and electron beam machines.

- 86 -

Many semiconductor firms are looking ahead to the time when electron beam machines can be used to write directly on the silicon surface guided by a pattern locked in the memory of an over-seeing computer. This technique is already used for complex chips where it can reduce the time taken to generate a circuit from 20 or more hours to 60 minutes. But, as the Mackintosh report points out: "So far, a viable market for direct-write electron beam systems has failed to emerge. Currently three machines are in use at IBM, generally believed to be assigned to semi-production or development circumstances for very low volume circuits where the usual development of masks is not practical. Wafer throughput is extremely low and product costs are extremely high. While there are several electron beam equipment companies developing products for direct-write production purposes, a viable machine with practical wafer throughputs is not excected to be available until the 1982-85 period". 2

Even then, Mackintosh goes on to say, prices of these machines will be such, i.e. around \$ 200.000 and more, that market volume will hardly surpass \$ 2 million p.a., i.e. roughly 10 machines per year.

For X-ray equipment, on the other hand, the scope for reducing the cost of writing small features on a chip seems to be somewhat greater.

Yet, the real market growth will lie with the optical equipment manufactureres like Cobilt and Casper (contact aligners), Perkin-Elmer and Cobilt (projection aligners) and GCA, Electromask, Ultratech, Canon, Hitachi, Philips and Censor (wafer steppers). The market for wafer steppers alone, according to Mackintosh, should be \$ 929 million a year by 1985.

Overall, Mackintosh International suggests that a growth of 43% annually can be expected in the worldwide market for the optical equipment. Table 3.4 summarizes the major results of the Mackintosh study.

Table 3.4. Worldwide Optical Semiconductor Equipment Market, Summary by Equipment Type, 1980-1985

	1900	\$ million 1961	1965	Ferca: 80/81	nt change 81/85*
(Discrete Devices)	4.6	8.2	72	13	
(Group Ks)	56	85	164	52	10
(Group II ICs)	· 70	100	117	43	4
(Group II ICs)	75	133	929	77	43
* Average annual com	206 period perce	J23 nt chang	1,217	57	37

Source: Mackintosh International - "Semiconductor Microlithography Equipment and Materials Outlook to 1985", London, June 1981, quoted from: Cane, Alan - "Growth expected to be in optical equipment market", <u>Financial Times</u>, 8 June 1981

c) New processes for wafer fabrication

Of particular importance for recent changes in process technology for wafer fabrication are new low temperature deposition processes and plasma etching.

Low temperature deposition processes avoid the very high temperatures, typically around 1200 degrees C, that are normally required. The advantage of low temperature operation is that there is no damage to the wafer. High temperatures can cause warping and damage to the fine features that have already been inscribed upon the wafer. As device intensities increase, this damage becomes critical.

Plasma etching, or the use of hot gas to lay down or remove material from the wafer, replaces "wet" processes using chemical baths. Plasma etching, during which unwanted areas are removed from the wafer surface, has several advantages over chemical processes. It is practically essential for VLSI devices since the chemical baths cannot be very accurately controlled. Plasma etching is also safer as it avoids the messy business of dipping wafers into dangerous chemicals.

Other new processes for wafer fabrication include ion implantation and laser annealing. $\frac{31}{}$

d) The proliferation of automation

One of the most important developments in semiconductor production technology is the rapid proliferation of automation into practically all stages of production, including chip assembly.

A good test case for the state-of-the-arts in mid-1981 of automating semiconductor production would seem to be the plans announced by Nippon Electric Corporation of Japan (NEC) in July 1981 to build a \$ 100 million semiconductor plant in Roseville, near Sacramento/California. This plant would use the most advanced and highly automated equipment for the production of ICs by a merchant supplier in the US. It will be equipped with the very latest in wafer fabrication, assembly and test equipments and will have a through-put of 75,000 to 80,000 wafers per month when it becomes fully operational in 1985. NEC says that it will make very large-scale integrated circuits - memories, microprocessors and gate arrays - i.e. the most sophisticated products available on the market. First products from the factory will be 64 K dynamic RAMs, the building blocks for large computer memory stores. By 1934 - 35 it is expected that the plant will be able to turn out the next generation of very large-scale integrated circuits which will include 256 K dynamic RAMs and advanced microprocessors. NEC also plans to produce Read Only Memories (ROM), another important element of computer memories. According to NEC's executive
vice-president for the US, Charles Wood, NEC will make 128 K and 256 K ROMs at the new plant.

The NEC project indicates to what degree automation will affect semiconductor production in the years to come. According to Handel Jones of Gnostic Concepts, a market research company with close ties to NEC and other Japanese companies, the degree of automation at the NEC factory will be higher than that in any other semiconductor plant anywhere in the world with the single exception of some of IBM's wafer far ication lines. $\frac{32}{7}$

But the most important novelty would be that automation would also cover the traditional bottleneck of semiconductor production - the assembly stage at which finished chips are put into packages and bonded to the output pins that plug the integrated circuit into a circuit board. Automation of assembly will substantially reduce the required work force at the IC plant.

Projected employment figures for the plant are only 200 persons when the plant opens, rising to 600 people working in the three shifts when it is working at full capacity. According to industry experts, typical employment figures for a plant with similar through-put might be expected to be closer to 1,500. Additional evidence on the scope for worker's replacement through transition towards automated bonding can be gathered from the experience of Electronic Arrays, the Silicon Valley based subsidiary of NEC which recently has introduced automated bonding devices at its Mountain View plant. One worker, using the automated equipment replaces now 30 manual bonding employees.

Automating semiconductor assembly has become today an established practice with major semiconductor firms. This would relate to both merchant firms and captive producers. In fact, each of the major US semiconductor manufacturers has today plans underway to build new, highly automated assembly facilities in the US. The rationale usually quoted for this move towards automated assembly is the need to speed up assembly in order to be able to react in a flexible manner to market fluctuations and the need to improve the yield of good devices. Equally significant, training requirements can be substantially reduced. According to <u>Electronics</u> $\frac{34}{}$ it takes only two weeks to train a machine operator to work at automated bonding equipment, while it normally takes about three months for a worker to become competent at manual bonding.

For NEC, an additional motivation seems to have played a very important role: the distrust of all Japanese firms with regard to the US labour force. By automating semiconductor production to such a high degree the Japanese now feel that they can avoid the problems of employee management in the US. e) The transition towards automated assembly

According to a recent study by <u>Mackintosh Consultants</u>, $\frac{35}{}$ the the worldwide market for assembly equipment and materials will experience a rapid expansion during the next five years.

Table 3.5 resumes market growth projections for major types of equipment.

Table 3.5. Market Growth Projections for Major Types of Assembly Equipment, 1980-1985

-	lears			、	
Туре	of Equipment	1980 (mio \$)	1985	CAAGR ^{a)}	(%)
(1)	Lead-Bonding Equipment	70	183	21	
	-Thermocompressive wire bonders -Gang bonder	Have the g	greatest	 	share
	equipment		15	50	
(2)	Die-Seperation	17	43	20	
(3)	Die-Attachment	12	28	18	*
(4)	Packaging Equipment	61	78	5	
	-molding presses -flat-plate- aperture molds	-drastical -significat but still	ly declintly ind of rela	reasing tively	rkets markets, small volume
a) ₍	CAAGR= compound ave	rage annual gr	owth rat	te	,

Source: Figures are taken from "Semiconductor Assemoly Equipment and Materials Outlook - 1985", Mackintosh Publications Ltd., Darmstadt, June 198;, quoted from <u>Blick durch die</u> <u>Wirtschaft</u>, 13 July 1981, p. 7

l

Except for packaging equipment, average annual growth rates of demand are expected to be very high, ranging from 18% for die-attachment equipment to 50% for gang bonder equipment. The low growth rate for packaging equipment, which has already experienced high growth rates during the last years, would seem to be due basically to the drastically declining market for molding presses which the rapidly increasing demend for flat-plate-aperture-molds is not yet able to compensate.

For all major types of assembly equipment, the Mackintosh report predicts increasingly high levels of automation, increasing operation speeds, and significantly improved yields. This would apply particularly to bonding equipment and to die-separation equipment where fully integrated lines are now available on the market.

Thus, the Mackintosh report would seem to indicate that the trend towards automating chip assembly is continuing unabated by the present crisis of the semiconductor industry.

f) Changes of manufacturing technology in application areas

Examples of the introduction of new manufacturing technologies in application areas include:

- the automatic insertion of components and modules onto PCBs (Printed Circuit Boards) in the TV industry;
- computer-driven wire wrapping, which is claimed to be a more reliable and efficient method than solder for wire/ pin connections;
- computerized test and measurement equipment.

The new emphasis on process technology has already started to influence basic design approaches. In fact, a convergence of process and product technology is taking place: products are being engineered and re-engineered in order to be applicable to given process technologies and the once clearly delineated interface between design engineering and production engineering has become blurred. It is this convergence of process and product technology which probably has contributed much to the aforementioned recent breakthrough in designing and producing semi-customized chips. In addition, it documents the increasing importance of applications technology.

3.2.6. The Increasing Importance of Application Technology <u>36</u>/

a) Options for increasing application orientation

Due to increasingly tough market constraints, semiconductor firms can not anymore say: "We will be building a million or four million bits of memory on a chip, if anyone wants such a thing...." $\frac{37}{}$ - and hope that a market will develop. Instead, innovation and production have to be increasingly geared to end-user needs.

There are two possibilities to achieve this goal: either through a customization of standard ICs by software engineers or by integrating user needs into device and system design.

The reorientation of innovation towards customer needs is going to have dramatic consequences for the structure of the industry. If the first route is chosen, then this would mean that increasingly the bulk of the value-added would be reaped in the software sector.

The second route, on the other hand, would mean that the weight of IC producers would increase. Yet, in order to be able to reap the benefits and control this route to userorientation, IC producers would have to purgue a strategy of forward integration into equipment, systems and consumer electronics. Both these developments would increase in turn the pressure for computer, telecommunications and consumer electronics firms to initiate strategies of backward integration into IC design and manufacturing, in order not to loose control over end-user markets.

The result could well be a blurring of the traditional lines of segmentation running through the industry and this could have a considerable impact on the economics of production and demand. In other words, new trends in innovation are bound to lead to a considerable restructuring of prevailing patterns of "industrial organization" and this in turn will have a considerable impact on corporate structure and strategy.

Some implications for the software sector of this type of interaction between innovation and industrial restructuring will be discussed in detail in chapter 4. So let us concentrate here on the implications for circuit and systems design and their consequences for industrial restructuring.

b) The convergence Letween circuit and system design - the pressure to increase technical and industrial synergism

The convergence of circuit and system design which is one of the most important structural changes in the whole electronic sector, is taking place on two levels:

<u>First</u>, the design of circuits has to take increasingly into account the application requirements of end-users. Cases in point would be specific devices like codecs, programmable devices like microprocessors and gate arrays, and firmware, particularly that designed into EPROMs. <u>Second</u>, the design of systems is increasingly conditioned by the type of integrated circuits available. In the extreme case this could lead to a design approach where systems would be designed around ICs. In addition, this could induce a product design philosophy to emerge where products would be conceived as "black boxes" $\frac{38}{}$ to be adapted to specific end-user needs through appropriate software or firmware.

This convergence of circuit and system design and the growing importance of software development in this process has important consequences for patterns of allocation and division of labour within the electronics industry. This would apply particularly to specific and programmable devices, and much less so for standard devices like RAMs.

Much more than ever before the focus is now on reaping the benefits of technical and industrial synergism through developing new forms of coordination between circuit and system design and software development. In order to realize these synergetic effects, not only a permanent flow of inter-sectorial transfer of technology and feedback informations would be required, but also a considerable reshuffling of prevailing sectorial and geographic location patterns.

In other words, new patterns of vertical integration and/or disintegration are already about to develop in the electronics industry and we should expect significant changes in the prevailing patterns of international location. 3.3. The Changing Economics of Semiconductor Manufacturing

Due to the aforementioned recent technological developments, the economics of semiconductor manufacturing have recently experienced significant changes. In fact, changes in production cost have been the major issue. There are three aspects involved:

- significant changes in the overall cost structure;

- changing skill requirements; and

- the dramatic increase in the costs of market entrance.

3.3.1. Significant Changes in the Overall Cost Structure

We have already shown that the reduction of labour costs has been the major driving force for innovations in manufacturing technology. $\frac{39}{}$

According to Truel $\frac{40}{}$ this has already caused the share of direct labour costs in overall costs of production to fall from 46.7% in 1963 to 30.2% in 1976.

This relative fall of labour costs has been particular prominent for chip assembly costs, due to the increasing use of automatic bonding equipment. $\frac{41/}{2}$

In addition, with the growing complexity of the circuit, the importance of assembly costs tends to decline. $\frac{42}{2}$ This is in fact one of the established basic laws of the economics of semiconductor manufecturing. Robert N. Noyce, Vice Chairman of Intel and one of the industry pioneers, adds: "The most cost-efficient design is a compromise between high assembly costs (which are incurred at low levels of integration) and high scrapping costs (which are incurred at high levels of integration)." $\frac{43}{2}$ This statement would seem to imply in fact that for high levels of circuit integration, offshore assembly was never a really pressing issue.

- 97 -

Table 3.6 documents how the importance of assembly costs decreases with growing circuit complexity. In fact, the relative decrease of labour costs for assembly operations from 33 to 4% is a dramatic one indeed.

Type of Circuits Cost Categories	Discrete Semico or Simple Integ Value (\$)	onductors crated Circuits (%)	Complex In ted Circui Value (\$)	ntegra- its (%)
Cost of the chip	0,015	10	1.00	29
Cost of the c psule	0.050	33	0.50	15
Labour costs for assembly operations	0.050	33	0.15	4
Test	0.020	13	0.75	22
Rejects	0.015	10	1.00	29
	0.150	100	3.40	100

Table 3.6. Circuit Complexity and Changing Cost Structure

Source: Adapted from: U.S. Department of Commerce - "A Report on the U.S. Semiconductor Industry", Washington, D.C., Government Publications Office, September 1979

3.3.2. Changing Skill Requirements

In order to realize the aforementioned technological developments, the classical patterns of division of labour between the various disciplines of electronic or computer engineering, metallurgy, physics and chemistry do not suffice anymore. In fact, these previously separate specialities have to be increasingly converged and in particular knowledge of interface problems will become of increasing importance.

The future of some of the main innovations in manufacturing technology for instance will depend upon a mixture of physics, chemistry and metallurgy expertise for successful implementation of these technical advances.

This would apply even more so for circuit design. The role of the electronics engineer, with regard to the required qualifications and experience, will become increasingly that of a systems designer with a high working knowledge of the needs of the end-user applications and less of a detailed knowledge of the discrete circuit interconnections. The software content of the product can be expected to increase dramatically requiring many more software or "firmware" engineers than are now used in product development. Overall, the impact of the pure scientist should decrease during the next five to ten years as the industry will shift focus from laboratory/ process research to product/application design.

Changes in high-level skill requirements have led to siderable shortages, particularly for design enginest.

Of all the job categories, the task of the electronics design engineer has undergone the most rapid change in recent years. According to the OECD study on the electronics industry, "... one firm replied 'What we need is bright engineers

_ 00 _

who can work in a team of 20-30 people and who can design a chir which both uses the equivalent of one million transistors and does something useful'." $\frac{44}{4}$

The shortage of application programmers is felt to be even more disturbing and has led to what has been called the "software bottleneck". $\frac{4.5}{}$ The OECD study for instance reports that "...at one European manufacturer they hoped, within the next 2 - 3 years to produce 'foolproof' high-level programming languages to increase the productivity of programmers and lower the skill requirements for applications programmers." $\frac{4.6}{}$ As will be shown later, this kind of statement indicates perhaps more the increasing frustration and perplexity of the industry, and could hardly be taken as a serious projection of what would become feasible in the foreseeable future.

Changes of similar importance are to be expected for the established patterns of skill requirements in production. According to the OECD study, "...all interviewees were unanimous in agreeing that the nature of jobs and the pattern of skill requirements had undergone considerable changes in the last decade. In the semiconductor manufacturing process, firms reported that skill requirements were rapidly reducing; that the production of LSI chips (and thus of whole electronic systems) was increasingly resembling a chemical process operation. The equipment manufacturers remarked that 'manual' skills were being replaced by 'computer operating' skills and that circuit designers were being replaced by writers of software as digital ICs (and, in particular, microprocessors) became the dominant design element." The study concludes that "... the general pattern of job structures seems to reflect a polarization of skill requirements with a replacement of 'semi-skilled' production workers by highly skilled design, test, and inspection personnel and a number of unskilled machine operators. Many firms remarked that this polarization of skills was masked by the export of unskilled jobs to offshore assembly operations, so that the net effect of technical change appeared to be a trend towards fewer and more highly skilled jobs in domestic operations." $\frac{47}{}$

In addition, a shift of personnel from manufacturing work into training, service, and sales activities has taken place, particularly in firms engaged in equipment manufacture.

This huge conversion of skills is increasingly becoming a major problem, particularly for the computer industry. According to the OECD study again, "... the amount of money allocated to 'in-house' retraining was, in all the firms interviewed, high (at one large computer manufacturer training accounted for 4% of sales)." $\frac{48}{}$ Only the retraining of production workers to work in maintenance jobs in the service sector was felt to be "relatively unproblematic".

3.3.3. The Dramatic Increase in the Costs of Market Entrance

Till about 1975, the costs of entering the semiconductor industry were relatively low: access to technology was fairly easy, first, because basic research then was the driving force behind the product and process innovations, and second, due to the high mobility of researchers and engineers. $\frac{4.9}{}$

In addition, semiconductor manufacturing used to be a relatively labour-intensive business, and equipment costs still were relatively low. Consequently, the minimum requirements of capital for entering this industry were moderate: National Semiconductor in 1967 entered business with \$ 1 million, and Intel two years later needed hardly \$ 3 million.

In the meantime, costs of entering the semiconductor industry have dramatically increased. According to Robert N. Noyce, competing in VISI markets "...implies the willingness to risk at least § 50 million to § 100 million a year in capital, plus another § 50 million to § 100 million a year in r+d cost." $\frac{50}{10}$ In other words, with less than § 100 million it is impossible today to enter the VISI market.

It was P. Lamond, Vice-Chairman of National Semiconductor, who put the problem into a nutshell: "In the semiconductor industry you once needed 50 cents of investment capital to generate 2 dollars of annual sales. Today, you have to invest 1 dollar in order to generate just 1 additional dollar of sales." $\frac{51}{}$

3.3.4. <u>Factors Underlying the Increasing Cost Burden</u> of Sericonductor Manufacturing

The huge cost increase of designing and manufacturing stateof-the-arts semiconductors and particularly of very-largescale-integrated circuits was due to a variety of factors.

Of particular importance are:

- the decreasing importance of basic research and the increasing weight of design and mask making;
- the increasing importance of firmware;
- rising budget requirements for circuit development;
- the expansion of new and rigid forms of technological protectionism;
- and, finally, the soaring costs of equipment used to make semiconductors.

(a) <u>The decreasing importance of basic research and</u> the increasing weight of design and mask making

Today, the logic conception of a new design consisting of at least tens of thousands of functions and its graphic representation would be impossible without using extremely expensive CAD systems. In addition, huge teams of highly qualified designers are needed, and a lot of time is required to complete the task of circuit design and lay-out, particularly for very complex VISI circuits. $\frac{52}{2}$

(b) The increasing importance of firmware

Increasingly, integrated circuits are designed to include a growing part of the software which, once wired into the circuit, is then called firmware. This capacity to store programmes permanently on a chip has been significantly increased due to the emergence of the so-called EPROMs (= Electrically Programmable Read Only Memory) which are dead memories where information stored can be extinguished electrically and which then can be reprogrammed. This means that in the design stage, software engineers have become of increasing importance and are matching now the requirements of solid state physicists. According to Truel, $\frac{53}{}$ research on microprocessors today requires approximately four software engineers.

(c) Rising budget requirements for circuit development

As a consequence of (a) and (b), the budgets needed for developing a new circuit family have very much increased. US semiconductor menufacturers for instance claim to need today at least a couple of million dollars to develop just one product family.

The increasing cost burden of r+d has been documented by the OECD study: "... in almost every case r+d costs were rising faster than inflation". This was basically "... due to the relative labour intensity of such activities and the fact that rises in wage costs in most OECD countries had at least kept pace with rates in inflation". $\frac{54}{}$

Table 3.7 shows that in 1978 the cost burden of r+d in the semiconductor industry by far exceeded the average of high-technology industries, let alone the overall average of US industry.

- 104 -

	R+D outlays as per- centage of sales (%)	R+D outlays as per- centage of profits (%)
National average	1.9	43.4
High-technology average	4.0	65.4
Aerospace	3.7	93.0
Electronics (general)	2.6	56.1
Data processing	6.0	54.8
Instruments	3.9	69.9
Semiconductor	5.8	102.3
Telecommunications	1.9	16.1

Table 3.7. The Cost Burden of R+D in the US, 1978

Source: Figures are taken from "R+D is a Shrinking Resource", <u>Electronics</u>, 17 January 1980, p. 83 where date from Standard&Poor's are quoted.

(d) The expansion of new and rigid forms of a technological protectionism

Access to technology for newcomers has become increasingly difficult due to the expansion of new and rigid forms of technological protectionism.

This trend towards increasing technological protectionism among the established semiconductor merchant firms clearly shows up in the aforementioned OECD study: "The US semiconductor firms (interviewed for this survey, D.E.) perceived an increased need to protect internal innovations as a defense against the formation of new firms in the component business by engineers leaving the established firms." Consequently, "...they had tended to patent less in relation to activity in recent years, not only because of the increasing significance of software, but also as an attempt to keep more 'trade secrets'". 55/

(e) The soaring costs of equipment used to make semiconductors

Finally, the costs of equipment needed to produce stateof-the-arts semiconductors and particularly VISI circuits have soared up rapidly.

Overall, the cost burden of equipment used to make semiconductors has increased in price by a factor of between 4 and 20 times since 1967. $\frac{56}{}$ "Firms were certain that such trends would continue in future; that the manufacture of the next generations of integrated circuits would require ever greater levels of capital investment." $\frac{57}{}$

Table 3.8 for instance documents the increase of capital equipment cost for a wafer fabrication facility.

·• •		
Year	Cost (million \$)	
1967	0,5	
1979	10,0	
mid-1980s	34 ^{a)}	

<u>Table 3.8.</u> Costs of Capital Equipment Needed to Set Up a Wafer-Fabrication Facility (million \$)

a) = Electronique Actualité, 15 December 1978, expects an even bigger increase till the mid-80s to around \$ 50 million.

Sources: Handel H. Jones, Vice President of Gnostic Concepts, quoted from: <u>Business Week</u>, 3 December 1979 and <u>Electronique Actualité</u>, 15 December 1978.

The table shows that from the mid-1960s till the late 1970s, capital equipment costs for wafer fabrication in fact experienced a twentifold increase and during the five years starting from 1960 another three to fivefold increase is to be expected.

Cost increases have been particularly rapid for the following types of equipment:

- Electron beam and X-ray lithographic devices;
- Equipment needed for mask-making;
- Computer aided design facilities for total VLSI circuit pattern generation;
- High speed computer-based test equipment;
- Improved crystal pullers and refiners to produce "zerodefect" material;
- Wafer processing equipment such as ion implanters, processing furnaces etc.

The unit costs of equipment needed for mask-making for instance increased from \$300,000 in 1975 to a minimum of \$2.5 million in 1978 and it will probably run up to around \$7 million in 1982.^{58/}

Table 3.9 presents some additional information on recent trends in semiconductor equipment prices.

		average prices 1976 (\$)	average prices 1980 (\$)
(1)	Wafer exposure equipment	44,000	345,000
(2)	Electron-beam microlithography system		2 million
(3)	Assembly equipment	8,000	20,000
(4)	Projection mask aligner (Perkin- Elmer)		230,000 (240,000 ^{A)})
(5)	Automatic Testing Equipment		ca.500,000

Table 3.9. Recent Trends in Prices of Semiconductor Equipment (\$)

Source: Figures are taken from "Semiconductor Equipment takes on its own Glow", <u>Business Week</u>, 1 December 1980

a)=Price quotation from <u>Wall Street Journal</u>, 3 October 1980

As a result of these huge price increases, equipment costs today represent approximately 10% of chip production expenses. $\frac{59}{}$ According to John R. Welty, head of Motorola's semiconductor group, "...we are shifting from what has been a fairly labour-inte sive business into a capitalintensive business". $\frac{60}{}$

Tables 3.10 and 3.11 give evidence of this dramatic increase in the capital intensity of semiconductor manufacturing.

Table 3.10. The Increasing Fixed Capital Intensity of Chip Production, 1979-1985

•		1979	1985	1979 - 85
(1)	Average costs of capital equipment nesded to set up a wafer-fabrication facility (mill. \$)	10	34	
(2)	Global expenditure on equipment for chip production (billion \$)	1.1	5.6.	p.a. average growth rate = 3%%
(3)	Average growth rate of investment costs per \$ of annual sales			8%

Sources: (1) Handel H. Jones, Vice-President, Gnostic Concepts, quoted from <u>Business Week</u>, 3 December 1979

(2) + (3) Mackintosh International, Inc., op. cit

Table 3.11.	Capital Expenditures	in the Semiconductor Industry	τ,
	as a Share of Sales,	1975-1985 (average shares in	1
	1975	10	
	1980 <u>1</u> /	16	
	1985 <u>1</u> /	20	

 $\underline{1}$ = 1980 estimates.

Source: Figures are from the investment firm Morgan Stanley, quoted from: French, Eichael 3. - "The Semiconductor Industry: An Overview", <u>Datamation</u>, April 1980, p. 164 Figure 3.2 documents the rapid increase of capital outlays by US merchant semiconductor companies, particularly since 1977.

Figure 3.2.



Source: Business Week, 3 December 1979

In what follows, we will take up in detail some implications of recent changes in the economics of semiconductor manufacturing for corporate structure and strategy and will put them into the wider context of structural change pertaining to the semiconductor and to the overall electronics industry. CHAPTER 4. THE SOFTWARE SECTOR - CONDITIONING FACTORS AND POSSIBLE FUTURE TRENDS $\frac{1}{}$

4.1. The Concept of Software and Some Major Issues

Trends in the software area are of crucial importance for understanding the scope and constraints of applying microelectronics-related innovations to industrial products and processes. To start with, we have to be clear about what we talk. Definitions of software differ considerably. This reflects the great variety of functions software is supposed to fulfil. But what is the common purpose and what is it that constitutes the difference to hardware?

According to one leading expert, software should be defined "...to include programmes that modify computer hardware and extend its function beyond the general purpose digital computer. Software includes, but is not limited to control programmes, executive supervisors, teleprocessing and communications monitors, application programmes, programming aides, languages,etc.Software could be delivered as a product, with or without large- or small-scale hardware, as a service through a time-sharing network, as one of the value-added components in a facilities management arrangement etc. I am defining software in the broadest sense possible, . 1 I do so because the current market place requires it." $\frac{2}{}$

The first lesson to be drawn from this definition is that the software market is nothing less than a homogeneous market. On the contrary, market segmentation is the name of the game. This has important implications which we shall discuss later on in detail. Suffice it to say here that one should be very careful to avoid rapid over-generalizations.

In addition, it should be noted that, due to the lack of sound information, this chapter deliberately left out recent developments in <u>firmware engineering</u>, i.e., the wiring of programmes into microelectronic circuits. Consequently, the following analysis is still of a very tentative nature and is basically meant to document the need for more in-depth follow-on research $\frac{24}{2}$. - 112 -

This chapter discusses some factors conditioning the structure of the software market and strategies of major groups of firms involved. Further, it analyses some causes underlying the socalled software bottleneck and identifies possible future trends, particularly in applications packages and software development systems. Finally, recent changes in corporate strategy and possible future impacts on market structure and industrial restructuring are discussed.

My basic assumption is that the spread of applications for microelectronic devices depends critically on the available capacities to develop, operate and maintain software, particularly applications software. When we talk about microelectronicsrelated innovations and industrial restructuring, we always have to keep in mind that there is an overall shortage of programming capability in relation to the rapidly growing population of installed computers (mainframe, mini and micro) and that this applies in particular for programmers capable of devising machine codes for microsystems. This shortage of programs needed to run computers and microelectronic programmable devices, the socalled software bottleneck, is in fact becoming an increasingly important constraint for attempts to expand the reach of microelectronic applications beyond its traditional confines. Thus, analysing the software market might belp us to understand better why the microchip has been so "unexpectedly slow" $\frac{3}{}$ to become that all pervasive force as predicted by the most renouned forecasts since more than 10 years.

The purpose of this chapteris to identify the actors involved in the development, production and maintenance of software and to point out that, although market segmentation is traditionally high in the software sector, trends towards an increasing concentration and globalization have recently gathered momentum. I would argue in fact that any attempts to analyse or forecast future application patterns of microelectronics and their impact on international restructuring in industry should be based on a careful evaluation of these recent structural changes of the software market. This would help to ensure that policy formulation and implementation would not be roped into epheneral projects, but would selectively focus on a few strategic areas of attack and support.

4.2. The Emergence of a Separate Software Sector

In order to understand today's problems of software engineering, we need to analyse the structure of the software industry.

A first question would concern its origins and how this industry relates to other parts of the information processing sector.

4.2.1. The Origins

There are three actors involved in information processing:

- The hardware manufacturer/provider;

- The software manufacturer/provider;

- The end user.

Originally, these three different functions were united in one and the same person, or at least were part of the same team. The man with a computing problem (the end user) built a machine (thereby becoming a hardware provider), then modified it to accomplish his specific task (creating software).

With the emergence of the computer industry, the end user (the man with the computing problem) was seperated out of the equation. Software was provided by either the hardware manufacturer or by an in-house programming force which the end user hired specifically for this purpose.

Viewed from the end user's perspective, this type of arrangement had three basic shortcomings:

<u>First</u>, neither of the two groups of software producers were sufficiently acquainted and in tune with the end user's needs so that needs and software hardly ever incermeshed completely. In other words, it took a long time and it cost a lot to bring software sufficiently close to end user needs and one never knew whether the system really would work, let alone whether it would be able to incorporate necessary adaptations over time.

<u>Second</u>, because of the high wages of programmers, the cost burden of software development and engineering was rapidly increasing to very high levels. That is why both end users and hardware manufacturers had some common interest in reducing the role of highly paid programmers and in displacing them as far as possible by other arrangements.

<u>Third</u>, it did not take end users too long to realize that software received from hardware producers always contained significant doses of built-in hardware dependencies, i.e. the need to rely on maintenance and repair services and spare parts, but also to remain loyal to the system when expanding computing capacity.

But also hardware producers had increasingly reason to feel uneasy with this arrangement. They used to give away software as part of the system price paid for the hardware, but were getting under increasing pressure to cover the tremendous costs of software development. The famous "unbundling decision" of IEM in June 1969 was the logical outcome of this concern. Some would argue that by explicitly seperating software and hardware costs, this strategic move of IEM, probably in contradiction to the then prevailing motivations, did contribute considerably to the emergence of an independent software sector.

Obviously this is only part of the story. If we want to understand the causes of the present software crisis which we have shown to be one of the key constraints to the application of MRIs to industrial products and processes, we need to inquire further into the history of the software market place. Various events could be cited:

- 114 -

- In 1956, IBM started its independent data center which was due to a judgement by the government that required IBM to treat its Service Bureau Division as a seperate, but still wholly owned subsidiary rather than as a adjunct activity to its computer sales.
- In 1959, largely due to the military and space agencies programming needs, independent contract programming firms were first emerging. Their position was strengthened when IBM had difficulties bringing its third generation computer equipment to the market place in 1963-64.
- A further push to the development of independent software firms was due to the rise of the time-sharing industry in 1966-67.
- Finally, one would have to mention the attempts at taking end user programmes and modifying them for attempted multiinstallation use, a pratice that began in 1967-68 and is notable if only for its failure rate.

4.2.2. Conditioning Factors

It is not easy to uncover the logic underlying these events. In fact, Welke is right, when he states: "...the software product market place occured not because of a grand design, a technological break-through, or the genius of anyone individual or company. It developed bit by bit and piece by piece, with form chosen only sometimes by technology, with standards dictated by economic necessity, with risk taken out of ignorance, and with the rewards sometimes going to the perverse as well as to those who just persevered." $\frac{4}{2}$ Nevertheless it seems possible to identify some common threads running through each of these events. I would propose to focus on three of them:

<u>First</u>, the hardware manufacturers' concern to reduce the cost burden of software development and maintenance caused not only changes in pricing policy, i.e. IbM's unbundling decision, but also the development of new modes of software production and engineering, the socalled "software packages", and of new forms of subcontracting, starting from software conversion right into the development of specific applications packages. Add to this the end users' concern to reduce or do away completely with the extremely expensive inhouse programming teams, then it becomes obvious that the drive to reduce the importance of highly skilled and lavishly paid programmers was of considerable importance.

<u>Second</u>, with the destabilization of the established oligopely and the intensifying technological race between hardware manufacturers, the gap between ever new generations of computer hardware on the one hand, and available software on the other, was dramatically increasing. This applies to both systems and applications software. Hardware manufacturers, for reasons we will analyze later on more in detail, were unable to cope with this problem and thus had no choice but to accept and sometimes to even actively promote the emergence of independent software firms.

<u>Third</u>, firms interested in gaining access to the larger information and services market place, soon realized that software could serve as the ideal entry level business. The reasons are fairly evident:

- The relatively low barriers to entry. Compared with starting a hardware company, for instance, software requires little initial investment. Today, a minimum entry cost would be

- 116 -

5 500 ... 3 which, in addition to initial investment, would include costs due to the need for product differentiation and competition, for incorporating data base design and new communications requirements.

- The high rate of return and very attractive profit margins, particularly with multiple sales of software packages. In other words, software is still widely perceived, and probably rightly so, as a "get-rich-quick business".
- The great diversity of software requirements and the consequent segmentation of the market place almost prechudes domination by any one firm. The software market has so many needs and demands which furthermore are undergoing rapid change, that the small firm can easily carve a niche. Attempts to homogenize effectively the software market for the sake of subordinating it to oligopolistic control, are of course under way, but still they have a long way to go.

4.3. Trends in the Market Structure

Market segmentation has been an important characteristic of the software sector. At first sight at least, it would seem as if very narrow limits exist for a homogenization of this market and thus for attempts to increase concentration of control.

Yet, closer analysis shows that reality is much more complex and that the software sector is undergoing significant change. Particularly in certain strategic areas, like "basic systems packages" and "software development systems", the prevailing trend points to an increasing concentration and globalization. 4.3.1. Software - a Part of Computer Services

Fig. 4.1.

- Software Services

(contract programming)

indicates that

software is part of computer services.

Fig. 4.1. The Computer Services Industry

Computer Services	
Data Services	Support Services (=operations that are not directly related to data processing) - Education
Services (NIS) (refers to any con- nection of the com- puter with a termi- nal located remotely) - Batch Services (work is carried in by hand or by courier to the computer, for in- stance payroll)	<pre>(training of pro- grammers etc.) - Third Party Leasing - Used Computer Equipment - Third Party Maintenance</pre>
 <u>Facilities Management (FM)</u> (first-time installation of a computer, usually on a turn-key basis, or tran- sition from one computer system to another) <u>Software Products</u> 	
(software that has been written and marketed as a standard package to do a specific job)	

Source: Based on industry reviews in electronics trade journals, particularly on: Roach, William R. and Jung, David C. -"Spending for Software and Services", in: Datamation, March 1975 Market data on the computer services industry are only available since 1960. It was estimated that computer services revenues for the United States in that year reached barely \$115 million (see table 4.1.). Twelve years later this market had grown to \$4.3 billion.

					Average Annuel	Average Annual
Computer Service Sector	DP Exp (Milli	endit ons o	ure Bas: f_Dolla:	is rs)	Growth Rate (1967-71) %	Growth Rate (1971-72) %
	196 0	1967	1971	1972		
Data Service	S					
Facilities Management Network In-	-	110	645	800	56	24
Services Software	50,1)	45 200	430 467	600 700 3)	77 24	39 49
Services	50 ²⁾	500	650	800	7	23
<u>Total Data</u> <u>Services</u>	-	855	2,192	2,900	27	32
Support Ser-						
Vices Education Third Party]-	60	50		-	-
Leasing Used Compu-	-	50	775	-	99	-
ter Equip- ment Third Party	-	25	225		74	-
Maintenance	-	3	45		97	
Total Sup-						
vices	-	138	1,095	1,400	68	27
TOTAL	115	993	3,287	4,300	35	30

.Tab. 4.1. US Computer Services Markets, 1960-1972

¹⁾Primarily geared to DoD, NASA and large aerospace companies

²⁾Services offered by around 300 - 400 small, local service bureau operators
³⁾Software products = \$\$ 300.million; software services = \$\$ 400 million

Source: Figures are taken from: Roach, W.R. and Jung, D.C. - "Spending for Software and Services", in: Datamation, March 1975, p. 54

- 120 -

Concerning software, estimates for 1960 would put them roughly at § 50 million which then was almost exclusively dedicated to the military and space complex. Twelve years later, in 1972, the market value of all non-captive software was § 700 million, where software products, defined as software that has been written and marketed as a standard package to do a specific job, were still the smaller part and consisted of approximately § 300 million. End of 1979, the independent software product industry in the United States has developed into a § 1 billion - plus business with 1,400 vendors, 8,000 products and more than 30,000 users. (See table 4.2.). In other words, software packages have turned out to be the most dynamic of all computer services.

		1969	1975	1979	1980 ^{2/}	
(1)	Annual sales (§ millions)	25	400	1,000	1,400	
(2)	Number of ven- dors of large scale software product			1,400		
(3)	Number of pro- ducts			> 3,000		
(4)	Number of users			> 30,000		

Tab. 4.2. The Independent Software Product Industry $\frac{1}{}$ in the U.S., 1969-1980

1/These figures do not include or reflect the volume of business done by IBM or other computer mainframe manufacturers

2/November 1980 - estimate

Figures are taken from: Welke, Larry (President, International Computer Programs, Inc., the Indianapolis/USA software information service company) - "The Origins of Software", in: Datamation, December 1980

4.3.2. Types of Market Segmentation

Most software firms are specialized in a segment of the market, whether a hardware manufacturer (IBM and IBM compatible systems), an industry or a type of application.

There are two exceptions to this rule:

- Firms active in "systems software" would usually cover more than one industry;
- A few of the bigger firms, mostly affiliates of major corporations, which strive to develop what they call "a full portfolio of software product offerings".

But overall, market segmentation is the dominant characteristic. This reflects the fact that possibilities to homogenize software are still very limited, particularly in applications software. The statement by James A. Unnerstall, General Manager of Indiana Standards' Informations Services Department, reflects an experience common to practically all industries: "The probability of your programme fitting another company's system up front is practically zero." $\frac{5}{}$

In fact, taking a programme that was tailored for one company's operations and revising it for general use requires an enormous investment, a figure that can exceed the original cost of the software. $\frac{6}{2}$

Table 4.3. presents one aspect of the present degree of market segmentation, i.e. the split between large scale equipment and mini- and microcomputer markets. $\frac{7}{7}$

- 122 -

·	
Large Scale Equipment	Mini and Microcomputer
- Absorbs the majority of soft- ware outlays, but hardware mar- kets are approaching saturation limits	-Still a minority market, but large growth potential
- The great majority of this market is geared to IBM mach- ines and IBM compatible peri- pherals and CPUs	-Because of great variety of hardware suppliers, exclusive orientation of software firms to a specific hardware firm or a group of products is seldem
- Consolidated patterns cf competition and cooperation	-Rules of the game yet to be established, cutthroat compe- tition dominant
- High profit margins per sale; software is usually leased or licensed, not sold	-Due to aggressive pricing policy (market peretration prices), profit margins per sales are low
- Established rules for securing maintenance and technical sup- port services and for pricing them (maintenance fee normally ranges between 12 and 15% p.a. of the basic lease price)	-Deterioriating supply of maintenance and technical support services; no estab- lished rules for pricing them
- Highly sophisticated users; cost burden of software pro- duction high, but still under control	-Mostly unsophisticated users; to write easy to use programs is more difficult and thus more costly and time-consuming
- A global market, at least within the dominant economic blocks of the world economy (USA; Japan, Greater EEC, South East Asia and China, Latin America)	-A great variety of local rather than a national mar- ket

Tab. 4.3. The	Segmentation	of t	he So:	ftware	Market	-	Large	Scale
ver	sus Mini and I	licro	comput	tar Equ	ipment		,	

There are other types of segmentation. Two of them are of particular importance:

- Basic versus non-basic systems;
- Individually tailored software versus software packages.

Basic systems is a short-hand for describing those software systems which are experiencing very high demand. They include:

- Hardware utilization/performance measurement and accounting systems;
- Payroll and personnel information systems;
- Financial planning and profit analysis programmes;
- Project management and control systems;
- General accounting and integrated financial reporting systems.

It is on these basic systems that the greatest part of prely available programming capacities are focussing. The le of the game in software business is specialization on a few fast-growth systems, the capacity to develop and market commercially attractive software packages and to guarantee reliable technical support.

4.3.3. Software Packages

Software packages are systems which have been developed to overcome the shortage of skilled manpower, especially programmers. Software packages are increasingly used by banks, insurance companies, but also by manufacturing firms. According to a recent American Bankers Association review for instance, in 1981 more than half of all software in US banks was provided in package form. $\frac{8}{2}$

In manufacturing firms, although use of software packages is increasing, limitations to a wide-range application of packages still seem to be **considerable**. $2^{/}$ In absolute terms, this market is of considerable importance. In the United States for instance, users of information processing systems spent about \$2.5 billion for software packages (excluding contract software) in 1979. About two-thirds of this went to the computer manufacturers and one-third to the independent software industry. $\frac{10}{}$

There are two types of software packages: <u>application</u> packages and <u>packaged systems programmes</u>.

<u>Application packages</u> include, in order of sales volumes presently realized in the US: general ledger packages, payroll and personnel records. For these basic management functions, reprogramming becomes a periodic necessity. The traditional approach would have been to delegate this job to in-house programming teams or to subcontract to
independent programmers. Yet even for big firms, the costs of this approach rapidly became prohibitive. So why not buy a package instead? Of course, very small user firms getting their first computers never had any professional programmers, at most they might have hired a couple of part-time ones. Without packages (or systems so easy to use that professional training is unnecessary), the small user could have never considered a computer at all.

Manufacturing packages, on the other hand, with fewer sales so far, seem to have a considerable growth potential in the future $\frac{11}{}$ for instance to test, measuring and analytical instruments, and to industrial electronic equipment such as motor controls, numerical controls, inspection systems, sequence controls, but also to robots and semiconductor production equipment.

<u>Packaged systems programmes</u> include data base managers and data dictionaries, programme development aids and schedules, and protocol translators that permit interlinking of computer systems and terminal complexes (including word processors) from various vendors.

The largest independent companies in the package business are all primarily producers of systems programmes. Demand for system packages is huge and is bound to increase: Very few users would even think of preparing their own systems programmes any more, and the computer manufacturers can satisfy only a majority (at best) of the diverse demands of their customers.

Further, new opportunities for systems programmes keep appearing which means that systems packages will continue to be an essential component of the software market.

4.3.4. Identifying the Actors

We have seen that software originates from the computer services market and that it has experienced rapid growth, particularly in one form, i.e. as software packages. Who are the actors engaged in this increasingly important segment of the information processing industry?

In a first step, let us analyse some figures on users and vendors of computer services. Table 4.4. and table 4.5. summarize information available for the first half of the 1970s. $\frac{12}{}$

	Users	Vendors		
Size and Type	Services required (in order of prio- rity)	Market Shares (%)	Туре	Market Share (%)
(1) Small ¹⁾	NIS, batch	15	(1) Independent Vendors	380
(2) Medium ²⁾	NIS, FM, software	25	- Dedicated Compute Service vendors	r
(3) Large ³⁾	FM, software, NIS, support	50	- Bánks providing computer services	i
(4) Govern- ment	Software, FM, support	10	- Data processing spin-offs of big corporations (for instance Boeing Computer Services	
			- Other vendors, in cluding CPA and common carriers subsidiaries	-
			(2) <u>Computer Manufactur</u>	ers
			(3) <u>Government Agencies</u>	
1) =company w	ith less than \$ 15 m	illion s	nnual revenue	

Tab. 4.4. Computer Services - Users and Vendors, around 1974

2)=between \$ 15 and \$ 150 million

3)_{over \$ 150 million}

Source: Figures are taken from: Roach, William R. and Jung, David C. -"Spending for Software and Services", in: Datamation, March 1975

	1972	1973	% Growth
IBM	248	355	43%
Control Data Corp.	132	156	18%
Computer Sciences Corp.	119	135	13%
Boeing Computer Services	115	125	9%
McDonnell Douglas Automation Co.	109	121	10%
Electronic Data Systems	103	118	16%
Automatic Data Processing	70	100	43%

Tab. 4.5. Major Service Firms $\frac{1}{2}$ U.S. Revenues (\$ Millions)

¹Computer service companies which topped \$ 100 million in 1973. Total of computer service firms in 1973: 1700. Over 2/3 of them or 1200 firms had revenues of less than \$ 2 million per year.

Source: Figures are taken from: Roach, W.R. and Jung, D.C. - "Spending for Software and Services", in: Datamation, March 1975, p. 55

> Historically, the computer services industry has been very decentralized, consisting mostly of small or medium size vendors offering data processing services within a local area. In 1973, for example, of the 1,600 to 1,700 service vendors in the United States, over two-third, or 1,200 firms, had revenues of less than & 2 million per year. In addition, only seven vendors had revenues of more than & 100 million.

During the last years however, the computer services market, and particularly the software product market is undergoing rapid change. The odds are that large, independent service companies such as Electronic Data Systems, Automatic Data Processing, and Optimum Systems, together with spin-off vendors of multinational corporations will gain increasing importance. Add to this IBM which is still by far the largest services vendor, mostly in software, and it will become clear that, in analogy to earlier developments in the hardware sector, computer services will increasingly become a worldwide business. Three factors have been behind this trend towards concentration and globalization: the development of communication-based remote computing systems in the late 1960s, the growing importance of software packages. particularly applications packages, and the implementation of a maintenance contract as part of the business deal. $\frac{1.3}{}$ Figures 4.2. and 4.3. give a picture of the U.S. computer services industry in 1979. It can be seen that the software products industry, although still by far the smallest part of the business, is experiencing very high growth rates, much in excess of the overall growth rates for the computer services industry.

Fig. 4.2. US Computer Services Industry Growth Rates, 1977-1979



1979 COMPUTER SERVICES INDUSTRY PERFORMANCE

Source: Input Inc. Figures, as quoted in: "Bucking the System", <u>Datamation</u>, July 1980, p. 51 Fig. 4.3. Computer Services Industry - Share of Activities, 1978-1979



Source: Input Inc. Figures, as quoted in: "Bucking the System", <u>Datamation</u>, July 1981, p. 51

That moves towards increasing concentration have recently gathered momentum has been documented in a recent study of Broadview Associates, a US financial consulting firm. $\frac{13a}{}$ For the US computer services industry the study found in fact a sudden upsurge of acquisition and merger activities. The report identified 107 mergers and acquisitions valued at a total of β 671 million in the industry during 1979. The 10 largest transactions accounted for β 487 million, 73% of the whole sum paid, although they represented but 9% of the number of transactions. In the five-year period from 1975, the number of sequisitions of computer services companies has shown an 168% increase, which, according to Broadview Associates, made computer services the leading acquisition-prone industry in 1979. Table 4.6. indicates the structure of the US software supply in 1980. It is obvious that IBM and other data processing firms, by the sheer volume of their software revenues, dominate the market. On the other hand, relatively small and specialized independent software suppliers have been able to survive.

	10 LARGES	TU.S. SOFT	WARE SUPPLIERS	فكالداد التبريجي والفاني وموادر	
_		1988 rank	Tojji corporate revenue (Sm)	% software revenue	1980 Saftware revenue (Sm)
12345678910	Nanagement Science America, Inc. Cincom Systems, Inc. Policy Management Systems Pansophic Systems, Inc. Applied Data Research, Inc. American Management Systems, Inc. Software AG of North America, Inc. Computer Associates, Inc. Kirchman Corporation Cultinane Corporation	43 47 44 52 48 53 62 53 88	\$52 \$37 \$46 \$31 \$37 \$37 \$37 \$37 \$39 \$28 \$25 \$32 \$32 \$32 \$32 \$32 \$32	92% 92% 78% 78% 78% 93% 108% 59%	548 534 532 531 529 529 529 526 525 519 518
	18 LARGE	ST U.S. FIR	NS WITH SPAS		هجه بي مليني بيراني
	• • •	1980 Fank	SP&S revenue (millions)	% of total corporate revenue	Total corporato revenue (millions)
10	International Business Machines VRW Inc. Honeywell Inc. Sperry Corporation Litten Industrier, Inc. Control Data Corporation NCR Corporation Hewlett-Pachard Compacy Burroughs Corporation Digital Equipment Corporation	1 8 14 9 85 2 3 11 5 4	\$1,835 \$425 \$275 \$387 \$17 \$1,034 \$598 \$305 \$580 \$580 \$589	7% 7% 4% 8% 9% 27% 10% 20% 25%	524.211 5 4.984 5 4.925 5 4.785 5 4.247 5 3.800 5 3.322 5 3.099 5 2.902 5 2.346

Tab. 4.6. "The Structure of the US Software Supply, 1980"

Source: Cane, Alan - "Package Software set for Boom", <u>Financial</u> Times, 13 May 1981

Overall, market trends suggest that the bigger companies will swellow up some of their rivals but that there will still be a place for small firms specializing in market niches. This would apply particularly to applications software where intimate knowledge of the application concerned is required and difficult to acquire by huge highly centralized firms. According to the <u>Financial Times</u>, "... no single company can encompass even a small proportion of all the necessary expertise. Even the mighty IBM has made it a practice of picking up the best software written by, or for, its customers." $\frac{14}{}$

4.4. The Software Bottleneck - Relevance and Underlying Causes

According to Martin A. Goetz, Director of the Software Products Division of Applied Data Research Inc. of Princeton, New Jersey, more than β 100 billion has been spent around the world since the mid-1950s computerizing and automating production of goods and services. $\frac{14a}{A}$ An essential prerequisite for running these computerization schemes efficiently is the availability of adequate and cost-effective software.

4.4.1. The Increasing Software Cost Burden - Some Basic Figures

Yet, the costs of developing, operating and maintaining software have been dramatically increasing, particularly sinde the end of the 1970s. This has led to what analysts of the information processing sector have become used to call the software bottleneck. This means that both semiconductor and systems firms, but also end user firms are having increasing difficulties to find adequate software at reasonable cost.

Fig. 4.4. and Tab. 4.7. indicate the order of magnitude of the increasing software cost burden.



Sources: Boehm, Datemation, quoted from: The Economist, March 1, 1980

	taining Software	
(1) <u>In</u>	a computer users' budgets, the proportion of expenditure for	
<u>re</u> du	ented or purchased hardware has fallen rapidly with the intro-	
(a	1) The findings of the Siemens study '	
	Average snare of outlays for soltware in computer users' overall budget (%)	
	1955 5-10	
	1970 > 50	
	1985 ²⁾ ≈ 90	
(b) <u>Trends in the U.S. Air Force computer budget³⁾</u>	
	Expenditure for software Overall computer budget (%)	
	1970 20	
	1980 80	
	1985 ²⁾ 90	
		_
(3) 0	tland for doftware abdard as increasing next of the million	
	tures of both computer and semiconductor firms	
	tures of both computer and semiconductor firms	
Ex	tures of both computer and semiconductor firms	
Ex	tures of both computer and semiconductor firms tample: For major components manufacturers, software absorbed <u>over 50% of r&d expenditure in 1980. In the mid-1980s</u> , 5)	
Ex	tures of both computer and semiconductor firms tample: For major components manufacturers, software absorbed over 50% of red expenditure in 1980. In the mid-1980s, this figure is expected to rise as high as 80% 5)	
(4) <u>Ou</u>	tures of both computer and semiconductor firms tample: For major components manufacturers, software absorbed <u>over 50% of red expenditure in 1980. In the mid-1980s</u> , 5) this figure is expected to rise as high as 80% this for soltware maintenance account for a growing part of the user firms' maintenance budget	
(4) <u>Ou</u> (4) <u>Ou</u>	tures of both computer and semiconductor firms tample: For major components manufacturers, software absorbed over 50% of r&d expenditure in 1980. In the mid-1980s, 5) this figure is expected to rise as high as 80% this for soltware maintenance account for a growing part of the user firms' maintenance budget	
(4) <u>Ou</u> In	<pre>tures of both computer and semiconductor firms tample: For major components manufacturers, software absorbed</pre>	
(4) <u>Ou</u> (4) <u>Ou</u> In	<pre>tures of both computer and semiconductor firms tample: For major components manufacturers, software absorbed</pre>	
(4) <u>Ou</u> (4) <u>Ou</u> In 1) Fig	<pre>tures of both computer and semiconductor firms tample: For major components manufacturers, software absorbed</pre>	
(4) <u>Ou</u> (4) <u>Ou</u> In 1) Fig	<pre>tures of both computer and semiconductor firms tample: For major components manufacturers, software absorbed</pre>	
(4) <u>Ou</u> (4) <u>Ou</u> (4) <u>In</u> (4) <u>Fig</u> (4) <u>So</u> (4) <u>So</u>	<pre>httays for software absorb an increasing part of the F&d expen- tures of both computer and semiconductor firms tample: For major components manufacturers, software absorbed</pre>	
(4) Ou of In 1) Fig "So 2) est	<pre>states: for soltware absolve an increasing part of the red expen- tures of both computer and semiconductor firms cample: For major components manufacturers, software absorbed</pre>	
(4) Ou of (4) Ou of In 1) Fig "So 2) Bli est 3) Fig	<pre>Autays for software absorb an increasing part of the red expen- tures of both computer and semiconductor firms cample: For major components manufacturers, software absorbed</pre>	Sm
(4) <u>Ou</u> (4) <u>Ou</u> (4) <u>Ou</u> In 1) Fig "So 2) Eli est 3) Fig to 4) Sof	<pre>Allays for soltware absorb an increasing part of the red expen- tures of both computer and semiconductor firms tample: For major components manufacturers, software absorbed <u>over 50% of red expenditure in 1980. In the mid-1980s, 5)</u> this figure is expected to rise as high as 80% atlays for soltware maintenance account for a growing part of the user firms' maintenance budget adustry estimates: 50 - 80% 6) gures are taken from an unpublished Siemens study, quoted in: oftwareprobleme behindern den Fortschritt der Computertechnologie", ck durch die Wirtschaft, 6 March 1981, p.4 simate sures are quoted from: Lamborghini, B "The Enterprise: A Mechani Transfer Microelectronic Innovation into Society". op.cit, p. 7 itware production cost figure is taken from McCracken, David - "The Changed in the computation in the fort of the computer is taken from McCracken, David - "The Changed in the computation in the fort of the computer is taken from McCracken, David - "The Changed in the computation in the fort of the computer is taken from McCracken, David - "The Changed in the computation in the society". Op. 1000000000000000000000000000000000000</pre>	sm
<pre>(4) Ou of (4) Ou of In (4) Fig "So 2) Fig 2) Fig 4) Sof Fac for be</pre>	<pre>Allays for soltware absolo an increasing part of the field expen- tures of both computer and semiconductor firms tample: For major components manufacturers, software absorbed over 50% of field expenditure in 1980. In the mid-1980s, 5) this figure is expected to rise as high as 80% this figure is expected to rise as high as 80% this figure is expected to rise as high as 80% the user firms' maintenance account for a growing part of the user firms' maintenance budget dustry estimates: 50 - 80% 6) gures are taken from an unpublished Siemens study, quoted in: oftwareprobleme behindern den Fortschritt der Computertechnologie", ck durch die Wirtschaft, 6 March 1981, p.4 timate gures are quoted from: Lamborghini, B "The Enterprise: A Mechani Transfer Microelectronic Innovation into Society". op.cit, p. 7 tware production cost figure is taken from McCracken, David - "The Changi e of Applications Programming", Datamation, November 1978. Price quotat: s-B-bit microprocessors, all of which are considerably below \$ 10 ca found in: "Gate Arrays. A Special Report", Electronics, 25 September found in: "Gate Arrays. A Special Report", Electronics, 25 September and the figure is taken from the considerably below \$ 10 ca found in: "Gate Arrays. A Special Report", Electronics, 25 September and the figure is taken from the considerably below \$ 10 ca found in: "Gate Arrays. A Special Report", Electronics, 25 September and the figure is taken from the considerably below \$ 10 ca found in: "Gate Arrays. A Special Report", Electronics, 25 September and the figure is taken from the considerably below \$ 10 ca found in: "Gate Arrays. A Special Report", Electronics, 25 September and the figure is taken from the considerably below \$ 10 ca found in: "Gate Arrays. A Special Report", Electronics, 25 September and the figure is taken from the figure is taken figure is taken from the figure is taken from the figure is taken from the figure is taken figure is tak</pre>	sm ing ion an
(4) Out (4) Out (4) Out In (4) Fig "So 2) est 3) Fig 4) Sof Fac for be 198 5)	<pre>stars for solution of the end of the end expen- tures of both computer and semiconductor firms tample: For major components manufacturers, software absorbed over 50% of red expenditure in 1980. In the mid-1980s, 5) this figure is expected to rise as high as 80% this figure is expected to rise as high as 80% the user firms' maintenance account for a growing part of the user firms' maintenance budget dustry estimates: 50 - 80% 6) gures are taken from an unpublished Siemens study, quoted in: oftwareprobleme behindern den Fortschritt der Computertechnologie", ck durch die Wirtschaft, 6 March 1981, p.4 timate gures are quoted from: Lamborghini, B "The Enterprise: A Mechani Transfer Microelectronic Innovation into Society". op.cit, p. 7 tware production cost figure is taken from McCracken, David - "The Change e of Applications Programming", Datamation, November 1978. Price quotat : 8-bit microprocessors, all of which are considerably below \$ 10 or found in: "Gate Arrays. A Special Report", Electronics, 25 Septembe 0, p.146</pre>	sm ing ion an er
(4) Out (4) Out (4) Out In (4) Fig (4) Fig (2) est (3) Fig (4) Sof Fac (5) Fig	<pre>http:// software_ausoro an increasing part of the red expen- tures of both computer and semiconductor firms cample: For major components manufacturers, software absorbed</pre>	sm ing ion an er
(4) Ou (4) Ou (4) Of In (4) Fig (4) Fig (4) Fig (4) Fig (4) Fig (4) Fig (4) Fig (5) Var	<pre>http:// interesting part of the read expen- tures of both computer and semiconductor firms cample: For major components manufacturers, software absorbed</pre>	sm ing ion an

4.4.2. The Relevance

Software constraints are one of ~ the most serious bottlenecks for the diffusion of microelectronics. There are three major concerns:

- The growing gap between hardware and programme preparation technologies which means that hardware development and the capacity to write systems and applications programmes are increasingly de-synchronized. It is estimated for instance that the latter is growing by 18% p.a., which is several percentage points slower than the rate at which computers are being installed. $\frac{15}{}$
- The dramatically increasing shortage of software experts. According to Lamborghini, in 1980 the US demand for computer programmers exceeded the supply by at least 50,000 $\frac{16}{}$ and experts would agree that this gap is bound to increase further. Siemens, for instance, in 1980 had to spread its recruitment net all over the world to fill in the 2,800 posts required for software experts. $\frac{17}{}$ Similar figures have been quoted for IBM and Burroughs. It would be interesting to contrast this shortage of experts within the OECD region with figures on the brain drain of software experts originating from developing countries, and particularly from some NICs. Casual evidence on Singapore, Malay: a, India, Brazil and Mexico would seem to indicate that the proportion of programmers and systems analysts originating from the Third World in the software teams of major OECD-based electronics firms is already considerably increasing. The same would seem to apply for systems houses and computer service firms. $\frac{18}{}$
- The structural limitations for increasing productivity in software development and engineering (including maintenance and reconversion). In hardware production, economies of scale and automated mass production are possible which allows firms to reduce significantly costs. Software production on the other hand still defies a systematic application of the instruments of socalled "scientific management".

According to Lamborghini, head of the economic research department at Olivetti, it is "...still mainly the work of craftsmen, especially based on the individual skills of analysts and programmers. The job of writing software is extremely labour-intensive." $\frac{19}{2}$

This insufficient control over the process of software production has very negative consequences not only for the software firms themselves, but also for hardware manufacturers and end user firms. For all firms active in developing and applying microelectronic circuits its means a growing burden of software costs which are in fact rapidly coming close to critical levels.

Finally, a much more fundamental concern has been voiced by one of the leading computer scientists, Joe Weizenbaum of MIT. $\frac{20}{}$ He points out that although reductions in hardware cost and size, coupled with increases in operating speeds, have increased substantially the amount of problems which computer systems could theoretically tackle, a software 'threshold' may well have been crossed. In the early days of computer programming, one person usually devised and wrote a whole computer system. But with growing complexity of computer architecture and programs, the one-man approach increasingly gave way to team programming. This in turn means that "a computer system suffers the onslaught of many people... As a consequence there are many systems for which there is no theory and no team of people who understand the whole thing."

4.4.3. Some Underlying Causes

The crucial factor seems to be the marketing strategies of the hardware suppliers. In a situation where established oligopolies became destabilized, competition centred on a frantic race to offer new and low-cost hardware. The speed of introducing new hardware is such that hardware producers (computer or components firms) could only try to adapt ex post the existing software. In other words, most of the expenditures on software engineering had to be geared to software maintenance and adaptation.

Take for instance Siemens.

According to Anton Peisel, member of the board of directors of this company, up to 80% of the company's software capacity, i.e. of the highly trained personnel capable of writing computer programmes, have to occupy themselves with software maintenance and adaptation. In other words, 80% of Siemens' software labour force has to repair the faults of the past, whereas only 20% are able to focus on the development of new software. This shows that the insufficient growth of productivity in software engineering, rather than being caused by purely technical reasons, is probably mainly due to this very particular way of organizing the software labour process. According to Joachim Schweim, managing director of SCS Scientific Control System GmbH, Hamburg, "...a firm which is forced to apply permanently more than 80% of its personnel capacities to software adaptation and conversion and which can realize new applications programmes only under extreme time pressure, will simply be unable to develop basic and long-term strategies." 21/

But why is it so difficult to get rid of this seemingly "irrational" structure of the software sector?

There are basically six reasons :

- 136 -

<u>First</u>, economic incentives to overcome the software bottleneck are hardly existing. In fact, a great variety of actors is drawing heavy profits from the present situation. Take for example the Federal Republic of Germany. Hardware firms during the last years were able to earn approximately DM 825 million annually for this type of software repair. In addition, DM 444 million have flown to a rapidly increasing number of software houses (approximately 100 - 200), programming bureaus (ca. 1500 - 1800) and management consultants in the area of data processing (approximately 600). $\frac{22}{}$

A <u>second</u> major reason is the increasing scarcity of adequately skilled persons, where scarcity is of course a relative concept, related to certain wage levels which firms are willing to pay.

<u>Third</u>, the transition from software engineering as an art to software engineering as "big applied science" is still very much in its early stage, with all the inherent inconsistencies and malfunctions.

<u>Fourth</u>, problems related to the organization of the data processing activities in user firms. For the relatively small number of sophisticated user firms the main problem would seem to be to devise policies of transition from organizational patterns designed around central data processing departments to those based on distributed data processing (DDP) and database management. This in itself is a very difficult process, full of trade-offs and contradictions. But the real problems are with the huge majority of medium- and small-sized firms. These firms are hardly able to implement integrated data processing systems. Rather, they are under strong and probably even increasing pressure to apply very partial solutions, socalled island solutions. One basic reason would be that financial constraints and the need to avoid cashflow problems force these firms to take a step-by-step approach rather than to risk a quantum jump in investment. The other side of the coin of this incremental approach is obvious: a proliferation of gaps and inconsistencies between hardware and software.

<u>Fifth</u>, the growing gap in the speed of obsolescence between hardware and software. According to Gudrun Bäumel from Diebold Deutschland Gmbh, three quarters of the presently used applications software is much older than the hardware on which it is used. $\frac{23}{}$ This would apply both to its design and its technique of programme realization. There are two underlying causes:

- The insufficient back-up documentation for and flexibility of existing software;
- The experience that it takes a very long time to implement new applications software effectively and that very high cost overruns are the rule. This experience of deficient software introduction is bluntly stated by the head of a leading German bank's computer centre: "The old programmes are running now at least with a relatively low amount of failure, but do we really know whether the new programmes would ever run?" 24/

Finally, a <u>sixth</u> reason would consist of the inconsistencies and frequent changes pertaining to corporate philosophy and strategy due to changing pressures in the world market and the progression of the capital investment cycle.

4.5. Perspectives for the Future

For the software sector, it is extremely difficult to assess future perspectives. Whether or not the software bottleneck will be overcome, depends mainly on two factors:

- the availability of effective counter-strategies;
- and the impact on industrial restructuring and thus on patterns of control over strategic assets.

4.5.1. Counter-Strategies

The costs of the software bottleneck are such that attempts to overcome it are pursued with high priority. Basically five different counter-strategies can be discerned:

- Attempts to reorganize the production of software.
- Attempts to supply standardized software packages and turn-key systems, i.e. non-flexible systems where the user cannot modify programmes.
- Attempts to wire standard programmes into the hardware of computers and thereby, in theory, mass-produce the soft-ware which in this case is called firmware.
- The proliferation of independent software houses.
- International subcontracting with regard to programme reconversion and applications software.

Expectations are running high. Yet it seems that none of these approaches still has been able to overcome the two most basic problems:

- The dependence of programming work on the creativity of highly paid individuals whose activity defies quantitative measurement and therefore control
- Software to a large extent has to be individually tailored to the needs of each customer.

4.5.2. The Failure of Attempts to Reorganize the Production of Software

According to one leading expert, "...the programming of computer applications is about to turn a corner. After 25 years of writing programmes in languages like FURTRAN and COBOL, in which we have to tell the computer how to do what we want, we are now on the verge of being able to tell the computer only what we want, then let it figure out how. A change in method which will have a profound impact on the computer industry is a long-needed response to the 'software crisis' that has plagued us for years." $\frac{25}{01}$ of particular importance. are attempts to increase the use of high-level languages (for instance Ada) which are expected to enable programmers to write software faster. New programming languages which promise to make computers easily accessable to all come up regularly - and equally regularly fail to make any impact on the professional data processing world. A recent example would be APL which is being commercialized by the American software house STSC (=Scientific Time-Sharing Corporation). According to the Financial Times, STSC claims that it would take only one quarter of the time to develop applications programmes using APL than other languages the competition includes COBOL, PL 1 and BASIC. But there is a price to be paid of course: all that simplicity for the user means lots of software behind the scenes - the production of APL requires very complex software and software development systems. The quoted cash price for APL is about 1 20,000 - or 1 750 a month on lease. $\frac{26}{}$

- 141 -

The same would apply to attempts to "taylorize" programming through segregation of tasks and devicing patterns of division of labour between programmers, the socalled "structured programming". $\frac{27}{}$ Finally attempts to adapt CAP (=Computer Aid Design) techniques to software development, have recently gained increasing prominence. $\frac{28}{}$

Overall, these attempts to reorganize the development and production of software seem to have led to a considerable reduction of programming time and complexity. Further, flexibility has been increased, as has the ability to respond to requirements not anticipated in detail when the application was first programmed. Finally, the time needed for maintenance programming has also been considerably reduced.

Yet despite of these improvements, there is still a long way to go to cover the productivity gap between hardware and software development. The productivity for instance of today's programmers is no more than two or three times the productivity of programmers a quarter century ago. In the same period, the price/performance ratio of the computer hardware has improved by a factor of perhaps a million. In addition, programming tasks are getting harder. To quote McCracken again: "As we learn how to solve one class of applications, we tackle harder ones. The software problem is therefore a rolling crisis." He concludes: "In a word, the rate of improvement in programming productivity... is just too slow to keep up with the demand for new applications." ^{29/}

4.5. . Implications for Industrial Restructuring

The aforementioned changes in the software sector will increasingly condition corporate strategies. This would first apply to the information processing sector itself, but later on it would increasingly spread over to a growing number of industrial user sectors.

Corporate strategies would be affected in various ways. Two aspects of particular importance are attempts to restructure the firm in terms of product, organization and vertical integration and strategies of sectorial and geographic redeployment.

One school of thought purports that the decentralization of software production could play a significant role in this process. The proliferation of small software houses which are able to produce software at costs lower than the internal costs of the systems manufacturers could become an important factor for a new round of destabilizing the dominant oligopolistic structures. In other words, trends in the software sector, according to this view, could contribute to a process of vertical disintegration of huge highly diversified electronics firms and thus counter at least so some degree the powerful moves towards increasing concentration. $\frac{30}{2}$

Software strategies related to microcomputers would seem to be a case in point. The microcomputer industry is clearly among the most dynamic industries in the electronic sector. Competition which is getting more and more fierce, will increasingly center on the development of software strategies. $\frac{31}{2}$ Actors involved in this competition are computer manufacturers with in-house software development capacities and independent software houses active in the area of microcomputers.

Increasingly, the market success of a particular microcomputer system depends on the availability of good software and reliable documentation. Most of the first-class software originates today from independent software houses. This trend seems to continue and most hardware producers prefer to procure software from independent software houses.

Take for instance IEM. Since the introduction of its personal computer in August 1981, $\frac{32}{}$ IEM has contracted with independent software houses in the U.S. to adapt two widely-used operating systems for use on its microcomputer. IEM is also experimenting with some unconventional tactics. In an unprecendented move, the computer giant has opened up, at least selectively, the software market for its system. It is encouraging users to develop applications packages for the machine and offering to publish those which it approves. To get the ball rolling, IEM employees are being offered incentives to purchase the machine and develop software in their spare time. The company obviously expects that this approach will help to build up a large library of application software for the machine - et relatively low cost and under tight control of IBM.

On the other hand, competition between major software producers is becoming increasingly intense and thus moves to increasing concentration are bound to multiply. This applies to all the major market segments, i.e. operating systems, languages, compilers and application packages.

With regard to operating systems, the name of the game is standardization. For 8-bit microcomputers for instance, the CP/M-system software of Digital Research has become the de facto standard. For 16-bit system software, the fight has just started and Creative Strategies International (CSI) $\frac{3.3}{}$ expects that the dominant firms will have established their position during the next two years. Actors involved include Digital Research, Micro Soft Inc., Bell Labs., Onyx, Cromenco and others.

Our own position would be that it is probably too early to predict the final outcome. After all, developments in the software sector cannot be analysed in isolation from the dialectics of forward and backward integration which is increasingly becoming the dominant characteristic of the overall electronics industry. With the growing pervasiveness of microelectronic devices, these battles over strategic assets and markets will increasingly spill over to sectors outside the traditional confines of the electro-mechanical industry, with the result that predictions will become even more difficult. $\frac{34}{7}$

- 14- -

4.5.4. The Concentration and Globalization of Control

In the final analysis, I would expect trends towards an increasing concentration and globalization of control over strategic assets to prevail also in the software market. This expectation is based on four factors:

- the rising cost burden of designing, engineering and main-- taining software;

- the huge cost of developing appropriate high-level languages;

- basic limitations to the software package approach;

- the need to expand in-house application teams.

During the forthcoming new rounds of office automation and computerization of production, the importance of software will further increase. For firms intending to apply microelectronics-related innovation, the question of how to procure, control and maintain cost-effective system and application software will become of increasing importance.

Firms wishing to acquire dominant positions in the software sector, are ultimately confronted with four key conditions of success:

a) The development of new modes of computerizing the design, engineering and maintenance of software, particularly application software. In other words, new programming tools are required which are based on new, more powerful CAD systems which allow for inter-active programming. It is through this new applications development tools that it would be possible to reduce the time needed to develop applications programmes, and in addition to reduce development and maintenance costs. This last point, i.e. the reduction of the number of personnel that has to be allocated to software maintenance, is of crucial importance, because it would allow to dedicate a higher proportion of the highly paid software personnel to the development of new applications.

b) The development of high-level languages embedded in inter-active development systems which would allow to reduce the applications development effort by as much as 80 - 90% and the maintenance effort by up to 95%. 35/

According to Goetz, $\frac{36}{\text{high-level}}$ programming will reach much higher levels than was achieved in the 1960s and 1970s with languages as COBOL and PL/I. There are two reasons for these new productivity gains

- <u>First</u>, the inter-active programming at a terminal permits the computer to prompt, show and help the user in many new and innovative ways. Immediate use of feed-back and examination of results using new hig 1-level languages and commands can significantly reduce the programming effort.
- <u>Second</u>, high-level statements that elimate inputs/outputs statements interacting with the data dictionary, and that provide for structured logic and non-procedural statements (that is, definition of reports), can reduce significantly the overall effort required for applications development, maintenance and enhancement.
- c) Integrated management of data base systems. Most companies need more than a data base administrator; they need a complete department that controls the use and modification of data within the corporation.

One major reason is that applications packages will hardly ever be able to fill the need for the majority of applications that will eventually be computerized within a corporation. Therefore, the in-house development of computerized applications will continue to play an important role to meet unique company requirements which cannot be satisfied by an applications package. According to Goetz "...the use of data base management systems and software development tools associated with these applications provides the most effective solution for most individual companies that have complex operations shared among departments and divisions." <u>37</u>/

d) Sufficient investment in high-quality technical personnel. In other words, whatever progress will be made in software packages and in the miniaturization. of hardware, microelectronics-based automation systems can hardly be effectively implemented without the active participation of an "elite corps of high-technology engineers building computerized application systems". <u>38</u>/

To conclude, the software market which is of strategic importance for the future growth of microelectronic applications is still characterised by relatively low barriers to entry and a fairly wide-ranging heterogenity of firms involved. At present cost-price ratios, subcontracting arrangements with independent software houses and computer service companies are attractive - at least for certain types of software activities. Yet the economies of designing, engineering and maintaining software, particularly of applications software, are rapidly causing a considerable increase of barriers to entry. Consequently, trends towards an increasing concentration and globalization are bound to multiply also in this industry. CHAPTER 5.

THE INTERACTION BETWEEN RECENT TECHNOLOGICAL BREAKTHROUGHS AND INDUSTRIAL RESTRUCTURING

5. <u>The Interaction between Recent Technological Breakthroughs</u> and Industrial Restructuring

5.1. Implications for Corporate Structure and Strategy

We have seen that due to recent technological developments, the economics of designing and manufacturing semiconductors have been subordinated to a radical change. A branch which used to be characterized by a relatively high labour intensity, today experiences sky-rocketing capital outlays and a dramatic upsurge in capital intensity.

In addition, the combined effect of demand stagnation and profit squeeze and the semiconductor industry's high vulnerability to any economic recession has made this industry less attractive as an investment opportunity. In other words, the semiconductor business is increasingly running into problems of capital formation and investment. It is in this context that we have to discuss implications for corporate structure and strategy.

5.1.1. The Search for New Modes to Finance Growth

At the same time as costs rise, product life cycles are becoming shorter and shorter. In other words, a faster recovery of increasingly huge investment sums is required which puts increasing strain on the financial capacities of semiconductor firms.

We have already documented the increasing cost burden of capital expenditure and how this has increased the profit squeeze for major semic whether merchant firms. $\frac{1}{}$ The important point is that both trends are not just short-term ones, but seem to be closely related to long-term structural change, i.e. a radical transformation of the economics of semiconductor manufacturing.

In fact, the crucial issue is that the cost of new production and test equipment is rising faster than profits even for the industry's leaders. George Heilmeier for instance, vice president for r+d at Texas Instruments, recently observed that with investment costs of a complete new manufacturing line today running up to \$40 million, even a firm like Texas Instruments would have to be increasingly selective about new markets. ^{2/} In other words the changing economics of semiconductor manufacturing might impose increasingly narrow limitations to strategies of innovation and market penetration. According to Datamation: "Industry leaders have warned that unless firms are able to improve their profit margins, very few of them will be able to effort the development and capital equipment cost to produce state-of-the-art VLSI circuits." ^{2/}

How to finance growth has indeed become a dominant concern among major semiconductor firms, particularly US merchant firms, and established doctrines of innovation and production management and marketing are being increasingly questioned.

In principle, there are three possible approaches to an increase of profits and thus to reestablishing the capacity of semiconductor firms to generate internally the increasing funds needed for capital formation:

- they could try to manipulate prices;
- they could attempt to lower costs through improved productivity;
- or, finally, they could take recourse to a cutting-back of production.

(a) <u>The traditional approach</u>: focus on yield improvement and learning curve pricing

Traditionally, the industry has been characterized by an aggressive market penetration pricing strategy, called "learning curve pricing" $\frac{4}{2}$ which was made possible by the persistent and rapid decline in the cost of a given electronic function. In fact, the cost of a given electronic function has been declining even more rapidly than the cost of integrated circuits, since the complexity of the circuits has been dramatically increasing, as their price has decreased.

For example, the cost per bit (binary digit) of randomaccess memory has declined an average of 35% per year since 1970, when the major growth in the adoption of semiconductor memory elements got under way.

The principal cost determinant for semiconductor is yield, i.e. the amount of devices per wafer that passes final testing. $\frac{5}{2}$

Figure 5.1. shows the ability to pack electronic components on a single chip (die) while maintaining acceptable yields. The number of components per chip has been doubling every year $\frac{67}{}$ and in the near term is expected to continue doubling every 2 years or less. At the same time, the cost per function (in this case, per bit of memory) has been declining rapidly. It is this combination of increased functional complexity and decreased functional cost that is expected to cause rapid proliferation of electronics into many formerly nonelectronic areas. $\frac{7}{}$



Source: Wise, Kensall D. et al - "Microcomputer: A Technology Forecast and Assessment to the Year 2000", John Wiley & Sons, New York, 1980, p. 13

It is due to this tremendous decrease of functional cost that prices for electronic components since the development of the integrated circuit have experienced a more than hundredfold decline. This in turn has allowed the semiconductor industry to double output annually over an extended number of years. According to Robert N. Noyce, vice president of Intel Corp., this has meant that rather "... that serving a market that grows only in pace with the gross national product or the population, the industry has \cdot rved a proliferating market of ever-broadening applications. As each new application consumes more microelectronic devices, more experience has been gained, leading to further cost reductions, which in turn have opened up even wider markets for the devices." $\frac{3}{2}$

"Learning curve pricing", perhaps the most important management innovation of the semiconductor industry, today is running into increasing problems.

Traditionally, as semiconductor firms learned how to improve their yields, these "learning-by-doing" effects, which go along with increasing cutput, would be reflected in significant price reductions. Radical price cuts in turn stimulated new markets and volume-related reductions in manufacturing costs. Thus, by driving down unit prices, vendors sold much more and ultimately made higher real profits. Major US semiconductor firms, such as Texas Instruments, Motorola and Intel have been pioneering this type of pricing policy. Japanese firms were soon to join this game, particularly for 4K and later on for 16 K RAMs.

Yet, as we have already shown, recent structural changes in the industry are increasingly obstructing this "learning cost curve" approach. This was true even as long as demand for most semiconductors exceeded supply and immediate sales were usually assured. Today, in a situation of demand stagnation, these constraints have become even more serious. As complexity - measured in chip size and number of processing steps - goes up, so does the yield uncertainty. One day yields are good, the next day yields are disasterous. Each manufacturer hopes to sell devices at a price sufficiently high to generate a target revenue per wafer in order to cover costs, profit margin, and yield uncertainties.

In fact, as the state-of-the-art in RAMS, ROMs and EPROMs went from 4 K to 64 K, price reductions, fuelled by an increasingly aggressive Japanese competition, continued to cause market expansion, but because of significantly rising costs of production, actual net profits as a percentage of sales shrank considerably. In other words, prevailing sales prices did not generate any more sufficient revenue per wafer. Thus, semiconductor firms are increasingly loosing their capacity to generate internally the increasing funds needed for growth.

(b) The defensive approach: sutting back production

In 1979, major US semiconductor firms clearly chose the last of the three aforementioned options, i.e. cutting back production. For example, Texas Instruments, National Semiconductor and Intel were all cutting back on 4 K MOS RAM production in spite of strong user demand and lead times of up to four months. In fact, the last two firms, in late 1979, were quietly buying 4 K RAMs from Japanese firms to supply to their US customers, and to enable their own production resources to be diverted to more advanced products with better profit margins. $\frac{9}{7}$ In other words, much of the 1979/1980 "chip crisis" might have also been a result of deliberate strategic choice.

In 1980, this move towards cutting back production gathered momentum, encompassing now increasingly the phasing-out of whole product groups - witness for instance the phasingout of bubble memories by such prominent firms as Texas

- 113 -

Instruments, Motorola and NSC, despite the fact that each of thase firms had to write off huge r&d and investment outlays. $\frac{10}{2}$

5.1.2. <u>Transition to Cut-throat Competition - the Role</u> of Japanese Firms

Clearly an important development of the last years has been the fact that Japanese firms were able to make significant inroads into the most dynamic market of the semicond actor industry, i.e. the market for integrated circuits. This would apply especially to memory chips, particularly 16 K RAM chips.

Obviously, the attack by Japanese firms has changed the face of the industry and obviously too the new role of Japanese firms is bound to influence the interaction between innovation and industrial restructuring. In fact, some observers are convinced that Japanese firms are already about to achieve dominance in major segments of the world semiconductor market and some go even further to predict a new "Japanese chellenge" for the world computer and telecommunications markets. $\frac{11}{2}$

No doubt, Japanese firms, thanks to their aggressive strategies of selective market penetration, have set in motion a process of destabilizing US dominance in this sector. But whether this will lead to a viable multipolarization of control over strategic assets, both in semiconductor manufacturing, and in the electronics sector at large, remains to be seen.

(a) The subordinate role played by West European firms

What seems to be obvious however is that Western European firms, including Philips and Siemens, so far have played a subordinate role in this game. Due to insufficient innovative and productive capacities they have been unable to gain from the chip shortage of 1979, and are still far behind, if not falling back further, in crucial areas, such as: VLSI design capacities; the design and production of semiconductor equipment, particularly of lithographic equipment for the sub-micron range; software development and engineering techniques; and the application of CAD/CAM techniques to circuit design.^{12/} Further, with regard to production efficiency and yield per wafer, most European firms involved in semiconductor manufacturing are lagging very much bohind their Japanese and even behind most of their US counterparts.

Thus, by and large, European firms are bound to play a relatively passive role in the forthcoming battles to gain control over the strategic assets of this potential key growth industry. This is in fact the conclusion drawn by a recent study on the semiconductor industry in the EEC undertaken by the Sussex European Research Center: "... a Japanese-style catch-up strategy in semiconductors would make little sense for the EEC; the Americans and the Japanese are too far ahead, and it is essential that their technology should be freely available to the European electronics industry." 13/

(b) The scope for further market penetration by Japanese firms

After the chip crisis of 1974/75, the Japanese firms, in contrast to their US counterparts, did not cut back investment and r+d outlays. On the contrary, they proceeded with their long-term strategy of capacity expansion. They were thus able to react quickly to the chip shortage of 1979. Thanks to an aggressive pricing policy they could increase their market shares considerably, so that in 1980 they were already controlling 40% of the US semiconductor market. $\frac{14}{7}$

Fig 5.2. documents the dramatic increase since 1977 of the Japanese share in the world market for memory chips. Till 1985, according to some estimates it is expected to run up to 60%.

- 155 -



Fig. 5.2. The World Market for Memory Chips-Trends and Structural Change, 1974 - 1985



It remains however to be seen whether Japanese firms will be able to continue their market penetration. It seems that most projections on the development of market shares have somewhat hastily assumed that Japanese firms will be able to win the "US-Japanese semiconductor war". Yet, recent developments in the first quarter of 1981 indicate that this will not be that easy. Japanese firms owe much of their penetration success to dramatic price reductions, particularly for 16K RAM chips. The unit price for such chips which in January 1980 was quoted as \$ 6, in March 1981 had already fallen to \$ 2 and is declining even further. $\frac{15}{2}$ Even the most successful of the Japanese firms will hardly be able to continue with such a ferocious price competition. Furthermore, US-firms have reacted with a threat to undertake anti-dumping measures. On March 15, 1981, Nippon Electric Corp.(NEC), the oiggest Japanese producer of semiconductors, stopped to export 16K RAM chips to the US market, at least the open one. $\frac{16}{1}$ It further announced its intention to serve the US and the West European market increasingly from its production facilities in the United States and Ireland. This recent move of NEC indicates that Japanese firms might have to substitute market penetration from production facilities, based in the US and Ireland, for production via exports. Overall, the trend towards greater Japanese electronics exports both to the U.S. and Western Europe seems to continue unabated.

Latest figures from the Electronic Industries Association in Japan, as presented in table 5.1., underline the dynamics of Japanese semiconductor firms.

Tab.5.1. The Japanese Semiconductor Industry - Recent Trends, 1980/81^(a) (growth rates in %)

(1)	Production	
	- all semiconductes	36
	- integrated circuits	45
(2)	Exports	
	- semiconductors	27
	- integrated circuits	36
(3)	Imports	
	- semiconductors	9
	- integrated circuits	6

a) =fiscal year 1980/81, from 1 April 1980 till 31 March 1981

Source: Figures are from <u>Electronic Industries Association</u> of Japan, as quoted in: "Japan steigert kräftig den Halbleiterexport", <u>Blick durch die Wirtschaft</u>, 3 July 1981

- 157 -

(c) The widening US-Japanese trade gap in electronic-based products

For the U.S., recent figures of the U.S. Department of Commerce $\frac{17}{}$ show that the trade gap of this country with Japan continues to widen in six out of eight electronic product areas.

Tab.5.2.US	Trade	With	Japan	In Elec	<u>ctronic-Base</u>	<u>d</u> Products,	<u> 1975 -</u>	<u>. 1980</u>
	(m	illion	ns of	current	dollar)			_

Tears								
Product grou	rp –	1975	1976	1977	1978	1979	1980	
Telephone	I	5.6	5.1	4.4	6.3	8.1	6.6	
and tele-	II	25.6	31.1	44.9	92.9	105.6	163.3	
equipment	II	-20.d	-25.0	-40.5	-86.6	-97.5	-156.7	
Electronic	I	52.8	51.1	51.6	49.2	66.4	76.9	
equipment (commercial,	II	111.2	193.7	781.5	391.1	350.4	438.6	
industrial)	L III	-58.4	-142.6	-729.9	-341.9	-284.0	-361.7	
Electronic com- ponents	I II III	109.1 161.2 -52.1	141.9 257.7 -115.8	133.0 371.5 -238.5	172.3 502.0 -329.7	253.4 698.6 -445.2	238.2 830.0 -591.8	
Electronic computing equipment	I II III	189.3 32.3 157.0	239•5 41•7 +197•8	279.5 57.9 +221.6	331.1 187.2 +145.9	441.1 195.7 +245.4	607.3 189.3 +418.0	
Consumer electronics	I II 1 II -1	22.1 ,251.5 ,229.4	28.4 2,578.0 -2,549.6	25.2 2,047.7 -2,022.5	37.2 2,757.7 -2,720.5	55.4 2,350.7 -2,295.3	61.6 2,337.1 -2,275.5	
Calculating and accoun- ting machine	I II BIII	9.4 180.1 -170.7	7.8 229.4 -221.6	12.3 240.0 -226.7	19.2 338.8 -319.6	18.5 300.3 -281.8	22.2 373.3 -351.1	
Typewriters and office machines	I II III	4.4 100.1 -95.7	9.9 162.8 -152.9	12.4 203.0 -190.6	13.6 190.0 -176.4	19.7 226.9 -207.2	25.5 256.6 -231.1	
Photo- copying machines	I II III	4.6 70.2 -65.6	6.5 105.4 -98.9	14.6 163.9 -149.3	13.9 290.3 -276.4	16.1 307.9 -291.8	17.7 424.0 -406.3	
Totals	I II 1 III	397.2 ,903.1 ,505.9	490.2 3,599.9 -3,109.7	532.9 3,910.6 -3,377.7	642.7 4,745.1 4,102.4	878.7 4,536.1 -3,657.4	1,056.0 5,012.2 -3,956.2	
Note: I = Exports II = Imports III = Trade balance (+ = Surplus; - = Deficit)								

Source: U.S. Department of Commerce, Bureau of Industrial Economics, adapted from table published in Hindin, Harvey J. - "Trade gap with Japan widens", <u>Electronics</u>, 2 June 1981, p. 102 Besides the classical deficit of consumer electronics which is worth now \$ 2.3 billion, the most rapidly growing deficit took place for components and particularly semiconductors. In fact, since 1975 this deficit has increased more than tenfold! All in all, in the eight sectors charted by the Department of Commerce figures, the 1980 gap was wider than that of 1979 in six, and narrower in only two. The total 1980 trade imbalance was the second widest in six years, exceeded only by that of 1978. Even for computers where US firms used to have a safe lead, it would seem as if Japanese firms are rapidly gaining ground - whereas in 1975 the ratio for electronic computing equipment of US exports to US imports was roughly 6:1, in 1980 it had declined to just over 3:1.

(d) <u>Towards a new "Japanese Challenge"</u> for the world computer and telecommunications markets?

It remains to be seen however whether the new goal proclaimed by MITI for 1985, i.e. "the dominance of the world computer market" $\frac{18}{}$ can be realized. After all, the huge Japanese electronics conglomerate are notorious for their weakness in providing software and service, let alone creative design or future-oriented basic research. This would apply, as a recent report by Electronics $\frac{19}{10}$ has shown, even to those firms which like Fujitsu, Hitachi and Nippon Electronic are mainly concerned with computers and communications. On the other hand, these firms, together with Toshiba Corp., have recently started to create specialized firms which are supposed to develop the software needed for VLSI chips. $\frac{20}{}$ In addition, Japanese firms recently have been very active in trying to tap the pool of still relatively low-paid software engineers and systems analysts, available in the UK $\frac{21}{}$ and have recently started to engage in the multi-pronged programme of the government of Singapore to train computer programmers. $\frac{22}{2}$ In the final analysis however, it would seem that the Japanese Science and Technology System is hardly able to cope with the problem of overcoming the

software-bottleneck - at least not within such a short period. It seems likely, as the <u>Financial Times Survey</u> $\xrightarrow{(k)}$ points out, that with the increasing spread of computer use, the demand for new software will continually outrum the supply. Thus, Japanese semiconductor firms will probably continue to rely on bringing in Americans for specialized systems development - though companies are usually quiet on this dependence.

To conclude, Japanese firms have clearly succeeded in enlargening their market shares in semiconductor world markets, particularly for mass-produced LSI standard devices. They have reached this position because they were able to outdo US competitors in quality and reliability, price and performance.

But to claim that they are about to achieve dominance in the world semiconductor markets would seem to be premature. This would apply even more so for the world computer and telecommunications markets, the two key markets of the future. There would thus seem to be some need to demystify the widely quoted "Japanese challenge", or more precisely, to reduce it to its correct dimensions.

5.1.3. The Search for New Patterns of a Division of Labour Between Firms Involved in Semiconductor Manufacturing

(a) The driving forces

We have seen that in a situation of rapid structural change and of a worsening economic crisis, traditional approaches towards corporate strategy and structure cease to work sufficiently. On the other hand, a defensive approach such as cutting back production and phasing-out whole product lines is no viable solution at all to the increasing constraints facing semiconductor firms. In addition, new strategies and organizational arrangements have recently emerged, developed particularly by Japanese firms. Thus, those firms which used to dominate the world semiconductor industry practically uncontested till around 1978, i.e. basically the ten leading US firms, do not have much choice today but to look for new approaches to adapt corporate structure and strategy. It is in this context that the search for new patterns of a division of labour between firms involved in semiconductor manufacturing has recently gathered momentum, particularly in the U.S.

Basically, there are three different types of arrangements in this field:

- The <u>first</u> type of arrangement relates to a division of labour between unequals, i.e. mainly new forms of subcontracting arrangements, where minor or new start-up firms step into stages of production and product ranges which the dominant firms for a variety of reasons do not want anymore to cover themselves. This would relate in particular to the upsurge of assembly subcontracting arrangements during the chip shortage of 1979/1980 where major US merchant firms engaged an increasing number of tiny firms originating in Southeast Asia, especially
the Philippines. We will discuss in detail this type of subcontracting arrangement in chapter 6.

The additional two types of cooperation by and large relate to a division of labour between equals. In fact, it would seem as if they are going to engage increasingly only a small number of dominant firms.

- The second type of arrangement relates to new forms of subcontracting in the field of silicon foundry services.
 We will show that major US merchant firms recently established strong positions in this market and will discuss some of its implications.
- The <u>third</u> type of arrangement finally relates to the recent trend towards increasingly extensive inter-company cooperation. Again we will show that major US firms are involved and will identify the logic underlying this development.

Before we are going to discuss in detail the second and third approach, we should add that, from the very beginning, these new and to a large degree still experimental forms of a division of labour between semiconductor firms, have not been restricted to one particular country, e.g. the US, or one particular region, e.g. the EEC, but tended to be global in nature. In addition, these changes internal to the semiconductor industry are increasingly interlinked with the dialectic moves of forward and backward integration which are rapidly restructuring the global electronics complex (see 5.2. and 5.3.).

(b) <u>New subcontracting arrangements in the field of</u> "silicon foundry services"

According to recent reports from electronic consulting firms and newsletters, $\frac{26}{}$ the semiconductor industry is just about to experience a new round of industrial restructuring which might again change considerably the economics of semiconductor manufacturing. I am talking about the recent rapid expansion of a seperate market for silicon foundry services in the US, a development which even the most intimate "connaisseurs" of this industry were unable to visualize hardly one or two years ago. According to Intel, this market in the US alone in 1981 was already worth \$ 135 million and will grow to \$ 680 million by 1985. $\frac{277}{}$

Silicon foundry services is a loosely used proxy for all kinds of manufacturing and service activities. Usually, their main focus is on wafer-fabrication, i.e. on transforming the original design, as embodied in the mask, into a silicon architecture. The mamm silicon foundry is derived from the fact that this was originally done primarily by means of chemical processes and heat treatment. Silicon foundry services thus can be roughly defined to exclude on the one hand IC design and mask making and on the other assembly and final testing.

In reality, an independent silicon foundry service firm would usually receive from a huge computer or telecommunications equipment manufacturer a basic design for a highly complex non-standard IC of which the equipment manufacturer wants to be sure that it cannot be purchased or copied by his competitors. Much of the detail of VISI design is then handled by the silicon foundry service firm by means of computer aided design tools.

The essential point is that the barriers to entry into the silicon foundry services market are very high indeed - the equipment firm wants to be sure that it can get access to a great variety of complex and effective computer programmes which the silicon foundry service firm has developed in-hous? and used in the design of new chips, microprocessors and memories. This approach allows systems designers to draw up integrated circuits layouts without having too much concern for the details of the circuits, and thus contributes considerably to a reduction of design costs and lead time. In other words, system firms expect silicon foundry service firms to be able to offer customers some of the most advanced semiconductor processes available today, and in multiple locations so that the customer is always assured of supply.

Consequently, the range of firms which could hope to enter successfully this market for silicon foundry services is very restricted. This is in contrast to earlier expectations according to which newcomer firms and even some firms originating from offshore locations in South East Asia might be able to enter this field.

US Semiconductor Merchant Firms Enter the Stage

Threecof the major US semiconductor merchant firms, i.e. Intel, Motorola and National Semiconductor seem to bave already established strong positions in this market. Intel for instance in September 1981 announced that, with annual sales approaching \$ 800 million, it will turn as much as 10% of its production capacity over to the new venture into silicon foundry services. The company expects the new operation to have sales of \$ 100 million a year within a couple of years.

The logic underlying the emergence of this new market can be roughly described in the following way:

<u>Systems manufacturers</u>, i.e. particularly computer and telecommunications equipment firms, are under growing pressure to build systems that offer exclusive features. To do this they need non-standard electronic devices - ones that cannot be purchased or copied by their competitors. Some of the largest <u>systems manufacturers</u> have acquired their own chip manufacturing facilities to make these parts, but with the cost of setting up a semiconductor manufacturing plant approaching \$ 100 million, silicon foundries offer an attractive alternative.

<u>Semiconductor merchant firms</u> have different motivations. It would seem safe to mention at least three of them:

- <u>First</u>, the down-turn in the US economy, which has its effect upon the semiconductor market, has prompted semiconductor makers to accept foundry business as a means of keeping production lines busy. Many of the companies that are presently "filling in" with foundry business will turn it away when the economy turns up, some analysists predict.

On the other hand, all major semiconductor merchant firms, during the last two to three years, have considerably increased their production capabilities by building new plants and increasing the yield of good chips made out of each silicon wafer. Consequently, there are huge surplus capacities existing now, particularly for mass produced standard devices, and it is very unlikely that even the most powerful economic upturn will be able to absorb their output. In other words, there would seem to be enough pressure for semiconductor merchant firms to stay in the silicon foundry services business, at least as long as the existing overcapacities have not been written off.

- <u>Second</u>, strategies to enter the silicon foundry services market might be conceived as a counter-strategy to foreign, and particularly Japanese competition. Take for instance Intel. Its move into the silicon foundry business to make custom chips marks a dramatic departure from the company's previous policy of sticking almost exclusively to high profit innovative device products. With that business now under increasing threat from Japanese competitors, Intel is switching towards a market in which close customer supplier relationships are crucial, one which is largely immune to foreign competition. The new strategic focus is aptly described by Jack Carsten, vice president and general manager of Intel's microcomputer division: "The silicon foundry operation is a major committment by Intel to the new business of marketing our state-of-theart manufacturing ability." $\frac{28}{}$

- <u>Third</u>, an additional advantage that silicon foundry services offers for semiconductor merchant firms is that it shifts design and development costs and risks to the customer. For today's highly complex chips this is a very significant investment.

Of course, these developments are so recent that it is probably too early to draw well-established conclusions. But it would seem safe to conclude that if the move of major semiconductor merchant firms into the silicon foundry services market continues, this would be just another factor adding to the increasing concentration of control over the semiconductor industry. Consequently, chances for newcomers and firms originating from offshore locations in South East Asia and other Third World areas to enter the field of designing and producing microelectronic circuits will even further deterioriate.



(c) The new trend towards inter-company co-operation

A second approach to establishing new patterns of a division of labour within the semiconductor industry brings together firms of relatively equal strength. We are talking about the new trend to establish among major firms new forms of extensive cooperation agreements. In contrast to conventional types of very selective cooperation, for instance the socalled "second sourcing" agreements, these new types of cooperation agreements have a much broader scope and tend to focus in particular on joining forces in the development and marketing of high technology devices.

A case in point would be the recent extensive cooperation agreement signed by two major US semiconductor firms, i.e. Intel Corp and Advanced Micro Devices (AMD) on 11 October 1981. $\frac{29}{}$ According to this agreement, both firms will cooperate over the next ten years in their development and marketing of the following types of devices:

- top range 16-bit microprocessors designed by Intel;

- special peripheral parts linked to them, as designed by AMD.

In addition, AMD will allow intel access to its bipolar processing technology which is expected to become of strategic importance for the new markets of super-fast logic circuits and telecommunication devices. $\frac{30}{2}$

The impact of this cooperation agreement will be considerable indeed. As partners, rather then competitors, AND and Intel will represent a major new force in the semiconductor business. Intel is the world's fourth largest manufacturer of integrated circuit 'chips' after Texas Instruments, Motorola and National Semiconductor. Sales last year were # 855 m. AMD ranks ninth in the world with sales of over # 300m. The logic underlying this new trend towards inter-company cooperation centers around five basic motivations:

First, a defensive one, i.e. to counter the impact of the economic crisis. Intel's operating earnings for instance during the first nine month of 1981 showed a decline of 82% to \$ 25.5 million from \$ 143.4 million in the same period in 1980. AMD did even worse: for the quarter ending September 27, 1981, it reported an 85% drop in net income from \$ 7 million to \$ 1 million and a 16% drop in sales.

Obviously, the situation is such that firms have to run behind even the slightest improvement made possible by arrangements to join forces and consolidate markets.

- <u>Second</u>, an additional defensive motivation arises from the concern of most US semiconductor firms to fend off increasing competition from Japan. In the case of Intel's 16-bit microprocessor for instance, three Japanese companies are already producing copies of it, two of them without licence from Intel. No doubt this has calmed down Intel's earlier resistance to share technology with compatriot US firms.
- <u>Third</u>, companies perceive such agreements as a convenient means of sharing the rising cost burden of developing, manufacturing and marketing new microelectronic devices.
- <u>Fourth</u>, gaining access to markets for high technology products. For AMD this would apply for instance with regard to Intel's new generation of 16-bit microprocessors and its future successors. For Intel in turn, it means the chance to complement its product range by complementary peripherals and, as montioned already, by access to AMD's bipolar processing technology.

- 103 -

- The <u>fifth</u> and last motivation relates to the conventional search for reliable second sources which particularly in the high-technology range of products requires increasingly long-term arrangements.

(d) The underlying logic

Three factors seem to have played an important role in the search for new patterns of a division of labour between firms involved in semiconductor manufacturing.

First, the need to increase economies of scale. Due to the aforementioned changes in the economics of semiconductor manufacturing economies of scale in fact are becoming of increasing importance in this industry. Today, according to industry insiders, they even exceed the weight of "learning economies".

The traditional approach to increasing economies of scale is to expand the minimum plant size. According to Truel $\frac{31}{}$ *u* wafer fabrication plant, in order to be profitable, needs to produce at least 10 to 30,000 wafers per month, i.e. several million complex circuits belonging to the same family per annum. Increasing minimum plant size in turn requires an expanding turnover and thus is bound to lead to a further intensification of worldwide competition for market access.

But in an industry with a dramatically rising cost burden of r&d and investment and with an equally dramatic increase in the risks involved both in research, product development and marketing, there are clear limitations to this approach. Instead of relying on highly integrated huge plants costing up to β 100 million today, an alternative approach would consist for instance of segmenting production in such a way that highly specialized limits would focus on specific products or stages of production, and to complement this segmentation by new forms of a branch-specific subcontracting. Thus a <u>second</u> factor would relate to the need to decrease cost burdens and the risk involved.

A <u>third</u> factor finally relates to the need to increase the flexibility of firms to react on all stages of production, i.e. in r&d, production and stock-keeping, to the ups and downs of semiconductor demand. We have seen already to what degree the semiconductor industry has been vulnerable to the economic crisis. Thus, the pressure to decrease crisis vulnerability would seem to be particularly high for this industry. Again, new forms of interfirm cooperation or subcontracting can contribute considerably to this goal.

Overall, the search for new patterns of a division of labour between firms involved in semiconductor manufacturing is an excellent example of the two-way interrelation between innovation and industrial restructuring. The availability of new technologies has changed the economics of semiconductor manufacturing. This in fact has set in motion extensive processes of restructuring the industry, by and large increasing considerably the intensity of competition. It is this increasing global competition

which has been one of the major driving forces behind the recent rapid expansion of automation which, in addition to its classical applications in mask-making and wafer fabrication, is increasingly applied in design (CAD) and assembly.

Thus, the availability of new electronic technologies on the one hand has led to major changes in the economics of semiconductor manufacturing and thus was bound to lead to a considerable adaptation of corporate strategy and structure. These new types of corporate strategies in turn, centering on increasingly aggressive forms of a global competition, do have an important role to play in the ongoing process of choosing product and process technology.

5.2. <u>The Dialectics of Forward and Backward Integration - Towards</u> <u>a New Semiconductor Industry of Corporate Glants</u>?

5.2.1. Forward versus Backward Integration - Conditioning Factors, Constraints and Recent Trenas

The structure of the firms active in the semiconductor industry is undergoing rapid change. The era of specialized and independent firms characteristic for the late 1950s and the early 1960s is clearly over now. New actors have become involved, the economics of semiconductor production have changed, and consequently firms were forced to test out ever new types of corporate strategy with regard to choice of product and technology, marketing and pricing, and investment allocation. Starting from their classical applications in the military and aerospace sectors, and in the data processing industry, microelectronic circuits are beginning to expand into ever new applications, and their rotential for pervading into practicelly every sector of industrial production is tremendous. $\frac{32}{2}$ Consequently, new types of economic and technological interlinkages have been emerging between the semiconductor industry and an increasing variety of industrial activities, rapidly transcending the confines of the classical electro-mechanical sector.

(a) The emergence of a "Global Electronics Sector"?

But the really important point is that the introduction of microelectronic circuits would lead to the emergence of a new type of growth industry, i.e. the global electronics complex centering around new information technologies (NIT).

Due to the considerable cost reductions for storing, processing and communicating informations and to the new scope for technological conversion, sectors which used to be disjointed, tend to be increasingly inter-linked. Overall, the trend seems to point towards an increasing monopolization and world market orientation of the electronicessector. The driving force are highly diversified electronic multinational corporations aiming at increasing the degree of their vertical integration on a global scale. This transition towards an increasingly integrated electronics sector is a complex process, which does not preclude that for certain sectors at least, corporate strategy will lead to an increasingly vertical disintegration internal to the firm. In fact, the crucial development is the trend towards the conversion and homogenization of previously separate industries and their integration into a newly emerging electronics sector. This can take two forms:

- an increase of the vertical integration internal to the firm
- the emergence of new hierachical patterns of sectoral division of labour and subcontracting.

Finally, the importance of services in the electronic sector tends to increase. This would apply particularly to those services which are linked to the design and manufacture of semiconductors, of information processing and communication systems, and of electronic devices dedicated to the consumer. Of crucial importance in this context is the whole area of software design, engineering and maintenance.

No wonder then that these changes have been reflected in the structure of firms.

Historically, there have always been major differences between the structure of US and non-American IC companies. According to Mackintosh, in both Europe and Japan, the bulk of the current IC capability resides within vertically integrated and highly structured companies, whereas in the US - with the exception of organizations such as IBM and Western Electric most of the IC capability, at least until a few years ago, resided in companies in which the semiconductor activity is a major part of its total industrial committment $\frac{33}{}$.

But these sharp differences seem to become increasingly blurred and firms, irrespective of whether they originate from the components or the equipment sector, all seem to converge in their drive to complement their classical activities by means of <u>vertical integration</u>.

(b) Types of vertical integration

In principle, three types of vertical integration centering around microelectronic devices can be discerned:

- attempts of semiconductor manufacturers to integrate forward;

- attempts of producers of systems and final products to integrate backward;
- and attempts by outsiders to penetrate semiconductor production.

During the 1970s, all three types of vertical integration took place. Forward integration for instance, starting from the pioneering moves of Texas Instruments in 1972 into pocket calculator and watches, at one stage or another involved practically all the leading US merchant semiconductor firms and, in addition to consumption-oriented final products, tends to include now increasingly moves into information subsystems (high capacity memories, OEM micro computers and microprocessor development systems), data acquisition systems and industrial electronic equipment.

Backward integration on the other hand always used to be the guiding principle for the highly integrated electronic conglomerates of Western Europe and Japan. In addition, leading US mainframe and mini-computer firms, and also telecommunications companies are increasingly using backward integration as a means to secure sufficient in-house capacities for designing and, if necessary, for producing semiconductors, particularly specific devices and microprocessors.

Finally, the number of industry-outsiders trying to get involved in the semiconductor business has significantly increased, with General Electric, Exxon Enterprises. Schlumberger and Saint Gobain being only the most prominent cases $\frac{3h}{2}$. The question thus is not whether vertical integration has taken place but whether it is going to be a viable approach and if so what effects it will have on market structure and consequently on future patterns of innovation and international restructuring in this industry.

(c) <u>A viable approach</u>?

Concerning the first question, we have to differentiate between forward and backward integration. With regard to forward integration, the first "euphoria" of the early 1970s has rapidly faded away, as practically all attempts to integrate forward into consumer-oriented end products, with the exception of pocket calculators, have turned out to be commercial failures. In fact, even Texas Instruments which seem to have been the only company with a successful integration policy into electronic watches, recentlybegan to phase out this activity. $\frac{35}{}$

This experience in fact would seem to back up the socalled "Mackintosh General Theory of Vertical Disintegration". <u>36</u>/ Mackintosh in fact is very outspoken: "...it is my view that the vogue for vertical integration is an irrelevant diversion in the long-term development of the electronics industry. We live in an age of specialization, and it has for a long time been difficult to accept that IC companies can sell watches, for example, better than the established specialists, or that the mini-computer companies, as another example, will succeed in establishing and maintaining a cost-effective semiconductor capability over the long term. ...I believe that of all the vertical integration activities - upwards and downwards - now going on in many parts of the world, only a few will turn out to be successful in the long term." <u>37</u>/

This statement is probably sound - as far as it goes. But it does not go far enough - because stating that only a few firms will be able to survive strategies of forward and backward integration is hardly more than a truism. In fact, the real issue would be to identify, in an operational manner, the scope for different types of firms to proceed with such strategies or, for that matter, to switch to a strategy of vertical disintegration.

Only then would we be able to answer the most intriguing question of all: Is the semiconductor industry today experiencing just the beginnings of a new round of competitive battles, aiming at the control of strategic market segments of the electronics industry, but this time with huge, highly diversified and highly internationalized conglomerates as the main and most powerful driving forces?

5.2.2. The Recent Wave of Acquisitions and Mergers in the U.S.

Worldwide, the semiconductor industry is undergoing a process of violent restructuring and the major driving force seems to be an acceleration of vertical integration, particularly since the second half of the 1970s.

Huge, highly diversified firms have always been the dominant actors in the Japanese and the West European semiconductor industry. Their dominance is bound to increase even further as a result of the recent upsurge in both areas of governmentbacked programmes to develop IC design and production capacities.

In the US industry, on the other hand, vertical integration used to be low and independent semiconductor merchant firms clearly were the main actors. According to a recent study by the US Department of Commerce, by 1972 there were 96 US companies producing semiconductors and at least 217 more producing semiconductor parts. More than half of the former were specialized semiconductor houses; 37 were branches of "conglomerates"; and 9 were captive producers. $\frac{38}{}$ Of the top 9 merchant suppliers of integrated circuits in 1975 only 3 were diversified electronics firms. $\frac{39}{}$ Today, a wave of investments and acquisitions has tied virtually all independent semiconductor makers to major equipment companies. Table 5.3 shows that since 1975 at least 23 important acquisitions have taken place. $\frac{40}{10}$ According to Dataquest Inc., out of 36 semiconductor startups since 1966, only 7 remained independent today. $\frac{41}{10}$ Of the top 9 merchant semiconductor firms in 1975, today 5 belong to vertically integrated conglomerates. $\frac{427}{10}$

Tab. 5.3. Major Investments and Acquisition Moves in the U.S.

Semiconductor Industry

Condany	Date	Investor or Acquirer	Major Activities of Acquirer	•••••	Total Sum In-
Advanced Micro Devices American Microsystems	1977 1977	Siemens (Wost Germany) Robert Bosch (West Germany) Bore Werner (US)	Semiconductor, telecommunications, computer Automobile equipment	20 12,5	14
Analog Devices Electronic Arreys	1977	Standard Oil of Indiana (US) Nippon Electric (Japan)	Oil exploitation	12,5	
Fuirchild Camera Imecs, Inc. Interdesign Interwil	19 79 1977	Schlumberger (Netherlands Antilles) National Enterprise Board (Britain) Ferranti (Britain) Northern Telecom (Canada)	Telecommunications	100 24	397
Litronix Micropower Systems Monolithic Nemories MG3 Technology		Siemens (Vest Germany) Seiko (Japan) Northern Telecos (Canada) Commodore International (US)			
Mostek Precision Monolithics Settech Signetics	1979 1975	United Technologies (US) Bourns (US) Signal Companies (US) Philips (Netherlands)	Diversified, but mainly serospace	100 100	349 49
Siliconix		Electronic Engineers of California (US)	Automobile equipment	24	
Solid State Scientific Spectronics Symertek		VDO Adolf Schindling (West Germany) Roneywell (US) Honeywell (US)	Automobile equipment	25	1
Un itrode Western Digital Zilog		Schlumberger (Netherlands Antilles) Emerson Electric (US) Exron (US)			

.

Sources: Morgan Stanley Electronics Letter, Mackintosh Consultants, World Business Weekly, quoted from: Deutsch-Amerikanische Handelskammer: amerika handel (New York/Chicago), No. 2, March/April 1980; Truel, 1980s, p. 285; Siemel, 1981, p. 5

111 L

But these accelerating take-overs through Big Business are just one aspect of this move towards an increasing vertical integration. Huge firms, increasingly relying on complex integrated circuits, have in fact additional options to increase their control over the design and manufacturing of semiconductors. Many equipment companies unable or unwilling to pull off such acquisitions have made for instance substantial investments in their own internal semiconductor operations. This increasing role of captive IC producers is reflected in a projection of John D. Shea, a consultant for Integrated Circuit Engineering Corp., according to which at least one third of the complex in sgrated circuits produced in the mid-1980s will be built or designed by users not suppliers.

Add to this the growing concentration of the users' side which means that a few big customers are in fact dominating the market. According to Daniel L. Klesken, an analyst at Dataquest, the number of companies using more than \$ 100 million worth of semiconductors annually has jumped from one to seven in the last three years and will hit 17 in 1981. "By 1985," Klesken predicts, "30% of merchant production will be consumed by about 30 major users." $\frac{44}{2}$

5.2.3. The Emergence of New Start-Wp Companies - Does It Indicate a Reversal of Consolidation Trends?

During the 1970s, the semi conductor industry clearly has been characterized by an increasing concentration of control over strategic assets and by a transition to more consolidated patterns of oligopolistic competition. This has been primarily due to the acquisition of independent semi conductor houses by multinational electronics firms and conglometates. The semiconductor business, and in general the electronics sector, finally seemed to be reaching the status of a "mature" industry.

Yet, recent changes in the status of the semiconductor business seem, at first glance at least, to contradict this type of an analysis and indicate that a reversal of prevailing consolidation trends might be possible.







sol is the part of the second

One factor of particular importance is the emerging custom chip bottleneck $\frac{45}{}$ and the impact it is going to have on innovation and corporate strategy.

Daring 1980, as many as five firms have entered the U.S. semiconductor business. All of the new start-up companies plan to attack a market that has been virtually ignored by the established semiconductor firms - the custom circuits business. Until very recently, the name of the game in semiconductors has been standard parts - i.e. logic and memory devices that can be built and sold by the millions in order to drive down the price. According to J. Perkins of the venture capitalist firms Kleiner, Perkins, Claufield and Byers, "the commodities side of the business is huge and well established, but the custom needs have not been met." $\frac{46}{}$

This is not to say that major semiconductor houses are absent from this market. Companies like Fairchild, Fujitsu, Motorola, American Microsystems (AMI), and Signetics have been major forces in the custom chip market. $\frac{47}{}$ But up till now established producers viewed the custom business as bad business and consequently tended to down-play the importance of this market. Their main focus was on producing high performance arrays designed specifically to meet the needs of computer manufacturers who were willing to pay very high prices for these devices. But no attempts were made to expand the markets for these types of application - oriented chips.

However, the introduction of the gate array technology and the consequent possibility to produce semi-customized chips chould change all that. It could lead in fact to some significant changes in the patterns of division of labour prevailing between firms involved in semiconductor manufacturing. It increases in fact the scope for the emergence of small, highly specialized firms and of new types of subcontracting arrangements.

Take for instance the case of Micro Circuit Engineering (MCE) at Tewkesbury, Gloucestershire, a new subsidiary of Smiths Industries. To establish it will cost roughly 5 1.5 million and it will need no more than 50 employees. Yet it will produce very sophisticated uncommitted logic arrays (ULAs) to compete with such major companies as Ferranti, GEC, Plessey, Racal, General Instrument, Texas Instruments, Notorola, Fujitsu, Thompson CSF and Siemens.

- 179 -

The crucial point is that MCE will not process silicon. Instead, all the investment is being made at the two ends of the production process: the design of circuits and masks and the dicing, testing and packaging.

Semiconductor processing is carried out under contract by a number of semiconductor majors for MCE so that devices can be supplied in CMOS bipolar and I-squared-L technologies. These companies process only the wafers - all the testing is carried out by MCE.

MCE itself holds stocks of standard silicon wafers on to which the basic components have been processed. Circuits and masks are designed at customers' sites and at MCE. When a completed circuit layout is received the wafers can then be committed to the customer's requirements via CAD techniques, by etching off εn overall metal layer to leave the required interconnections.

Whether or not this approach will be a viable one remains to be seen. An important constraint could be the very high cost of equipment and the need to write it off at a very short period. According to Ian Pearson, chief manager, MCE will "...have to achieve a 30% return on funds used in order to generate the necessary cash for re-investment in new production equipment which, due to innovation, has to be written off every three years. $\frac{48}{7}$

With increasingly rising equipment costs and the highly cyclical nature of demand for semiconductors including ULAs it would seem aafe to assume that it will be extremely difficult to sustain such high profit rates for any lengthy period. Sooner or later then one would expect that major firms will have to be involved to consolidate this very shaky position.

In addition, it remains to be seen whether gate array technologies
will flourish as much in the US as they seem to do in the UX
- after all,their main advantage has been to allow the relatively
small markets in the UK to be tackled economically.

5.2.4. <u>Acquisitions and Concentration - the Fate of Firms</u> <u>Producing Semiconductor Equipment?</u>

Acquisitions and concentration moves are not restricted to the semiconductor industry, but are bound to spill over into some complementary industries. A case in point would be recent developments in the semiconductor equipment business. $\frac{49}{2}$

(a) <u>The semiconductor equipment business - growth potential</u> and structural change

On Wall Street and in the board-rooms of acquisition-minded companies, the semiconductor equipment business is beginning to be recognized as an even more attractive growth opportunity than some of its chip-making customers. Business Week $\frac{50}{}$ for instance talks of "hot prospects for a fast-growth industry."

Table 7.4. shows the world market for semiconductor production and test equipment in 1979. It can be seen that wafer processing equipment by far dominates this market, followed by test systems. Assembly equipment on the other hand still had a relatively low share, i.e. 13%. The degree of concentration prevailing today in this market segment is considerable, but not excessive: nearly 55% for the top ten firms, and more than 20% for the first two.

Tat.5.4 Worldmarket for Semiconductor Production and Test Equipment - Sales 1) and Types of Equipment, 1979

	Equipment	galeg	(Smillion)	Markeu shares (%)	Cumulated ma
Fairchild	111.4	Jarca		10.5	KCV DHULCSVY
Perkin-Elmer	101.2			9.6	20,1
Applied Materia	ls 54.1			5.1	25,2
GCA	54.1			5,1	30,3
Teradyne	53.4			5,0	35,3
Varian	50.8			4,8	40,1
Tektronix	39.2			3.7	43.8
Eaton (Cutler-					
Hammer)	37.7			3,6	47.4
Kulicke&Soffa	37.0			3,5	50,9
Balzers	33.7			3,2	54,1
subtotal	572.6			54,1	
others	480.3			45,9	
total	1,052.9			100,0	

(1) Top 10 Suppliers of Semiconductor Equipment

(2) Types of Equipment

	Sales (g mil.)	Sales of total (%)
Waferprocessing equipment	515,9	49
Test Systems	400,1	38
Assembly	136,9	13
Total	1,052.9	100

(1) " Does not include captive sales of equipment

Source: Global Electronics Information Newsletter, No. 4, September-October, 1980, p. 7

Tab.5.5 and fig.5.3 document that the expansion of the markets for semiconductor equipment has been truly dramatic and that it is expected to accelerate even further. Yet, till the mid-1980s at least this expansion would be mainly restricted to processing and testing equipment, whereas the growth potential for assembling equipment would seem to be considerable lower. 1975. : 0.3 1979 : 1.0 1980¹⁾ : > 1.4 1990²⁾ : 10.000 + 44% (chip sales in the same period rose by only 29%)

- ¹⁾September 1980- estimate by the US based Semiconductor Equipment and Materials Institute, cited in <u>Wall Street</u> <u>Journal</u>, 3 October 1980
- 2) Estimate by Willard L. Kauffman, Vice-President, Intel Corp, cited in "Semiconductor Takes on its Cwn Glow", <u>Business Week</u>, 1 December 1980

Fig.5.3.Growth Prospects for Semiconductor Production Equipment, 1974 - 1984



Source: "Semiconductor Takas on its Own Glow", <u>Business Week</u>, 1 December 1980, p. 98 L-E

(b) The equipment shortage and the dramatic increase in equipment cost

At least till 1982, the supply of semiconductor equipment will considerably fall short of demand. In such a situation, price is virtually secondary to obtaining delivery. In fact, according to <u>Business Week</u> "...the most expensive equipment is typically sought after most, since it usally offers higher productivity to justify the price." $\frac{51}{}$ Perkin-Elmer for instance has an 18-month waiting list for an projection mask aligner that costs \$ 230,000.

In other words, there is reason to believe that the equipment market will remain buoyant despite the general economic crisis because the chip makers have no choice but to invest now in order to maintain their present market shares. Furthermore, the cost of highly sophisticated equipment which is already jumping phenomenally, will continue to grow. According to Glen R. M a d l a n d, chairman of Integrated Circuit Engineering Coro. "...large manufacturers have no choice - they must automate to cut human error and improve yields. Even smaller firms serving the austom-designed-circuit market are moving to automation to enhance processing flexibility. And no company can afford not to offer the latest, most powerful chips is its markets. Driven by such forces, the chipmaking industry is rapidly approaching the point where it will take a dollar of invested capital to generate each additional dollar of sales. Equipment costs already represent 10% of chip production expenses." 52/

.....

(c) <u>Acquisition and concentration - crends and underlying</u> <u>causes</u>

The result of the dramatic growth of semiconductor equipment sales will be no doubt a major restructuring of this sector in the 1980s - a drive toward consolidation based on a spate of buyouts and mergers.

In other words, what happened previously to independent chip manufacturers, is taking place now in the semiconductor equipment 5 ctor: a process of increasing concentration and a reshuffling of prevailing patterns of specialization, conflict and cooperation. 1-otors behind this drive toward increasing concentration include:

- b) The surge of captive chip producers requires new product and marketing strategies. Consuming about 30% of all fabrication equipment, this user group constitutes the fastest-growing market segment for semiconductor equipment. Furthermore, it constitutes a stable, financially strong outlet more immune to the economic cycles that affect merchant chip makers. To serve this changing market, the equipment builders are formulating new strategies and it is already obvicus that small independent firms will hardly be able to survive.
- c) The prospect of growing competition from Japanese firms. According to Electronics $\frac{54}{4}$ there are already signs

that U.S.-based producers of semiconductor production

equipment are loosing their dominant position in the Japanese market. Consequently, a number of U.S. companies are setting up sales offices or manufacturing plants, wholly or jointly owned, in Japan. Kulicke and Soffa, for instance, established a Tokyo office to service its wire bonding equipment. TRE semiconductor has announced a joint venture with Tokyo Electron to manufacture wafer steppers and microlithographic equipment. Applied Materials is "opening regional sales and service centers and is planning a \$4 million design center." And GCA and Perkin-Elmer already operate successful Japanese subsidiaries. ^{55/}

Tab. 5.6. documents recent acquisition moves by the top ten makers of semiconductor equipment. It shows that 6 out of 10 firms undertook such acquisition moves and that 2 of them, General Signal and Eaton were especially active.

Tab.5.6. Acquisitio	on Moves	by the	<u>Top Ten</u>	Makers	01	Semiconductor
Equipment						



Source: "Semiconductor Equipment Takes on its Own Glow", <u>Business</u> <u>Week</u>, 1 December 1980, p. 98 N-E

5.3.1. <u>Patterns of Technological Spin-Offs - Who Will Control</u> <u>Them and Benefit from Them</u>?

The introduction of microelectronics-related innovations is bound to lead to a major structural reshulfling of established modes of industrial production. One immediate effect would be a restructuring within the electronics complex itself.

Industrial restructuring always has important consequences for patterns of hierarchical control. In other words, introducing new technology which causes major changes in the ways and means of producing industrial products will touch upon established power relations in industry. On the other hand, choice of technology and the speed of applying them also depends on which actors (coalition of actors) are dominant in the constitution of these new patterns of industrial production and are thus able to reap the major benefits from the new growth industries.

(a) The "electronics complex"

On a first level, we will focus on the evolving new patterns of conflict and cooperation between major firms involved in the constitution of the electronics complex.

Fig. 5.4. shows that three blocks of actors are of interest:

- actors involved in the design and manufacture of electronic components, particularly semiconductors;
- actors involved in the design and manufacture of information processing and communicating systems ("telematics"), i.e. firms active in computers, office equipment and telecommunications;
- actors active in the application of electronic devices and subsystems which include industrial, consumer and military applications.



Fig. 5.4. The Electronics Complex - Three Major Areas

Let us first focus on interrelations between the first two groups of actors, that is basically semiconductor, computer and telecommunication firms. Which firms or coalition of firms are going to benefit most from the introduction of microelectronics-related innovations?

(b) <u>A typology of firms involved in the information processing</u> sector

There are three types of firms involved:

- companies mainly active in the computer field and whose vertical integration in production is relatively high (for example IBM);
- companies coming from mechanical or electromechanical production sectors, f.i. office machinery or electrical equipment goods, and converting to electronic technology (for example Olivetti and Siemens);
- companies with a high degree of applicative specialization, mainly in software and service activities.

Obviously, for each type of firm, the impact of microelectronicsrelated innovations will differ considerably. (c) <u>Consequences for industrial restructuring in the</u> <u>information processing sector</u>

Four types of consequences are of particular importance for industrial restructuring in the information processing sector:

- <u>First</u>, a restructuring of firms with regard to size, organizational structure and strategy.(We will discuss this aspect in chapter ⁵.3.2.)
- <u>Second</u>, the emergence of new patterns of specialization and thus of conflict and cooperation between firms. (We will discuss this aspect in (d) and (e))

Further, two additional consequences can be discerned:

- <u>Third</u>. barriers to access to technology might considerably change. For hardware technology for instance, particularly for microcomputer and equipment available on the OEM submarkets, these barriers obviously have been weakened, whereas access to software, particularly to applications software, to the design of new systems architecture and data handling networks has become increasingly restricted.

The implications for corporate strategy and structure are obvious: major information processing firms tend to turn their attention to systems applications, to the design of new architectures and data processing networks.

- <u>Fourth</u>, the emergence of new patterns of an international division of labour in information processing and telematics. New patterns of cooperation and conflict will rapidly emerge. On the one hand, more emphasis will be placed on agreements, mergers, joint ventures between component, information processing and telecommunication companies, on 3 worldwide scale. On the other hand, however, conflicts will intensify, and the increasing interventions of government procurement markets and government agencies are already about to change the rules of the game. Take for instance the leading Japanese firms which, backed by MITI and based on their new technological capabilities derived from the governmentpromoted VLSI programme, $\frac{56}{}$ aim at concentrating an increasing share of world hardware production in their country.

(d) Semiconductor versus system firms: the changing balance

We have already seen that there is a bactle going on between some firms, primarily located in the US and Japan, and to a lesser degree in the FRG, the Netherlands, France and the Scandinavian countries, on who is going to dominate the emerging global electronics sector. We have also seen that the outcome of this battle will depend strongly on which firms are capable of controlling most of the technological spin-offs from microelectronics.

If we confront on the one hand semiconductor firms and system firms, i.e. firms engaged in the computer and telecommunications business, on the other, which side is going to survive and what new patterns of "cumulative" hierarchical control" $\frac{57}{}$ are likely to emerge?

There are two opposing interpretations: On the one hand there are those who would claim that it will be the semiconductor firms who will be able to reap most of the benefits resulting both from technological spin-offs and new applications. This would be so basically because of the increasing integration of systems characteristics into microelectronic circuits which would increasingly transform them into electronic subsystems and systems. Take for instance the position of Truel. $\frac{53}{2}$ His basic hypothesis presented in a study published in January 1980 was that a couple of major semiconductor firms, particularly those originating from the US, will be able to reap most of the benefits resulting both from technological spin-offs and new applications. He points out correctly that the introduction of microelectronics-related innovations and the consequent constitution of an electronics complex has been characterized by two basic structural trends:

- Semiconductor and especially LSI circuits and microprocessors are not anymore just electronic inputs, but are about to become subsystems and systems on their own.
- Technological spin-offs are becoming much more important for the interaction between the various sections of the global electronics sector than exchange relations.

It is the first point which we would like to illustrate more in detail because of its potential for throwing upside down some of the basic structural relations prevailing today in the information process sector. Take for instance the development of a socalled "micromeinframe" by Intel Corp. This development of a "micromainframe", i.e. a 32 bit processor called Intel 432 is an essential element of Intel's strategy. ^{59/} Intel claims that this micromainframe could cover applications which are at present the exclusive realm of medium-sized mainframe computers.

According to industry observers, micromainframes, because of higher reliability and much lower costs, might be in a good position to increasingly substitute for conventional mainframes. This would mean that component firms could reap a significant part of the benefits to be expected from the booming informatics market.

- 191 -

Intel managers purport in fact that the new 32-bit microprocessor is so powerful that it could become the "brains" for such currently unavailable products as office workstations that can 'understand' human speech, and industrial robots that 'recognize' the parts on an assembly line. Leslic L. Vadast, senior vice-president at Intel, expects new applications to emerge rapidly ("At least half of the applications that will exist in 5 or 10 years, we can't even imagine tolay") and that new companies, and even new industries, will spring up to build new end products using these superchips. $\frac{60}{}$

Whether or not these high expectations will materialize,

depends of course on the effective costs of using these micromainframes. Intel quotes the price for the Intel 432/100 as $3.900.\frac{61}{10}$ This would cover hardware, software and documentation. Yet, this price is based on the assumption that the Intel strategy of reducing the most important cost element, i.e. software costs, will work. The Intel approach consists of 2 elements:

- the use of the high-level programme language Ada which allows for modular planning;
- che integration of software elements into the chip structure, by designing socalled object-oriented structures. $\frac{62}{2}$

It remains of course to be seen whether Intel's optimistic assumptions can be realized. In any case, the micromainframes would have 2 additional comparative advantages:

- users could increase their computing capacity without having to change software;
- the reliability would be significantly improved through the use of a tandem structure. $\frac{63}{2}$

However important this transformation of chips into microelectronic subsystems and systems might be, it is an altogether different point to conclude, as Truel does, that due to these structural changes induced by microelectronics-related innovations, semiconductor firms by and large would be on the winners' side.

However plausible this conclusion might have seemed to be, reality did not follow this course and has in fact vigorously falsified Truel's prediction. It turned out in fact that the game is much more complex and that actors and firms which had a relatively low profile during the first years of the semiconductor industry, are about to increasingly penetrate this sector through backward integration and thus to acquire strategic control. We have shown that this would apply for instance to established highly diversified multinationals like General Electric or Exxon Enterprises, but also to relatively small multinational firms specialized in extre sely profitable market niches, like Schlumberger which is mainly active in the cil exploration services. Further, we have also seen that, at least in the U.S., there has been a growing influence of "Big" Venture Capital and of industrial manufacturing systems firms.

(e) <u>Towards</u> radical structural changes of firms engaged in information processing

According to Lamborghini and Antonelli, $\frac{64}{2}$ two factors impose radicel structural changes on firms engaged in information processing:

First, the dramatically increasing risk in r+d and product planning.

The risk of failure is high, because firms in designing new systems had to forecast the future availability of new micro-circuits which could then be integrated into the systems. With the growing degree of integration and complexity of micro-circuits, this unpredictability is even further increasing. The same applies even more so with regard to forecasting of the availability dates of software.
The strategic consequence is obvious: Systems and equipment manufacturers tend to make use of several supply sources for micro-circuits and software to reduce the risks of a delay in availability. This would apply even to the large companies with huge in-house capacities.

A <u>second</u> factor imposing the <u>multiple external supply</u> <u>sources approach</u> results from the still prevailing destabilization of the oligopolistic structure. In other words, cut-throat competition and insufficient control over the introduction of new product and process technology requires that firms adjust significantly their size, structure and strategy.

Besides the multiple external supply sources approach, Lamborghini expects the following trends in corporate restructuring to emerge:

- A relative decline of monufacturing activities, and a relative increase and redefinition of r+d, marketing, selling and customer engineering.

- A trend towards splitting up of

existing highly integrated firms into three types of independent or at least only loosely interrelated firms: specialized component manufacturers, component assemblers, and suppliers of services, i.e. software, applicatio solutions, and technical assistance and maintenance.

- A significant reduction of vertical integration internal to the firm and the emergence of new patterns of plant external sourcing or subcontracting. ^{65/}

- بۇز -

This scenario would seem to be a good description for strategies applied by medium-sized multinationals, particularly those coming out of the office machinery sector, such as Olivetti. (see chapter 5.3.3.). But the dominant trend clearly leads in an opposite direction, i.e. towards increasing vertical integration, based on an increasing penetration of established multinationals both from within and from outside of the electronics sector into information processing and telematics.

5.3.2. The New Economics of Computer Building - Its Implications for Corporate Strategy and Structure

The economics of building computers are undergoing a radical change: from a custom-built, one-at-a-time product the computer has evolved in recent years to a high-volume, mass-produced commodity. $\frac{66}{}$

(a) Rising capital requirements - towards a "capital crunch"?

As a result, capital requirements of computer manufacturers have been increasing at a very high speed. This applies both for investment into the automation and streamlining of manufacturing operations, soaring r+d costs and the increasing amounts of capital needed for financing the expansion of field service operations and opening new channels of sales distribution.

So far, most computer companies have not had much trouble raising the money. They have avoided high-priced borrowing by taking advantage of their rapidly growing cash flows and a robust equity market still attracted by high-technology stocks.

But this might rapidly change. <u>Business Week</u>, for instance, in March 1981, <u>67</u>/was already speaking of a "capital crunch" that could spell desaster, at least for some of the smaller companies. In fact, computer firms are experiencing a heavy profit squeeze. Despite soaring industry sales, the failing price of equipment has eroded profit margins. For example, Sperry Corp.'s Sperry Univac Div. will ship 40,000 computer terminals during 1981, but these products will bring in only about the same revenue as the 25,000 units that it turned cut 1980. This kind of profit

squeeze is compounded by rising competition from the production-efficient Japanese companies and by the quickening technological pace of the industry itself. Product life cycles are becoming comprensed, forcing manufacturers to develop and apply new technology at an accelerating rate. (b) The new focus on low-cost production

What are the implications for corporate strategy? According to industrial analysts, computer firms have little choice other than to reduce capital requirements.

But where to start and how to avoid forgoing growth potential and competitive strength?

A review of electronics trade

journals and of specialized literature and informal discussions with industrial analysts and managers shows: the driving force now in computer industry is the <u>lowering of</u> <u>production costs</u>. This implies that capital investment to automate manufacturing is perceived to be a more critical determinant of future success than investment to develop new technology. According Glen Haley, Vice President for Worldwide Marketing, Sperry Univac: "... those companies that can design, fabricate, and assemble machines most economically will have an edge over companies that concentrate on r+d". $\frac{68}{}$ The

underlying logic is succinctly stated by Themas A. Vanderslice, President of General Telephone + Electronics Corp., Stamford, Conn.: "The r+d portion of a product development may account for only 10% of the costs needed to bring that product to market. Therefore any reasonable manager has to have some assurance that the other 90% needed for plant and capital equipment is going to be there at the conclusion of development. Some firms are being forced to drop worthwile r+d plans not because they cannot afford them, but because they cannot afford to capitalize on them $\frac{69}{7}$

Table 5.7. indicates to what degree US computer manufacturers have increased spending on productivity improvement. According to Ulric Weil, industry analyst with Morgan Stanley + Co., the leading computer makers are "...tooling up like the auto companies to run true assembly lines that automate production, testing and materials handling." $\frac{70}{70}$

This applies also to traditional minicomputer firms. DEC for

- 197 -

instance plans to increase its capital spending by 90% this year to 8 400 million. While much of this will go for expanding production capacities, the new manufacturing facilities will be equipped with automated test facilities.

<u>Tab. 5.7. Computer Manufacturers' Increased Spending on</u> Plant Automation

		1978	1980
(1)	IBM: annual investment spending on plant automation (million \$)	1300	2250
(2)	Burroughs Corp.:snnual investment spending on plant automation	440	005
		110	225

(3) Data General Corp.:

- 75% of capital spending for manufacturing now goes into plant automation

- Spending for automated test equipment has leaped 500% between 1978 and 1980

Source: Figures are taken from: "Computers. A Capital Crunch that Could Change an Industry", <u>Business Week</u>, 23 March 1981.

(c) <u>A further push towards backward integration?</u>

The focus on low-cost production is by no means an exclusive concern for computer menufacturers. As we have shown elsewhere, $\frac{71}{}$ semiconductor manufacturing is undergoing a similar transformation in its production economics. The increasing mutual integration of semiconductor and computer manufacturing adds further to the spread of low-cost production-oriented investment strategies. In fact, the backward integration of computer manufacturers will probably receive an additional push from this increasing focus on low-cost production. NRC for instance announced in February 1981 that it will spend β 15 million over the next four years to increase its in-house semiconductor capacity from 40% of its requirements to 60%. The reasons are obvious: "Companies like ours will have to integrate backwards (selectively) to get costs down and improve reliability ...". 72/

- 198 -

This trend towards increasing captive production capacities relates particularly to complex, custom logic chips. These are the building blocks around which computers are increasingly designed, and an inadequate supply or poor quality could bring computer production to a grinding halt because there is often no second source for the product. In other words, the new economics of computer building has increased the computer industry's reliance on custom semiconductor circuity. But custom devices are not as rapidly available as standard commodity chips. It is this increased need for custom circuits which has probably been the major driving force behind backward integration moves à la NRC. Witness the following statement by William F. Buster, seniorvicepresident of enigineering and manufacturing. NRC: "We ses specific areas for cost and function improvement that's driving most large companies into building their own microcircuits.

_ 133 _

Overall, the increasing focus on low-cost production will lead to an acceleration of the concentration trends, prevailing in the computer industry, but also in the semiconductor industry. This is not to say that there will be no scope for new entrants. In fact, with ready venture capital available, scores of new startups - companies such as Apollo Computer Inc. and Stratos Computer Inc. - have sprung up to built computers using newly developed technology.

But it seems highly improbable that any of these newcomers will ever become a full-line computer company.

In fact, given the new convergence of information processing and telecommunications, I would expect that integrated manufacturing of information processing and communications systems will be dominated by only a handful of firms. This is due inter alia to the high cost of productivity-improving investment and the increasing importance of low-cost producers vis-à-vis small or medium-sized "innovation maniacs" firms.

0.3.3. Innovation and Corporate Strategy - the Case of Clivetti

In order to illustrate some of the aforementioned interactions between recent technological breakthroughs and corporate strategy, let us take up the case of one specific firm, i.e. Olivetti.

Carlo De Benedetti, Vice President of Olivetti and the driving force behind its new management doctrine, is not only fulfilling public relations obligations when he underlines the "model character" of Olivetti's restructuring strategy. "Things have changed dramatically for Italian industry in the past two years and I think Olivetti has been responsable for that change." $\frac{7\mu}{}$ De Benedetti further claims that the "success" of Olivetti during the last three years is inducing now other major Italian companies to test out this approach.

(a) Indicators of success

Viewed by conventional criteria, Olivetti's strategy can indeed claim some success: group profits have been nearly trebling within a year to more than L 100 billion (=\$\$89) in 1980 which corresponds to nearly 4.6% of global sales worth L 2183 billion. The parent company Ing C. Olivetti and C., doubled its profits from L 23.8 billion in 1979 to L 50.1 billion. Dividends which have not been paid from 1974 till 1978, increased from L 100 per share in 1979 to L 140 per share in 1980.

No doubt, profitability has been regained - for the time being at least.

This has to be contrasted with the company's situation three years earlier, i.e. in 1979. According to De Benedetti, the company was then ineffectively managed, under-dapitalized. burdened down with debts to the extent that 10% of sales revenue want to pay interest, over-manned and suffering from low productivity. But it did have a strong technological base.

De Benedetti claims that, in addition to regaining profitability, Olivetti's new strategy was able to lay the foundation for

- 200 -

long-term growth and viatle international competitiveness.

(b) The Olivetti strategy

Four basic elements can be discerned:

 Broadening the base for capital formation through raising new capital on the stock exchange.

The nominal capital of the holding company went up from L 60 billion to L 100 billion with De Benedetti's arrival in 1978 and was further increased in 1979 and 1980. It now stands at L 208.7 billion.

An additional increase is planned which will take the nominal share capital up to nearly L 233 billion and bring it in a total of L 180 billion new funds, partly through a convertable bond issue.

2) Reinstating <u>sound financial management</u>, particularly through a reduction and restructuring of debt.

Over-all debts which stood at L 939 billion in 1978, have steadily declined to L 761.4 billion at the end of 1979, and there has been an important shift in its structure, away from short-term to medium and long-term.

3) A massive <u>reduction of the labour force</u>, combined with very aggressive <u>policies to compress labour costs</u> and <u>increase</u> labour productivity.

Olivetti's labour force in Italy has been cut by roughly 5,000 through early retirement and that of the group worldwide by 13,000 to 53,000. Productivity improvement has been considerable: output per man has risen from L 20 million in 1978 to L 40 million 1980 and De Benedetti claims that much more will be achieved during the near future.

4) A more selective and aggressive policy on choice of product, innovation and marketing.

Product-wise, the three main pillars of Olivetti's business are banking terminals, business computers, and electronic type writers. In 1980, data processing systems accounted for 53% of sales, against 47% of business machines. But the electronic type writers include so much software that the distinction is barely valid anymore.

De Benedetti claims that the markets for these three product groups will continue to boom because they will not be affected by the crisis. "The recession ... forces companies to cut their costs and raise white colour productivity, which automation can do for them. Any of these products can pay for itself in a year." $\frac{T5}{}$. Latest figures for the first quarter of 1981, when sales went up by almost 20%, seem to back up this statement. Consequently, a great part of Olivetti's innovative capacities are geared to these three product groups.

In the future, Olivetti intends to penetrate into two other potential high-growth markets, i.e. telecommunications and consumer products. In Italy, it expects to profit from a planned restructuring of the telecommunications sector through establishing close alliances with IRI-STET and SGS-Ates. $\frac{76}{}$ Furthermore, Olivetti hones that its recently established relationship with the French conglomerate Saint Gobain will give it access to the strong French market for office and telecommunications automation equipment (the socalled "bureaumatics" and "telematics") in which Saint Gobain is involved through its 20% holding in the CII Honeywell-Bull group.

Yet, particularly with regard to telecommunications, industry

analysts remain sceptical and point out that intentions and reality still seem to diverge considerably.

(c) <u>Lessons to be drawn</u>

How do these various elements interrelate, what is unique about the Olivetti strategy and particularly how is control over innovation interlinked with the other elements of this type of restructuring strategy?

I think that the <u>first lesson</u> to be drawn is that applying technology, or more precisely capitalizing on it, requires a sufficiently strong capital base. This is so because applying technology to industrial products and processes requires a lot of investment capital and involves very high risks. In-house availability of a broad spectrum of innovations is a factor of some importance - but is definitely not enough.

To transform these innovations into profitable assets is a complex and very costly process. This starts with the need to engineer the original design concept into feasable production standards and flow diagrams, the definition of quantitative and qualitative personnel requirements, and the development of spare part and maintenance manuals. But this is only part of the story. Take into account the considerable outlays needed for reducing costs of production through productivity improvement and for increasing the flexibility of machines and equipment to react towards feedback information considering markets and performance. Add further the outlays for marketing and distribution logistics, which due to the increasing internationalization of markets and production tend to increase considerably. All of this indicates that r+d costs needed to develop innovation, which are substantial on their own, are only the tip of the iceberg, i.e. of the capital assets needed to transform an innovation into profits.

In the case of Olivetti, the implications are obvious: a large infusion of capital has completely changed the structure of ownership and control. Today one-third of shares that make up the syndicate of control are hold by the French company Saint Gobain, and the remaining two-thirds are held by CIR, De Benedetti's own holding company and a consortium of major Italian companies.

- 204 -

The <u>second lesson</u> to be drawn is that applying innovation to restructuring in the way it is done at Olivetti has a considerable social cost. In addition, the burden of this social cost is very unevenly distributed and hardly taken into account in the original decision-making. Job displacement, deskilling and reducing social security standards might be politically fearable for a certain period. Yet, there are trade-offs involved which tend to be neglected, but might be of considerable importance: the potential negative impact on labour motivation and labour productivity within firms and the weakening of the socallea "social consensus". CHAPTER 6. IMPLICATIONS FOR THE INTERNATIONAL RESTRUCTURING OF SEMICONDUCTOR MANUFACTURING AND FOR GLOBAL PATTERNS OF TECHNOLOGICAL DOMINANCE AND DEPENDENCE 6. <u>Implications for the International Restructuring of Semi-</u> <u>conductor Manufacturing and for Global Patterns of Techno-</u> <u>logical Dominance and Dependence</u>

6.1. Crisis, Innovation and International Restructuring of Industry - the Key Questions of this Study

We have gone a long way to identify some of the basic interrelations between the economic crisis, innovation and internacional restructuring characteristic to the semiconductor industry. We have shown to what degree this industry has been prone to cyclical fluctuations and unable to resist the economic crisis. In addition, we have outlined how innovation influenced corporate strategy and structure and in turn was conditioned by them. We have analysed the consequent changes in the economics of semiconductor manufacturing and how this has modified the structure of the industry. In particular, we have discussed changes in the market structure, the emergence of new patterns of conflict and cooperation between major firms involved, and the new modes of integrating this industry into the overall electronic sector.

Based on this analysis, we are now going to discuss in detail some recent changes in international location patterns and will show that innovation has been an important but hy mo means an exclusive factor. In order to identify the specific impact which the application of microelectronic devices to industrial products and processes is going to have, we have focussed our analysis on three basic questions:

- Our <u>first</u> question deals with the interaction between innovation, comparative advantage and changes in international location patterns. Due to the proliferation of microelectronics, are we to expect or are we already experiencing an erosion of existing patterns of comparative advantage in developing countries, particularly in some socalled Newly

- 206 -

Industrializing Countries (NICs), and is there evidence of a consequent relocation of industrial activities back to the classical growth areas of the OECD? In other words, will the application of microelectronic devices to industrial products and processes act as an important structural constraint to a world market-oriented industrialization of developing countries, thus increasing further the already considerable obstacles to this "industrialization scenario" piled up by the vigorous neo-protectionism applied in practically all major OECD countries?

In trying to answer this question we are again focussing on one specific sector, i.e. semiconductor manufacturing and particularly chip assembly. This choice has been deliberate - chip assembly after all since the mid-1960s has been expected to play a prominent role in implementing the doctrine of export-oriented industrialization.

- Our <u>second</u> question relates to the role technology is going to play in this process of restructuring semiconductor manufacturing on a global scale. In particular, we will ask what factors did prevent semiconductor firms from implementing radical strategies which, based on an extensive automation, would strive to bring home practically all stages of production and to subordinate them under a highly centralized control? In addition, we will ask to what degree prevailing theories of international restructuring of industry are capable of answering this question and thus could be used as guidelines for policy prescriptions.

Finally, this second question is meant to underline the need for a fresh theoretical approach which could help to bring more light into the complex and dynamic interplay of factors conditioning international location decisions in industry.

- Our third question then concerns the options available to

- 207 -

developing countries to proceed from worldmarket-oriented chip assembly to integrated semiconductor design and manufacturing. There are two main concerns: First, is it realistic to expect that production activities of an increasingly complex technological nature will be transferred to industrial sites of the Third World, particularly to some industrial growth poles in NICs and some OPEC countries? And second, assuming that at least for some countries this would be a realistic perspective, what then would be the impact on the inter-industrial integration and the innovative capacities of these countries and their international competitiveness?

All of these three basic questions are linked together by one common denominator. The overriding concern of this study is how innovation in a period of crisis affects global patterns of control over international trade and over strategic assets needed for developing and producing industrial products and services, particularly technology and capital? What impact are we to expect on the capacity of major actors in the international restructuring of this industry to push through their strategies? And, finally, what are the implications for developing countries trying to implement strategies of transition to more self-reliant patterns of industrialization?

Overall, available evidence points to a further hierarchization of North-South and South-South relations with the result that industrial production activities based on high technology and catering for dynamic world markets will be increasingly concentrated in a few industrial growth poles located primarily in the OECD region, to a lesser degree in the COMECON area, and finally in a few OPEC countries and NICs.

What this study basically is trying to show is that the use of new technologies and the distribution of control over the relevant innovative capacities conditions, but does not determine by itself the restructuring of world industry.

2

R

In the final analysis, industrial restructuring is determined by the economic, social and political power structures within which the social actors who are engaged in industrial preduction, trade and in the exchange of production factors have to operate.

6.2 Will Industries be Relocated back to the North? - A Review of Recent Studies on the TV and the Garment Industry

The application of microelectronic circuit, to industrial products and processes is already about to change considerably the established modes of designing, producing and consuming industrial products and services. $\frac{1}{2}$ Obviously, it will also play an important role in corporate decisions on how to proceed with the process of continuously readapting international location patterns in a process of crisis. But what exactly will be its impact and how is it going to influence the comparative advantages to be reaped from locating industrial production in some growth poles of the Third World? Are we to expect a relocation back to the North of industrial production activities which during the 1960s and 1970s due to their relatively high labour-intensity, had been "running away" from the classical production sites of the OECD region to some new growth poles particularly in South East Asia and Latin America?

6.2.1. The "Relocation back to the North" - Hypothesis

An outspoken proponent of the "relocation back to the North" hypothesis has been Juan Rada. In his extremely stimulating study for the ILO $\frac{2}{}$ he starts from the following diagnosis: "...the increase in automation lessens the importance of direct labour costs in total production costs, thus making the manufacture of formerly labour-intensive goods economically feasible in developed countries." $\frac{3}{}$

This is certainly a correct statement - as far as it goes, i.e. in pin-pointing the huge potential for radical changes in the economics of all stages of industrial production.

However, the conclusions which Rada draws from this diagnosis, would seem to be highly debatable: "This effect is already apparent with regard to goods such as textiles, garments and electronic products, which the developing countries used to export in large quantities to the economically more developed part of the world. In these cases, the <u>competitive</u> <u>advantage of less developed countries is being eroded through</u> <u>automation, and some key industries are returning to the</u> <u>developed countries</u> (underlining added, D.E.)." <u>4</u>/

6.2.2. An Empirical and Theoretical Critique

Our critique centers around the following two points:

- <u>First</u> of all, Rada's statement implies that, in the textiles, garments and electronics sectors, industries are already returning on a significant scale to the developed countries, which is simply not borne out by empirical evidence.

Thus it would seem to be a serious misreading of reality if policy prescriptions on innovation and international restructuring in industry would insist that the most immediate concern from a developing country's perspective would be relocation back to the North.

Today's industrialization strategies in the Third World are certainly confronted with a wide range of obstacles and dangers and some of them are indeed conditioned or further intensified by the development and application of microelectronic devices. But to reduce them to "relocation back to the North" would mean a gross underestimation of the real dimensions which the interaction between innovation and international restructuring in industry is going to have in a period of crisis.

- <u>Second</u>, the comparative advantage of manufacturing activities located in Third World countries could indeed wither away rapidly. This comparative advantage is based on two pillars: low overall labour costs first, and, secondly, greater machine utilization made possible by the longer annual work hours characteristic for countries with high degrees of internal repression and severely constrained trade union movements. $\frac{5}{2}$ Today, capacity utilization is not any more depending on workers toiling 60 hours or more per week but can rely on robotised systems tending to work around the clock with just a few periodic interruptions due to preventive maintenance. $\frac{6}{2}$ Further, labour cost differentials are no longer playing the decisive role in total product cost that they used to and this erosion of labour cost advantages will tend to accelerate with the progressive introduction of micro-electronics-related innovations. How fast this is going to be translated into a massive retransfer of industries to the North however is still open to question.

In the long run it would certainly be plausible to expect large producers to bring back "a large share of offshore production" $\frac{7}{}$ - if we assume that none of the actors engaged in the international restructuring of industries would succeed, separately or in coalition with others, to implement effective counter-vailing policies. However, this is not automatically going to be the case, since human beings and social classes are involved who have already shown their capacity to fight for their interests. History in fact teaches us that, when introducing new technologies, the original expectations of management with regard to how these technologies will work, how the relations of work will have to be reorganized and what this would mean for international investment decisions, in reality hardly ever materialize without substantial changes.

6.2.3. The Case of Manufacturing TV Cets

Let us take the case of consumer electronics, and more particularly the manufacturing of TV sets, to develop some of our earlier arguments. A major recent study by Ed Scriberras from the Science Policy Research Unit in Sussex, prepared for the OECD secretariat $\frac{9}{2}$ shows that relocation back to the North has not been an issue for the industry - at least if one defines "relocation" to mean a closing-down of labourintensive production lines in Third World locations and their return to the classical industrial sites of the OECD region. Of course, the availability of automatic insertion techniques and the reduced number of components $\frac{10}{2}$ did change considerably the economics of TV manufacturing and thus is bound to be reflected in corporate decisions on industrial restructuring and international location. Scriberras in fact shows that the already very heavy trend in the industry towards increasingly centralized vertical integration internal to the firm has been further strengthened due to the introduction of these new technologies, and that it is increasingly taking place on a worldwide scale.

The major findings of Scriberras $\frac{11}{}$ on this question can be summarized in fact as follows:

- "Firms which had adopted advanced manufacturing processes did not transfer the most advanced processes abroad. The policy of all the firms is that automated techniques of production, testing, handling and packaging is concentrated in the parent company." (p. 48)
- "Some Japanese subsidiaries in the US and in the less developed countries still operate manual insertion processes. For developing countries subsidiaries this is partly due to the firms' international organisation of production. In some Far East subsidiaries, labour costs are so low that production concentrates on labour-intensive sub-assembly functions and automatic insertion is not required. But Japanese firms <u>have transferred automatic insertion machines</u> to both developed and developing countries (underlining added, D.E.). Component insertion is done automatically in some

Far East subsidiaries and (these components are, D.E.) then transferred for final assembly to the US and Japan." (p.49) Further, "Japanese firms gain competitive advantage from insertion and sub-assembly in the offshore areas and transfer of these to the US for final assembly. Japanese firms therefore could obtain better cost advantages from large production bases in the Far East and serve not only the US but also other world markets." (p. 51) Where transfer of automatic insertion machines has taken place, "... the machinery is not as advanced as that adopted in the Japanese factories. The level of automation including testing, handling and packaging is not as extensive as in Japan. Firms' policy is to 'prove' technology in Japan before transfer but preference is basicelly to keep advantages and problems of advanced automation in Japan." (p. 49) "This transfer process remains strictly under the control of the central manufacturing engineering management in Japan." (p. 54)

- "US firms located in the Far East and in Mexico to exploit low labour cost, sometimes in the face of failed attempts towards automation. Automated techniques that are used are located in the US. Sub-assemblies are transferred to these offshore areas for manual insertion and assembly and brought back to the US for final assembly. <u>There are</u> <u>no plans to return such operations to the US and no plans</u> to introduce automation offshore. Low labour costs are <u>considered to make such transfer inappropriate</u> (underlining added, D.E.)." (p. 49)

Rather than a relocation back to the North, world marketoriented production lines like TV assembly would seem to face the two following major constraints:

- the rising neoprotectionism in major OECD markets;

- the increasing technological protectionism applied by the dominant firms originating from the OECD region and the

- _____

consequent further hierarchization of control over 'techno-logical building blocks' and systems knowledge. $\frac{12}{7}$

- . .

The first of these constraints has been extensively documented in the existing literature. $\frac{1-i}{2}$

The aforementioned OECD study for instance shows that it has been the "...imposition of import restrictions on offshore regions such as Taiwan and Korea finally (which, D.E.) compelled the Japanese to consider assembly in the US." $\frac{14}{14}$. The study further adds "the imposition of OMA's (= Orderly Marketing Agreements, D.E.) and PAL licence constraints" $\frac{15}{15}$ among the factors which "...made the transfer of products through exports increasingly uncompetitive and precarious in the long term." Thus, according to the OECD study, it has been the result primarily of these neo-protectionistic devices that "...Japanese firms were compelled to consider transfer of production to secure US and European markets." $\frac{16}{14}$

But the really important structural constraint would be the second one, i.e. the increasing hierarchization of global patterns of technological dominance and dependence. If this constraint would really materialize, this would have farreaching implications indeed.

Unfortunately, we still lack a systematic study on this topic for the TV industry or, for that matter, for the consumer electronics sector at large. A recent study by the $ODI^{\frac{17}{}}$ however, which discusses some aspects of this problem from the point of view of the British electronics industry, indicates a further hierarchization of access to key technologies in this sector. The report describes Western European countries as "early technological followers" with the main innovations being made elsewhere in the US and Japan. It warns that the shortening gap between innovation and the wide dispersal of technology raises questions about the viability, let alone the stability, of this type of specialization. The result, according to the ODI report might well be that Western European countries, and particularly the UK, might find themselves increasingly squeezed on the one hand by Japan and the US which lead in electronics technology, and on the other by the low labour costs of electronics assembly work in the Far East.

..in _

On the other hand, some of the classical NICs like Singapore, Taiwan and South Korea, have recently drawn up rather pretentious programmes to upgrade their production activities from labour-intensive, low value-added assembly to somewhat more integrated and higher value-added production lines. On this issue, the ODI report underlines its concern whether, in the context of the present international market structure and the unequal division of control over technology, such programmes are not simply wishful thinking which in fact would distract the countries' energies from socially much more useful approaches to the development of an electronics industry.

6.2.4. Applying Microelectronic Industrial Automation Systems to the Garment Industry - the Sap Fetween Expectations and Reality

According to Pada, a second target for relocation back to the North would be the textiles and particularly the garment industry. $\frac{18}{}$ The latter is an industry which so far proved to be remarkably resistant to the introduction of automation - at least as long as relatively rigid and centralized modes of automation prevailed. $\frac{19}{}$

But would not the emergence of new flexible industrial automation systems based on microelectronic devices considerably change this picture?

According to a recent study prepared for the ILO by Kurt Hoffman and Howard Rush, "the introduction of microelectronics in the late 1970's raised the expectations of some observers, both inside and outside of the industry, that the formidable technical obstacles to automation would be removed. It was felt that the microprocessor, with its vast information processing capacity and inherent flexibility had the capacity to facilitate radical technical change at the sub-process and systems level." 20/

For instance, production steps which used to be labourintensive, such as monitoring the quality of fabrics, design, producing patterns and cutting, could be increasingly penetrated by new modes of highly automated production. Examples would include the use of self-programming robotics and laser beam cutters for cutting, and the application of computer aid systems for design, patterning and quality control. Further, production steps which already had some tradition of being mechanised and automated, could experience the introduction of a new generation of automation systems. Cases in point would be the massive integration of microprocessors into control systems for sewing patterns, fast stitching, knitting heads and ink injectors that can be rapidly adjusted to produce different designs and colours.^{21/} But the accelerating automation of separate production steps would be only part of the story. The real issue would be that clothing manufacture could become more and more conditioned by the application of integrated automation systems. This is a trend which has progressed most in continuous-flow basic industries, $\frac{22}{5}$ but has recently also gathered momentum in a typical batch production industry like the machine tools industry. $\frac{23}{5}$ For the clothing industry, this basically could mean two things:

- First, various steps of production which have recently been automated could now be linked together into one continuous automation system. The novelty would be that this could also be done for small and medium batch production and auxiliary operations. In analogy to recent developments in the machine tools industry, clothing manufacture could then be integrated into <u>Flexible Manufacturing Systems</u> (FMS) with automatic feeding and transportation of the fabric from point to point, with self-programming the sequences of operations, selection of the staticns, selection of tools, selection of optimum speeds for cutting, sewing etc., and, last but not least, with inprocess dimensional control.
- <u>Second</u>, through the application of <u>Computer Aided Manufac-</u> <u>turing Systems (CAM)</u>, it would be possible to apply computer control not only to the process of production itself, but to all the functions needed for clothing manufacture, such as design, patterning, inventory, tooling, production planning, scheduling, machine control, inspection, quality control, storage and marketing. In other words, the transition towards completely automated clothing factories, manned by just a handful of highly skilled "trouble-shooting" personnel, would become feasible.

Even if one would assume that the final stage will never be reached, $\frac{2h}{the}$ fact remains that the availability of such "automated factory" systems would rapidly change the economics of clothing and textile production. This would apply for example to savings in labour, skills, materials and capital. Such savings could be considerable, even if microprocessor-based automation devices would be introduced only into <u>separate</u> stages of production and would not yet be interrelated. Yet, with the introduction of FMS and CAM, such savings would be bound to experience a real "quantum jump".

This, in short, are some of the expectations concerning the scope for applying microelectronic devices to the garment industry and thus to retransfer a broadening range of production stages back to industrial sites in the OECD region.

However, reality has turned out to be much more complex. In fact, relocation back to the North has not yet taken place on a significant scale and the introduction of flexible and integrated automation systems is not yet a reality for this industry. The aforementioned ILO study for instance found that "... trends in technical change are directed at increasingly comprehensive and integrated systems of garment production. The time period, however, during which radical technologies will be incorporated into the industry is bound to be longer than previously anticipated, due to a number of factors including a low level of R & D, the lack of the necessary maintenance skills, undercapitalisation, and technical difficulties associated with limp fabric." $\frac{25/}{}$

6.3. <u>Innovation, Comparative Advantage and Changes in International</u> <u>Location Patterns - the Overall Picture in the Semiconductor</u> <u>Industry</u>

6.3.1. The Context and the Basic Message

We have already seen that the basic trend of industrial restructuring in semiconductor manufacturing by and large points to an increasing vertical integration and concentration.

This applies even more so to the global electronics sector centering around the design, production and application of new information technologies based on microelectronics. Only a limited number of actors will remain active in information technology, once the present crisis will be over. In the long run, concentration and internationalization trends will gather further momentum and small and mediumsized laboratory firms (the real innovators), but also some of the big firms will be liquidated.

This is the context in which we have to analyse the interaction between innovation, comparative advantage and changes of international location patterns in the semiconductor industry. The main message of this study is that the issue of immediate concern is not so much the possibility of outright relocation of industrial activities from the South, particularly some Southeast-Asian 'export platform' countries, back to the OECD region. Manufacturing of semiconductors in the Third World will continue to expand - at least for certain product families, for those specific stages of production which are not essential for exercising sys ems control, $\frac{26}{4}$ an' restricted to a fairly small number of 'exclusive' production sites. But changes are taking place and they are in fact of a considerable dimension: they relate to product and process technology, to management techniques and particularly to the ways of organizing shopfloor production and industrial relations. Industry insiders

keep stressing that managing offshore semiconductor production activities today is a completely different affair from what it used to be hardly five to eight years ago. In fact, transition to automatic assembly requires a considerably modified management approach simply because this mode of assembly is based on a different economic logic than manual assembly. The strategic concern with automatic assembly is how to run extremely expensive equipment 27-4 with a minimum of interruption, if possible around the clock and in such a way that final yields can be significantly improved over standards achievable with manual assembly. In addition, the structure of the labour force, and particularly of operators, is changing very much: while it normally took about three months "for a worker to become competent at manual bonding", today, with automatic bonding, it takes only two weeks to train a machine operator. 20/

It is to these changes and their impact on industrialization scenarios in the Third World that future analysis should be mainly geared.

In the final analysis, it is the overall trend towards increased concentration of control over strategic assets and the concomitant emergence of new patterns of global and regional oligopolistic competition which should be in the centre of future discussions. Intra-OECD rivalry, particularly among US firms, and between them and Japanese firms, is the main driving force and gives rise to ever new rounds of a global technological race.

In particular, four points are worth emphasizing:

- The new economics of semiconductor manufacturing are already having a considerable impact on international location patterns.

- 221 -

- However, our understanding of what is really happening is handicapped by a serious lack of empirical evidence which would allow us to differentiate the analysis of changes in international location patterns according to products and stages of production involved.
- There is a complex interaction of factors couditioning the new strategies of international location in semiconductor manufacturing which do not fit into the mono-causalistic approaches of prevailing theories of "international restructuring of industry".
- Offshore chip assembly is already undergoing major structural changes, with the result that positive effects, to be reaped by developing countries, on employment generation, forward and backward inter-industrial integration, skill formation and technological spinoffs, may become even smaller and less valuable than today.

6.4.2. The Lask of Empirical Evitence

Before outlining some recent changes of international location patterns in the semiconductor industry and particularly in offshore chip assembly, we should first like to add a point of warning. There is still a serious lack of empirical evidence, and this relates in particular to material which would allow us to differentiate our analysis of changes in international location patterns according to products and stages of production involved.

It will not be easy to overcome this gay, simply because most firms hardly ever release any quantitative information on key variables underlying their foreign investment decision-making process. $\frac{29}{}$ This would relate in particular to informations on employment figures abroad, local wage rates and other elements of labour costs, especially in low wage countries, but also to the methodology used to establish the overall costs, benefits and risks of a specific investment project. Add to this the considerable flaws of technology forecasting, $\frac{30}{}$ and it will become clear that most of the available projections of possible future trends of international restructuring in the semiconductor industry are based on very unsafe ground, simply because they have been deduced from a fairly incomplete knowledge of waat is presently happening.

This would apply for instance to international allocation trends for chip assembly lines.

Tab. 6.3. (see chapter 6.4.) gives the overall trends for US firms as projected by some of the major studies on this topic.

In reading this table, what we learn is that, for whatever reason, the explosive growth of new companies, particular US merchant firms, rushing to offshore locations in the Far East, which was typical for the late 1960s and early 1970s, has clearly abated by now. But this is only a very partial picture of what really happened. What was it that "caused US firms to rethink the rationale for offshore investment"? 31/ In order to arrive at a conclusive answer to this question, we need to dig out some further informations which would allow us to identify more clearly the driving forces behind the new strategies of international location in this sector and their main constraints.

This should in fact be a priority area for future research, as has been outlined by a recent expert group meeting on the implications of microelectronics for developing countries, organized by UNIDO. $\frac{32}{}$

6.3.3. <u>Recent Changes in the International Location of</u> <u>Semiconductor Manufacturing</u>

The new economics of semiconductor manufacturing are already having a considerable impact on international location patterns in this industry. New production sites have been rapidly emerging and new actors have entered the stage. This meant that the rules of the game characteristic for this industry today are very different from what they used to be hardly ten years ago. Yet, most of these changes have passed by largely unnoticed, at least outside the inner circles of headquarters management of major firms, and attempts to analyse the international restructuring process for this industry are still to a large extent based on theories deduced from the experience of the 1960s and the early 1970s. $\frac{33}{2}$

(a) Four levels of international restructuring

Changes in geographic location patterns are taking shape at four levels:

- Locational shifts among major OECD countries, i.e. mainly between the US, Japan and a few production centres in Western Europe;
- Locational shifts from the centre to the periphery of the OECD region, particularly to Ireland, Scotland and Wales;
- Transition to new patterns of investment in the classical "export platform" countries like Singapore, Taiwan, Malaysia and South Korea;
- And, finally, relocation from classical "export platform" countries to new offshore locations like the Philippines, some new locations in the Caribbean Bassin, Sri Lanka, the PR China and Bangladesh.

It is probably still too early to get a complete picture of the logic underlying the manifold and often contradictionary moves taking place on these four levels and the interests of the actors involved. But at least we should start to dig out bits and pieces of it. The first step would be to make an inventory of the more important moves and to inquire into the rationale behind these individual cases. This would allow us to deduce at least some tentative working hypotheses which could then be subordinated to more systematic research.

The present study can only make a modest contribution. It will present some evidence for the three probably most important structural changes conditioning international location patterns today: the economics of demand are about to increase considerably in importance; the economics of production are about to change with an increasing focus on systems productivity; and the pressure on both semiconductor and systems firms to increase their vertical integration throughout the global electronics complex is going to increase.

We will focus on recent locational shifts within the OECD region, in particular to the European periphery and to Japan (see (b) - (d)). By and large, it will be these three types of international restructuring moves which will dominate the 1980s.

However, before doing so, I want to underline one important point. The last two modes of international restructuring in the semiconductor industry, i.e. relocation to and within the South are bound to become of increasing importance. In fact, radical cases of relocation within the South and of a consequent industrial restructuring of offshore production facilities can already be discerned. This study will discuss some pieces of evidence in chapter 6.4. Yet, there are still vast deficits of empirical knowledge characterizing this particular field of research on international restructuring in industry and there is an urgent need to make it a priority for future research. In particular, the following developments would seem to deserve in-depth empirical research:

- the rapidly expanding engagement of US semiconductor firms in the Philippines and the new patterns of specialization between US and Philippine firms, particularly in assembly subcontracting which reached its peak during the 1979/80 chip shortage;
- the engagement of Philippine firms, particularly of Dynetics Inc. in marketing and "silicon foundry services" in Monteca/ California;
- recent attempts to proceed to more integrated forms of semiconductor manufacturing in Singapore (Nanotek), Taiwan (Industrial Technology Research Institute in cooperation with RCA) and South Korea (High Technology Area in Samsung);
- recent developments in Mexico and Brazil.
- (b) Locational shifts within the OECD region

Since 1975, the bulk of international investment of semiconductor manufacturers went into locations within the OECD region.

Till the 1970s, inter-OECD international investment flows consisted mainly of investment of US firms in Western Europe and these investments were predominantly geared to the computer industry and to serving government procurement markets, particularly the military and the telecommunications sectors. Since 1975, however, this pattern is rapidly changing. In fact, three location trends are increasingly dominating international investment in the semiconductor industry: <u>34</u>/

- a move of West European and Japanese firms into US locations;
- increasing Japanese investment in Western Europe;
- and the growing importance of the European periphery, particularly Ireland, for US and Japanese investment geared to the Western European market.

(c) Three main conditioning factors

By and large, these changes of international location patterns in the semiconductor industry and their focus on the OECD region can be explained in terms of three main factors:

First and foremost, the growing importance of access to huge, sophisticated and dynamic markets. This market orientation would in fact seem to be the single most decisive determinant of international location patterns in the semiconductor and, for that matter, also in the electronics industry at large. ^{35/} If this liagnosis would be correct, this would then imply that, if possible, all stages of production, from design to assembly, should be located as close as possible to areas of market growth.

Within the OECD region, the US market will of course remain by far the most attractive one. However, in terms of market growth, other areas are bound to gain in importance. A recent major study of the OECD secretariat on the electronics industry arrived at the following conclusion: "The last decade has seen the growing importance of the Japanese market for electronic capital goods following the liberalisation of Japanese trade and foreign investment policy in this area which has occurred gradually since 1974. Over this period the growth of demand for advanced electronic products (particularly the most advanced integrated circuits) in Western Europe has tended to lag behind that of the United States and Japanese markets. Forward-looking market surveys expect this trend to be reversed over the next ten years with growth rates of demand in Europe substantially higher than in the United States with Japan lying somewhere in between. It is thus likely that the geographical focus of the industry will shift accordingly." $\frac{36}{7}$

According to a recent study by <u>Mackintosh Consultants</u> on the European electronics industry. <u>31</u>/Western Europe will be the most important "future growth market" for the global IC market. Mackintosh in fact expects that a fivefold growth in real terms will take place from around \$ 2.2 bn (in 1980 \$s) in 1981 to about \$ 11 bn in 1991.

It concludes that "a market of β 11 bn (in 1980 dollars) in 1991 clearly represents a very substantial and exciting opportunity for the world's IC producers,...this β 11 bn market is likely to be contested vigorously and (...), given their natural advantages, if the Europeans and Americans allow the Japanese to capture a major part of it, they will really have only themselves to blame."

In addition, future growth markets are already emerging outside the OECD region: the Gulf area, Mexico, Brazil and the ASEAN region.

Tables 5.1. and 6.2. indicate the tremendous growth potential for computer imports in these growth areas of the Third World.
Tab 6.1 Regional Trends in Computer Imports 1975 - 1978

(in Mill of 8 US)

Region	Total Imports in 1978	Totel Importe in 1977	Total Imports in 1976	Total Imports in 1975	Percent Change 1977-1978	Percent Change 1975 -1976
World Total	14,983,2	11,683,9	10,520,8	9,482,5	+28,2	+10,95
Western Europe North Americs Asia (incl. Far	8,856,6 2,751,8	7,019,5 2,041,2	5,989,2 1,790,4	5,231,8 1,441,7	+26,2 +34,8	+14,48 +24,19
East) Letin America COMECON countries Oceania	1,106,7 731,3 482,3 407,6	882,0 566,9 389,5 330,8 263,6	768,7 520,8 775,7 279,2 235,0	703,6 601,7 826,8 276,8 236,0	+25,4 +28,9 +23,8 +23,2 +26,6	+ 9,25 -13,45 - 6,18 + 0,87 - 0,42
Middle East Arab States only ²⁾ China	277,8 20,9	189,9 169,4 7,9	134,5	108,1	+67,3 +63,9 +164,5	+24,42

1) Also enclose Cuba, Mongolia and Vietnam.

2) Areb States are a group of 20 Areb countries located in the Middle East and Africa. The totals for Africa and Middle East also include their constituent Areb countries in these statistics. These figures are developed by region for comparative purposes. They do not add up to the world total, since some duplication and overlap will occur.

Source: Figures are taken from the U.N. International Trade Statistics for category SITC 714 which includes computers and office machinery but does not include software cr other computer services. United Nations, New York, September 1980 and October 1978.

TABLE 642 THE FASTEST GROWING IMPORT MARKETS								
RANK	RANK AMONG TOP 50	COUNTRY	PERCENT GOOWTH 1977-1978	SIDEIN SIDEIN MILLICNS OF SUIS.				
1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8	36 49 29 17 45 20 45 28	Trad China Saudi Arabia Hong Kong Thakand Mexico Bomisha South Korea	-2:9.7 +16:5 +1053 + 61.9 + 59.6 + 59.6 - 49.7 + 48.9	47.0 20.9 20.4 20.4 20.4 20.4 20.4 20.4 20.4 20.4				
9 10 11	19 16 1	South Arrica Braz United States	+ -31 + -33 - 432	167 4 193.7 1961.5				

Source: Szuprowicz, B.O. - "The World's Top 50 Computer Import Markets", <u>Datamation</u>, January 1981

The degree of homogenization of demand is already such that it is possible to talk of an emerging world market for electronic products. In other words, COMECON countries, NICs and OPEC countries tend to demand the same kind of highly complex devices and electronic capital goods.

- <u>Second</u>, the economics of semiconductor manufacturing are undergoing substantial changes. We have extensively discussed this aspect before. Suffice it to draw out two implications for the choice of international location patterns:
 - the need to integrate all stages of production as far as possible in order to be able to reap technical and industrial synergetic effects;
 - the pressure to go ahead with worldwide sourcing for cheap, unskilled labour has been somewhat releaved, due to important changes in the cost structure, such as the

increasing weight of the very high cost of equipment and r&d, of developing and maintaining software and of highly trained professionals.

- <u>Third</u>, in order to survive in an increasingly concentrated and global industry, semiconductor manufacturers have no choice but to increase their vertical integration with the overall electronics sector. One important implication for international location decisions would be that semiconductor firms have to subordinate increasingly their product and marketing strategies to application needs which would further strengthen the market orientation of their international investment decisions.

In short, the point which is really worth underlining at this stage is that during the 1970s the impact of innovation on international restructuring in the semiconductor industry has been formidable indeed and that changes in international location patterns are already taking shape which discussions on international restructuring have not yet taken sufficiently into account.

(d) <u>Shifting high-technology investment to Japan - the trend</u> of the future?

We have seen that possible future location shifts in semiconductor manufacturing will probably focus on the US and Western Europe, and particularly on the European periphery. Non-OECD locations might become of increasing importance during the 1980s.

However, we have to add again a point of warning and that is that all previous statements are based on very unsafe grounds and that, in addition, key variables of this sector are changing extremely fast. A case in point would be recent shifts of high-technology investment to Japan. Are they again going to change the structure of this industry? According to an announcement made in July 1981, Texas Instruments Japan plans, by the end of 1981 to be by far the biggest maker of 64 K random access memories (RAM) in Japan - with plant capacity for no less than 1 million units a month. This target in fact would mean a doubling of the monthly production figure reported for 1981.

If these plans would materialize, their consequences could be formidable indeed:

First, TI Japan then would considerably outpace its Japanese competitors. Compared to the 1 million monthly output figure, Fujitsu and Hitachi are making about 300,000 and 200,000 units of 64 K RAMs now, and are said to increase output to 600,000 and 700,000 units respectively by the end of the year. NEC, Oki and Toshiba are each expected to be up to 300,000 units by the end of the year, while Mitsubishi is going up to 200,000 units.

<u>Second</u>, it would establish Japan as the largest centre for VLSI circuit manufacturing - for 64 K RAMs for instance, Japanese production figures would increase threefold, from 1.25 million to 3.4 million units a month.

<u>Third</u>, TI's move to Japan could have a tremendous impact on international location patterns, not only in VLSI circuit manufacturing itself, but also for the producer of the relevant equipment and for applications.

For VLSI circuit manufacturing and particularly 64 K RAM other US merchant firms are likely to follow TI in going Japanese. Viewed from the perspective of US merchant firms, the rationale underlying TI's move to Japan is an attractive one indeed: in order to regain market shares in the crucial mass market of random access memories, which they have lost to Japanese firms in the market of 16 K RAM, JS firms would exploit themselves the advantages in terms of quality and cost inherent to the industrial structure and work organization patterns of Japan. According to the <u>Electronics Times</u>, TI Japan "...clearly feels that it can do better with Japanese than US manufacture, thus confirming the general view that Japanese workers and manufacturing systems give an advantage in terms of quality." $\frac{32}{2}$

A recent commentary in a Japanese newspaper, quoted by <u>Business</u> <u>Week</u>, $\frac{39}{}$ aptly describes the underlying logic: "The Japan-U.S. semiconductor war is jumping from the U.S. to Japan and is entering a second round of the struggle for brains and highly productive labor."

In addition, TI will be able to borrow investment funds in Japan at about one third of the price of interest rates in the US - the going rate in Japan as of July 1981 being under 8%. Given the extremely negative impact of the excessive interest rates on industrial investment and particularly on high-cost investment in VLSI manufacturing. $\frac{40}{J}$ Japan's low interest rates are indeed attractive for US investors.

If more US firms would start VLSI manufacturing in Japan, this could mean for US makers of VLSI manufacturing equipment "the beginning of the end". $\frac{41}{2}$ <u>Electronics Times</u> concludes that "...after all ...the Japanese companies will have an inside line as they negotiate with Japanese engineers. Thus it is not surprising that some American makers are setting up manufacturing facilities or joint ventures in Japan." $\frac{42}{2}$

Yet, it is probably still too early to judge whether these plans of Texas Instruments Japan will really materialize. In fact, the introduction of VLSI circuits seems to require much more time than originally perceived. This would seem to apply particularly to 64 K RAMs with their notoriously protracted introduction period. $\frac{43}{4}$

6.4. <u>The Restructuring of Offshore Chip Assembly - An Empirical</u> <u>Assessment</u>

6.4.1. <u>Major Developments in the Industrial Restructuring</u> of Offshore Chip Assembly

Offshore chip assembly has been experiencing major structural transformations which have passed by largely unnoticed outside the inner circles of corporate headquarters' management, professional industry analysts and consulting firms. Due to the changing economics of semiconductor manufacturing, offshore chip assembly today hardly corresponds anymore to what it used to be less than five years ago.

The introduction of new technologies to automate chip assembly did play an important role - but a somewhat different one than was expected only a few years ago by informed industry observers. Then, relocation back to the North seemed to be the most obvious implication.

In 1977 for instance, the most comprehensive description of chip-making had this to say: "The traditional costsaving technique has been to employ less expensive overseas labour for the labour-intensive packaging operation. As the cost of overseas labour rises and improved packaging technology becomes available, overseas hand labour is gradually being supplanted by highly automated domestic (i.e. US, D.E.) assembly".⁴⁴/

And it was Juan Rada in his otherwise extremely stimulating study for the ILO who took this position to its logical extreme, stating that "... the competitive advantage of less developed countries is being eroded through automation, and some key industries (Rada mentions textiles, garments and electronic products, D.E.) are returning to the developed countries." $\frac{45}{2}$ /

We have already discussed some of the major short-comings

of this position (see chapter 6.2.). We will now discuss more in detail recent structural changes in offshore chip assembly which, according to Rada, should have been a priority candidate for relocation back to the North.

This study shows that, defined as ackeing-down of labourintensive production lines in Third World locations and their return to the classical industrial sites of the OECD region, "relocation back to the North" has not been an important issue for the semiconductor industry. The availability of new techniques, such as new equipment generaticus for automatic bonding and testing did of course change considerably the economics of semiconductor manufacturing - a point which we have documented extensively in chapter 3. Thus, the increasing automation of chip assembly is bound to be reflected in corporate decisions on international location.

Yet, however plausible it might sound that, viewed from the perspective of semiconductor firms headquarters' management, "relocation back to the North" would be the most appropriate solution, we have to accept the fact that empirical research simply does not bring out this hypothesis. In fact, the real question to be answered is what factors did prevent major semiconductor firms to proceed along these lines, i.e. what factors really conditioned their international restructuring decisions.

That is what we will try to do in chapter 6.5. But before we will present an empirical assessment of some major structural changes in offshore chip assembly which have been recently emerging. In particular, we would like to underline the following four developments:

- there has been a slowing-down of investment into offshore assembly lines since around the mid-1970s;

- employment figures in practically all offshore locations have been stagnating, if not declining;
- output and export figures continue to rise for all major offshore locations;
- and, finally, the value-added in offshore manufacturing which initially used to increase roughly till 1973, since then has been dramatically declining.

6.4.2. <u>A Sloving-down of Investment into Offshore Assembly</u>

Table 6.3 presents some overall allocation trends for offshore chip assembly by US firms as reported in some major studies on this topic. We have already underlined the shaky empirical basis from which both the inventory till 1979 and the projection from there on have been derived. But the important point for us now is that, without any doubt, the run into new offshore production sites, characteristic for the late 1960s and the early years of the 1970s, has not been sustained after 1974/75. Tab. 6.3. Allocation Trends for Chips Assembly Lines: US Firms

- 1961 Fairchild establishes the first "offshore" SC assembly plant in Hong Kong
- 1964 Fairchild "opens up" South Korea

ca. 1968/69

- 1973 Peak of offshore movement. Since then several factors have caused US firms to rethink the rationale for offshore investment.
- 1974/75 First "chip crisis". Little new or expanded offshore investment by mature US firms. While some newer US firms continue to establish offshore operations in the Far East to gain the cost advantages that still exist, the run into new offshore production sites, characteristic for the late 1960s and the early 1970s, is clearly over.²⁾
- 1979 29% of chip assembly by US-based firms is conducted within the U.S. 3)
- March, 1981 1980/81 chip crisis will accelerate the process of phasing-out offshore assembly facilities, particularly those using older technologies and less capital equipment. 49
- 1989 Nearly 40% of chip assembly by US-based firms will be done in the U.S. 3)
- Notes: 1) Sources: Truel, J.L. - "L'industrie mondiale des semi-conducteurs", Diss., Paris, 1980; Scottish Development Agency - "The Electronics Industry in Scotland. A Proposed Strategy", study prepared by Booz, Allen & Hamilton, April 1979, and Siegel, L. - "Delicate Bonds: The Global Semiconductor Industry", Mountain View, Calif., January 1981. See also table "Factors causing US firms to rethink the rationale for offshore sourcing"
 - 2) Scottish Development Agency "The Electronics Industry...", op. cit., p. 27
 - 3) 1979 estimate and 1989 projection are from Frost & Sullivan, Inc. New York, queted from "Northern California Electronics News, January 7, 1980.
 - "Global Electronics Information Newsletter" (Mountain View, Calif.) No. 8, March 1981 and various issues cf "Electronics Times" (London)

- 238 -

In fact, there has been an overall slowing-down of investment into offshore assembly since around 1975.

Fig.6.1. documents that the number of Far East assembly lines which, till roughly around 1974, used to grow with practically the same speed as worldwide IC sales, since then has significantly lagged behind.



Figure 6.1.: Growth Trends in Worldwide I.C. Sales and Far Fast

But this kind of information does not tell us too much. First, we would need to know whether this slowing-down in the expansion of offshore assembly lines has been just a short-term result of the 1974 - 75 semiconductor crisis or whether it did continue once demand recovered and global semiconductor production capacities expanded very rapidly again. Second, of even greater importance would be to know what concrote moves are behind this aggregate figure. Table 6.4.gives a more differentiated picture of what happened to important offshore locations in the Third World. It is based on a sample of 27 leading US, Japanese and Westeuropean firms which in 1979 were responsible for more than 90% of the world semiconductor production.

	b)								
Country	Number of 1971	Firms Present 1974	1976	1979					
South-East As	ia:								
Korea	6	8	8	8					
Hong-Kong	1	6	6	7					
Indonesia	0	3	3	3					
Malaysia	0-2	11-13	13-14	14					
Philippines	0	0	1	6+1 planned					
Singapore	9	10	12	13					
Taiwan	3	3	6	8					
Thailand			1	1					
Latin America	•		•						
Brasil	0-2	2	5	5+3planned					
Mexico	1		12	13					
Barbados	0	0	0	1					
Puerto Rico			2	3					
El Salvador		1	1	2					
Mediterranean	Bassin:								
Morocco			1	1					
Malta			1	1					
Portugal			2-3	3					

Table 6.4. The Development of Offshore Investment in Various Third World Locations by Major US, Japanese and Westeuropean

a) The sample includes 24 US firms (AMD, Burroughs, Fairchild, General Electric, General Instrument, Harris, Hewlett Packard, Intel, International Rectifier, Intersil, ITT, Litronix, Mauman, Monsanto, Mostek, Motorola, National Semiconductor, Pulse Engineering, Raytheon, RCA, Rockwell, Texas Instruments and Zilog), 6 European firms (Ferranti, Philips, Plessey, S.G.S., Siemens and Thomson), and 7 Japanese firms (Hitachi, Mitsubishi, NEC, Oki, Sanyo, Toshiba and Toyo).

b) Each firm is counted only once in each country, even if it owns more than one plant.

Source: Truel, "Les nouvelles stratégies . . . ", 1980, p.12.

- 240 -

Semiconductor Firms a), 1971 - 1979

Whatever its shortcomings $\frac{46}{-}$ this table amply documents four developments:

- (a) In the "classical" offshore locations in South East Asia, i.e. in Singapore, South Korea, Taiwan, Malaysia (starting from the early 1970s) and Hong Kong, the arrival of new entrants has clearly levelled off since around 1974.
- (b) After that date only one South East Asian country, i.e. the Philippines, was able to attract an important amount of new investment. Indonesia and Thailand on the other hand had very poor results. One should add that since 1979 three additional candidates for latecomer offshore location became available in the region: the PR China, particularly its coastal "Special Economic Zones", ⁴/₄/₇ India and Sri Lanka.
- (c) The traditional locations in Latin America, i.e. Mexico's "border industries' belt" and the Caribbean Bassin also show a relative stagnation, whereas Brazil shows an overall dynamic trend. In fact, for Brazil, access to the potentially huge Latin American market has been the guiding principle, and costs, particularly labour costs were only of secondary importance. 48/
- (d) In the Mediterranean Bassin only very recently some offshore locations have been developed, bat still on a fairly limited scale.

6.4.3. Stagnating, If not Declining Employment

Employment figures in Third World offshore locations have been stagnating if not declining.

Table 6.5 shows and the employment figures for US affiliates abroad have only slightly increased between 1974 and 1978. Taking into account the increase of US implementations in Western Europe, this would mean that employment figures for Third World locations have at least stagnated.

Tear	Employment							
	U.S.A.	Abroad a) (estimation)	Total					
1966	82	4	86					
1967	85	10	95					
1968	87	20	107					
1969	99	40	139					
1970	88	45	133					
1971	75	50	125					
1972	98	60	158					
1973	120	80	200					
1974	133	85	218					
1978	-	89	-					

Tab. 6.5. "Development of World Employment Figures for US Semiconductor Firms, 1966-1978" (thousands)

a) =Till 1974, the great majority of foreign employees was located in Third World locations. In 1974 for instance, of a total of 85.000 only 5.000 were employed in factories located in Western Europe and Japan.

Source: For 1966 - 74: U.S. Department of Commerce - "U.S. Report on the Semiconductor Industry", Washington, D.C., September 1979. For 1978: USITC. Adapted from: Truel, 1980c, p. 6

In addition, table 6.6, presenting figures for Intel Corp., a leading US semiconductor merchant firm, gives evidence for a declining share of foreign employees as a percentage of total employees.

This is at least the interpretation given to these figures by Robert N. Noyce, vice-chairman of Intel Corp., in his statement before the U.S. Congress in January 1980: "As progressively higher threshholds are reached by the U.S. semiconductor industry in product and process technology, the tendency appears to be a decrease of foreign employees. This trend is enhanced by the increased use of automatic bonding equipment in the offshore assembly plants. Intel, for instance, more than tripled total corporate employment from 1975 to 1979, but the proportion of foreign employees dropped from a peak of 41% in 1976 to 30% in 1979 even though a higher percentage of sales were abroad and a higher percentage of our total employees were foreign sales and marketing personnel." $\frac{49}{7}$

Tab. 6.6. Intel Employment - Global Trends

Yearly	Employment Ir	Employment
1975		36%
1976	58%	41%
1977	11%	39%
1978	34%	33%
1979	31%	30%

Source: Intel Corporation

Quoted from: Global Electronics Information Newsletter, (Mountain View/California), No. 1, June, 1980, p. 5.

Intel, which currently employs about 14,000 worldwide, may not be entirely representative of the industry however, since it concentrates on microprocessor production, one of the most sophisticated branches of the semiconductor industry. Other semiconductor operations (when seperated from nonsemiconductor activities of the same companies) tend to employ larger percentages of employees abroad. Thus, it would be important to dig out additional informations which would allow us to test to what degree the Intel case indicates a general trend.

6.4.4. <u>Autrut and Export Figures Continue to Bise for all Major</u> Offshore posations

Output and particularly export figures for assembled semiconductors continued to increase for practically all major offshore locations.

We can document this with data on semiconductor imports to the US under tariff code items 306.30 and 807, recently made available by the U.S. Department of Commerce. 50/These figures give a fairly good picture of recent trends in output and export figures of major offshore semiconductor assembly locations for two reasons: First, most of the semiconductors assembled in offshore locations are reexported to the U.S., where they are tested and marketed or in some cases marketed directly following testing in Asia. Second, most of these re-exports qualify for special treatment under tariff code items 806.30 and 807 which, in essence, exclude from duty the U.S.-produced content of the assembled goods.

Table 6.7 shows that, except in the case of Taiwan, import figures covering TSUS items 806.30 and 807.00 are a good proxy for the overall semiconductor exports of these countries to the U.S. Tab. 6.7. Exports of Semiconductors by Selected Less Developed Countries, 1976 (millions of dollars)

Total Exports	Exports to U.S.	BO6/807 Portion	Exports to Japan	Exports to Other Third Countries
339.5	237.0	197.1	4.3	98.2
102.5	100.7	83.4	-	1.8
298.6	164.8	148.3	47.9	85.9
126.2	90.6	71.2	5.2	30.4
197.7	68.6	36.9	17.5	111.6
na	206.0	192.2	16.5	na
	Total Exports 339.5 102.5 298.6 126.2 197.7 na	Total Exports 339.5 237.0 102.5 100.7 298.6 164.8 126.2 90.6 197.7 68.6 na 206.0	TotalExports806/807Exportsto U.S.Portion339.5237.0197.1102.5100.783.4298.6164.8148.3126.290.671.2197.768.636.9na206.0192.2	TotalExports806/807ExportsExportsto U.S.Portionto Japan339.5237.0197.14.3102.5100.783.4-298.6164.8148.347.9126.290.671.25.2197.768.636.917.5na206.0192.216.5

 $\frac{1}{2}$ Complete data for Malaysia was not available.

Source: BIC Country Market Surveys, Electronic Components, 1978; Japan Tariff Association, computed by Ministry of Finance, 1976.

Quoted from: "A Report on the US Semiconductor Industry", US DOC Industry and Trade Administration, Office of Froducer Goods, September, 1979, (GFO Stock No. 003-009-00327-9)

Table 6.8 documents recent trends in the U.S. semiconductor imports from offshore locations in the Third World.

Tab. 6.8. Semiconductor Imports from Offshore Locations' - their Role for							1)				
	Tab.	6.8.	Semiconductor	Imports	from	Offshore	Locations'	-	their	Role	for

imports and Supply of Semiconductors in the U.S. and Recent										
	Structural Changes, 1970 - 78									
Iear	(a) Shipments of US based semi- ductor firms ²)	(b) Total Imports	(c) Total 806.30/ 807.00 Imports	(d) (=c/a)	(e) (=c/b)	(f) U.S. Content	(g) (=f/c)	(h) Dutiable Value	(i) (*h/c)	
1970	1,720	157,464	139,071	8 - 1	88%	78,409	56%	60,662	44%	
1971	1,502	179,092	152,204	10.	85%	81,255	53%	70,949	47%	
1972	1,848	330,277	249,717	13,5%	76%	127,346	51%	122,371	4996	
1973	3,124	618,613	410,207	13,1%	66%	185,637	45%	224,570	55%	
1974	3,646	961,338	681,844	18,7 %	71%	310,359	46%	371,485	54%	
1975	3,002	802,687	617,276	20,5 %	77%	291,718	47%	325,558	53%	
1976	4,312	1,107,399	877,648	20,4 %	80%	400,908	46%	476,740	54%	
1977	4,841	1,352,317	1,120,121	23,1%	83%	616,860	55%	503,261	45%	
1978	-	1,800,000	1,478,535	-	82%	886,705	63%	591,830	40%	

- 11 0

1)=Semiconductor imports from offshore locations are measured by imports under the TSUSA Items 806.30 and 807.00

2) = Excluding shipments from affiliates located outside the U.S.

Sources: Census Bureau Foreign Trade Data Printouts/TSUSA 806/807 as quoted in: US Department of Trade - "A Report on the U.S. Semiconductor Industry", Washington, D.C., September 1979, and "Import Trends in TSUSA Items 806.30 and 807.00", U.S. International Trade Commission Publication 1029, Washington D.C., January 1980

- imports from offshore locations have been rapidly increasing during the 1970s;
- semiconductor imports from offshore locations during the 1970s increased their share in the shipments of US semiconductor firms to the US market;
- the share of semiconductor imports from offshore locations in the overall semiconductor imports of the US, which has been falling from 1970 to 1973, since then has been recovering to the levels of the late 1960s;
- the foreign content of semiconductor imports from offshore locations, i.e. the value-added in these production lines, has been considerably changing.

It is the last point which is probably the most important characteristic of the newly emerging modes of industrial restructuring in offshore chip assembly. We will thus discuss it in detail in 6.4.5. But let me first develop further the first three points:

First, imports from offshore locations have been rapidly increasing during the 1970s. In fact, from 1970 till 1978 they increased more than tenfold from \$ 139 million to nearly \$ 1479 million. It is true that after a fivefold increase from \$ 139 million in 1970 to \$ 682 million in 1974, there was a fall of approximately 9.4% in 1975. Obviously, this one year reduction of offshore imports was a reflection of the 1974-75 semiconductor crisis. But since 1976, offshore imports have clearly recovered. In fact, from 1975 till 1978, they have more than doubled with a per annum average growth rate of 33.9%. Second, relative to the overall shipments of US based semiconductor firms to the US market, semiconductor imports from offshore locations during the 1970s significantly increased in importance. Whereas in 1970 their value equalled 8.1% of shipments of US based firms, their share increased to 23.1% in 1977. At this last year, imports from non-offshore locations, i.e. from Japan and Western Europe, were significantly lower, \$ 232 million relative to the \$ 1120 million from offshore locations; in terms of shipments of US based firms they hardly covered 5%.

Third, in relation to the overall semiconductor imports of the US, the share of semiconductor imports from offshore locations has been falling from 88% in 1970 to 66% in 1973, but since then has clearly recovered again, reaching 82% in 1978. In other words, on this against level it is still safe to say that the great majority of semiconductor imports to the US is produced in Third World locations, particularly in Southeast Asia and in Mexico.

But reality is more complex. In fact, we have already shown that this statement needs to be modified, once we turn to specific product groups, particularly if we talk about standardized memories, like 15 K RAMs, where Japanese firms have already made significant inroads.

In addition, the DoC figures end at 1978, indiccting for that year already a significant increase of imports from non-Third World locations (up 38% from \$ 232 million in 1977 to \$ 321 million in 1978). Yet, as we have already indicated, the run into new OECD locations started only in response to the chip shortage of 1978/79 and the consequent Japanese penetration of important US market segments. In other words, the picture drawn by these figures up to the year 1978 might not apply anymore today. In the meantime, imports from Japan and even more so from the European periphery, particularly Ireland, have increasingly gained in importance.

6.4.5. The Rise and Fall of Value-Added in offshore Chir Assembly

Finally, and probably of greatest importance, are changes in the foreign content of semiconductor imports from offshore locations. (See columnes (h) and (i) of table 6.8.) Whether or not the value added in offshore locations will cover an increasing part of the overall value of semiconductor exports is in fact of crucial importance both for employment and for the scope for strategies to increase the integration of these activities with overall industrial production.

Two completely distinct phases can be discerned:

- the rise of foreign content from 44% in 1970 to 55% in 1973, followed by a period of consolidation till roughly 1976 around the 54% mark. According to the Commerce Department study, three factors did play an important role: rising wage levels in the classical offshore location sites; the availability of locally produced parts in some of these countries, perticularly in Singapore, Taiwan, Malaysia and South Korea; and the availability of parts from third countries, perticularly from Japan.
- the <u>decline of foreign content</u> since 1977 which, if it continues, may lead to a leveling off, or even drop, in Asian semiconductor suployment.

In fact, this decline is a direct reflection of some recent changes in the economics of semiconductor manufacturing which we have already discreased extensively. As the complexity of circuitry increases, more value is produced in the early wafer-fabrication stage, i.e. in the U.S., in Japan or in some locations in Western Europe. Furthermore, the more complex circuits require much more complex, computerized final testing, which again is usually done in OECD locations, particularly in the U.S. and Japan.

Table 6.9 shows that, except for Hong Kong which bad a much higher foreign content level, all the other major offshore

- 0-2 -

locations had foreign content shares close to the average share of 45% (Malaysia, Singapore, Taiwan) or significantly below it (South Korea and Merico). By far the lowest foreign content (32%) can be found in the Philippines. Thus it would seem safe to conclude that the decline of foreign content is a well-established trend for all major-offshore semiconductor production sites.

Tab.	6.9. Comparison of U.S. and Poreign Contents	In
	Imports Under TSUSA Items 806.30/807.00,	1977
	(\$000)	

Country	Total 806.30 £ 807.00	Poreign Content	Percent	U.S. Content	Percent
Malaysia	\$269,936	\$120,313	45	\$149,623	55
Singapore	234,616	108,958	46	125,658	54
Korea	208,971	81,413	39	127,558	61
Taiwan	72,720	33,286	46	39,434	54
Hong Kong	63,885	35,896	56	27,989	44
Mexico	63,286	21,785	38	41,501	62
Philippine	52,182	16,579	32	35,603	68
Total seve	n ·				
countries	965,5 96	418,230	43	547,366	57
other					
countries	154,525	85,031	55	69,494	45
TOTAL	\$1,120,121	\$503.261	45	\$616,860	55

Source: Bureau of Censuz, Foreign Trade Data Printouts/TSUSA 806/807

Quoted from: "Report on the US Semiconductor Industry", US DUC Industry and Trade Administration, Office of Producer Goods, Washington, D.C., September 1979, (GPO Stock No. 003-009-00327-9)

To conclude, the recent decline of foreign content in semiconductor imports from offshore locations, at the same time when these imports continue to increase in absolute terms, would in fact underline our main point: relocation back to the North of chip assembly is not a significant issue, despite the gradual automation of that process. Rather it is the

- 253 -

considerable structural changes of semiconductor manufacturing taking place in offshore locations, both with regard to product and process technology, and its implications for a restructuring of conventional offshore activities, to which future in-depth empirical research should be directed.

Worldmarket-oriented semiconductor manufacturing might in fact continue to expand in some Third World locations, but compared to the status quo, this new type of offshore semiconductor manufacturing might produce even smaller and less viable positive effects on employment generation; forward and backward interindustrial integration and technological spin-offs.

6.5. Possible Future Trends - the Conflicting Evidence

What are going to be the most likely future scenarios for the international restructuring of the semiconductor industry and in particular what is the role which production sites in the Third World are going to play?

This study has repeatedly warned that ready answers to these questions are not available and that those, who claim to have them, are arguing on very unsafe grounds.

6.5.1. Options Depend on the Actors Involved - the Complex and Dynamic Interplay of Fletors Conditioning International Location Patterns

What is possible however is to identify some of the options facing the major actors of international restructuring in this sector, particularly private firms based in the OECD region, and to confront them with those bits and pieces of, mostly conflicting, evidence which is available today. Four points would seem to be worth underlining:

- <u>First</u>, if only the interests of semiconductor manufacturers would be at stake, then "relocation back to the North" would indeed be the most probable future scenario for a large part of chip assembly lines located today in developing countries (see 6.5.2.)
- If we proceed however, <u>secondly</u>, to the broader picture of the integrated electronics sector and try to identify the options open to highly diversified systems firms, then we would find that a much more complex and dynamic interplay of factors is going to condition international location decisions and that, by and large, the drive for internationalization is going to continue (see 6.5.3.)
- A third point then would be that as long as developing countries would contine to rely predominantly on the

willingness and capacity of private firms originating from the OECD region to redeploy production facilities and technology, they could hardly expect to increase the viability of their existing segmented worldmarketoriented chip assembly lines. Within such a scenario of passive and unselective worldmarket integration, the vulnerability of these production lines to the economic crisis and to the impact of radical technological breakthroughs will remain excessive and there will be not much chance to proceed to an increasingly integrated electronics industry which could be subordinated to the specific requirements of these countries.

In other words, as long as developing countries do not devise and implement effective counter-vailing strategies to the prevailing modes of international restructuring, the most likely outcome will be that a handful of privileged "high technology enclaves" will emerge close to the future growth markets in the Gulf region, in South East Asia, and probably also in Brazil and Mexico, thus.complementing today's developments in the European periphery. particularly in Ireland and Scotland.

- A <u>fourth</u> and last point would be that any projection on possible future trends in international location patterns of industry could hardly claim to be realistic, if it would not be related to a much broader context, i.e. the overall perspectives for future interactions of innovation, international transfer of technology and international restructuring in a period of crisis. This is what we are going to do in chapter 6.6.

6.5.2. "Automate, But Fring it Back Inshore" - The Rationale Underlying Future Trends in Semiconductor Assembly

Viewed from the perspective of established US semiconductor merchant firms, relocation back to the US would seem to be a preferred scenario for most of their offshore chip assembly lines. Take for instance recent statements by Donald Levinthal, editor of the influential magazine <u>Semiconductor International</u>. In his April, 1981 editorial, ^{51/} Levinthal argued that US semiconductor companies should not only automate their assembly operations but move them "back onshore". He claims that this would be the only way for US firms to counter the Japanese challenge.

In fact, in contrast to US major semiconductor firms which since around the early 1960s have made extensive use of global sourcing for cheap labour, particularly in South East Asia, Japanese firms have concentrated from the beginning on assembling products at home, using more automation in their operations.

Levinthal argues that insistence on offshore operations, very useful in the early stages of the industry, could put US firms in an increasingly weak position for at least two reasons:

- it deprives them from significant systems productivity gains;

- it will make them more vulnerable to political turmoil abroad.

With regard to the first point, Levinthal argues that in order to evaluate correctly the complex trade-offs between US or offshore location, a "...systems concept rather than a fragmented operation-by-operation process mechanization procedure" would be needed. Only then would it be possible to avoid being roped into ever new traps of mono-causalistic cost-benefit approaches. He quotes as a typical example that "...people who make the monetary decisions are always quick to bring up the argument that even if they automated their operations, personnel to operate and maintain are still less expensive offshore than here in the US."

According to Levinthal this is of course a valid argument - but it fails to view a complete picture to be taken into account when deciding on choice of technology and locational patterns. After all, this argument would neither take note of such hidden costs as the increasingly high costs of transportation, the benefits forgone with regard to industrial synergism, and, last but not least, the increasing vulnerability to external decisions and political unrest.

This last point is particularly underlined by Levinthal: "If political turnoil begins to haunt the world, especially in these areas where US companies have their assembly operations, it would be a desaster for the US semiconductor industry. It would be an almost impossible task to immediately begin onshore assembly in the event of serious political unrest."

In Levinthal's view, the US seminconductor industry is already highly vulnerable in this aspect in contrast to Japanese firms, which, in his view, have wisely avoided this danger. "With the new, more vigorous US defense posture", Levinthal adds, "political polarization and turmoil are bound to occur. We can expect that some countries which now openly welcome the semiconductor industry will make greater demands on companies hoping to maintain their facilities or open new ones."

No doubt, this analysis does reflect fairly well some of the major preoccupations of US semiconductor firms in a period when both the international competition and the economic crisis are intensifying. In addition, political destabilization is rapidly proliferating in former show-pieces of US offshore sourcing investment and governments and technocrets . in some of the early offshore location countries like in Singapore,

- 255 -

Taiwan, Malaysia and South Korea and already very active in devising much more aggressive and demanding strategies. Thus, from the point of view of major US semiconductor manufacturers, Levinthal is probably right when he concludes: "If the US semiconductor industry is to maintain control over its destiny it must give serious consideration to investing in automation, getting its act 'back together', and moving assembly processes home."

However, there is reason to doubt whether US semiconductor could or even would like to proceed very far along these lines of international restructuring. After all, they are not at all alone in this business anymore - of the ten major US firms only two can still claim the status of formal independence, whereas all the others are to one degree or another integrated into huge highly diversified corporate giants. We have extensively documented in chapter 5 the trend towards an increasing vertical integration internal to huge, highly diversified conglomerates, linking together all major sectors of the global electronics complex. Let us now discuss some possible future trends in international location, as perceived by a highly diversified multinational with a focus on information processing.

6.5.3. <u>A Renewed Drive for Internationalization - the Jase of Siemens</u>

- 251 -

According to Karl Heinz Kaske, president and chief operating officer of Siemens, this company is putting greater emphasis on building up its foreign operations, which already employ about one third of its 338,000 workers. This would include overseas manufacturing, but also certain r+d activities.

This new drive for internationalization comes on top of an already high degree of internationalization: the company's foreign sales and exports, already in 1980 accounted for around 54% of overall sales worth DM 32 billion (\$ 13.3 billion).^{52/}

What is the logic underlying this renewed drive for internationalization? In contrast to the 1960s and the 1970s, the search for cheap labour does not seem to be anymore the dominant motivation. Rather it is the need to use the new capitalintensive equipment efficiently, i.e. to run it, if possible, around the clock, without any need to comply to labour or environmental regulations. This new strategic focus has been clearly underlined by Kaske in a recent statement for the <u>Financial Times</u>: "Siemens' strategy is partly influenced by the inability to use expensive new capital-intensive equipment efficiently in Germany....such equipment needed to be put into a country where it could be worked for seven days a week, three shifts a day, and that country is not the Federal Republic of Germany." ^{53/}

In the not too distant future a second motivation might increasingly gain in importance: it relates to the need for worldwide recruiting of qualified but relatively low-cost engineers. In fact, electronics companies in West Germany are facing increasing difficulties to find qualified engineers, even at relatively high wage levels.

A case in point would be the plans of Siemens, announced in December 1980, to shift its Random Access Memory (RAM) wafer fabrication to Villach, Austria, from Munich. The new 40,000-sq.ft. plant will cost the company \$ 25 million. Electronics News of 1 December 1980 quotes Siemens engineers according to whom this move was mainly due to the meed to take advantage of "good and lower cost engineers".

As some of the major export platform countries, both in the European periphery (Ireland) and in South East Asia (Singapore, Taiwan and South Korea) are about to expand significantly their training programmes for electronics engineers, computer programmers and systems analysts, $\frac{54}{4}$ this sourcing for lowcost electronics engineers will increasingly be geared to these locations.

In the final analysis, this new kind of internationalization drive results from the increasing emphasis which companies like Siemens since the beginning of the 1970s have been laying on productivity improvement through the introduction of heavily capital-intensive equipment. In other words, international restructuring and innovation have been linked in avery specific manner.

Since 1976, Siemens in fact has been cutting back sharply its work force, doing away with about 40,000 work places. At the same time annual capital expenditure has been increased to DM 2.2 billion in 1980 and the company is planning to maintain if not to increase this level of capi'al formation during the years to come. $\frac{55}{7}$

Such a productivity-oriented strategy obviously has its hidden costs, i.e. the vastly increasing recruiting requirements for highly qualified engineers and the dramatic increase of equipment costs. It seems as if management, when it originally conceived this strategy, underestimated these regative sideeffects.

In other words, automating industrial production in classical OECD locations seems to run into certain substantial constraints due to the lack of low-cost skills and the limits to cash in on expensive equipment as rapidly as possible. This seems to apply even to certain areas of high-technology production,

- 253 -

like in the fields of semiconductor and telecommunications production - but we still need more systematic research on this important topic. $\frac{56}{}$

6.5.4. From Worldmarket-Oriented Chip Assembly to an integrated Electronics Industry - a dealistic Option for Developing Countries?

What scope does exist for developing countries to transform, both individually and collectively, their existing segmented worldmarket-oriented chip assembly lines into an increasingly integrated electronics industry which could be subordinated to the specific requirements of these countries?

Our research forces us to conclude that this is a very remote possibility indeed - at least if developing countries continue to rely nearly exclusively on OECD-based firms and their willingness to redeploy production facilities and technologies.

Within such a strategy of passive and unselective worldmarket integration, only a handful of countries could expect to keep some of shore chip assembly lines within their borders and to upgrade them into more integrated patterns of a national electronics industry.

Obviously, only those countries could qualify as candidates for such a strategy which, in addition to their export-oriented chip assembly plants, have already established a more than embrychic network of capital goods industries. That would exclude for instance a country like the Philippines which is booming in chip assembly plants, but is practically devoid of any serious capital goods base. Overall, no more than 15 - 20countries would probably belong to this category. $\frac{57}{7}$

For these countries then the question of immediate concern would be, under what conditions they could hope to achieve a sufficient transfer of production activities of an increasingly complex technological nature.

Three points should be underlined in this context:

(a) For some major electronic components and systems firms in the US, Japan and Western Europe, it might indeed be rational to transfer, albeit in a strictly selective manner, relatively advanced microelectronic technology to a few industrial growth poles in Latin America, South East Asia, the Middle East and the Mediterranean area. In addition to access to some regional "future growth markets", four factors seem to be of particular importance:

- .21 -

- The availability of cheap and doci a, but highly skilled labour and engineers (availabilit; of low-cost skills and brains);
- The need to run extremely expensive equipment practically around the clock, i.e. to maximize its overall annual utilization and to minimize possible "down-times". Pending further major technological break-throughs in robotics, for instance with regard to sensors, transducers and actuators, it might well be profitable to run NC machine tools worth \$ 75,000 to \$ 100,000 on a multi-shift basis in a free export zone, say in Malaysia, where labour regulations are extremely soft and unions practically do not exist.
- In some industrial growth poles of NICs there might be less resistance of the labour force against the necessary experimenting with new forms of organizing the production process, and particularly with regard to the gradual introduction of robots and flexible machining systems. In other words, some of the relatively untouched industrial locations in a couple of NICs might be perceived by multinational corporations' headquarters management to be an excellent testing ground for developing strategies and tactics of introducing these new technologies into industrial production based in the OECD region.



- The availability of low-priced, i.e. nighly subsidized infrastructure and a minimum of regulations with regard to environmental and labour standards, are probably becoming of increasing importance for ing ance for waferfabrication and silicon foundries. <u>58</u>/
- (b) With regard to technological spin-offs and learning effects, and with regard to international competitiveness, there will be no doubt some positive effects.

This would apply for instance to learning effects for supervisory and technical support management functions. International competitiveness might be achieved with regard to certain market niches: assembly subcontracting; silicon foundry and particularly wafer-fabrication subcontracting geared to regional markets.

Yet three questions remain to be answered:

- Will these new export markets be of a viable nature? In fact, demand on these markets tends to vacillate excessively, the number of competitors will rapidly expand, and it is not at all sure whether these markets will not disappear soon. Further, the present pattern of international subcontracting for instance with regard to assembly, are due to the existence of certain technological bottlenecks, which, given the high speed of innovation in these areas, might soon be removed.

- What are the complementary social costs involved?

- What will be the impact for strategies of transition to a more self-reliant development pattern?

The available evidence would seem to indicate that all of these three questions would have to be answared in the negative. $\frac{59}{2}$

(c) The scope for a policy of import substitution and export promotion in the field of complementary services, for instance software and computer services, seems to be limited. For developing countries to pursue such a policy, this would require a combination of selective protectionism and export promotion, either on a national scale or as part of collective self-reliance arrangements.

Yet, pressure is increasing to subordinate trade in services under GATT rules. According to the US special trade representative, Bill Brock, "...free-trade in services is a priority aim." $\frac{60}{}$ The same message can be found in the fearent plea for free trade in electronics by Robert Noyce, Vice-Chairman of Intel at the 1981 Financial Times World Electronics Conference. $\frac{61}{}$

Even if we would assume that there would be sufficient scope for promoting the export of software, the second question would be whether it would really pay off to focus on software exports. Take for instance the policy of the British Department of Industry to promote the marketing overseas of software used in the Prestel View Data System and the software marketing efforts of the States-based INSAC consortium in the UK. According to the Financial Times, " ... software on its own is not a big revenue-sarner, like the plot of a novel, it is little more than a collection of ideas whose full value is realized only when it is packaged as a finished product. A bestseller makes more money for the publisher than for the author. In just the same way, the electronics industry's fattest rewards go to the companies which turn an idea into a manufactured product, rather than those who thought of the idla in the first place." 62/

Instead of relying exclusively on software sales, real profits could only be reaped by including hardware sales, for instance terminals. The <u>Financial Times</u> concludes that, "by emphasizing software sales, Britain is not only failing to maximize the commercial return on its technological assets. It is also jeopardizing its international competitive position. When Japan's computer industry steps up its export drive to Europe - as seems certain to happen it will be no consolation that its machines contain British know-how. ...Britain's current approach looks disturbingly like a formula for a new kind of brain drain." $\frac{62}{2}$

If this analysis of the <u>Financial Times</u>' computer expert is assumed to be correct for a country like Great Britain, how much more would such an evaluation apply for countries like Brazil, Singapore or South Korea!

Today it is more urgent than ever before to understand how control over technology and international restructuring in industry are interlinked. It has been shown elsewhere that much depends on who are going to be the dominant actors in this game, and that without a theory of the international economic crisis it will be impossible to link together technology, demand and structural change in world industry.

It is in this context that we are now going to discuss some perspectives for international transfer of technology and industrial restructuring for the 1980s. In particular, we will deal with two questions:

- Is the consensus among privileged actors of international restructuring of industry running into increasing constraints?
- What options are available for OECD countries and what is their scope for implementing these strategies?

6.6.1. Increasing Constraints to a Consensus Among Privileged Actors

- 2වත් ---

During the 1960s and during most of the 1970s, major actors by and large viewed prevailing patterns of international transfer of technology and industrial restructuring as "functional" for their goals and long-term interests.

Take for instance firms based in major OECD countries. For them, the balance was fairly positive: trade increased; surplus petrodollars were effectively recycled into demand for goods produced by OECD-based firms; offshore investment in low labour cost countries allowed them to compress labour costs and counter the decline of productivity growth in home locations; the capital goods sector was able to benefit considerably from technology transfers to developing countries; and, finally, the trade balances of the major OECD countries with non-OPEC aeveloping countries improved.

Yet, negative side effects could not be denied, even in the hardcore growth areas of the OECD. In fact, the destruction of jobs, the devaluation of skills and the relative de-industrialization, both geographically and sector-wise did increasingly creato serious economic and political problems for these countries and were thus perceived to be important constraints to the continuation of this type of international transfer of technology.

The balance was even more negative for a growing number of regions in the Third World where the increasing import of technology originating from OECD-countries, rather than initiating a process of "modernization", caused tremendous economic and social deformations which, not only in the case of Iran, prepared the way to chaos and socio-economic retrogression. But overall, it remains true that the prevailing modes of international transfer of technology and international investment, i.e. the dominant patterns of "international industrial restructuring", did not run into basic, truly antagonistic contradictions between major protagonists.

But this may rapidly change. In fact, the golden age of international transfer of technology with its relative harmony among privileged actors might soon give way to a series of new and basic contradictions.

Viewed from the technology exporter's perspective the process of transferring and disseminating technology, once started, could increasingly erode his capacity to control the technology, i.e. to remain in a position of technological dominance.

Whether or not this will occur, depends on a couple of factors influencing the international diffusion of technology and innovative capacities.

In a recent study, the OECD secretariat has identified three major concerns of technology exporters: $\frac{65}{}$

- To what degree has the international transfer of technology contributed to a strengthening of technological and innovative capacities in at least some NICs?
- Will Third World markets continue to increase their importance for OECD-based firms and, if so, what role will transfer of technology have to play as a market penetration instrument?
- Will it be possible to generate the financial resources needed to transform the potentially infinite import needs of developing countries into effective demand, i.e. under what conditions and for what type of countries will it be possible to secure a sufficient capacity to import technologies from OECD-based firms?

In the context of the present crisis, it is difficult to give an unequivocal answer to these questions. But it is possible to outline three major trends which might change considerably the international distribution of economic and political power:

- & qualitative intensification of international trade competition;
- few challenges to the technological dominance of OECD-based firms;
- recent changes in the factors conditioning the export of capital goods and technologies to developing countries.

(a) <u>A qualitative intensification of international</u> <u>trade competition</u>

Trade competition from the Third World during the 1970s has come from countries which were only relatively unimportant customers for capital goods and technology originating from the OECD. Take for instance the four most important "export platform" countries of the Third World, i.e. Hong Kong, South Korea, Singapore and Taiwan. They have ' on providing roughly two-thirds of manufactured imports from developing countries in recent years, but their share in total exports of capital goods from OECD to developing countries remained low during the whole period: in 1968 this share was 8.1% and in 1977, the last year for which figures are available, it had increased to nothing more than 8.9%. In the same period, five major OPEC countries, i.e. Jaudi Arabia, Iran, Venezuela, Nigeria and Algeria increased their part in OECDcapital goods exports to the Third World from 12.2 to 28.1%. $\frac{66}{}$

The study is probably right in concluding that "... OECD countries have so far been able to protect and even strengthen threatened industries without risk of direct retaliation as the countries importing most technology did not produce on a very large scale for export (large domessic markets, type of product, running-in time required for plant and equipment)." In other words, the major receivers of transfer of technology from the OECD, such as Brazil, Mexico and Argentina in Latin America, India in Asia, and major OPEC countries are still not important competitors for world export markets. But this is bound to change, as growing

- 258 -

export-orientation is inevitable, if only because of the technology-built-in pressure to realize economies of scale. To quote again the OECD study:

"There are no guarantees that this favourable situation will continue. As industrial development advances in countries with large domestic markets, the need for sophisticated technologies will increase and there will be increasing pressures to pay for such imports by exporting manufactured products, or further increasing international borrowing with attendant debt-servicing problems. A renewed swing towards export promotion policies is one way of financing imports of technology. The exact effects of this evolution will depend on whether increases in exports and income outweigh losses of markets and imports and how successfully the adjustment process works in OECD countries." <u>67</u>/

In other words, even the most powerful multinational corporations might frequently be confronted with situations where trade competition becomes an increasingly "tricky affair", full of trade-offs for which practically no reconciliation would seem possible. This is due to the fact that at least a "ew of the new competitors, like some OPEC countries and NICs, cannot anymore be so easily pushed around as this was possible with the classical 'export platform' countries. $\frac{6E}{2}$

On the other hand, the position of OPEC countries and N1Cs off late seems to have considerably deterioristed. This would be due to the combined impact of a softening world petroleum market and the debilitating impact which the present economic crisis has even on those NICs which, like Brazil and South Korea, only a few years ago seemed to abound with unbestable vitality. $\frac{69}{1}$ Tt is hard to judge how this will influence patterns of international trade competition for specific industrial sectors. Suffice it to say here that overall the multipolarisation of international trade competition for industrial products cannot be stopped anymore and that this is indeed a considerable challenge for OECD-based multinational corporations.

(b) <u>New challenges to the technological dominance of OECD-based</u> firms

Apart from mature and standardized technologies, OECD-based firms have been able to keep effective control over technology transfers and integrate them into their worldwide trade and production strategies.

According to the OECD secretariat, this technological dominance of CECD-based firms is bound to be increasingly challenged: "...it will become more difficult to control technology as the number of sources increases and the diffusion of technology accelerates both vertically and horizontally." $\frac{70}{}$ The reasons are obvious: In spite of the extremely high social costs of transfer of technology, a learning process to receive and adapt technology imports is certainly under way in a number of growth regions in the Third World. Adaptation engineering skills are developing which would allow to lower the real cost of imported technologies and enable local firms to reap economies of scale that may facilitate entry to new domestic and foreign markets. 71/ There has also been some improvement of the ability of local engineering firms to participate in the more complex engineering tasks, particularly in resource-based industries. Potentially at least, this could mean that for a growing number of technologies, the speed of international transfer might incresse and that former technological advantages of OECD-based firms could be eroded away. This in turn, according to the OECD study, would mean: "...losses of export markets when restructuring of industrial activities is involved; industries in member countries may not expect major increases in export shares in such industries. Furthermore, there is the possibility of keener competition in OECD and third markets." 72/

(c) <u>Capital goods exports to developing countries and transfer</u> of technology - possible future trends

During the 1970s, capital goods manufacturers in the OECD region, particularly the producers of infrastructural equipment and of large scale equipment and turnkey plants, were increasingly compelled to look for new growth markets outside the OECD region. $\frac{73}{}$ Capital investment in the industrialized market economies slowed down considerably at the same time as OPEC countries began importing huge amounts of infrastructure, capital goods and turnkey factories. In addition, a handfull of non-oil exporting developing countries with rapidly expanding industrial activities, the so-called NICs continued to rely heavily on the import of cepital goods by borrowing extensively of the Euro-dollar and Asia-dollar market.

This internationalization of the capital goods buiness has been particularly prominent for the huge highly diversified multinational corporations dominating these merkets. Take for instance, General Electric (GE). $\frac{74}{}$ It is a major exporter in the US - in five of the last 7 years the company has topped the US league of exporters. In 1980, GE had 38% of its \$24.6 billion sales and 42% of its \$1.5 billion ip net profits from international business. Total exports in 1980, by GE's domestic businesses, were \$4.3 billion, giving the company a \$1 billion positive trade balance.

The economics of penetrating the potentially huge markets for infrastructure, heavy equipment and complete industrial complexes in a handfull of OPEC countries and NICs has been rapidly changing during the last years. Viewed from the perspective of multinational comportance headquarters 'management three questions are of key importance:

- Does the company have the capacity to organize the export of whole systems of infrastructure and industrial production, including those segments of technical knowledge needed to run and maintain them?

- -Is. the company capable to show sufficient flexibility with regard to contractual arrangements, particularly for subcontracting patterns and for devicing compensatory trade schemes (counter-trade arrangements)?
- -Is it possible to mobilize sufficient credits, both private and public ones, and can one count on government support?

Take again the example of GE. Its executive responsible for international operation, Bob Frederick strongly feels that technology is the key to GE's future as an overseas manufacturer. "Where we have special strengths in technology, we feel most confident about entering markets" $\frac{75}{}$ he says. Turbine technology has in the past provided just such a lead.

In fact, GE remains extremely well positioned to take a driving seat in the industrialization of developing countries. It is able to offer products and technology useful to an economy from the earlier stages of industrialization (light bulbs and power generation) through an intermediate stage (locomotives) and on to consumer society sophistication (appliances and perhaps information processing). In applying these strengths, GE has also a well-established pattern of moving from a position of direct exporter to joint venture to domestic manufacturer.

Of course, technological strength is a highly perishable good. In other words, huge amounts of money have to be constantly invested to up-grade and restructure it. In fact, leading capital goods firms; including GE, have been increasingly using their enormous financial muscle to strengthen their overall technological capacities, particularly in microelectronics and robotics.

With regard to finance and structural flexibility, let us take GE's recent deal to sell \$142 million of steam turbine generating equipment for a Romanian nuclear power station. The deal provides for an 8% export-import loan, which GE will eke out from its own resources to offer 7.45% money to the Romanians. $\frac{76}{7}$ In addition, GE was able to get the US Government's authorization for a \$120.7 million Export-Import Bank Loan for Romania at a time when the Reagan Administration was proposing a 32% drop in the agency's 1982 budget which clearly documents the importance of this type of complementary funding. With regard to barter counter-trade, GE accepted to sell a large quantity of Romanian industrial goods over an 11 year period, probably mainly in Third World countries. In the final analysis, GE was able to match competing offers, particular1 from French firms, not because of superior technology, but because of available finance and its willingness to undertake counter-trade arrangements.

Other factors which, during the 1970s, used to be of importance for large-scale capital goods exports to the Third World, like the availability of huge numbers of skilled and semi-skilled manual workers originating from the homecountry and willing to join the on-site workforce abroad, have been rapidly loosing in importance. In fact, contractors' hiring patterns will continue to shift away from expetriates, not only for skilled and semi-skilled a nual workers, but increasingly for middlelevel engineers and other professional staff, except a handfull of engineers and project managers controlling the key co-ordinating functions. This will be so for three reasons:

- <u>First and foremost</u>, multinational cornorations based in the US and Western Europe are facing increasing difficulties to find those workers and engineers, who would be adequately skilled, would be "disciplined" enough and would be willing to accept the harsh working and living conditions of a globally mobile on-site workfore. - at least at the wage levels companies are ready to pay.
- <u>Second</u>, a growing number of developing countries is competing in the packaging and exporting of extremely cheap and docile workers. The pioneers have been some South Korean firms, like Hyundai, Daelim and Dong Ah, which, based on their experience during the Vietnam War as contractors to the US Army, have exported low-priced construction labour crews, mostly organized in a kind of

- . . -















2.5

x





- 274 -

para-military fashion, to sites in the Middle East, but also to Africa and Latin America. Today, we Korean firms are under increasing pressure from even lower-range countries like India, Thailand and the Philippines which have also entered the labour-export business. The latest development has been the entrance of the PR China who is now offering crevs of trained workers for monthly wages (based on a 48-hour week, no holidays) of \$ 300-450. $\frac{77}{}$

- <u>Third</u>, some of the NICs and OPEC countries, who for economic or geo-political reasons were able to strengthen their bargaining power, have been increasingly insisting on foreign contractors to hire and train national engineers and workers.

The aforementioned changes in the economics of penetrating the markets for large scale equipment in some growth areas of the Third World have one basic common denominator - increasingly these markets have become closely watched government procurement markets. This would apply in fact to a number of the high-growth countries of the Third World, with the exception of Argentina and Chile in Latin America, and some extremely "open door" export- platform countries in South-East Asia, particularly Hong Kong. Viewed from the perspective of multinational corporations, these kinds of problems have been a feature of doing business in Western Europe for years, of course, but it is now obvious that the same conditions are fast developing in some of the more important markets in the Twird World. $\frac{78}{}$

6.6.2. Strategic Options for CECD-Countries

What are the strategic implications drawn by the OECD secretariat, i.e. what priorities are siggested for innovation policies and industrial restructuring?

(a) The new OECD Doctrine of Industrial Restructuring

The two basic documents on this issue prepared for the OECD-Meeting of the Committee for Scientific and Technological Policy at Ministerial Level (Paris, March 1981) 79/ are very outspoken on the role of innovation for international competitiveness: "...a capacity for innovation in manufacturing and related services will be wital for competitivenoss amongst OECD countries in the 1980s". $\frac{80}{}$ Technological competition will intensify, both with regard to intra-OECD rivalry and in relation to the NICs. Technological protectionism will have a role to play - but it should be implemented in a very selective way, focussing on key technologies and hardcore knowledge. In addition, it needs to be complemented by a revitalization of innovative capacities. If firms originating from the CECD-region are to retain their technological dominance, "... the rate of reneval of technology held by the North must offset the acceleration of technological obsolescence coming from transfers to the South."

The following priority areas and prerequisites are identified: "a strong base in capital goods, process engineering, fine materials, or automatic assembly, dependent on formally established R&D and design, and on the ability to mobilise and assimilate technologies from a wide range of sectors, especially electronics; strong links with academic research and with the market; highly trained managers, engineers and workers; the continuing commitment of resources to innovative activities, even in unfavourable conjunctural circumstances." B2/

Thus, it is expected that "the degree of flexibility of the industrial system to respond to changing opportunities and constraints" $\frac{83}{}$ will considerably increase, which in turn would improve the chances to overcome the present economic crisis.

- 275 -

The main actors behind this type of "innovation rensistance" would be private firms and "...one of the main objectives of government policy must be to create a framework in which market incentives stimulate the innovative capacity and performance of firms".

If this prescription of the OECD secretariat could be effectively implemented, a slowing-down of the multipolarization trends of international economic relations might take place. This would not only apply for relations between OECD countries and NICs, but also for OECD-COMECON relations and intra-OECD rivalry.

Yet, it remains to be seen whether such a strategic concept of interlinking innovation and industrial restructuring will really work. In fact, I would tend to be rather sceptical for at least two reasons:

- First, the constraining impact of the present economic crisis on innovation;
- <u>Second</u>, the incapacity of major OECD countries to implement a concerted approach.

(b) The Impact of the Economic Crisis

The present economic crisis has had an important constraining impact on innovation. In fact, the OECD secretariat is very outspoken on this point: "Obviously, technological renewal can only take place if economic conditions are favourable. But the outlook at present is not conducive to taking the risks associated with uncertain innovation."

There are two main constraining factors involved: the high and growing rate of inflation and stagnant investment,

particularly investment into machinery and equipment. According to Fill, in a capitalist economy the rate of inflation is probably the best indicator of uncertainty about the future. With high rates of inflation (the latest figures for the OECD area put them at roughly 14%), $\frac{57}{2}$ potential investors in general will hesitate to invest their money into 'new technology' issues with their inherent high uncertainty and risk. Of course, one could argue that the recent run of US venture capital into high technology issues counterdicts this argument and that it will proof to be more than just an ephemeral flash in the pan. $\frac{20}{2}$ In any case, high inflation rates are bound to provoke restrictive monetary policies with high interest rates and that is exactly what happened in all major OECD countries, particularly in the US. High interest rates in the context of crisis can in fact become an important constraint for non-speculative investment - this has been emply testified by the experience of the first half of 1981.

This brings us to our second point, i.e. stagnant investment. Innovation in fact requires huge investment outlays, but private investment has been virtually stagnant since the first oil price rise (See table 6.10).

Country	Average growth of business invest- ment		Share of private mach- inery and equipment in total private invest- ment (a) (volume)			
	1960-73	1973-78	1960	1968	1973	1978
United States	4.9	0.7	36.9	43.8	44.9	48.0
Japan	14.3	. O	50.0 ^b	51.7 ^D	59.7 ⁰	55.6°
Germany	4.2	-0,2	34.7	39.1	42.9	48.6
France	7.2	0.2	43.6	46.1	50.3	52.5
United Kingdom	4.0	3.5	47.4	46.7	51.3	52.3
Italy	4.6	-1.2	38.8	37.0	46.7	48.0
Canada	6.0	.2.4	34.1	37.7	40.0	41.3
Sweden	4.1	-2.8	40.6	41.9	46.3	47.2

Tab. 6.10 "Private Investment Performance in Eight OECD

Countries, 1960 - 1978

a. Data not comparable between countries. For France, the United Kingdom, Italy and Sweden, total machinery, transport and other equipment expressed as a percentage of gross fixed capital formation in industries. It is assumed that government investment is in non-equipment items.

b. Japanese figures are on a fiscal year basis.

c. The ratio reached almost 52 per cent in 1977.

Sources: OECD National Accounts: Annual Report on National Income Statistics of Japan, as presented in OECD, <u>Economic Outlook</u>, December 1979, quoted from: OECD - "North-South Technology Transfer: The Issue of Feedback Effects", p. 113

According to the OECD-Interfutures project, $\frac{89}{}$ this slack in private investment which exists despite a relative abundance of savings, is due to insufficient demand for investment funds. There is not yet any convincing theory on which factors are mainly responsible for this insufficient propensity to invest, but three factors are definitely involved:

- declining real profitability of industrial investment, at least for important sectors;

- increasing problems to avoid very costly excess capacities which are mainly due to the technology-built-in inflexibility of existing production structures to adapt to market fluctuations;
- the perception of a majority of potential investors that risks of investment are rapidly getting out of control and that this would be not only due to inflation, energy prices and variable exchange rates, but also due to changes in industrial relations and in political power structures.

In any case, there is much reason to believe that stagnant investment is not just a conjunctural, but a structural phenomenal. $\frac{90}{}$ The conclusion drawn by the OECD secretariat sounds convincing indeed: "There is thus a great risk that firms will not innovate at an adequate rate, but that they may prefer to wait until the business outlook clears. Furthermore, it is not evident that measures being taken to stimulate innovation are suited to the slow and difficult economic situation which confronts us." 91/

(c) Constraints to intra-OECD Co-operation

Even if we would assume that the economic foundation for this type of strategy would exist, i.e. a "healthy" investment climate, the problem would remain whether at least the major countries of the OECD region would be able to achieve a concerted approach and implement effective intra-GECD cooperation. ^{92/} But this is hardly a realistic perspective. In fact, intra-GECD rivelry is the name of the game both for innovation and international restructuring of industry^{93/} and this is also reflected in the increasing difficulties of major OECD countries to arrive at workable compromises,

- 270-

at least for short-term crisis management. There are two recent examples:

- the outspoken disengagement of the Reagan administration from the OECD secretariat's attempt to promote government intervention in S&T policy and to strengthen intre-OECD cooperation; 24/
- the failure of the Western Summit at Ottawa to arrive at a minimum consensus on how to proceed with anti-crisis management and its complete silence on problems of industrial restructuring.^{25/}

6.6.3. <u>lerspectives</u>

To conclude, the failure of concerted action to regain technological dominance along the lines of the OECD secretarist's recommendations, will put individual OECD countries under increasing pressure to search for individual and short-term gains. Rather than accepting to adapt to the forthcoming transformations of existing international economic and political power relations, at least the major OECD countries will try to "fight it out on their own", if necessary by means of "fuite en avant"-strategies, and to take increasingly recourse to cut-throat technological competition and protectionism.

Thus, viewed from a Third World perspective, the future of international restructuring of industry end of the related international flows of technology looks rather bleak. It remains to be seen, whether developing countries, both collectively and individually, will be able to anticipate these developments in time and thus, as for instance a recent UNCTAD study has proposed, increase industrial cooperation among themselves, including trade. technology and finance. <u>96</u>/ CHAPTER 7. IANOVATION AND INTERNATIONAL RESTRUCTURING OF INDUSTRY IN A PERIOD OF CRISIS - SOME TENTATIVE CONCLUSIONS DRAWN FROM THE EXPERIENCE OF SEMICONDUCTOR MANUFACTURING 7. Innovation and International Restructuring of Industry in a Feriod of Orisis - Some Tentative Conclusions prawn from the Experience of Semiconductor Manufacturing

7.1. The Basic Message of this Study

What have been the driving forces behind recent changes of international location patterns in semiconductor manufacturing and in particular what lessons can be drawn from this sector concerning the interaction between innovation and industrial restructuring in a period of crisis?

Based on a vast body of recent empirical material, this study has shown that technology p e r s e has not been the most important factor behind the newly emerging patterns of industrial restructuring and international location.

It matters of course that new technologies are available for automating production steps which previously used to be labour-intensive ones. But this is only part of the story. Whether and how rapidly these new technologies will be used, depends on a host of other factors, including for instance:

- the stage of development of the relevant industrial sector, both with regard to its "industrial organization", the maturity of its technology and the amount of accumulated innovative capacities;
- the interrelations prevailing between this sector and other industrial sectors, particularly key sectors, its role for the dominant pattern of growth and its integration into the world economic circuits;
- the patterns of conflict and cooperation between major actors involved in this sector;

- general factors like the political system, patterns of government intervention, the investment climate and the economic and geopolitical importance of the country or the region.

It i: the complex and dynamic interplay of these various factors which sets the stage for decisions on whether or not to apply a new technology and how rapidly. It also conditions the kind of complementary restructuring of organizational patterns, strategies of major actors and prevailing modes of international trade and investment allocation.

This study has shown that amidst a severe crisis of the world economy, innovation and industrial restructuring are interacting in a rather different manner than during a period of high growth of industrial production and trede, as experienced till the early 1970s. The study has shown in particular that this applies to the factors conditioning the choice of priority areas for the development of microelectronic technologies, ranging from circuit design to applications software; that it further applies to the timing of introducing these technologies into industrial products and services and to the process of production. In addition, it has been emphasized that, in a period of crisis, the actors involved in innovation and industrial restructuring are confronted with rather different concoraints than in a period of high growth and that this is bound to be reflected in their scope for compromise and in the intensity of the conflicts prevailing between them.

In the final analysis, what the evidence presented shows, is that most of the prevailing expectations of how restructuring of industries in the industrialized countries and redeployment of industries to the Third World would interrelate, will have to be considerably revised. This applies both to main-stream concepts, for instance the World Bank doctrine $\frac{1}{}$ and to some attempts of a marxist conceptualization, for instance the "New International Division of Labour" theory. $\frac{2}{}$ Further, established modes of analysing trends in international transfer of technology are of only limited relevance today and a fresh approach is needed to the conceptualization of how control over technology and industrial redeployment are interrelated.

In short, without a theory of the international economic crisis, it will be impossible to link together technology, demand and structural change in world industry. There is still a long way to go , but some of the next steps are clear.

(.2. The Need for a Fresh Theoretical Approach

Unfortunately, we still lask an adequate theoretical approach to these problems. Most of the attempts to analyse how innovation, restructuring and vedeployment of industries to the Third World interrelate, are basically mono-causalistic approaches. Consequently, they are bound to misread reality.

This would apply for instance to three otherwise very useful attempts to demystify conventional wisdom on international economic relations.

First, this critique would hold for new forms of a technological determinism which claim that technical innovation per se would be sufficient to explain recent changes in international location patterns. Primarily, this concerns the reo-technological theories of international trade, as embodied in the writings for instance of Posner, Hufbauer, Vernon and Tilton. $\frac{3}{}$ Further, this critique would also apply to some attempts to link innovation to the business cycle, particularly Freeman's theory of the Kondratiev cycle. $\frac{4}{2}$ Some elements of this "technological determinism" can be found even in three of the most stimulating studies on microelectronics-related innovations and industrial restructuring, i.e. the studies of McLean, Rada and Kaplinsky. $\frac{57}{2}$ As this study shows, the availability of automated assembly lines for instance would not be sufficient to explain the relative decline of investment into offshore locations undertaken by OECD based semiconductor firms.

Second, also the "New International Division of Labour"school, $\frac{6}{}$ for all its valuable contributions to a critique of mainstream international economics, has increasingly run into the trap of "mono- ausalism": it claims that the search for low-cost labour would be invariably and by far the dominant factor in international restructuring and thus fails to comprehend the complex intervaly of conditioning factors and their changes over time. <u>Third</u>, those theories of internationalization of capital which tend to restrict their analysis to a specific branch, $\underline{7}/$ for instance the semiconductor industry, are unable in the final analysis to grasp the logic underlying recent changes in international location patterns. As Truel $\underline{8}/$ has convincingly pointed out, the perspective of management decisions in this industry has become much broader due to the increasing integration of semiconductor manufacturing into the overall electronics industry.

To conclude, a fresh approach is needed to the conceptualization of how innovation and international restructuring in industry are interrelated. Otherwise, predictions on possible future changes in global patterns of comparative advantages will continue to be as speculative as today. 7.3. The "New International Division of Labour" Theory - a $Critique^{2/3}$

- 237 -

The "New International Division of Labour" (=NIDL) theory is certainly one of the most innovative attempts to capture recent structural changes in the world economy. Its contribution to a critique of established theories of international economic relations has also been considerable. Yet, as I will show, it has serious shortcomings, both with regard to its capacity to explain reality and in its methodological and theoretical approach.

7.3.1. The Theory

According to the NIDL theory,

a new capitalist world economy has emerged, its main feature being a massive migration of capital from major OECP countries to low-cost production sites in the Third World. The main purpose of establishing such a new international division of labour is to exploit reserve supplies of labour on a world scale. This type of an internationalization of capital requires the existence of world markets for labour and production sites, and of one global industrial reserve army of labour.

What are the causes for these changes in international allocation patterns, what is new about it, and how did it all come about?

The NIDL school offers the following propositions:

First, the intensifying capitalist peentration and the consequent break-down of traditional socio-economic structures in developing countries, for instance through the "Green Revolution", induced a process of proletarization on a huge and increasingly global scale, reaching now even such exotic pockets of world geography as the Amazonean bassin or PapuaNew Guinea. In other words, the destruction of traditional modes of agricultural production and manufacturing forces a dramatically increasing number of unemployed and undernourished men and women to search for urban jobs and to accept them at nearly any cost and work condition. For the first time in history, OECD-based capital has available a potentially unlimited global labour reserve army. This immense potential for tapping a fresh, extremely low paid and docile labour force is bound to play a decisive role in investment decisions of major CECD capital groups.

<u>Second</u>, the potential for utilizing this global labour reserve army has risen because of three recent trends in technical and management innovations:

- New transport and communications technologies have considerably reduced the constraints for worldwide sourcing and site location.
- Thanks to the availability of new techniques for organizing and automating processes of production, management is now able to apply much more refined forms of a fragmentation of production processes and thus of selective deskilling. This in turn enables management to further compress labour costs.
- New management techniques guarantee that low-cost lebour available at Third World production sites will produce at productivity levels which can be considered adequate or even comparable to those in OECD economies.

Further, there is a third factor which makes the utilization of this global reserve labour army more probable, i.e. the provision by governments of developing countries, encouraged by international agencies, of industrial infrastructure, services and utilities at those sites where cheap labour is concentrated, and through the granting of trade, currency and fiscal concessions which allow the unimpeded flow of goods and copital - such provisions increasingly being implemented in the form of the "free export zones".

_ - . _

So far, we have only stated necessary but not sufficient conditions for the emergence of a new international division of labour. What remains is to explain why OECD-capital should make use of this potential, in which form, and what would be the importance this process is going to acquire? It is in trying to answer this question that the NIDL school has unfortunately insisted to translate some of its very stimulating empirical and theoretical observations into unsound over-generalizations which have increased rather than decreased the confusion with regard to what are the causes and mechanisms of the internationalization of industrial trade and production.

So the <u>fourth</u> and decisive proposition of the NIDL school would be: in order to maximize the profit rate or to minimize any decline in it, OECD-based capital groups cannot but unleash a frantic rush of investment funds towards new production sites in the Third World. In other words, countering the deterioriating conditions for capital valorization can only be achieved through reducing labour unit cost which in turn can only be realized through capital migration to Third World production sites.

7.3.2. Two Key Analytical Statements

Let us now discuss more in detail the validity of the NIDL school's fourth proposition. It can be split up into two key analytical statements:

(1) In order to maximize the profit rate (or minimize its decline), firms must <u>minimize</u> its labour cost per unit of output.

In other words: $Y/w \cdot E = max!$

Where Y = output value w = average wage paid to all employees of an enterprise E = number of workers employed.

(2) Such a minimization of unit labour cost can only be achieved through a combined strategy of fragmenting and relocating industrial production to Third World sites. This would enable the firm originating from the OECD region to reduce the average wage paid to its employees for all countries - by simualtaneously appropriating the gains from paying its Third World work force a lower average wage rate for any skill composition of employment, and from reducing the skill composition itself by using relatively more unskilled labour in the more fragmented production sub-processes.

If we define: $w = \alpha \cdot w_s + (1 - \alpha) w_n$, where w_s , w_n are the wage rates for skilled and unskilled labour and $\alpha =$ the skilled worker

coefficient per output unit,

we can identify the twofold effects of a "fragmentation + relocation" strategy. Not only does it allow for a reduction of w_g and w_n , but also of \ll , thus generating additional wage rate savings, since w_g is assumed to exceed w_n at any location.

- 090 -

It is on the basis of these statements, that the following conclusion is drawn: even if Y/E (= labour productivity) would be lower in industrial plants located in growth poles of the Third World (which may not be so because, for instance, of a lack of worker organization abroad

due to heavy restrictions on or direct suppression of trade union activities), Y/w.E would be higher there, thus reducing Y/w . E for the whole firm.

7.3.3. A Theoretical and Methodological Critique

The afore-mentioned two basic analytical statements of the NIDL doctrine are misleading for at least seven reasons:

- <u>First</u>, labour costs are just one element of total costs; their importance varies according to sector and location. Other cost elements such as the costs of extremely expensive equipment, r+d costs, resource and energy costs and costs of socalled "externalities" are becoming of increasing importance. This report in fact presents evidence for significant changes in cost structure due to the introduction of new technologies based on microelectronics innovations and shows for instance that for the semiconductor industry the cost of extremely expensive automated equipment has become a major concern.
- <u>Second</u>, even if excessive unit labour costs would be the crucial issue, the "fragmentation-relocation" strategy would be just one among various possible counter-vailing strategies. Other strategies would include for instance:
 - the introduction of new production and management techniques aimed at raising Y/E;
 - policies to achieve greater scale economies, for instance through an increase of market size.

This report shows that toth types of counter-vailing strategies are being extensively used by firms originating from the

- 201 -

OECD region, and that without analysing their impact it would be impossible to understand the logic linking together innovation and international restructuring of industry.

- <u>Third</u>, even if we assume that the minimization of unit labour cost without any change in technique and "accessible" market size would be the only relevant issue, this would not necessarily imply a relocation of production. For the individual firm utilization of cheaper immigrant worker or local non-unionized labour could be superior, for at least the following reasons:
 - it would not only permit to realize gains from process fragmentation but also from increasing returns to scale;
 - a demand increase through the multiplier effect could be internalized in the home country, i.e. would benefit all employers;
 - the state's tax receipts could be increased.

It is true that in some industrial agglomerations of the OECD region the social costs of this approach are already very high - witness the miserable living conditions of immigrant workers and the consequent potential for farreaching social conflicts. It is also true that overall the wage differences between on the one hand imported or nonunionized labour and, on the other, organized labour, at least in Western Europe, has been decreasing. Yet, the scope for this type of strategy does seem to be still considerable, particularly in the United States and Japan, at least under the conditions of a new boom.

- <u>Fourth</u>, even if we would assume that a minimization of unit labour cost would by necessity imply geographic relocation, it would still not have to be of necessity relocation to low

- 191 -

labour cost countries in the Third World.

For the individual firm, the relevant variable is not Y/w . E, but $Y/(w + c) \cdot E$, where c are the indirect labour costs (for instance social security contribution, payments for time off, negotiated benefits in kind, etc.) to be paid by the employer. Now, c varies considerably within the OECD region (for instance US versus the Federal Republic of Germany) and even within a country (for instance the nonunionized "Southern belt" of the US versus the traditional industrial centres of the East). Thus, if there are substantial differences in labour productivity between OECD locations and locations in the Third World, $Y/(w + c) \cdot E$ may best be maximized through a relocation to another industrial economy. Gèze $\frac{1}{2}$ for instance has shown that this in fact has been one of the causes of the recent upsurge for instance of West European investment in the US. Yet the most crucial factors seem to have been the perception of a safe investment climate, access to the most developed continental markets, the need for preventive "tariff hopping", and acute problems of foreign exchange fluctuations.

- <u>Fifth</u>, cost reduction in itself would not be enough to counter a falling profit rate. The second equally decisive factor is effective demand, i.e. the volume and structure of accessible markets.

If demand is constrained, non-price factors such as product quality, deliver dates etc. may be prominent, especially in maintaining and/or improving world market competitiveness. It is not at all obvious that relocation to low-cost sites in Third World countries would be the best way to increase this non-price competitiveness.

In addition, pending protectionist barriers are of much greater importance for decisions on whether or not to relocate industrial production than comparative unit labour costs.

- <u>Sixth</u>, relocation of production and structural changes in demand are to some degree interrelated variables. Changing demand patterns have in fact been largely bypassed by the proponents of the NEDL school and consequently their impact on international location patterns has not been understood. Yet, as we have shown for the semiconductor industry, the economics of demand have recently gained considerably in importance for international location patterns.
- <u>Finally</u>, the NIDL school has a fairly restricted and static concept of the role of innovation and technological development. There is no attempt to identify the conditioning factors of innovation and technological development nor to identify their specific role in the genesis of the economic crisis. Further, the NIDL school fails to ask what changes did occur as a result of the crisis in the interaction between innovation and industrial restructuring, both sector-wise and in an international context.

In order to understand the impact of innovation on industrial restructuring and on international location patterns, we need to know more about the conditioning factors of innovation and technological development. Two factors are of importance: the modes of capital accumulation prevailing in a specific historical and geographical context and the related changes in the social relations of production, particularly in the work relations.

Let us first discuss some interrelations between modes of capital accumulation and technological change. I would propose to divide modes of capital accumulation into three basic classes. $\frac{11}{7}$

<u>Class I</u> = those modes of capital accumulation aiming at a rationalization of the socalled variable capital, that is of the use of labour.

<u>Class II</u> = those modes of capital accumulation aiming at a rationalization of constant capital, as incorporated in buildings and space for industrial plants, industrial machinery, raw materials and energy sources and storage.

<u>Class III</u> = those modes of capital accumulation aiming at the most rational use of intangible production inputs, the socalled <u>information or knowledge inputs</u>, ranging from basic design to systems and applications software and including complementary logistics and maintenance services. <u>12</u>/

7.4.1. Work and Labour Rati nalization

Historically, modes of capital accumulation geared to work and labour rationalization (Class I) clearly predominated. Three subgroups can be discerned:

- A first subgroup (I.1.) covers those modes of capital

accumulation which are based on attempts to keep unit labour costs as low as possible.

In the extreme case this would mean to keep wages as close as possible to the level needed for the short-term reproduction of the labour force only - witness the extremely low wages of early capitalism or the strategies of worldwide sourcing for low cost labour as pioneered by U.S. multinational corporations during the 1960s. $\frac{13}{2}$

However, this mode of capitalist accumulation can also cope with increasing wages - if productivity per work unit can be increased, particularly through a deepening of the social division of labour. In fact, wage levels have been increasing sooner or later, even under the most extreme conditions of a repressive police state - cases in point would be the Germany of Bismarck, South Korea, Chile and the Philippines. Traditionally the counter-strategy of management used to focus on segregating the labour force along the lines of skill differentiations, sex and race, and to segment the production process in such a way that it becomes possible to separate manual and mental labour and to buy exactly the quantity of skill and muscular power needed for each single operation (the socalled Babrage principle). $\frac{14}{2}$ Consequently, work relations have been cheracterized by significant wage differentials related to different skill levels within an increasing division of labour and to the sexual and racial split-ups of the labour force. It is true that in some rare cases like in Sweden of the 1960s and early 1970s, wage differentials have been considerably narrowed down through trade union action, for instance by substituting less differentiated monthly salaries for differentiated piecerate payments. But even then this mode of eapital accumulation was able to work, through discrimination against low-productivity workers, i.e. unskilled or semiskilled workers, and by means of selectively promoting a demand for restricted labour elites.

- A second subgroup (I.2.) relates to those modes of capital

- 14 <u>-</u>
accumulation geared to increasing the length of the workingtime. Whereas in some industrial growth poles of the Third World this would still seem to be a viable approach, it clearly has become of less interest today for industrial production in major OECD countries.

- A third subgroup (I.3.) then relates to modes of capital accumulation aiming to minimize what Marx called the "porosity" of the working day, $\frac{15}{15}$ that is time for resting, for waiting, for walking between different stations of work, for making unnecessarily time-consuming movements of work, and generally to increase the intensity and speed of work. It is in this context, that Taylorism became an important instrument to deprive the workers from effective control over the labour process and to vest it into a special planning section of the firm. "Management's monopoly of knowledge and planning is used for a detailed programming and control of the production process; the worker only goes through the movements already programmed. $\frac{16}{10}$ Ford's assembly line was another instrument to control and increase the intensity of work. Characteristic for the work relations implied by this mode of capital accumulation were deskilling, routinization and complete loss of workers' control over the labour process.

During the 1970s it has become increasingly obvious that, at least for industrial production within the OECD region, modes of capital accumulation based primarily on work and labour rationalization have become obsolete in many ways. Today, the rationalization of constant capital in combination with attempts to increase and rationalize the use of intangible production inputs, particularly with regard to information flows, seem to be the privileged approach in an increasing number of industrial sectors.

7.4.2. Rationalization of Constant Capital

With regard to the rationalization of constant capital, five subgroups can be discorned:

- A <u>first subgroup</u> (II.1.) would focus on economizing the amount of real estate and space needed for industrial production. Attempts to miniaturize equipment and whole production plants together with attempts to devise new forms of decentralized industrial production are logical consequences of this approach.
- A second subgroup (II.2.) emphasizes the need to maximize the intensity of machine-use (the socalled MAX-strategy. $\frac{17}{}$

We have shown in detail for the semiconductor industry how this pressure to run extremely expensive equipment if possible around the clock, i.e. with a minimum of "downtime", has gained in importance and influenced decisions on geographical and sectorial industrial restructuring.

In order to apply this mode of capital accumulation, radical changes are required in corporate structure and strategy as much as in prevailing patterns of industrial organization and international location. The same would apply to work relations, with shift-work and a high intensity of work and functional organizational units, together with a narrowingdown of job variations within each unit gaining considerably in importance.

- A third subgroup (II.3.) covers attempts to reduce considerably the amount of energy and scarce raw materials used in industrial production. In fact, the development and application in industry of less energy-intensive product and process technologies and of technologies needed to make increasing use of alternative energy sources has become today an essential prerequisite for opening up new accumulation possibilities and for securing

- 293 -

international competitiveness. 18/

- A <u>fourth subgroup</u> (II.4.) focusses on speeding-up the flow of products in work, the socalled PIW-strateg. $\frac{19}{2}$

This approach has recently gained in popularity. According to Björkman et al, $\frac{20}{}$ radical changes are involved. "You must reorganize all functional units according to a new principle, the product or process principle. In very general terms this leads to decreasing use of machinery but it is compensated by a higher rate of turnover. The sum of the interest rates on capital tied up in 'products in work' (PIW) is normally much larger (two or three times as large) than the yearly investments in the companies' machinery and real estate. An economizing with PIW is therefore a very profitable rationalization in the interest of capital accumulation."

Inherent to this approach is a rapid expansion of industrial automation and control systems and stricter timing, especially in time-consuming parts of the production process like in transportation and handling, but also in design. It has been shown in fact that the greatest potential use for new industrial automation systems and particularly for the new generation of 'intelligent' robots lies in speeding up the passage of materials through factories. $\frac{21}{}$ Already in some extreme cases, the storing or products is eliminated, and production starts only if there is a written order from a consumer.

- Finally, a <u>fifth subgroup</u> (II.5.) consists of efforts to decrease the system vulnerability of the process of capital accumulation.

This is probably the most exciting of all attempts to reconstitute profitability of industrial investment under the present conditions of the economic crisis. There are basically four approaches to achieve this goal:

- on the level of plant lay-out: the concept of "parallel units" (= if one unit closes down, the other still can be operating); $\frac{22}{}$

- on the level of organizing the production process: decentralization of production, either within the framework of big companies and conglomerates or via new forms of subcontracting to small and medium-sized formally independent firms;
- on the level of work relations as social relations of production: attempts by management to de-unionize industrial production and to introduce new forms of labour management by consensus, the socalled "new industrial relations" approach based on concepts like "Quality-of-Work-Life" (QWL) programmes, "Quality Circles" etc. 23/
- on the level of technology: the expansion of industrial automation and control systems, from numerical control systems and the robotization of specific work pests to the introduction of flexible machine systems, further to the introduction of integrated computer aided management (CAM) systems, with the ultimate solution being conceived to be "unmanned production" or a fully automated factory.

7.4.3. <u>New Information Technologies - Towards a Radical Change</u> of Established Modes of Industrial Production

The rationalization of labour and of constant capital require both organizational and technical innovations. For a long time they were constrained by the lack of certain intangible inputs, i.e. information and knowledge needed to devise, implement and secure systems control over the necessary organizational and technical innovations.

The introduction of new information technologies based on microelectronic circuits could contribute to a significant reduction of these constraints.

Information technology covers: 24/

- the processing of information (currently performed by computers or manual methods)

- 300 -

- the storage of information (currently largely non-electronic)

- and the <u>communication</u> of information (currently performed by voice, telecommunications and postal services).

At present, the various aspects of information technology are regarded as separate subjects, like electronic engineering, communications and computer science. Yet, the recent substitution of microslectronic devices for discrete components and especially the development of the micro-processor $\frac{25}{2}$ provide a sound basis for interlinking them and thus for converging the processing, storage and communication of information: Telematics $\frac{26}{1}$ is the catchword for this development which is bound to significantly affect the scope for rationalizing the use of information and knowledge and consequently also of labour and constant capital.

In fact, major innovations in the field of information technology are already causing, on a worldwide scale, dramatic changes in the established patterns of producing goods and services, of consuming them and of organizing systems of social control and regulation. Cases in point would be: recent breat troughs in designing and producing micro-electronic circuits, recent developments in information storage technology (for instance bubble memory, 27/in software engineering, in computer architecture (especially in the field of microcomputers), in computer peripherals, in the development of computer languages, in the development of new telecommunication techniques (such as package switching, fibre optics and standardization).

It is the interplay of these new technologies which is behind for example the emergence of Distributed Data-Processing (DDP), $\frac{28}{}$ the proliferation of new modes of computer based numerical control, $\frac{29}{}$ particularly in machine tools manufacture, and the introduction of computer aid systems in design (CAD= Computer Aided Design), manufacturing (CAM= Computer Aided

- 301 -

- 302 -

Manufacturing), testing (CAT= Computer Aided Testing) and even management (CIM= Computer Integrated Management). $\frac{30}{}^{/}$ Technically at least, these new technologies would today make transition towards "automated factories" feasible, which would bring automation not only to the shop floor, but also to the offices, to the design departments and research labs and to the conference rooms of top management.

But this is only part of the story. The impact of new information technology is reaching much further. All said and done, probably the most dramatic challenge for future generations is that it allows for the increased computerisation of societies, with all the negative effects this is probably going to have on the already highly skewed distribution of power, both within societies and international relations, particularly the North-South context.

For changes of power relations in the labour process, take as an example the description of H. Shaiken, a consultant to the United Auto Workers Union in the U.S., of an automobile plant in which a computer-controlled assembly line had been installed: "The system links a large central computer to a micro-processor on a machine. When the machine cycles, it is recorded in (the) central computer. When a machine doesn't produce a part in its alloted time, it is immediately obvious to more than the computer: that information is displayed in the foreman's office and recorded on a computer printout". Under this system, Shaiken says, "the foreman no longer decides to discipline the workers. He merely carries out the 'automatic' decisions of the system". $\frac{31}{}$

In addition, as Antonelli has shown in his pioneering study, $\frac{32}{}$ new forms of a global tele-management have recently emerged, based on integrated systems of transborder data flows (TEDF) internal to multinational corporations. Their impact on capital accumulation and on the international distribution of information power could become tremendous indeed. According to Antonelli, three types of transborder data flows internal to manufacturing multinational corporations can be discerned:

- "(i) Flows of information for <u>control functions</u>: these flows of data serve to keep headquarters informed about the behaviour and performance of affiliates. Typically, these flows are most important in highly centralised firms operating in a number of product lines.
 - (ii) Flows of information for <u>logistic coordination</u>: these flows serve to coordinate the production, transport and commercial activities of multinational enterprises. These flows are particularly important in firms supplying a broad range of diversified products, sold in large numbers to a large number of customers. These flows tend to be of greater importance to firms supplying consumer goods than to those supplying capital goods, and are also important to firms operating flow production processes on a large scale.
 - (iii) Flows of information for <u>financial wanagement</u>: these flows make it possible for corporate headquarters to retain overall control of the asset and liability position of individual affiliates. This control is particularly important in firms operating in a large number of countries, with extensive intra-corporate trade flows and receiving continuous flows of many different currencies." 33/

According to this study, the firms asked were expecting to reap the following major benefits:

- Economies in working capital from improved inventory management.
- Greater specialisation of production affiliates in the product lines most appropriate to the country's factor endowment.

- 303 -

This increases the economies of scale available to the firm as a whole.

- Purchasing economies of scale derived by centralising purchasing functions.
- Reductions in exchange rate risk and improvements in firms' overall financial management from the coordination of financial decision-making.

Overall, the increased use of international computer communication within multinational corporations is bound to have a significant impact both on corporate strategy and structure and on international location patterns.

In terms of corporate strategy and structure, the Antonelli report suggests that a number of major changes are underway:

- " Flows of data for control functions tend to increase the degree of centralisation of multinational firms, reducing the autonomy of local affiliates. Affiliates bacome responsible for a progressively narrower range of functions: for example, commercial functions are separated from production functions, each function being the responsibility of a separate local affiliate which answers directly to the parent company.
 - The increasing specialisation of affiliates is associated with the creation, within the group, of new functional firms. Trading companies, reinvoicing centres and trading and reinvoicing companies, which are the most conspicuous examples of this trend, specialise in providing coordination services to the group as a whole.
 - The demand for these internal coordination functions increases with specialisation within the groups, both in terms of the distribution of production and in terms of the range of functions affiliates can carry out.

- 302 -

- Finally, the overall structure of multinational enterprises becomes increasingly complex, with a juxtaposition of global product divisions, domestic product affiliates and global functional management centres." 34/

Its impact on international location patterns are expected to be as dramatic:

First, increased transborder data flows internal to multinational corporations might accelerate the process by which labour-intensive activities are transferred to low-wage countries. "In some cases, these 'delocalisation' effects may be counterbalanced by increases in service activities in the home country: for example, reinvoicing centres or corporate DP centres. In other cases, however, the transfer of manufacturing activities may be accompanied by the transfer of service activities to countries offering a particularly favourable service environment. $\frac{35}{1}$ It would seem that Singapore is becoming increasingly a favorite location from this point of view - witness the Institute of System Science which has been recently set up

by the National University of Singapore in collaboration with IBM to train computer software specialists and develop Singapore as a software center $.\frac{36}{}$

Second, it might mean that the association between foreign direct investment and effective transfer of technology will be even further weakened. "If affiliates can access remote engineering or scientific know-how, they do not need to develop this know-how locally; their global scientific and technological capabilities may increasingly lag those in the firm's research centres. $\frac{37}{7}$

Overall, the growth of international computer communications controlled by multinational corporations is bound to accelerate the hierarchization of international economic relations:for instance the process of international specialization, rather than occuring between firms, may increasingly occur within firms.

7.4.4. Implications

To conclude, the interrelations between capital accumulation, work relations and technological change have been experiencing considerable changes. The once predominant focus on work and labour rationalization still continues to play an important role - but to view it as the all decisive factor of capital accumulation would be misleading indeed. $\frac{33}{1}$ In fact, the rationalization of constant capital, particularly of energy and raw materials used, machine utilization and product flow speeds, together with attempts to decrease the systems vulnerability of capital accumulation have gained considerably in importance.

Both the rationalization of labour and of constant capital require increasingly complex systems of processing, storing and communicating information and knowledge. It is in this context that the introduction of new technology, particularly of new information technologies based on microelectronic circuits, can be expected to play a prominent role in the restructuring of world industry.^{39/}



Chapter 1 - Innovation and Industrial Restructuring - What Can Be Learnt

from Historical Experience?

- Ernst, D., "Industrial Redeployment and Control over Technology -Consequences for the Third World", in: Ernst, D. (ed) - "Industrial Redeployment and International Transfer of Technology: Trends and Policy Isses", <u>Vierteljahresberichte</u>. <u>Probleme der Entwicklungs</u>länder (Friedrich Ebert Foundation), Vol 83, March 1981.
- (2) Figure is quoted from: "Analysis y Perspectivas del Desarollo Industrial Latinoamericano", (ST/CEPAL/Conf. 69/1.2), UN-ECLA, Santiago, August 1979. For detailed figures on post-war industrial dynamism in major OECD countries see Maizels, Alfred - "Industrial Growth and World Trade", Cambridge, 1963 and Sutcliffe, R.B., -"Industry and Underdevelopment", London, etc., 1971, chapter 2.
- (3) Freeman, Christopher "The Economics of Industrial Innovation", Penguin Books, Harmondsworth, 1974, p. 62.
- (4) For in-depth analysis and background information on the petrochemical industry see, inter alia: UNIDO "First World-Wide Study on the Petrochemical Industry: 1975 2000", UNIDO/ICIS. 83), Vienna, December 1978; Achilladelis, B., "Emerging Changes in the Petrochemical Industry: An Overview", (CD/TI (74) 27, 1st Revision), OECD Development Centre, Paris, November 1974; and Stobaugh, R.B., "The International Transfer of Technology in the Establishment of the Petrochemical Industry in Developing Countries", study prepared for UNITAR, New York, 1971.
- (5) Fajnzylber, September 1980, p.11.
- (6) See Ernst, D., "The Concept of the Post-Industrial Society A Critique", chapter 4, in: "Crisis, Innovation and the Transition to New Patterns of Industrial Production - the Impact of Microelectronics", 1982 (forthcoming).
- (7) Pioneering studies are Salter (1960) and Crips and Tarling (1973).
 For recent controversial discussions see the proceedings of the CIDE symposium on Newly Industrializing Countries, Morelia, 3-6 September, 1981.
- (8) Fajnzylber, September, 1980, p.32.
- (9) ibid., pp. 32, 33.

Notes

(10) Denison, E.F., - "Explanations of Declining Productivity Growth", The Brookings Institute, Washington, D.C., 1979 and OECD - "Productivity Trends in the OECD Area", study prepared for the Working Party No.2 of the Economic Policy Committee, OECD, Paris, April 1980.

- 308 -

- (11) See particularly the studies quoted in note (7).
- (12) This applies for instance to major policy documents of the OECD secretariat where, implicitly at least, the concept of a "cumulative virtuous circle" plays a key role. See for instance OECD "Technical Change and Economic Policy. Science and Technology in the New Economic and Social Context", Paris, 1980. For similar discussions from a Third World perspective, see proceedings of the CIDE conference on Newly Industrializing Countries, Morelia/Mexico, September, 1981.
- (13) Figures are taken from "Analisis y Perspectives del Desarollo Industrial Latino americano (ST/CEPAL/Conf. 69/1.2), UN-ECLA, Santiago, August, 1979.
- (14) The recent industrial decline in some NICs, particularly in Brazil and South Korea is documented in various issues of the <u>Financial Times</u> <u>Survey</u>. For a theoretical treatment see Fajnzylber, September 1980, pp. 86 ff.
- (15) GATT "Annual Report 1981", Geneva, September 1981, as quoted in:
 "GATT Jahresbericht. Der Welthandel nimmt seit Mitte des vergangenen Jahres kontinuierlich ab", Handelsblatt, 18 September 1981.
- (16) Lafay and Fouquin, 1980, pp. 14 ff.
- (17) GATT, September 1981.
- (18) For an outspoken presentation of this argument for the semi-conductor industry see Levinthal (April 1981). It is this important point which has been left aside by the "New International Division of Labour" school thus reducing its explanatory value for recent major structural changes in the international economy. See Chapter 7.3. The "New International Division of Labour Theory - A Critique".
- (19) For two excellent historical case studies see Tilton (1971) (on US electronics industry) and Noble (1981) (on numerically controlled machine tools).
- (20) The computerization of industrial products and processes and its role for industrial restructuring will be analyzed in detail in: Ernst, D.,
 "Automating Capital Goods Production in a Period of Crisis The Impact of Microelectronics and Implications for Industrial Restructuring and International Location Patterns", study to be prepared for UNIDO, 1983 (forthcoming).
- (21) See for instance the pioneering studies of Commoner (on energy) and Pimentel (food sector). For an excellent overview see Barnett, 1980.
- (22) Quoted from Fajnzylber, September 1980, p. 18.
- (23) ibid., p. 24.

- (24) See Sylos-Labini (1962), particularly Part III and Merhav (1969), especially chapters 3-5.
- See in particular Lorenzi et al 1980; Brender, Chevaller et al 1981
 Géze, September 1980, Aglietta 1976. See also Castells, 1980;
 Altvater 1981; Müller-Plantenberg 1981; and Gamble and Walton, 1976.
- (26) A comprehensive theory of the crisis should also analyze the specific influence of three additional factors: financial flows and monetary policies; the impact of an unequal distribution of control over strategic assets, within firms, nations and for the international context; and, finally, the changing patterns of intercourse between society and nature.
- (27) Developed from Denison, E.F., "The Puzzling Drop in Productivity", The Brookings Bulletin, Vol. 15/2, 1979.
- (28) "Externalities" are defined as the costs of measures needed simply to keep at a constant level the environmental damages and the health hazards for the labour force, resulting from industrial production. See the pioneering study of Kapp, K. William - "Volkswirtschafliche Kosten der Privatwirtschaft", Tübingen - Zürich, 1953.
- (29) Denison, E.F., ibid.
- (30) For a critical appraisal of the Denison approach see Ernst, D., "Innovation, Productivy and International Competitiveness a
 Critique of Conventional Wisdom", chapter 3 , in: "Crisis,
 Innovation and the Transition to New Patterns of Industrial Production
 the Impact of Microelectronics", 1982 (forthcoming).
- (31) For empirical evidence see OECD-Interfutures, June 1979, pp. 152-158.
- (32) Jones, D.T., "Output, Employment and Labour Productivity in Europe since 1955", N.I.E.R., August 1976, table 16.
- (33) UN Economic Commission for Europe "Structure and Change in European Industry", New York, 1977.
- (34) OECD "The Impact of the Newly Industrialized Countries on Production and Trade in Manufactures", Paris, 1979, p.43.
- (35) ibid., table 20, p.44.
- (36) For a concise description see: OECD-Interfutures "Facing the Future . . .", op. cit., p. 152 158.
- (37) Although this rise in real unit labour costs has been a general trend, the scope for and timing of these increases have diverged considerably between major OECD countries.
- (38) The perception of dominant actors is aptly summarized in: OECD-Interfutures - "Facing the Future . . .", op.cit., especially under the headline "Increasing Cost of Exchange with the Physical Environment", pp. 144-150.

- (39) **Barnett**, **1980**
- (40) For a theoretical treatment of these issues see the excellent study of Aglietta, 1976, particularly part II "Les transformations des rapports intercapitalistes: les lois de la concurrence"
- (41) For a theoretical treatment see the pioneering study of James
 O'Connor "The Fiscal Crisis of the State", St. Martin's Press
 New York, 1973. For an inventory of recent developments see
 OECD "The Decline of the Welfare State", Paris 1981
- (42) See Interfutures, June 1979, pp. 168 180 which concludes that "the recent revolt of the Californian taxpayers shows only too well that we are approaching one of the most delicate conflicts of the future in the advanced industrial societies" (p. 174)
- (43) See for instance UN "Transnational Corporations in World Development: A Re-examination", study prepared for the Commission on Transnational Corporations (E/C.10/38), New York, 20 March 1978, chapter IV
- (44) See Interfutures, June 1979, p. 128
- (45) OECD "Technical Change and Economic Policy...", Paris 1980, part II
- (46) Empirical evidence for the decline of world demand for bulk chemicals is presented in Lafay, 1980, figure 3, p. 19 and UNIDO - "First Worldwide Study on the Petrochemical Industry, 1975 - 2000", (UNIDO/ICIS. 83), Vienna, December 1978
- (47) Ernst, D. "Industrial Redeployment and Control over Technology - Consequences for the Third World", in: Ernst (ed), 1981 a
- (48) Empirical evidence on recent developments can be found in Fouquin, M. et al - "Redéploiements geographiques et rapports de force industriels", Economic Prospective Internationale, Paris, 1981, 116 p. and Turner, L. and Woolcock, S. (eds) -"The Implications of Newly-Industrializing Countries for Trade and Adjustment Policies", The Royal Institute of International Affairs, London, 1981 (forthcoming)
- (49) For a vivid account of the problems confronting the FRG, see Thomas, U., May 1981
- (50) Any reading of the international business press and their increasingly pessimistic predictions will testify to this point. See for instance: Lascelles, David "Wall Street Fears for the Future", Financial Times, 13 May 1981. Valuable attempts to analyse some of the conditioning factors of the present crisis can be found in Lorenzi, Pastré, Toledano, 1980; Barnett, 1980; and Frank, 1980. See also the excellent article by François Gèze "La crise en son jeu triangulaire", Le Monde Diplomatique, June 1981, p. 2
- (51) For an outspoken account see "The Ax Falls. Reagan's Flan for a 'New Beginning'", cover story, <u>Time</u>, 2 March 1981, pp. 24-37
- (52) This point has been underlined in: "The End of the Industrial Society", 50th Anniversary Issue of <u>Business Week</u>, dedicated to the crisis of 1929, 3 September 1979, pp. 2-56

 (53) For a theoretical and empricial treatment see Ernst, D., - "Crisis, Innovation and the Transition to New Patterns of Industrial Production - the Impact of Microelectronics", 1982 (forthcoming).

•

- - - - -

Notes

Chapter 2 - The Crisic of Semiconductor Manufacturing - From

the Chip Shortage of 1979 to Demand Stagnation and Profit Squeeze

- ('1) In France for instance, the average stocks of discrete semiconductors of users fluctuated in the following manner: they were sufficient for 9 weeks of production in 1973 (a period where access to chips was perceived to be 'normal'), to 15 weeks in 1974 (chip shortage) and fell to 7 weeks at the beginning of 1976 (end of the chip crisis 1974/1975). Source: Truel, February, 1980, p.co.
- (2) An excellent presentation of the then prevailing perceptions of the chip shortage can be found in "Microelectronic Survey", The Economist, 1 March 1980, pp. 3-18. For an analysis of some underlying causes see Truel, 1980a, pp. 210 ff.
- (3) For a vivid account of the drastic measures undertaken by practically all major US firms see: "Show Time for a Nervous Industry", <u>Business Week</u>, 16 June 1975 and "New Leaders in Semiconductors", <u>Business Week</u>, 1 March 1976 where it was assumed that the radical cuttingback of investment and the far-reaching layoffs would pave the way for a new uninterrupted rebound to profitability.
- (4) Quoted from "Can Semiconductor Industry Survive Big Business?", special report, <u>Business Week</u>, 3 December 1979.
- (5) Quoted from "Microelectronic Survey", <u>The Economist</u>,
 1 March 1980
- (6) For details, see chapter 3.3. "The Changing Economics of Semiconductor Manufacturing"
- (7) Figures are quoted in: "Microelectronic Survey", <u>The</u> <u>Economist</u>, 1 March 1980, p. 4
- () ibid.

(9) Quoted from ibid., pp. 4,5

- (10) "1981 World Markets Forecast", <u>Electronics</u>, 13 January 1981, p. 121
- (11) Figures are taken from Crisp, Jason "Microchips: Down But By No Means Out", <u>Financial Times</u>, 17 June 1981. See also chapter 2.4.3. "Recent Trends in the Memory Market".
- (12) Figures are from Hartley, John "The Aim is World Leadership in Micro-Electronic Field", <u>Financial Times Survey</u> "Japan. The Information Revolution", 6 July 1981, p. X.
 For background information see also: Gregory, Gene - "The US Wages Micro-War", <u>Far Eastern Economic Review</u>, 16 March 1979 and "Japan - U.S. Semiconductor Issue", <u>The Oriental</u> Economist (Tokyo), March 1980.
- (13) Gnostic Concepts Inc., the Menlo Park (Calif.) market researcher, even projects that Japanese firms will snare 60% to 70% of the 64 K RAM market, see "The Chip Makers'

Gramorous New Generation", Business Week, 6 October 1980. For a Japanese projection see "Japan May Become World's Tot Center for Production of VLSIs", The Japan Economic Journal (Tokyo), 28 October 1980, which predicts that Japan may become "the world's largest production and supply center" for 64 K RAMS. But these expectations might be somewhat premature, as we are going to argue in chapter 5.1.2. "Transition to Cut-Throat Competition - the Role of Japanese Firms

- (14) Quoted from Crisp, Jason "Microchips...", <u>Financial Times</u>, 17 June 1981
- (1°) -Mackintosh Consultants "Semiconductor Microlithography Equipment and Materials Outlook to 1985", Luton, 1981
- For an early statement of this dilemma see the special (1c)report "The New Cold War Economy. A Strategy to Answer the Soviets", Business Week, 21 January 1980. For an insider's evaluation of the major technological constraints to this new round of militarization, see Spinney, Franklin C. - "Defense Facts of Life", The Heritage Foundation, Washington D.C., 5 December 1980, who claims that faith in high technology of increasing complexity and the escalation of costs that it involves works as a form of "organization cancer". Because operating costs of modern military systems turn out to be much higher than expected, the military has to make its cuts in its investment budget in order to run the new and ever more complex weapons systems. The consequence thus is a "...tendency to reduce our current readiness to fight in order to modernize for the future." It should be underlined that this critique of U.S. military technology has been published by a very conservative organization which is close to the present US administration and that this report was originally an unofficial Pentagon staff paper. For an excellent analysis from an disarmament point of view, see SIPRI Yearbook 1981, Stockholm 1981.
- (17) F on in-depth discussion of the Philips case see "Philips. An Elecs Giant Rearms to Fight Japan", <u>Business Week</u>, 30 March 1981.

- 313 -

- (19) Crisp, Jason "Microchips...", Financial Times, 17 June 1981
- (20) See various articles in <u>Electronics Times</u>, <u>Datamation</u> and <u>Financial Times</u>, particularly "Texas Instruments to Pull Out of Activities", <u>Financial Times</u>, 2 June 1981
- (21) Kehoe, Louise "Why Bubble Memories Fell From Grace", <u>Financial Times</u>, 16 June 1981
- (22) ibid.
- (23) See chapter 5.2. "The Dialectics of Forward and Backward Integration - Towards a New Semiconductor Industry of Corporate Giants".
- Mackintcsh Consultants Inc. "Worldwide Semiconductor Industry Outlook - 1985", San José, California, October 1980
- (25) Quotations are from: B a k e r, S t a n "Electronics Men Peer into the Future at Annual Conference", <u>Electronics</u> <u>Times</u>, 16 July 1981
- (26) ibid.
- (27) Quoted from "Intel encouraged by profit figures", <u>Electronics</u> <u>Times</u>, 16 July 1981
- (28) Quoted from: Baker, Stan, op.cit.
- (19) <u>Semiconductor International</u>, May 1981
- (30) Quoted from Baker, Stan, op.cit.

Notes Chapter 3 - Innovation and the Changing Economics of Semiconductor Manufacturing

- (1) Scottish Development Agency, April 1979, pp. 3 and 17.
- Oldham, William G., "The Fabrication of Microelectronic Circuits",
 in: Forester, Tom (ed), 1980, p.42.
- (3) For a discussion of some implications for the application of microelectronic devices see Ernst, D., - "Crisis, Innovation and the Transition to New Patterns of Industrial Production - the Impact of Microelectronics", particularly chapter :: "Constraints to the Application of Microelectronic Devices - A Much Neglected Research Area", 1982 (forthcoming).
- (4) Truel, February 1980, pp. 218-219.
- (5) For a detailed discussion, see Chapter 4.4, "The Software Bottleneck - Relevance and Underlying Causes".
- Bassak, Gil "Microelectronics Takes to the Road in a Big Way: A Special Report", Electronics, 20 November 1980, pp. 113-122.
- (7) Truel, February, 1980, p. 226.
- Quoted from Baker, Stan "Custom Made for Ease of Designing", Electronic Times, 20 November 1980, p.20.
- (9) See chapter 4, "The Software Market Conditioning Factors and Possible Future Trends".
- (10) For the strategy of IBM for instance see "IBM System Designs from Scratch. CAD programme can be accessed at 25 sites world-wide for use in everything from silicon to packaging", Electronics, 14 July 1981.
- (11) See various issues of <u>Electronics Times</u>, particularly 12 February 1981.
- (12) Semiconductor International, May 1981.
- (13) ibid.
- (14) For details on the economics of designing and producing gate arrays, see the following articles: "Gate Arrays. A Special Report", <u>Electronics</u>, 25 September 1980; McLean, Mick "Outset of Battle with Arrays on the Gate", <u>Electronics Times</u>, 12 February 1981; McLean Mick "Ferranti is Fighting to Keep its Place in the Gate Array Scene as Battle Hots Up", <u>Electronics Times</u>, 19 February 1981. Cane, Alan "Texas Gets Committed to Uncommitted Logic", <u>Financial Times</u>, 11 February 1981.
- (15) See for instance Electronics Times, 12 February 1981, p. 12.
- (16) See Financial Times, 11 February 1981.

- (17) We will immediately discuss this second assumption.
- (13) <u>Financial Times</u>, 11 February 1981 and <u>Electronics Times</u>,
 12 and 19 February, 1981.
- (19) Electronics Times, 19 February 1981, p. 16.
- (20) ibid.
- (21) For details see Electronics Times, 22 January 1981
- (22) Source: Business Week, 1 December 1980.
- For implications on the "industrial structure" of semiconductor manufacturing see chapter 5 - "The Interaction between Recent Technological Break-throughs and Industrial Restructuring".
- (24) Scottish Development Agency, April 1979, p. 21.
- (25) OECD "The Electronic Industry . . .", 1 August 1930.
- (26) ibid., p. 31.
- (27) ibid., p. 27.
- (28) ibid., p. 28.
- (29) Mackintosh Consultants "Semiconductor Micro-Lithography Equipment and Materials Outlook to 1985", London, May 1981.
- (30) Quoted from Cane, Allen "Growth Expected to be in Optical Equipment Markets", Financial Times, 8 June 1981.
- (31) For a detailed discussion, see, for instance, Kehoe, Louise "A Thrust at the Silicon Heartland. Nippon Electric's Plans for an Advanced Chip Plant in California", <u>Financial Times</u>, 8 July 1981 and "Technology Update. Semiconductors", special report in <u>Electronics</u>, 23 October 1980, pp. 114-131.
- (32) Information taken from Kehoe, Louise "A thrust at the Silicon Heartland . . .", op.cit.
- (33) Figures quoted from Posa, John G., "No Hands' Assembly Packages Chips", Electronics, 2 June 1981, p. 38.
- (34) ibid.
- Mackintosh Consultants "Semiconductor Assembly Equipment and Materials Outlook", Mackintosh Publications Ltd., Darmstadt, July 1981.
- (36) For an in-depth discussion of recent developments in the application of microelectronic circuits to industrial products and processes see, Ernst D.,"Crisic, Innovation and the Transition to New Patterns of Industrial Production - the Impact of Microelectronics", particularly chapters 2 to 5, 1982 (forthcoming).

- (27)Jack Carsten, Vice-President of marketing, Intel, quoted from: "The chip revolution . . . a candid conversation", Datamation, June 1979, p. 102. Similar statements can be quoted from practically all leading figures of the US semiconductor industry. According to Robert N. Noyce for instance, who is Vice-Chairman of Intel, " . . . the trick is to design something totally new and then create the markets for it", quoted from "New Leaders in Semiconductors", Business Week, 1 March 1976. (38)See Lamborghini, B., March 1981. (30)See Chapter 3.2 in "Trends in Electronics Technology". (40)Truel, February 1980, p. 249. (4_{\pm}) For the recent proliferation of automatic assembly equipment, see Mackintosh Consultants, July 1981 ("Semiconductor Assembly Equipment and Materials Outlook"). (42)Oldham, 1980, p. 37. (43)Noyce, 1980, p. 37. OECD - "The Electronic Industry...", 1 August 1980, p. 29 (44)chapter"The Software For an in-depth discussion see (45)Market - Conditioning Factors and Possible Future Trends" OECD - "The Electronic Industry...", 1 August 1980, pp. 29, 30 (46)(47)ibid., p. 29 (43)ibid., p. 29 (49)Truel, February 1980. n. 211. Quoted from "Semiconductor Equipment Takes on its Own (50)Glow", Business Week, 1 December 1980, p. 98 P-E Quc'ed from Business Week, 10 September 1979. For similar (51)figure see also "Semiconductor Equipment Takes on its Own Glow", Business Week, 1 December 1980 For details see the case study on computer-aided design, (52)prepared by Raphael Kaplinsky. (53)Truel, February 1980. p. 212 OECD - "The Electronic Industry...", 1 August 1980, p. 31 (54)(55)OECD - "The Electronic Industry...", 1 August 1980, p. 22 (56) ibid., p. 33 (57)ibid., p. 33 (58)Electronique Actualité, 16 November 1978 "Semiconductor Equipment Takes on its Own Glow", Business (59)Week, 1 December 1980 (60)Quoted from Business Week, 3 December 1979
- 315 -

Notes

Chapter 4 - The Software Sector - Conditioning Factors and

Possible Future Trends

This chapter is based on interviews conducted in the first quarter of 1951 with firms and research institues active in this field. In addition, material has been collected from extensive reading of electronic trade journals, particularly <u>Electronics</u>, <u>Datamation</u> and <u>Electronics Times</u>. For useful background information see: Brooks, 1975; Weizenbaum, 1976, particularly chapter 9; Wulf, 1972; and Winograd. I owe much to discussions with Ronald M. Lee of IIASA/Laxenburg.

Welke, Larry - "The Origins of Software", <u>Datamation</u>, December 1980, p. 127. The author is president of International Computer Programmes, Inc. (ICP), Indianapolis and one of the pioneers of the software information service market.

(Da) Recent developments in firmware engineering and also in high-level languages like Ada and their implications for applying microelectronics to industrial products and processes will be analyzed in: Ernst, D., - "Crisis, Innovation and the Transition to New Patterns of Industrial Production - the Impact of Microelectronics", 1982 (forthcoming).

Orme, 1979, p. 73

Welke, op.cit., p. 128

Quoted from "The Risky Business of Selling Home Grown Programmes", <u>Business Week</u>, 9 March 1981, p. 64

- ibid.
- (7) In reality, market segmentation is of course much more multifaceted and borderlines tend to become increasingly blurred.
- Withington, Frederic G. "The Golden Age of Packaged Software", Datamation, December 1980, p. 131
- For a detailed discussion see "Picking and Perfecting the Packages. Banking, Insurance and Manufacturing Executives Talk about Selecting, Modifying and Using Software.", <u>Data-</u> <u>mation</u>, December 1980, p. 199 - 148, especially the interventions by Larry D. Woods, manager of special purpose computing with Deere + Co., Moline, Ill.
- (10) Figures are taken from Withington, Frederic G., op.cit., p.
 131 and include captive development of software packages by IBM and other mainframe computer manufacturers.
- (11) Withington, Frederic G. "The Golden Age...", <u>Datamation</u>, December 1980, p. 131
- (12) Similar figures for later dates were not available.
- (13) Cane, A. "Package Software set for Boom", <u>Financial Times</u>, 13 May 1981.
- (13a) The results are summarized in: "Bucking the System. The computer services industry expects not only to survive the recession, but to thrive in it", <u>Datamation</u>, July 1980
- (14) Financial Times, op.cit., p. 31
- (14a) Goetz, Martin A. "A U.S. View of Software Trends", <u>Financial</u> <u>Times</u>, 15 June 1981
- (15) "Microelectronic Survey", special report, The Economist, 1 March 1980
- (16) Lamborghini, B. "The Enterprise: A Mechanism to Transfer Microelectronic Innovation into Society", manuscript prepared for the Club of Rome, March 1981, p. 8

- (17)"Microelectronic Survey", The Economist, op.cit.
- $\left(12\right)$ For Singapore and Malaysia see: Lim, 1978, pp. 441 - 447. For India see: Balachandran. For Brazil see: Erber 1981. For Mexico see: Warman, 1981. For the possible future impact on international location patterns, see that ter 6 "Implications for the International Restructuring of Cemiconductor manufacturing and for Global Fatterns of Technological Dominance and Dependence"
- Lamborghini, March 1981, p. 3 (19)
- Weigenbaum, 1976 Quoted from "Softwareprobleme behindern den Fortschritt der (20)(21)Computertechnologie", Blick durch die Wirtschaft, 6 March 1981, translated by D.E.
- ibid. (22)
- ibid. (23)
- ibid. (24)
- Mc Cracken, Daniel D. "The Changing Face of Applications (25)Programming", Datamation, November 1978, p. 25; the author is president of the Association for Computing Machinery (ACM)
- Cane, Allen "Fervour for the Language", Financial Times, (26)6 May 1981
- See for instance Yourdon, Edward "Making the Move to (27)Structured Programming", Datamation, June 1978
- See for instance "Computerprogramme vom Reißbrett. Siemens (28)sucht nach Wegen, Software billiger herzustellen", Blick durch die Wirtschaft, 19 March 1981, p. 7
- Mc Cracken, Daniel D. "The Changing Face...", op.cit., p. 30 (29)
- The most explicit statement of this thesis can be found in: (30) Lamborghini, March 1981
- For an in-depth discussion see: Creative Strategies Inter-(31) national (CSI) - "Microcomputer Software Strategies", San José, California, May 1981; Bassak, Gil - "Software Wars Hit Home Computers", <u>Electronics</u>, 27 January 1981 and de Jonquières, Guy - "Personal Computers Come of Age. The Growth of a \$ 1 Billion Market", Financial Times, 21 August 1981.
- Kehoe, Louise "Personal IBM Secret Revealed", Financial (32)Times, 19 August 1981
- CEI "Microcomputer...", San José, Calif., May 1981 (33)
- See chapter 5.2 "The Dialectics of Forward and Backward Inte-(34)gration - Conditioning Factors, Constraints and Recent Trends"
- Figures are from "Software. An 'Intelligent' Language Takes (35) Off", Business Week, 17 November 1980
- Goetz, Martin A. "A U.S. View of Software Trends", Financial (36)Times, 15 June 1981
- (37)ibid.
- (38) ibid.

<u>Note</u>s

<u>Chepter 5 - The Interaction between Recent Technological Break-</u> throughs and Industrial Restructuring

- See chapter3.3."The Changing Economics of Semiconductor Manufacturing"
- Quoted from French, 1980, p. 164
- ibid., p. 164
- The Boston Consulting Group, Boston is usually credited to have popularized this concept. See, for instance, Hedley, B. - "A Fundamental Approach to Strategy Development", Long Range Planning, December 1976 and January 1977

For an excellent discussion of pricing policies of major semiconductor firms see Truel, February 1980, pp. 145-158 and pp. 254-266.

- (5) Oldham, 1980, p. 43
- (6) This annual doubling is known as "Moore's Law" after Gordon E. Moore of Intel Corporation, who first pointed out the trend.
- (7) See Wise, Kensall D. et al "Microcomputer: A Technology Forecast and Assessment to the Year 2000", New York, 1980, pp. 12-13
- (E) Noyce, Robert N. "Microelectronics", in: Forester, Tom (ed), 1980, p. 36
- (\neg) For evidence, see for instance: French, 1980
- (1) For details see the articles by Louise Kehoe: "Why Bubble Memories Fell from Grace", <u>Financial Times</u>, 16 June 1981; and "Chips are Down for National", <u>Financial Times</u>, 9 October 1981
- (11) For one of the most outspoken statements see Robert N. Noyce, vice-president, Intel Corp., Statement before the Subcommittee on International Finance of the Committee on Banking, Housing and Urban Affairs, United States Senate, 15 January 1980, p. 20. See also: "The Japanese Threat:Courteous Destruction", <u>Business Week</u>, 17 January 1980 and the U.S. Semiconductor Industry Association's Yearbook and Directory of 1979 and 1980.
- (12) For an excellent inventory see Dosi, 1981. An official statement can be found in: "Erste Vorschläge für Aktionen der Gemeinschaft auf dem Gebiet der Mikroelektronik", report of the Commission of the European Communities on New Information Technologies, (EG-Dck. 9361/80), published by the Bundesrat, Drucksache 506/80, 24.9.1980, Bonn.
- (13) Dosi, 1981, quoted from "Europe's Lag in Electronics", <u>Financial</u> <u>Times</u>, 9 September 1981

"Japanischer Rückzug im 'Halbleiter-Krieg'", <u>Blick durch</u> <u>die Wirtschaft</u>, 16 March 1981. For an in-depth analysis of the Japanese semiconductor industry see: "How Japan's Chip Makers Line Up to Compete. Special Report", <u>Electronics</u>, 2 June 1981, pp. 113 - 132; Strategic Business Services Inc. - "The Future of the Japanese Electronic Industry", San José, Calif., July 1981; and Chase Manhattan Bank - "U.S. and

- ...-

Japanese Semiconductor Industries: A Final Comparison", study prepared for the Semiconductor Industry Association (SIA), Cupertino, Calif., 9 June 1980.

- The immediate concern might have been the dramatic price fall for 16 K RAMs, see "Der Superspeicher läßt auf sich warten. Preissturz bei kleinen Elektronikspeichern behindert die Markteinführung", <u>Blick durch die Wirtschaft</u>, 5 August 1981
- Quoted in: "Trade Gap with Japan Widens", <u>Electronics</u>, 2 June 1981, p. 102
- Quoted in: "How Japan's Chip Makers Line up...", <u>Electronics</u>, 2 June 1981, p. 113
- (19) ibid., pp. 114 ff.

- (20) Statement of the Electronic Industries Association of Japan, as quoted in "Japan steigert kräftig den Halbleiterexport", Blick durch die Wirtschaft, 3 July 1981
- See various issues of <u>Electronics Times</u>, and de Jonquières, Guy - "How to Exploit Technology", <u>Financial Times</u>, 3 June 1981, describing plans of the British Industry Department to export software and software experts to Japan.
- (22) Electronics News, 2 February 1981
- (2-) See interview with S. Ishizaka, director general of the Agency of Industrial Science and Technology (AIST) which, on behalf of MITI, was responsible for the much renowned VLSI program ("Japan. The Information Revolution", <u>Financial</u> <u>Times Survey</u>, 6 July 1981, p. IV)
- (2)) Hanson, Richard "Computer Softwar. Demand Continues to Outrun Supply", in: "Japan. The Information Revolution", op.cit., p. XIV
- (25) For a similar argumentation, see "How Japan's Chip Makers Line Up...", <u>Electronics</u>, 2 June 1981. Such a more realistic evaluation could help to clarify discussions on what options are available for "industrial restructuring" in the U.S. and Western Europe

- For an excellent review article see for instance Kehoe, Louise - "Intel Takes a 100%Change of Direction to Silicon Services", <u>Financial Times</u>, 15 September 1981
- (27) Quoted from ibid.
- (26) Quoted from "Intel Sets Up Silicon Foundry", <u>Electronics</u> <u>Times</u>, 10 September 1981, p. 9
- (29) For details see Kehoe, Louise "Two Major U.S. Semiconductor Makers in Marketing Agreement", <u>Financial Times</u>, 12 October 1981
- (30) See the <u>Financial Times Survey</u> on "Communications", 27 April 1981
- (31) **Truel**, February 1980, p. 212.
- (32) Details will be analyzed in Ernst, D., "Automating Capital Goods Production in a Period of Crisis - the Impact of Microelectronics and Implications for Industrial Restructuring and International Location Patterns", study to be prepared for UNIDO, 1983 (forthcoming).
- (33) Mackintosh, 1980, p. 93. Formerly with Bell Laboratories, Westinghouse and Elliot Automation, the author is now chairman of the British consultant firm Mackintosh Consultants.
- (34) For excellent case studies see: "Schlumberger. The Star of the Oil Fields Tackles Semiconductors", <u>Business Week</u>, 16 February 1981; "General Electric. The Financial Wizards Switch Back to Technology", <u>Business Week</u>, 16 March 1981; "Zilog, At Six, How to Master Plan", <u>Electronics</u>, 13 January 1981 (on Exxon Enterprises) and Truel, February 1980, p. 296 ff. (on Saint-Gobain)
- (35) "Texas Instruments to Pull Out of Activities", <u>Financial</u> <u>Times</u>, 2 June 1981. For some of the underlying causes see C r i s p, J a s o n - "Microchips: Down But By No Means Out", Financial Times, 17 June 1981
- (36) Quotation from M a c k i n t o s h, 1980, p. 93. Note the modesty of the term used which would seem to imply that after Keynes' General Theory Mackintosh has opened a new era for the science of economics.
- (37) **ibid.**
- (38) U.S. Department of Commerce "The U.S. Semiconductor Industry", Washington, D.C., Gov. Print. Office, September 1979, pp. 37 - 38
- (39) Business Week, 1 March, 1976, p. 41
- (40) This is probably a conservative estimate. Casual evidence would seem to indicate that since 1980, the amount of mergers has been increasing. See, for instance,
- (41) Quoted from: "Can Semiconductor Industry Survive Big Business?" special report, <u>Business Week</u>, 3 December 1979
- (42) Archives, Projekt Technologietransfer Hamburg

- (43) Quoted from: "Can Semiconductor Industry Survive ...?", Business Week, op.cit.
- (44) Quoted from ibid.

- For details see chapter 3.2. "Trends in Electronics Technology" (45)
- Quoted from: "New Starters in Silicon Valley. Hot, Young (40) Outfits are Suddenly Rushing After the Custom Circuit Business", Business Week, 26 January 1981
- For an overview of the custom business see <u>Fortune</u>, 9 March 1981. See also: French, Michael B. "The <u>Semiconductor</u> (17)Industry: An Overview", <u>Datamation</u>, April 1980
- Quoted from Charlish, Geoffrey "Micro Circuit Engineering (13)Joins the Logic Arrays Club", Financial Times, 31 July 1981
- (19) In the market for semiconductor materials, particularly semiconductor-grade polysilicon, the concentration is already very high. According to <u>Electronics News</u> (16 March 1981), 10 firms dominate this market, with their 1980 capacity totalling 3070 metric tons. The three leading firms alone control 2/3 of this capacity which is practically identical with world capacity less capacities in socialist countries.

Table	Major	Suppliers	of	Semiconductor-Grade	Polysilicon,
	1980,	(capacity	in	metric tons)	
company				metric	tons
Wacker Hemlock Osaka T: Texas In Smiel (1 Monsanto Shin-Et: Motorols Great Wo Komatsu	(Dow Co itanium nstrumen Cynamit Su Hando a estern S	orning) nts Nobel) otai Silicon (G	E)		900 700 250 220 210 160 100 100 30
Total					3070

Source: Electronics News, 16 March 1981

- (50)"Semiconductor Equipment Takes on its Own Glow", Business Week, 1 December 1980, p. 98L-E
- "Semiconductor Equipment...", Business Week, 1 December (51)1980, p. 98 N-E
- Quoted from ibid., p. 98 P-E. The rising equipment cost (52)burden and its impact on fixed capital requiremence are discussed in chapter "Recent Changes in the Economics of Semiconductor Manufacturing"

(53) Quoted from ibid., p. 98 L-E

- Electronics, 14 July 1981. See also Hartley, John "TI (51)Japan Set to Manufacture & Million 64 K RAMs Per Month", Electronics Times, 23 July 1981, p. 3
- (55) Electronics, 14 July 1981

Notes

- For an excellent review see "Japan. The Information Revolution", <u>Financial Times Survey</u>, 6 July 1981, particularly pp. XIV ff.
- Defined as the capacity of firms, particularly multinational corporations, to preampt (or react) to the loss (or reduction) of nominal control on relatively low levels of the overall productive system of a branch or 4 product, by increasingly monopolizing control over strategic assets such as r+d, engineering, finance and cash flow management, maintenance and logistics, and, above all, strategy and organizational structure. See: Ernst, D. - "International Transfer of Technology, Technological Dependence and Underdevelopment: Key Issues", in Ernst, D. (ed), 1980, pp. 39ff.
- (56) Truel, February 1980, second part.
- See "A Mainframe on Three Chips", <u>Business Week</u>, 2 March 1981, "Schrumpfen Großrechner auf Chipgröße? Intels 32bit-Mikroprozessor setzt neue Maßstäbe", <u>Blick durch die</u> <u>Wirtschaft</u>, 5 February 1981 and "Mikroprozessoren im Leistungsverbund. Intel stellt ein neues Micromainframe'-Konzept vor", <u>Blick durch die Wirtschaft</u>, 9 June 1981
- Quoted from "A Mainframe...", Business Week, 2 March 1981
- (61) Electronics Times, 16 July 1981
- (62) Intel claims to have built more of the instructions into the 32-bit chips than they have ever had before and that consequently programmer productivity increased as much as fivefold in preliminary tests with the micromainframe, see: "A Mainframe...", Business Week, 2 March 1981
- (63) According to David Crockett, manager of computer strategy at Hewlett-Packard Co, Intel's micromainframe has "redundancy built right in" to reduce breakdowns, see: ibid.
- (64) Lamborghini, B. and Antonelli, C. "The Impact of Electronics on Industrial Structures and Firms' Strategies", in:
 "Microelectronics, Productivity and Employment", OECD, Paris 1981, and Lamborghini, B. - "The Enterprise: a Mechanism to Transfer Microelectronic Innovation into Society", Paper Prepared for the Club of Rome, 1981, manuscript
- (65) Lamborghini, Club of Rome paper, op.cit., pp. 15ff.
- (46) According to <u>Business Week</u>, "Instead of handicrafting individual computers in batches, computer makers are switching to large-volume, assembly-line production", quoted from "Computers. Falling Behind in Mainframe Output", <u>Business Week</u>, 20 October 1980. For further details on the new economics of the computer business see: "Computers", <u>Financial Times Survey</u>, 2 March 1981; "Information. Still on the Leading Edge of Growth", <u>Business Week</u>, 12 January 1981 and DAFSA - "The Data Processing Industry in the World", Paris, August 1976, particularly chapter 10 "Signposts on the Road Ahead for the Dataprocessing Industry".

- "Computers. A Capital Crunch that Could Change an Industry", Business Week, 23 March 1981
- ibid., p. 53
- "R+D Is a Shrinking Resource.", <u>Electronics</u>, 17 January 1980, p. 85
- "Computers. A Capital Crunch...", <u>Business Week</u>, 23 Farch 1981, p. 53
- 1) See chapter 3.3. "The Changing Economics of Semiconductor Manufacturing"
- Statement by Harold E. O'Kelley, president of Dataprint Corp., quoted from "Computers. A Capital Crunch...", Business Week, 23 March 1981, p. 54
- 3) Quoted from "Computers. Falling Behind Mainframe Output", Business Week, 20 October 1980
- ⁴) Buxton, Ismes "Olivetti Counts on Electronics", <u>Financial</u> <u>Times</u>, 12 May 1981
- 75) Quoted from Financial Times, 12 May 1981
- For details see Lamborghini and Antonelli, op.cit.; and <u>Financial Times</u>, 12 May 1981

<u>actes</u>

<u>Charter e - Implications for the International Pestructuring of Semiconductor</u> <u>Manufacturing and for Clobal Pasterns of Technological Dominance</u> and Dependence

- (1) For an in-depth discussion see "Automating Capital Goods Production in a Period of Crisis - the Impact of Microelectronics and Implications for Industrial Restructuring and International Location Patterns", study to be prepared for UNICC, 1983 (forthcoming). For a theoretical treatment see Ernst, D., - "Crisis, Innovation and the Transition to New Patterns of Industrial Production - the Impact of Microelectronics", 1982 (forthcoming).
- (2) Rada, J., "The Impact of Microelectronics. A Tentative Appraisal of Information Technology", ILO, Geneva, 1980.
- (3) ibid., p. 106.
- (4) ibid. In the meantime, Rada's position seems to have become much more sceptical with regard to the "Relocation Back to the North" hypothesis. See for instance his "Structure and Behaviour of the Semiconductor Industry", study prepared for the UN Centre on Transnational Corporations, New York, 1982 (forthcoming).
- (5) Examples for this established pattern of an international division of labour in the clothing industry can be found in: Fröbel, F., Heinrichs, J. and Kreye, O., - "The New International Division of Labour", Cambridge University Press, 1980.
- (6) For examples see: Counter Information Systems "The New Technology", London, 1979.
- Rush, H.J., and Hoffmann, H.K., "Microelectronics and the Garment Industry: Not Yet a Perfect Fit", in: "International Conference on Informatics and Industrial Development. Conference Papers", 9 - 13 March 1981, Trinity College, Ireland, p.11.
- (5) A case in point would be the recent failure of Ford Motor Company to push through its "Japanisation" programme in its affiliate in Halewood/UK. There, the Ford management found out that in order to push through an increase in automation and robotization, a much more authoritarian "discipline code" would have been needed reminiscent of the tough management style prevailing in Ford's US plants in the 1930s. For details see Le Monde, 12 December 1980 and the special report on Ford Motor Company in: TIE (Transnationals Information Exchange), Amsterdam, No. 9, April - August 1981. For an in-depth discussion of constraints to applying microelectronics to industrial production see Ernst, D., - "Constraints to the Application of Microelectronic Devices - A Much Neglected Research Area", chapter 5 of the author's forthcoming book on "Crisis, Innovation and the Transition to New Patterns of Industrial Production", 1982.
- (9) CECD "Transfer of Technology in the Consumer Electronics Industry -The Television Sector", (DSTI/SPR/79.27), Paris, 14 September 1979.
- (10) Over the past decade, the number of correspondence in a TV set has fallen from 1400 to 400. For recent technological developments in the TV industry, see "Sources of Competitiveness in the Japanese Colour Television and Video Tape Recorder Industry", a report prepared by the private consulting firm Developing World Industry and Technology, Inc.

(Chairman: Jack Baranson) for the US Department of Labour, Washington, DC 1978. See also CECD - "Transfer of Technology in the Consumer Flectronics Industry...", cp.cit., pp. 29-52.

(11) The following quotations are from pages 28, 20 and 51 of CECD, op. cit.

- (12) For an in-depth discussion of these concepts see Ernst, D. -"International Transfer of Technology, Technological Dependence and Underdevelopment: Key Issues", in: Ernst, D. (ed), 1980
- (13) See for instance the excellent report by Louis Turner "The Problems of Adjustment in the Consumer Electronics Industry", in: Turner, L. and Woolcock, S. (eds.) - "The Implications of Newly-Industrializing Countries for Trade and Adjustment Policies", The Royal Institute of International Affairs, London, 1981 (forthcoming)
- (14) Quotations are from: OECD "Transfer of Technology in the Consumer Electronics Industry...", op.cit., p. 51
- (15) For details see the study by Louis Turner, op.cit.
- (16) OECD, op.cit., p. 51
- (17) Cable, Vincent and Clarke, Jeremy "British Electronics Industry and Competition with Newly Industrializing Countries", Overseas Development Institute (ODI), London, July 1981
- (18) For background information on the garment industry see: Kurt Salomon Associates - "The 1980s: The Decade for Technology? A Study of the State of the Art of Assembly of Apparel Products", study prepared for the Commission of the European Communities, Bruxelles, December 1979; Cable, Vincent - "World Textile Trade and Production", Economist Intelligence Unit Special Report No. 63, 1979; Woolcock, Stephen - "Textiles and Clothing Industry", in: Turner, C. and Woolcock, S. (eds), 1981 (forthcoming); de la Torre, José - "Decline and Adjustment: Public Intervention Strategies in the European Clothing Industries", INSEAD (= European Institute of Business Administration) - Working Research Papers No 80/07, Fontainebleau/France, July 1980; "The International Division of Labour and International Trade in Textiles, Clothing, Shoe and Leather Products (Including Outward Processing)", part I, International Textile, Garment and Leather Workers' Federation, Third World Congress, Vienna, 6-1C October 1980. See also the pioneering case study on the internationalization of the German textiles and clothing industry in pert I of Fröbel; Heinrichs; Kreye, 1980.
- (19) For a fascinating account of the constraints to automation applying to the U.S. garments industry up to the late a 1970s see chapter V.2. "Textile et habillement: inertia et modernisation", in: Brender; Chevallier and Pisani-Ferry, 1980
- (20) Quoted from: Hoffmann, H.K. and Rush, H.J. "Microelectronics and the Garment Industry - Not Yet a Perfect Fit", in: "International Conference on Informatics and Industrial Development. Conference Papers", Volume I, 9-3 March 1981, Trinity College, Dublin , Ireland, p. 5

- 313 -

. .

For examples see McLean, J.M. and Rush, H. - "The Impact of Micro-electronics on the U.K.: A Suggested Classification and Illustrative Case Study", SPRU (= Science Policy Research Unit) Occasional Paper Series, No 7, 1978 and Bessant, J.R. - "The Influence of Micro-electronics Technology. Report prepared for the UNITAR study of Technology, Domestic Distribution and North-South relations", Technology Policy Unit, University of Aston, 1980, pp. 72-75 and 78-80

For examples in the petrochemical industry see: UNIDO -"First World-wide Study of the Petrochemical Industry: 1975 - 2000", (UNIDO/ICIS.83 and Add 1 (appendices)), Vienna, 12 December 1978. For the steel industry see particularly: UNIDO - "Picture for 1985 of the World Iron and Steel Industry" (UNIDO/ICIS.1961), op.cit.

For a remarkable five-volume report on current technology, (: : : trends and direction for r+d in the machine-tool industry see: Sutton, George P. et al - "Technology of Machine Tools. Report of the Machine Tool Task Force Project", 5 volumes, particularly Volume 4 "Machine Tool Controls", (Document No. UCRL-52960), Lawrence Livermore National Laboratory, University of California, Livermore, California, October 1980. An excellent analysis of the impact of dataprocessing technology can be found in: Reijers, L. N. - "Comments on OECD-report 'Inquiry into the Machine Tool Industry' by B. Real", Delft, University of Technology Laboratory for Manufacturing Systems, 22 March 1979 (mimeo). See also: Manoranjan, P.K. - "Report on Technological Perspectives in the Machine Tool Industry in the Next Decades and their Implications for Developing Countries", study prepared for UNIDO, Vienna, October 1980.

- (21) For a discussion of the substantial economic, social and political constraints against the establishment of full-scale "automated factories" see for example: Zermeno, R. et al "The Robots are Coming Slowly", in: T. Forester (ed) "The Microelectronics Revolution", Oxford, 1980; H. Wintersberger et al (eds) "The Socio-Economic Impact of Microelectronics", Pergamon Press, Oxford etc., 1980; and Norman, C. "Microelectronics at Work: Productivity and Jobs in the World Economy", Worldwatch Paper 39, Washington, D.C., October 1980, pp. 15 22
- (25) Hoffman, H.K. and Rush, H.J. "Microelectronics and the Garment Industry...", op.cit., p. 1
- For an in-depth analysis of the concept of systems control see Ernst, D.-"International Transfer of Technology, Technological Dependence and Underdevelopment: Key Issues", in Ernst, D. (ed), 1930
- (27) For an outspoken presentation of this view see the statement of Karl Heinz Kaske, president and chief operating officer of Giemens, quoted in chapter 6.5.3, p. 259:
- (28) Quoted from Posa, John G. "'No Hands' Assembly Packages Chips", <u>Electronics</u>, 2 June 1981, p. 38
- (29) OECD "The Electronic Industry", 1980, p. 27. See also the research experience documented in Truel, February 1980 and Lim, 1979.

Orme, 1979 for instance in his widely quoted study on trends in the application of microelectronics speaks of "... the futility of employing technical experts to forecast technological developments and applications." (p. 76). He equally sees "... strong reasons for not relying on businessmen and business executives to forecast the impact of technological change on industry and commerce." (ibid.)

Quotation is from Scottish Development Agency, 1979, p. 27

- (30) "Report. Exchange of Views with Experts on the Implications of Technological Advances in Microelectronics for Developing Countries", UNIDO, (UNIDO/IS.242/kev. 1), Vienna, 16 July 1981. For details see Ernst, D.; Hoffman, K.; Kaplinsky, R.; Rada, J. and Rush, H. "Implications of Technological Advances in Microelectronics for Developing Countries: A Suggested Programme of Policy Studies and Action", paper prepared for the aforementioned UNIDO meeting, UNIDO/B.P. 13, Vienna, 10-12 June 1981.
- $(\div;)$ Much of the recent literature is still heavily relying on three pioneering studies: C h a n g, 1971; M o x o n, R i c h a r d - "Offshore Scurcing in Less-Developed Countries: A Case Study of Multinationality in the Electronics Industry", The Bulletin, New York University Graduate School of Business Administration, Institute of Finance, No.s 98 - 99, July 1974; and UNCTAD - "International Subcontracting Arrangements in Electronics Between Developed Market-Economy Countries and Developing Countries", TD/B/C.2/144/Supp.1, New York, 1975. This would apply to some degree even for the otherwise extremely useful study of Lim, LindaJ. -"Multinational Firms and Manufacturing for Export in Less-Developed Countries: The Case of the Electronics Industry in Malaysia and Singapore", The University of Michigan, Ann Arbar/ Michigan, 1978. Some recent developments are documented in: O E C D - "The Electronic Industry...", 1 August 1980. chapter 8 "International Aspects"; R a d a, 1980, particularly chapters 6 and 7; S i e g e 1, 1981; and Scottish Development Agency, chapters I - III. A stimulating attempt to analyse the impact of some recent changes in the economics of semiconductor manufacturing can be found in: Truel, 1980a.
- (34) See for instance, OECD "The Electronic Industry...", 1 August 1980, chapter 8 and Scottish Development Agency, April 1979, pp. 26-35
- (35) "It is abundantly clear that the availability of large and innovative markets is an important factor influencing success in the electronics business. Similarly the size and growth potential of markets is the largest single factor influencing the geographical pattern of the activities of firms in the electronics sector.", OECD - "The Electronic Industry", August 1980, Paris, p. 38. For and excellent theoretical discussion see Truel, 1980b and 1980a, particularly pp. 156-173, 249-253, and pp. 306-320. See also Scottish Development Agency, 1979, chapter III
- (36) OECD "The Electronic Industry", op. cit., p. 38
- (37) Mackintosh, Ian M. "An Overview of the Electronics Industry in Europe", paper prepared to the UNIDO expert group meeting on the implications of microelectronics for developing countries (B.P. 3), UNIDO, Vienna, 10-12 June 1981. Quotations are from pages 4 and 6.

- (38) Quoted from Hartley, John "TI Japan set to manufacture a million 64 K RAMs per month", <u>Electronics Times</u>, 23 July 1981.
- (39) Quoted from "Selling More Chips to Japan", <u>Business Week</u>, 11 February 1980. In fact, the mobility of Japanese engineers and designers to work for non-Japanese firms has increased considerably during the last years, as documented in: "Unternehmenswechsel ist nicht mehr Schande. In Japan zeigt das Konzept der 'lebenslangen Beschäftigung' Auflösungserscheinungen", <u>Blick durch die Wirtschaft</u>, 13 August 1981.
- (40) According to the 1981 World Markets Forecast of Electronics.
 "...the 21% prime rate that was announced in mid-December 1980 was a backbreaker. Small business will be particularly hard hit. But even large manufacturers, if they have not committed funds previously, will hesitate to spend for new plant and equipment." Quotation from: Electronics, 13 January 1981, p. 122
- (41) Quoted from Hartley, John, op.cit.
- (42) **ibid.**
- (43) For more details see chapter 2.4.3. "Recent Trends in the Memory "Market"
- (44) Oldham, W.G. "The Fabrication of Microelectronic Circuits", in: <u>Scientific American</u>, vol. 237/ no 3, September 1977
- (45) Rada, 1980, p. 106
- (46) The most important one being that no differentiation is possible between the various plants according to size of investment, sales volume and turnover, product groups, stages of production and technological complexity.
- (47) For recent developments see "China Agrees Laws for Special Zones", Financial Times, 24 September 1981
- (48) See the forthcoming study on the Brazilian electronics industry by Fabio Erber, University of Rio de Janeiro.
 See also the forthcoming thesis on the Brazilian computer industry by Paulo Tigre, SPEU Sussex.
- (49) Quoted from United States Senate "Hearings before the Subcommittee on Banking, Housing and Urban Affairs, Gov. Printing Office, Washington, D.C., 15 January 1980
- U.S. Department of Commerce "A Report on the U.S. Semiconductor Industry", Washington, D.C., September 1979 and "Import Trends in TSUSA Items 806.30 and 807.00", U.S. International Trade Commission Publication 1029, U.S. Government Printing Office, Washington, D.C., January 1980

Levinthal, Donald J. - "Automate, But Bring It Back Onshore. Editorial", <u>Semiconductor International</u>, April 1981, p. 6 The following quotations from Levinthal are from this article.

- Figure quoted from: Fleming, Stewart "Siemens to Build up its Overseas Operations", <u>Financial Times</u>, 7 July 1981. For an in-depth analysis of the Siemens strategy see Williamson, George - "Siemens Starts Second But Finishes First", <u>Fortune</u>, 10 April 1978 and Plettner, B. (chairman of the board, Siemens) - "Für uns ist Japan kein unbekanntes Land", <u>Blick durch die Wirtschaft</u>, 8 May 1981
- (See Quoted from Fleming, op. cit.
- Electronics News of 2 February 1981 for instance gives details on a multi-pronged program to train computer programmers initiated by the Singarorian government. For Taiwan see for instance: Neff, Robert - "Taiwan Pushes High Technology", Electronics, 8 May 1980; Gigot, Paul -"A Show Case in the Park. Taiwan is pinning its future economic growth on a move into high-technology industries", Far Eastern Economic Review, 18 July 1980; and Housego, David - "Foreign Companies Turn to Taiwan", Financial Times, 7 May 1981. The extensive programs which are under way in Ireland and Scotland are frequently published in the major trade journals, like Electronics', Electronic Times etc. See in particular Scottish Development Agency, April 1979.
- (55) Figures are from: Fleming, op.cit.
- (56) For an in-depth discussion see Ernst, D. "Constraints to the Application of Microelectronic Devices - A Much Neglected Research Area", chapter 2 of the author's forthcoming book "Crisis, Innovation and the Transition to New Patterns of Industrial Production", 1982.
- (5%) For a list of these countries see OECD-Interfutures "Capital Gcods - Structural Evolution and World Prospects", Paris, December 1979
- (53) In contrast to a widely held belief, semiconductor manufacturing is not all an environmentally "clean" industry. In fact, the production of semiconductor wafers, from which chips are made, and printed circuit board, into which finished chips are stuffed, uses a wide range of toxic chemicals and generates a large amount of toxic wastes. For details see PHASE (= Project on Health and Safety in Electronics) - "A Guide to the Health Effects of Chemicals Used in Electronics Manufacturing", Mountain View, California, July 1980
- (59) Case studies on the viability of strategies geared to selective choice of world market niches would deserve a high priority for future research.
- (60) Quoted from "U.S. Assault on Trade Barriers", <u>Financial</u> Times, 1 June 1981
- (61) Electronics Times, 21 May 1981, p. 14
- (62) De Jonquieres, Guy "How to Exploit Technology?", <u>Financial</u> <u>Times</u>, 3 June 1981
- (63) **ibid**.
- Ernst, D. (ed) "Industrial Redeployment and International Transfer of Technology: Trends and Policy Issues", special issue <u>"Vierteljahresberichte. Probleme der Entwicklungsländer"</u> (Friedrich Ebert Foundation), Nr. 83, March 1981, 123 p.
 - OECD "North-South Technology Transfer: The Issue of Feedback Effects", (SPT(80)25) Paris, 15 October 1980 published as: North/South Technology Transfer - the Adjustments Ahead, Paris 1981
- Calculated from OECD "The International Flows of Technology to Developing Countries", Analytical Study No. 2, (DSTI/SPR/ 79.32), Paris, 22 October 1979
- Both quotations are from: OECD North-South Technology Transfer...", op.cit., p. 77
- For attempts to analyse these recent trends in international trads competition, see: Fouquin, M.; Kessler, V. et al -"Redéploiements geographiques et rapports de force industriels" <u>Economic Prospective Internationale</u>, No ,1981, 116 pp. aud Turner, L. and Woolcock, S. (eds) - "The Implications of Newly-Industrializing Countries for Trade and Adjustment Policies", The Royal Institute of International Affairs, London, 1981 (forthcoming)
- See for instance the proceedings of the conference on NICs, Morelia/Mexico, September 1981
- OECD "North-South Technology Transfer...", op.cit., p. 77
- O'Brien, P. "Third World Industrial Enterprises as Exporters of Technology - Recent Trends and Underlying Causes", in: Ernst, D. (ed), 1981
- (Te) OECD "North-South Technology Transfer...", p. 79
- (73) For empirical evidence see: OECD-Interfutures "Capital Goods: Structural Evolution and World Prospects", Paris,
 20 December 1979 and OECD - "North-South Technology Transfer - the Adjustment Ahead", Paris 1981, particularly chapter VI.
- (7).) For background information on GE see: "General Electric. The Financial Wizards Switch Back to Technology", <u>Business Week</u>, 16 March 1981, pp. 74-79; "General Electric Triumphs in Adversity", <u>Financial Times</u>, 17 June 1981 and Cox, James A. -"A Century of Light", New York, 1979
- (75) Quoted from "General Electric Triumphs in Adversity", <u>Financial</u> <u>Times</u>, 17 June 1981
- (76) For details see "General Electric Triumphs...", <u>Financial Times</u>,
 17 June 1981
- (77) Quoted from "Where Will the Jobs Come From?", <u>The Economist</u>, special report, 3 January 1981, p. 53
- See for instance: UN "Transnational Corporations in World Development - A Re-examination", study prepared for the Commission on Transnational Corporations", E/C.10/38, New York, 20 March 1978

- (79) OECD "Technical Change and Economic Policy. Science and Technology in the New Economic and Social Context", Paris 1980 and OECD - "North-South Technology Transfer...", op.cit.
- (So) OECD "Technical Change...", p. 98
- (31) OECD "North-South Technology Transfer...", op.cit., p. 101
- (So) OECD "Technical Change...", p. 99
- (83) **ibid.**
- (34) **ibid**.
- (85) OECD "North-South Technology Transfer...", op.cit., p. 112
- (36) Hill, C.T. "Technological Innovation, Agent of Growth and Change", manuscript, Centre for Policy Alternatives, MIT, December 1978
- (87) IMF "World Economic Outlook 1981", Washington, D.C., July 1981
- (88) Ernst, D. "High Technology Investment and the Crisis -Recert Trends in the U.S.", chapter & of the author's forthcoming book "Crisis, Innovation and the Transition to New Patterns of Industrial Production - the Impact of Microelectronics", 1982
- (89) OECD-Interfutures "Facing the Future: Mastering the Probable and Managing the Unpredictable. Final Report", OECD, Paris, June 1979
- (90) See for instance Lorenzi, J.-H.; Pastré, O.; Toledano, J. -"La crise du XXe siècle", Economica, Paria, 1980, particularly chapters I and VI
- (91) OECD "North-South Technology Transfer...", p. 112
- (92) See OECD "International Cooperation in Science and Technology in the OECD Area. Trends, Problems, Prospects", background report to the Meeting of the Committee for Scientific and Technological Policy at Ministeriel Lavel, SPT/Min (81)6, Paris, 23 February 1981
- (93) See Ernst, D. "Industrial Redeployment and Control over Technology - Consequences for the Third World", op.cit
- (94) See the article by Weeger, Xavier "Un nouveau complexe americain", Lo Monde, 7 April 1981, describing the failure of the March 1981 OECD conference
- (95) See reports on the conference in <u>Le Monde</u> and the <u>Financial</u> <u>Times</u>, particularly "Western Summit Ende with Some Closing of the Ranks", <u>Financial Times</u>, 22 July 1981
- (96) UNCTAD Geneva, August 1982, 280 p.

<u>Notes</u>

Chapter 7 - Innovation and International Restructuring of Industry

_ :.: _

in a .	Period	<u>l_of</u>	Crisis-	Some	Tentative	Concl	lusions
Drawn	from	the	Experien	nce of	Semicondu	ictor	Manu-
factu	ring						

- For a concise summary see Keesing, D.B. "Trade Policies for Developing Countries", World Bank Staff Working Paper No 353, Washington, D.C., August 1979
- See the pioneering study of Fröbel, F.; Heinrichs, J. and Kreye, O. - "The New International Division of Labour", Cambridge University Press, 1980 (Originally published in German in 1977)
- Posner, 1961; Hufbauer, 1965 and 1970; Vernon, 1966,1970,
 1971 and 1977; Tilton, 1971. For an excellent critique of these theories see Madeuf, 1977.
- (1.) Freeman, 1977. For a stimulating theoretical critique of "technological determinism" and an attempt to reconstruct neo-Schumpeterian innovation theory, see: Dosi, 1981
- (5) McLean, 1980; Rada, 1980; Esplinsky, 1981.
- (6) See for instance: Fröbel, Heinrichs, Kreye, 1980.
- (7) For a stimulating critique see Truel, 1980a and b.
- (8) **ibid.**
- (9) The following owes much to some stimulating ideas presented by Susan Paine in "International Investment, Migration and Finance: Issues and Policies" (Draft), University of Cambridge
- (10) Gèze, François "Le Redéploiment Industriel et le Transfer de Technologie. Le cas des grandes entreprises françaises", in: Ernst, D. (ed), 1981
- (11) This concept has been developed from Björkman, Torsteu; Lundquist, Karin; Fimmelstrand, Ulf - "Work Relations, Capital Accumulation and Technological Change", paper presented to the Round Table '81 "Socialism, Science, Technology, Development Strategies", 21 - 26 September 1981, Cavtat, Yugoslavia, who distinguish two classes of capital accumulation: rationalization of variable capital, i.e. labour, versus rationalization of constant capital. For a detailed discussion see: Ernst, D., - "Crisis, Innovation and the Transition to New Patterns of Industrial Production - the Impact of Microelectronics", 1982 (forthcoming). See also the author's function of the capital of the Data of the Constant capital

future work on "Automating Capital Goods Production in a Period of Crisis - the Impact of Microelectronics and Implications for Industrial Restructuring and International Location Patterns", study to be prepared for UNIDO, 1983 (forthcoming).

(12) See in this context some documents prepared for the OECD-Working Party on Information, Computer and Communications Policy (ICCP), particularly Antonelli, Christiano - "Transborder Data Flows and International Business - A Pilot Study", prepared for the OECD - ICCP (DSTI/ICCP/81.16), OECD, Paris, 2 June 1981 and "Microelectronics, Productivity and Employment", proceedings of a special session of the OECD - ICCP (27 - 29 November 1979), OECD, Paris, 1981. Thoughtful reviews of possible future trends can be found in: Wise, Kensall D. et al - "Microcomputers: A Technology Forecast and Assessment to the Year 2000", John Wiley & Sons, New York etc., 1980, and Miskell, Ronald V. - "Machine Tool Controls. Introduction and Summary", in: "Technology of Machine Tools. A Survey of the Art by the Machine Tool Task Force", Vol. 4. "Machine Tool Controls", Lawrence Livermoore Laboratory, University of California, October 1980, pp. 1 - 12.

- For a vivid account of this type of internationalisation strategy see Fröbel, Folker et al - "The New International Division of Labour", Cambridge University Press, 1980
- (12) For the original presentation of this concept see: Babbage, Charles - "On the Economy of Machinery and Manufactures", London, Charles Knight, 1835 (reprinted 1971 by Augustus M. Kelley-Publishers, New York)
- Marx, Karl "Capital" (english edition), Penguin, Vol I, p. 534
- Quoted from Björkman et al, September 1981, p. 4. See the classical studies: Braverman, Harry "Labour and Monopoly Capital. The Degradation of Work in the Twentieth Century", Monthly Review Press, New York etc. 1974; Coriat, Benjamin "L'atelier et le Chronomètre", Christian Bourgois Editeur, Paris, 1979 and Freyssenet, Michel "La division capitaliste du travail", Savelli, Paris, 1977
- (17) See for instance: Ansoff, H. Igor et al (editors) "From Strategic Planning to Strategic Management", John Wiley & Sons, New York, 1976
- (1°) See chapter IV "Energy Requirements in the Manufacturing Sector" of UNIDO - "World Industry in 1980. Regular Issue of the Biennial Industrial Development Survey", Vienna, 1981 and UNIDO - "Industry 2000.New Perspectives" (ID/Conf 4/3), Vienna, 30 August 1979, p. 4
- (12) PIW = products in work. For details see Lamborghini, Bruno and Antonelli, Christiano - "The Impect of Electronics on Industrial Structures and Firm's Strategies", in: OECD -"Microelectronics, Productivity and Employment", Paris 1981
- (20) Björkman, Torsten et al "Work Relations, Capital Accumulation...", op.cit. The following quotation is from page 5.
- (21) See the standard study by Engelberger, Joseph F. "Robots in Practice. Management and Applications of Industrial Robots", Kogan Page, London, 1980, particularly chapter 7 - 9 For a critical assessment see Coriat, Benjamin - "Robots et automates dans les industries de série. Esquisse d'une "économie" de la robotique d'atelier", paper presented to the ADEFI (= Association Pour Le Developpement Des Etudes Sur La Firme Industrielle) conference "Les Mutations Technologiques", Chantilly, 18-19 September 1980
- (22) The "parallel units" or "dual sourcing" approach today is an established practice for major multinational corporations. Two prominent cases are Ford and IBM. It was Ford that introduced this management technique into the car industry as a

means of protecting itself from labour disputes in its own plants or that of its suppliers. And IBM has made this "parallel units" approach a basic element of its business philosophy: for each product there should be at least three plants within IBM which share responsibility. This would apply for instance to IBM's captive production of VLSI memories which is divided between two U.S. based plants and the plant of IBM Deutschland GmbH, Stuttgart; located at Hulb near Sindelfingen. See: archives, Frojekt Technologietransfer Hamburg.

- "The New Industrial Relations", <u>Business Week</u> special report, 11 May 1981, pp. 58 - 68. For an excellent critique see Plotke, David - "Technology and Social Development in the Contemporary United States: Political and Theoretical Issues", paper presented to Round Table '81 "Socialism, Science, Technology, Development Strategies", 21 - 26 September 1981, Cavtat, Yugoslavia
- (24) Definition taken from Barron, I. and Curnow, R. "The Future with Microelectronics. Forecasting the Effect of Information Technology", The Open University Press, London, 1979, pp. 28, 29. The most comprehensive study available is: Nora, S. and Minc, A. "L'informatisation de la Sociéte", Paris, La Documentation Française, 1978 (also available now in English as: "The Computerization of Society", Cambridge, Mass., MIT Press, 1980).
- (25) Micro-processor = the central processing unit of a computer implemented on a single silicon chip.
- (26) Telematics = telecommunications plus informatics.
- (27) Bubble memory is a memory system in which data are stored on moving bubbles of magnetist on a semiconductor, this storage being nonvolatile.
- (28) See, for instance, Buchanan, J.R. and Linowes R.G. "Understanding Distributed Data Processing. What Managers Need to Know to Make the Most of the Coming Developments in Information Processing", in: <u>Harvard Business Review</u>, July -August 1980.
- (29) See, for instance, "Chipping a Way towards Total Control Capability. Special Report on Computer Numerical Control", in: Metalworking Production, April 1979.
- (30) See the market survey of Dataquest, Inc. "Systems of Computer Aided Design (CAD), Computer Aided Manufacturing (CAM) and Computer Integrated Management (CIM)", Cupertino, California, October 1979, 300 pages. See also the author's forthcoming case study "Automating Capital Goods Production in a Period of Crisis - the Impact of Microelectronics and Implications for Industrial Restructuring and International Location Patterns", study to be prepared for UNIDO, 1983 (forthcoming).
- (31) Shaiken, H. "Computer Technology and the Relations of Power in the Workplace", Wissenschaftszentrum Berlin IIVG/dp/80-217, Berlin, October 1980, p. 44. For similar examples see: "Report on the TIE (= Transnational Information Exchange) Seminar on the Telecommunications Industry".

in: TIE, No. 6, July - September 1980, especially the report on the attempts of both Siemens and Daimler Benz to introduce "Longterm Fersonnel Plenning" systems, i.e. sophisticated data bases which develop complete profiles of individual workers (up to 900 different information elements for each worker).

- (32) Antonelli, Christiano "Transborder Data Flows...", op.cit.
- (33) ibid., p. 6
- (34) **ibid.**, p. 7
- (35) **ibid.**, **p.** 8
- (36) "Singapore Determined to Secure Place in World Aviation Industry", <u>Financial Times</u>, 25 September 1981
- (37) Antonelli, Christiano "Transborder Data Flows", op.cit. p. 8
- (38) This would apply particularly to the "New International Division of Labour" school, as formulated for instance in Fröbel et al - "The New International Division of Labour", op.cit. For an in-depth discussion see Gèze, François - "Le Redéploiement Industriel et le Transfert de Technologie. Le cas des grandes entreprises françaises", in: Ernst, Dieter (editor) - "Industrial Redeployment and International Transfer of Technology: Trends and Policy Issues", special issue of Vierteljahresberichte. Probleme der Entwicklungsländerforschung (Friedrich Ebert Foundation), Bonn, March 1981
- (39) For a detailed theoretical and empirical treatment see Ernst, D.,
 "Crisis, Innovation and the Transition to New Patterns of Industrial Production - the Impact of Microelectronics", 1982 (forthcoming).
 See also the author's forthcoming case study on "Automating Capital Goods Production in a Period of Crisis - the Impact of Microelectronics and Implication for Industrial Restructuring and International Location Patterns", study to be prepared for UNIDO, 1983.

. ...

Bibliography

2	1	2	
٦		J.	-

Bibliography	
ADVISORY COUNCIL FOR APPLIED RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT	"Computer-Aided Design and Manufacture", London, 1980.
AGLIETTA, Michel	"Régulation et Crises du Japitalisme L'expérience des Etats-Unis",
	Calmann-Lévy, Paris, 1976.
ALTMANN, L.	"New Arrivals in the Bulk Storage Inventory", <u>Electronics</u> , 13 April 1978, p. 106 - 113.
ALTMANN, L COHEN, Ch.L.	"The Gathering Wave of Japanese Technology", Electronics, 9 June 1977, p. 99 - 105.
ALTMANN, L.	"Memories", <u>Electronics</u> , 20 January 1977, p. 81 - 96.
ALTVATER, Elmar	"Gesellschaftliche Bedingungen der Einführung neuer Technologien im Verlauf langer Wellen des wirtschaftlichen Wachstums",
	Paper presented to the Round Table '81 "Socialism, Science, Technology, Development Strategies", Cavtat, Yugoslavia, 21 - 26 September 1981.
ADAMO, J STOFFAES, C	"Vers une socioeconomie duale", in Danzin, E. et al, (eds) "La société française et la téchnologie", La documentation française, Paris, 1980.
ANSOFF, H. Igor DECLERCH, Roger P.	"From Strategic Planning to Strategic Management",
HAYES, Robert L. (editors)	John Wiley and Sons, New York, 1976.
ANTONELLI, Christiano	"Transborder Data Flows and International Business - A Pilot Study", prepared for the OECD Working Party on Information, Computer and Communications Policy (ICCP) (DSTI/ICCP/81.16), OECD Paris, 2 June 1981.
	"Anwendung der Mikroelektronik im Machinenbau", 2 Volumes study prepared for the Ministry for Research and Technology (BMFT), Bonn, by the VDI - Technologiezentrum Berlin, Berlin, September 1980.
	"Automatisation Spécial" Industries et Techniques (Paris) No. 441, 31 December 1980, 355 p.

.

ARTHUR D. LITTLE, INC. The Strategic Impact of Intelligent Electronics in the United States and Western Europe 1977 - 1987", 11 volumes, New York, 1979. ARTHUR D. LITTLE, INC. "The World Computer Industry, 1975 - 1980", Paris, February 1976. ARTHUR D. LITTLE, INC. "The Microprocessor Industry 1974 - 1979", New York, 1975. "The Automobile Crisis and Public Policy. An Interview with Philip Caldwell" Harvard Business Review, January/February 1981 p. 81. BABBAGE, Charles "On the Economy of Machinery and Manufacturers" London, Charles Knight, 1835 4 (reprinted 1971 by Agustus M. Kelly-Publishers, New York). BAIN, J.S. "Barriers to New Competition," Harvard University Press, Cambridge, 1956. BAIN, J.S. Economics of Scale, Concentration and the Condition of Entry in Twenty Manufacturing Industries, American Economic Peview, March 1954. BALACHANDRAN, G. "Electronics in India", The Hindu (Madras) Part I : 23 January 1980 Part II : 13 February 1980 Part III: 27 February 1980 BARNES, D. "Focus on Floppy-Disk-Drives", Electronic Design, No. 21, 11 October 1977, p. 196 - 204. "The World's Resources", BARNETT, Richard The New Yorker, 17,31 March and 7 April 1980, 140p. BARRON, Iann and "The Future with Microelectronics", CURNOW, Ray The Open University Press, London 1979.

BASSAK, Gil	"Software Wars Hit Home Computers" Electronics, 27 January 1981.
BASSAK, Gil	"Microelectronics Takes to the Road in a Big Way: A Special Report", <u>Electronics</u> , 20 November 1980, pp 113 - 122.
BAUR, F.	"Innovation durch Mikroelektronik", Rationalisierung, 1979, p. 91 - 94
BELL, Daniel	"The Coming of Post-Industrial Society", Basic Books, New York, 1973
BENACHENHOU, Abtellatif	"Le Tiers-Monde en Jeu," CREA, Alger 1981
BENNAÇEUR, Seifeddine G EL E François	"New Forms of Technological Dependence in Developing Countries Inherent in the Worldwide Organization of the Electronics Industry", in: Ernst, D. (ed), 1980.
BERTING, J. MILLS, S.C. WINTERSBERGER, H. (eās)	"The Socio-Economic Impact of Microelectronics" Pergamon Press, Oxford, 1980.
BESSANT, J.R. BOWEN, J.A.E.	"The Impact of Microelectronics. A Review of the Literature"
DICKSON, K.E. MARSH, J.	Frances Pinter, London, 1981.
BESSANT, J.R. DICKSON, K.E.	"Issues in the Adoption of Microelectronics", University of Aston, Birmingham, February 1981.
BIBERACHER, H. KUENZEL, O.	"Einchip-Mikrocomputer", <u>Elektrotechnik</u> 60, No. 5, 10 March 1978, p. 22 - 30.
BJOERKMAN, Torsten LUNDQUIST, Karin	"Work Relations, Capital Accumulation and Technological Change",
TMMELSTRAND, ULf	Paper presented to the Cavtat Round Table '81 "Socialism, Science, Technology, Development Strategies", 21 - 26 September 1981, Cavtat, Yugoslavia.

BLAKESLEE, Th.R.	"Digital Design with Standard MSI and LSI", New York-London-Sydney-Toronto, 1975.
BLOHMAYER-BARTENSTEIN, H.	"Mikroprozessoren und Mikrocomputer", München, 1977.
BLOOD, B.	"Systemaufwand und Mikroprogrammierung mit ein- fachen und schnellen bipolaren uPs", <u>Elektronikpraxis</u> , No. 7/8, August 1978, p. 16 - 30.
BODINAT, H. de MERCIER, V.	"L'analyse stratégique moderne", <u>l'Expansion</u> , No. 11, Winter 1978-1979.
BOGERS, A. FREEMAN, C. PAVITT, K ZEGVELL, W.	"The Current International Economic Climate and Policies for Technical Innovation. Report repared for the Six Countries Programme on Government Policies towards Technological Innovation in Industry", TNO, Delft/Netherlands, November 1977.
BOMBARDT, K.	Vom Transistor zum Grossschaltkreis, in: Fraunhofer Gesellschaft (ed), "Anwendung der Halbleitertechnik in der mittelständischen Industrie", München, 1977, p. 35-37.
BRANKAMP, K.	"Planung und Entwicklung neuer Produkte", Berlin,1971.
BRENDER, Anton CHEVALLIEF, Agnès PISANI-FERRY, Jean	"Etats-Unis: Croissance, crise et changement technique dans une economie tertiaire", <u>Economie Prospective Internationale</u> No. 2 , 1980, published by Centre d'Etudes Prospectives et d'Informations Internationales (CEPII), Paris.
BROCK, G.W.	"The U.S. Computer Industry", Ballinger Publishing Company, Cambridge 1975.
BROOKS Jr., Frederick	"Mythical Manmonths", Addison Wesley, New York, 1975.
BROWA, H. JACOBS, T. WALKER, P HEIMFRIED, W.	"Technischer Fortschritt. Auswirkungen suf Wirt- schaft und Arbeitsmarkt. Untersuchungsboricht" study prepared for the Ministry for Research and Technology (BMT), Basel/Luton, October 1979.

BUCHANAN, Jack R. "Understanding distributed data processing", Hervard Business Review, July - August 1980. LINOWES, Richard G. "USA: Büro-und EDV-Technik", Koln 1980. BUNDESSTELLE FUER AUSSEN-BFAI No. MI-P/950. HANDELSINFORMATIONEN "Ist universelle Mikrocomputer-Systemsoftware BURKHARDT, W.H. möglich?", Angewandte Informatik, 1978, p. 377 - 380. "Microprocessor Selection Guide", BURSKY, D. Electronic Design, No. 21, 11 October 1977, p. 55 - 82. BUSINESS INTERNATIONAL "Labour and the Multinational Corporation in the 1980's: That Labour wants from the MNC's", multiclient study (Fee: \$ 2,500), August 1980, New York. BYLINSKY, Gene "Big Science Struggles with the Problems of its own Success", Fortune, July 1977. CABLE, Vincent "World Textile Trade and Production", The Economist Intelligence Unit Special Report, No. 63, London, 1979. "British Electronics and Competition with Newly CABLE, Vincent Industrialising Countries", CLARKE, Jeremy The Overseas Development Institute, London, July 1981. CALLAHAN, John "Is BOD a Competitive Force in the Semiconductor Market?", Armed Forces Journal, June 1980, "Library Software Description", CAM-I PS-76-PPP-03, Arlington, Texas, November 1977.

CANE, Alan "Package Software Set for Boom", Financial Times, 13 May 1981 CANE, Alan "Texas Gets Committed to Uncommitted Logic", Financial Times, 11 February 1981. CASTELLS, Manuel "The Economic Crisis and American Society", Princeton 1980. CHAMOUX, J.-P. "L'information sans frontières", La Documentation Française, Paris, 1980. CHANG, Y.S. "The Transfer of Technology: The Economics of Offshore Assembly. The Case of Semiconductor Industry", United Nations, New York, 191. CHARLES H. CLINE AND CO. "Electronic Chemicals" Fairfield, N.Y. 07006, 1981. CHARLES RIVER 'Innovation, Competition and Government Policy ASSOCIATES in the Semiconductor Industry', Boston 1980. CHARLISH, Geoffrey "Micro Circuit Engineering Joins the Logic Array Club", Financial Times, 31 July 1981. CHASE, P.S. "Trends in Components", GREENMAN, F Stanford Research Institute, WALTON, S.A. manuscript, Stanford, 1975. CHASE MANHATTAN BANK "U.S. and Japanese Semiconductor Industries: A Final Comparison", report prepared for the Semiconductor Industry Association, Cupertino, California, 9 June 1980. "Historique et classifications des langages de CHASLES, F. programmation", in: "Traité pratique d'informatique", Paris, 1975.

"Some Observations on Alternative Approaches to CHESNAIS, François the Analysis of International Competitiveness MICHON-SAVARIT, Catherine and the Role of the Technology Factor", paper presented at the Science + Technology Indicators Conference, 15th - 19th September 1980, OECD, Directorate for Science, Technology and Industry. (STIC/80.41), Paris, 25 August 1980. "The Chip Revolution... A Candid Conversation", Datamation, June 1979, pp. 98 - 107. "Chips in the 1980's: The Application of Microelectronic Technology in Products for Consumer and Business Markets", Special Report No. 67, The Economist Intelligence Unit, London 1979. CLARY, Pierre "Informatique et développement", L'economiste du tiers monde, November 1980. COMMISSARIAT GENERAL "L'impact industriel de la microelectronique", AU PLAN Rapport du Groupe de Travil, Paris, December 19⁹0. COMMISSION OF THE EUROPEAN "FAST - Sub-programme Information Society Research Activities", Directorate-General for Research, COMMUNITIES Science and Education (EUR 7104 EN, FR), Brussels 1980. COMMISSION OF THE EUROPEAN "Proposal for a Council Regulation (EEC) COMMUNITIES Concerning Community Actions in the Field of Microelectronic Technology" COM (80) 421 final, Brussels, 1 September 1980. COMMISSION OF THE EUROPEAN "Micro-Electronics and Vocational Training in the COMMUNITIES European Community", report prepared by C. Hayes and F. Edwards-Stuart, Brussels, 1980. COMMISSION OF THE EUROPEAN "Programme of Research and Actions on the Development of the Labour Market", study no. 80/35, COMMUNITIES Brussels, 1980.

ŀ,

"Computer Industry", Financial Times Survey, 19 February 1979. "Computerized Automation Takes Off", Industrial Research and Development News, Vol. VII, No. 2, p. 24 - 27. "Computerprogramme vom Reissbrett. Stemens sucht nach Wegen, Software billiger herzustellen", Blick durch die Wirtschaft, 19 March 1981, p. 7. "Computers" Financial Times Survey, 2 March 1981. "Computers. Falling Behind in Mainframe Output". Business Week, 20 October 1980. 'Assessing Future Trends in the Information Handling Industry for Job Creation Evaluation Purposes. A selective Data Base for EEC through 1985", FAST Program B-2, Brussels, 19 Movember 1980 XII/FAST/50/81/EN. "A Century of Light", Benjamin Co., New York, 1979. "Microcomputer Software Strategies", Report by Creative Strategics International, San José, California 95129, May 1981. "Growth in Advanced Capitalist Economies 1950-1970", Cambridge University Press, 1973.

> "Microchips: Down But By No Means Out", Financial Times, 17 June 1981,

CONSULTRONIQUE

COX, James A.

CREATIVE STRATEGIES INTERNATIONAL INC.

CRIPS, T.F. TARLING, R.J.

CRISP, Jason

"The Data Processing Industry in the World", DAFSA Paris, August 1976. "Structured Programming", DAHL, O. London, 1972. DIJKSTRA, E.U. HOARE, C.A.R. "La société française et la technologie", DANZIN, A. et al (editors) La Documentation Française, Paris 1980. "Database Boom: MNC's Find Big Choice and Bigger Bills", Business International, 5 September 1980. "Data Communications - European chip makers' last chance?", Business Week, 17 November 1980. "Date Processing - Joining hands against Japan", Business Week, 10 November 1980. "Datentechnik und Informationsverarbeitung", Spiegel-Verlagsreihe "Märkte im Wandel", Volume 9, Hamburg, 1979. "Pricing Policies for New Products", DEAN, J. Harvard Business Review, November 1950. "Personal Computers Come of Age. The Growth de JONQUIERES, Guy of a \$ 1 Billion Market, Financial Times, 21 August 1981. "How to Exploit Technology", de JONQUIERES, Guy Financial Times, 3 June 1981 "The Computer Age: A Twenty-Year View", DERTOUZOS, Michael L. The MIT Press, Cambridge/Mass. 1979. MOSES, Joel (eds) "Forget the Product Life Cycle Concept", DHALLA, N.K. Harvard Business Review, January 1976. YUSEPH, S.

"How to Determine Fair Market Prices for DICKENS, Howard Integrated Circuits", Defense Electronics, June 1980. "Distributed Data Processing Decisions", report published by Fortune Marketing Research New York, 1980. "Technical Change and Survival: Europe's DOSI, Giovanni Semiconductor Industry ", Sussex European Research Centre, University of Sussex, 1981. "Microprocessor Programming and Software DUCAN,, F.G. Development", Englewood Cliffs, 1979. "Du Pont: Seeking a Future in Bioscience", Business Week, 24 November 1980. "Soviet computers: better than expected", DURNIAK, Anthony Electronics, 28 September 1978. ELECTRONIC TREND PUBLICATIONS "The VISI Capital Eugipment Outlook", Cupertino, Calif., 1980 (annual subscription: US\$ 4,000). "The End of the Industrial Society", 50th Anniversary Issue of Business Week, dedicated to the crisis of 1929, 3 September 1979, pp 2 - 56. "Electronics Industry", Financial Times Survey, 1 July 1981. "Electronics 1981 World Market Forecast" Electronics, 13 January 1981 "Die Entwicklung des Elektronikmarktes bis zum Jahre 1982". Elektronik, 1978, No. 11. p.47 "Die Entwicklung des Elektronikmarktes bis zum Jahre 1982', Elektronik, 1978, No. 11. p.47.

- 3-3 -

ELLIS, P. "Social Impact of Software in the 1990's", in: A. Simpson (ed), "The Computer Software Scene: The Hari Sell", Purley, 1977, p. 53 - 59. ENGELBERGER, Joseph "Robots in Fractice" Kogan Page, London, 1980. "Engineering Suicide", New Scientist, 6 November 1980. ERNST, Dieter "L'age d'or du transfert de technologie touche-t-il à son terme?", Le Monde Diplomatique, December 1981. ERNST, Dieter "International Transfer of Technology and Industrial Restructuring Perspectives for the 1980's", paper presented to the symposium on "Alternative Strategies for Science and Technology in Latin America for the 1980's", CLACSO, (=Consejo Latinoamericano de Ciencas Sociales) - Commission on Science, Technology and Development, Caracas, 27 - 31 October 1981 ERNST, Dieter "Technology Policy for Self-Reliance - Some Major Issues", International Social Science Journal, Vol. XXXIII, No. 3, September 1981. ERNST, Dieter "The Software Market - Conditioning Factors and Possible Future Trends. An Analysis Undertaken from a Third World Perspective", Paper prepared for UNIDO expert group meeting on the implications of microelectronics for developing countries, Vienna, Austria, 10-12 June 1981. ERNST, Dieter "Industrial Redeployment and Control over Technology - Consequences for the Third World", in: Ernst, D. (ed), March 1981. ERNST, Dieter (Editor) "Industrial Redeployment and International Transfer of Technology: Trends and Policy Issues", <u>special issue "Vierteljahresberichte –</u> <u>Probleme der Entwicklungsländer"</u>, (Friederich Ebert Foundation), Nr. 83, March 1981, 123 pages.

ERNST, Dieter	"International Transfer of Technology , Techno- logical Dependence and Underdevelopment: Key Issues", in <u>Ernst, D</u> . 1980.
ERNST, Dieter (ed)	"The New International Division of Labour Technology and Underdevelopment - Consequences for the Third World", Campus, Frankfurt am Main and New York, 1980.
	646 pages.
ERNST, Dieter HOFFMAN, Kurt KAPLINSKY, Raphael	"Implications of Technological Advances in Microelectronics for Developing Countries: A Suggested Programmes of Policy Studies and Action",
RADA, Juan RUSH, Howard	<pre>Paper prepared for UNIDO expert group meeting on the implications of microelectronics for developing countries, Vienna, Austria, 10 - 12 June 1981.</pre>
ETIENNE, E.C.	"Interactions between Product R + D and Process Technology", <u>Research Management (U.S.)</u> , January 1981.
EUROPEAN TRADE UNION INSTITUTE	"The Impact of Microelectronics on Employment in Western Europe in the 1980's ",
	study prepared by John Evans, Brussels, February 1980.
FAJNZYLBER, Fernando	"The Industrial Dynamic in Advanced Economics and in Sem i-Industrialized Countries",
	paper presented to the 11th Pacific Trade and Development Conference, 1 - 4 September 1980, Korem Development Institute, Seoul, Korea.
FAJNZYLBER, Fernando	"Capital Goods Programme in Mexico, Conception, Content and Achievement", UNIDO ID/WG.314/1
	Vienna, 19 November 1979.
FLENDER, J.O. MORSE, R.	"The Role of New Technical Enterprises in the U.S. Economy", Cambridge/Mass: MIT Development Foundation, 1975.
FLYNN. M.J.	"Soctware Systems Principlas _ A Survey"
FULLER, S.H. MUNTH, R.R.	Chicago-Palo Alto-Toronto, 1975.

2

\$

]

FORD, David RYAN, Chris

FORESTER, Tom (ed)

FOUQUIN, Michel KESSLER, Véronique et al

FRANK, André Gunder

FRANKO, L.G.

FRANKO, L.G.

FRAUNHOFER GESELLSCHAFT (Ed)

FREEMAN, Chris

FRENCH, Michael B.

"The Marketing of Technology", Harvard Business Review, March/April 1981.

"The Microelectronics Revolution. The complete guide to the new technology and its impact on society", Basil Blackwell, Oxford, 1980.

"Redéploiemonts géographiques et rapports de force industriels", <u>Economie Prospective Internationale</u> No. 1 , 1981, 116 pp.

"Crisis in the World Economy", Holmes and Meier, New York, 1980,

"Adjusting to Export Thrusts of Newly Industrializing Countries: An Advanced Country Perspective", The Economic Journal, June 1981.

"A Survey of the Impact of Manufactured Exports from Industrializing Countries in Asia and Latin America: Must Export-Oriented Growth be Disruptive?", NPA Committee on Changing International Realities Washington D.C., November 1979.

"Anwendung der Halbleitertechnik in der Mittelständischen Industrie", München, 1977.

"The Kondratiev Long Waves, Technical Change and Unemployment", proceedings of OECD Meetings Of Experts on Structural Determinants of Employment and Unemployment, Paris, 1977.

"The Semiconductor Industry: An Overview", Datamation, April 1980, pp 164 - 170.

FRIEDRICHS, G. "Einsatz von Mikroprozessoren - Auswirkungen auf Produktion und Beschäftigung (I)" Rationalisierung, 1978, p. 157 - 160. FRIEDRICHS, G. "Einsatz von Mikroprozessoren - Auswirkungen auf Produktion und Beschäftigung (II)", Rationalisierung, 1978, p. 209 - 212. "La microélectronique: impacts socio-économiques", FRIEDRICHS, C. Futuribles, No. 36, September 1980. "The New International Division of Labour", FROEBEL, Folker HEINRICHS, Jurgen Cambridge University Press, 1980, KREYE, Otto (Originally published in German in 1977). FROST and SULLIVAN, INC. "Commercial Automatic Test Equipment Markets in Europe" London, 1981. "Energy Efficient Data Communications Networks" FROST and SULLIVAN, INC. Customer Service, Frost and Sullivan Inc., report no. A833, New York. "Information Processing Supplier and Markets", FROST and SULLIVAN, INC. New York, July 1981. FROST and CULLIVAN, INC. "Minicomputer Systems Market in Europe" New York 1981, 950 p. FUCHS, A. "Der Erwerb von Computern", Zürich, 1978. "Can More Capital Buy Higher Productivity?", GALE, Bradley T. Harvard Business Review, July - August 1980. "Capitalism in Crisis" GAMBLE, A. MacMillan Press, London, 1976. WALTON, P. "Elektronische Bauelemence als Innovationsfaktor -GARBRECHT, K. Beispiel Mikroelektronik". VDI - Berichte, No. 319, 1978, P. 63 - 67.

"Gate Arrays. A Special Report". <u>Electronics</u>, 25 September 1980, p. 145 - 158. "Innovation - Organisationsstrukturelle Bedingungen innovativen Verhaltens", <u>ZfO</u>, 1979, p. 283 - 292. "Gene Amdahl takes aim at IBM", <u>Fortune</u>, September 1977. "General Electric. The Financial Wizards Switch Back to Technology", <u>Business Week</u>, 16 March 1981, p. 74 - 70.

GERSHUNY, Jay "After Industrial Society? The Emerging Self-Service Economy", The MacMillan Press, London, 1978.

> "Le role des biens d'equipment dans l'exercice de l'effet de domination technologique. Deuxième partie: Importance et conditions de la maîtrise technologique dans la filiére composants électronique matériels d'automatisme/biens d'equipement automatisés",

Contract study for the Commissariat Général du Plan d'Equipement et de la Productivité (C.O.R.D.E.S.), Paris, September 1980.

"Les liens économique entre l'est et l'oust sont-ils irréversibles?", Le Monde Diplomatique, May 1980.

"L'automatisation dans l'industrie: impact sur le niveau de l'emploi à moyen terme", report prepared for the Commissariat Général du Plan and the Ministère du Tranvail, Paris, January 1980.

GIROUD, Françoise et al "Reflexions sur l'avenir du 'ravail", study prepared for the Commissariat Général du Plan. La Documentation Française, Paris, 1980.

GLOWINSKI, Albert "Des scénarios par l'an 2000", Futuribles, No. 36, September 1980.

GEBERT, D.

GEZE, François

GEZE, François

GUTMAN, Patrick

GEZE, François

GINSBURGER, F.

GODET, Michel "L'Europe en Mutation", RUYSSEN, Olivier Study prepared for the FAST programme of the Commission of the European Communities, Brussels 1980. "A U.S. View of Software Trends", GOETZ, Martin A. Financial Times, 15 June 1981. "The Semiconductor Industry in Britain and the United States", dissertation , University of Sussex, 1971. "Simplify Your Next Microcomputer", Electronic Design, No. 15, 19 July 1977, p. 64 - 71. "Software Engineering", München, Wien, 1977. "Soviet Introduction of New Technology: A Depiction of the Process". Standford Research Institute/Strategic Research Centre, 1975.

"The U.S. Wages Micro-War", Far Eastern Economic Review, 16 March 1979.

> "Probleme der Innovationspraxis in der Industrie", Berlin 1977.

"La révolution microélectronique" Futuribles, Nc. 36, September 1980.

"Sciences de la vie et société ", La Documentation Française, Paris, 1979.

"Microprocessor and Microcomputer Systems", New York, 1978.

"Survival strategies in a hostile enviornment" Harvard Business Review, September - October 1980.

GROS, F.

GUTHIKONDA, V.R.

HALL, William K.

GOSS, L. RAPHAEL, H.

GOWALD, K. HAAKE, G. PFADLER, W.

GOLDING, A.

GRANICK, David

GREGORY, Gene

GRETEMANN, K SPRENGER, R.U.

GRIVET, Pierre

JACOB, F.

ROYER, P.

HANSON, Richard	"Computer Software. Demand Continues to Outrun Supply", in: "Japan. The Information Revolution", Financial Times Survey, 6 July 1981. p. XIV.
HARTLEY, John	"TI Japan Set to Manufacture a Million 64KRAM's per Month", <u>Electronic Times</u> , 23 July 1981.
HEDLEY, B.	"Strategy and the Business Fortfolio", Long Range Planning, Jan ary 1978.
HEINRICHS, L.J.	"Mittlere Datentechnik - Entwicklungstendenzen der Hardware, Software, Programmierung und Andwendung aus der Sicht der Wissenschaft", <u>Angewandte Informatik</u> , 1975, No. 2, p. 45 - 51.
HILBERG, W. PILOTY, R. (Editors)	"Mikroprozessoren und ihre Anwendungen", München-Wien, 1977.
HILL, C.T.	"Technological Innovation, Agent of Growth and Change", manuscript, MIT, Centre for Policy Alternative, Cambridge, Mass., December 1978.
HILL, T.P.	"Profits and Rates of Roturn", OECD, Paris, 1979.
HIMMELSTRAND, Ulf et al	"Beyond Welfare Capitalism. Issues, Action and Forces in Social Change", London, Heinemann, 1981.
HOARE, C.A.R.	"Structured Programming", London 1972.
HOFER, R.	"Entwicklung mit Mikroprozessoren", Elektronik, 1977, No. 1. p. 45 - 47.
HOFFMAN, H.K. RUSH, H.J.	"Microelectronics and the Garment Industry: Not Yet a Perfect Fit", in: "International Conference on Informatics and Industrial Development. Confer- ence Papers", 9 -13 March 1981, Trinity College, Dublin, Ireland.
HOLMES, Edith	"Why the U.S. Isn't Rushing on Videotext Standards, Business Week, 17 November 1980.

"Technischer Forschritt. Auswirkungen auf Wirt-INFO-INSTITUT FUER WIRTSCHAFTS-FORSCHUNG, FRAUNHOFER-INSTITUT schaft und Arbeitsmarkt. Ergebnisband", FUER SYSTEMTECHNIK UND INNOVA-München, September 1979. TIONSFORSCHUNG INFRATEST WIRTSCHAFTSFORSCHUNG "Conditions of Work in the Textile Industry, ILO Including Problems Related to Organization of Work", Report III, Textiles Committee, 10th Session, Geneva, 1978. "World Economic Outlook: A survey by the Staff IMF of the International Monetary Fund", Washington D.C., July 1981. "Information. Still on the Leading Edge of Growth", Business Week, 12 January 1981. "Informationstechnologie und Beschäftigung. Eine Übersicht über internationale Studien", Joint Study prepared for the Ministry for Research and Technonogy (BMFT) by the VDI-Technologiezentrum Berlin, the Wirtschaftspolitische Arbeitsgruppe im Institut für Volkswirtschaftslehre der Universität Regensburg and the Wissenschaftszentrum Berlin, Internationales Institute für Management und Verwaltung. Econ Verlag, Düsseldorf and Wien, 1980. "Informatisation et changement economique Actes du collogue international informatique et société". 5 volumes, La Documentation Française, Paris, 1980. INPUT, INC. "International Market Opportunities for On-Line Data Base Services", Palo Alto, Calif., 94303 July 1981.



- 358 -

INTEGRATED CIRCUIT ENGINEERING CORPORATION

INTEL COPPORATION (ed)

INTERNATIONAL RESOURCE DEVELOPMENT, INC.

INTERNATIONAL TEXTILE, GARMENT AND LEATHER WORKERS' FEDERATION

JANCO, Manuel FURJOT, Daniel

JENKINS, Clive SHERMAN, Barrie "Status 80. A Report on the Integrated Circuit Industry", Scottsdale, Arizona, 1981.

Data Catalog 1977, Santa Clara, Calif., 1977.

"Chinese and Russian Communications Markets",

Study prepared by International Resource Development Inc., Norwalk, CT06851, USA.

"The International Division of Labour and International Trade in Textiles, Clothing, Shoe and Leather Products (Including Outward Processing). Discussion Document", Part One : Outward Processing in the Textiles, Clothing, Shoe and Leather Industries; Part Two : Free Trade Zones; Part Three : The Social Clause. Brussels, October 1980.

"Investissement, Productivité et Substitution du Capital au Travail", special issue of <u>Economie et Statistique</u> (Journal de l'INSEE, Paris), No. 127, November 1980.

"Informatique et capitalisme", François Maspéro, Paris, 1972.

"Japan. The Information Revolution", Financial Times Survey, 6 July 1981, p. I - XVI

"Japan's Plans for 1980's Pose Global Challenge for Western Firms", <u>Business International</u>, 14 November 1980.

Japan's Chip Makers Line up to Compete. Special Report", Electronics, 2 June 1981 (1991) 1920

"Japanese Rele Ahead With Quick Chips", New Sciencist, 16 October 1980.

"apon, mode ou modèle", special issue of Revue Française de Gestion, Nos. 27 + 28, 1981.

"The Collapse of Work", Eyre Mathuen, London, 1979.

JOERN, Fritz "Wenn der Computer ohne Betriebsunterbrechung repariert werden soll", Blick durch die Wirtschaft, 19 February 1981. JONES, I.T. "Output, Employment and Labor Productivity in Europe since 1955", N.I.E.R., August 1976. JUDET, Pierre "Les nouveaux pays industriels", Les éditions ouvrierès, Paris, October 1981. "La chaîne de l'innovation: de la recherche fondamentale à la fabrication industrielle. Le cas des circuits intégrés" Le prorès scientifique, No. 188, May-June 1977. p. 5 - 16. "Automatic Control by Distributed Intelligence", KAHNE, Stephen LEFKOWITZ, Irving Scientific American, June 1979, p. 54 - 66. ROSE, Charles KALETSKY, Anatol "World Economies Dance to a U.S. Tune", Financial Times, 8 June 1981. KANDELL, Jonathan "Labor and Siege". part 1, "Europe's Union Face New Task as Problems Mirror Industries".

JUNG, J.

KEHOE, Louise

KEHOE, Louise

International Herald Tribune, 27 July 1981.

"Personal IBM Secret Revealed", Financial Times, 19 August 1981.

KEHOE, Louise "Why Bubble Memories Fell from Grace", Financial Times, 16 June 1981.

> "Super Chip Joins the Army", New Scientist, 7 February 1980.

KENDRICK, J.W.	"Impacts of Rapid Technological Change in the United States Business Economy and in the Communications, Electronic Equipment and Semi- conductor Industry Groups", in: OECD - "Microelectronics, Productivity and Employment", proceedings of a Special Session of the Working Farty on Information, Computer and Communications Policy, OECD, Paris, 1981.
KERNIGHAN, B.W. PLANGER, P.J.	"Software Tools", Reading, 1976.
	"Key Concerns for MNCs During the Year Ahead Make for a Grim 1980", Business International, 4 January 1980.
KIMM, R. et al	"Einführung in Goftware Engineering", New York - Berlin,1979.
KNOX, J.	"Government Direct Financial Assistance to Industry. Programmes, Experiences and Trends", report prepared for the Six Countries Programme on Aspects fo Government Policies towards Technological Innovation in Industry. TNO, Delft/Netherlands, February 1977.
KUECKEN, John A.	"Handbook of microprocessor applications", Tab Books, Blue Ridge Summit, Pa., 1980.
KURT SALOMOM ASSOCIATES MANAGEMENT CONSULTANTS	"The 1980's: The Fecade for Technology? A Study of the State of the Art of Arsembly of Apparel Enclusts', study preparel for the Commission of the European Communities, Brussels, December 1979.
LAFAY, Gérard FOUQUIN, Michel	"Spécialisation et adaptation face à la crise", Economie Prospective Internationale, Paris, 1980. 118 p.
LAMBORGHINI, Bruno	"The Enterprise: A Mechanism to Transfer Micro- electronic Innovation into Society", manuscript prepared for the Club of Rome, Hamburg, March 1981.

LAMBORGHINI, Eruno "The Impact of Electronics on Industrial ANTONELLI, Christiano Structures and Firm Strategies. A Microeconomic Approach with Specific Reference to the Information Processing and Telecommunications Industry", OECD, (DSTI/ICCP/79.62/12), Paris, 19 November 1979. Fublished as: "The Impact of Electronics on Industrial Structures and Firms' Strategie." in: OECD - "Microelectronic., Productivity and Employment", Paris, 1981. "Les nouveaux Japons", LAMY, Jean-Jacques L'Economiste du Tiers Monde, No. 51, October 1980. LANDES, David S. "The Unbound Prometheus. Jechnological Change and Industrial Development in Western Europe from 1750 to the Present", Cambridge University Press, 1969. LANGER, F. "Problèmes de politique industrielle à propos du secteur textile", manuscript, Paris, December 1980. LAU, St. Y. "Emulate your own microprocessor", Electronic Design, No. 8, 12 April 1978, p. 74 - 81. LE COINTRE, M. "L'industrie mondiale des composants actifs", DAFSA, Paris 1977. "The Role of Logical Domain Hodels in Decision LEE. Ronald M. Support Systems", Working Paper, International Institute for Applied Systems Analysis, WP-81-155, Laxenburg/Austria, December 1981. LEE, Ronald M. "Analyzing Red Tape: The Performative vs Informative Roles of Bureaucratic Documents", Working Paper, International Institute for Applied Systems Analysis. WP-80-184, Laxenburg, Austria, December 1980. LEE, Ronald M. "Applications Software and Organizational Change: Issues in the Representation of Knowledge", Working Paper, International Institute for Applied Systems Analysis, WP-80-182, Laxenburg, Austria, December 1980. LENNINGS, Manfred "Das grösste Kapital ist der Mensch. Eine Bestandsaufnahme der deutschen Industrie", Blick durch die Wirtschaft, 23 March 1981. "Capacity strategies for the 1980's" LEONE, Robert A.

Harvard Business Review, November - December 1980.

MEYER, John R.

- 362 -

"Microprocessor Interface Technique", LESEA. A. Berkeley, Calif., 1977. ZACKS, R. LEVINE, Herbert S. "Implications of Technology Transfer for the USSR", in: GREEN, Donald W. "East-West Technological Co-operation. Main Firlings of Colloquium held 17th - 19th March, 1976 in Brussels". NATO-Directorate of Economic Affairs, Brussels, 1978. LEVINTHAL, Donald J. "Automate, But Bring it Back Onshore", editorial, Semiconductor International, April 1981. LILIEN, H. "Guide mondial des microprocesseurs", Les Editions Radio, Paris, 1977. "Multinational Firms and Manufacturing for Export LIM, Linda J. in Less-Developed Countries: The Case of the Electronics Industry in Malaysia and Singapore", dissertation, The University of Michigan, Ann Arbor/Michigan, 1978. "Why Technology is a Matter of Strategy and Not LORENZ, Christopher Just Research", Financial Times, 5 May 1981. "La crise du XXè Siècle", LORENZI, Jean-Hervé Economica, Paris, 1980 PASTRE, Olivier TOLEDANO, Joëlle "L'electronisation de la société", LORENZI, Jean-Hervé Rapport IRIS-ENST, Paris, 1978. LEBOUCHER, E. MEYER, D. PASTRE, 0. TOLEDANO, J. TRULL, J.L. MABON, P.C. 'Mission Communications, The Story of Bell Laboratories", Bell Laboratories, 1975. "Machine-Tool Technology. Special Report", American Machinist, October 1980, p. 105 - 128. "Worldwide Semiconductor Industry Outlook - 1985". MACKINTOSH CONSULTANTS, INC. Luton, 1981.

ķ

MACKINTUSH CONSULTANTS, INC. "Semiconductor Assembly Equipment and Materials Outlook", Mackintosh Publications Ltd., Darmstadt, July 1981. MACKINTOSH CONSULTANTS, INC. "Semiconductor Microlithography Equipment and Materials Outlook to 1985", Luton, June 1981. MACKINTOSH CONSULTANTS, INC. "Profile of the European Semiconductor Industry', Luton, 1981. MACKINTOSH CONSULTANTS, INC. "Worldwide Semiconductor Industry Outlook to 1985", San José, California, October 1980. MACKINTOSH, lan M. "An Overview of the Electronics Industry in Europe", paper prepared for the UNIDO expert group meeting on the implications of microelectronics for developing countries (B.P.3), UNIDO, Vienna, 10 - 12 June 1981. "Micros: The Coming World War", in: MACKINTOSH, Ian M. Forester, Iom (ed) - "The Micro-electronics Recolution", Oxford, 1980. "A Prognosis of the impending intercontinental MACKINTOSH, Ian M. LSI battle", Micrcélectronics Journal, Vol. 9, No. 2., 1978. MADEJF, Bernadette "La notion de dépendance technologique en économie internationale", dissertation, Université de Paris X Paris, May 1977, 461p. "Mainframe on Three Chips", Business Week, 2 Mar h 1981 "And Tomorrow .. the World? Inside IBM", MALIK, R. Millington, London, 1975.

MANSFIELD, E. "Innovation in the United States, Its State of Health", paper presented to the "Symposium on Innovation", University of Pennsylvania, Autumn 1979. MANSFIELD, E. "The Economics of Technical Change", Norton, New York, 1968. MARITY, B. "Magnetblasenspeicher - Bausteine und Systeme", McCARTHY, Th.C. Elektronik, 1979, No. 11, p. 45 - 52. MARSH, Peter "Europe Kidnaps R2D2 and C3P0", New Scientist, 18 September 1,80. MARSH, Peter "Japan Stakes its Future on Research", New Scientist, & November 1980. "Technology Rules in Japan's Factories", MARSH, Peter New Scientist, 30 October 1980. "Towards the Unmanned Factory", MARSH, Peter New Scientist, 31 July 1980. "The Changing Face of Applications Programming," McCRACKEN, Daniel D. Datamation, November 1978. "Ferranti is Fighting to Keep its Place in the ${\rm Gat}\varepsilon$ McLEAN, Mick Array Scene as Hattle Hots Up", Electronics Times, 19 February 1981. "Onset of Battle with Arrays on the Gate", McLEAN, Mick Electronics Times, 12 February 1981. McLEAN, Mick "The Impact of Microelectronics on the U.K.: RUSH, Hovard A Suggested Classification and Illustrative Case Study", Occasional Paper Series No. 7, Science Policy Research Unit, University of Sussex, Brighton, 1978.

MERHAV, Meir "Technological Dependence, Monopoly and Growth", Pergamon Fress, Oxford, etc. 1969. **–** –

MEYER, John R.	"The Economics of Competition in the Tele- communications Industry", Cambridge/Mass: Oelschlager, Gunn and Hain, Inc. 1980.
	"Microelectronics: A Survey", <u>The Economist</u> , 1 - 7 March 1980, p. 3 - 4.
	"Microprocesseur et Robots. Les effets de la technologie moderne sur les travailleurs", study prepared for the Fédérations Internationale des Organisations de travailleurs de la metallurgie (FIOM), Geneva, 1979.
MINIAN, Isaac	"Progreso tecnico e internacionalización del proceso productivo: el ceso de la industria maquiladora de tipo electrónica", <u>CIDE</u> , Mexico City, August 1981.
	"Missing Computer Software", Business Week, 1 September 1980.
MITTER, R.	'LSI Semiconductor Memories", in: W.E. Proebster (ed) <u>Digital Memory and Storage</u> , Braunschweig, 1978, p. 97 - 104.
MOCK, A.	"Massnahmen zur Überwindung von Innovations- hemmnissen", <u>Rationalisierung</u> , 1979, p. 12, 17 - 21.
MODIGLIANI, F.	"New Developments on the Oligopoly Front", The Journal of Political Economy, June 1958.
MOXON, Richard	"Offshore Sourcing in Less-Developed Countries: A Case Study of Multinationality in the Electronics Industry", <u>The Bulletin</u> , New York University Graduate School of Business Administration, Institute of Finan. 3. Nos. 98 - 99, July 1974.

- 300 -

MUMFORD, Levis "The Myth of the Machine". Vol. I : Technics and Human Development Vol. II : The Pentagon of Power, New York, 1963. NATIONAL ACADEMY OF "Microstructure Science, Engineering, and Technology", SCIENCES Washington D.C. 1979. NATIONAL ECONOMIC "The Microelectronics Industry. A Report by the Electronic Components Working Party", DEVLLOPMENT OFFICE Lor. 1978. "The New Industrial Relations", special report. Business Week, 11 May 1981, p. 58 - 68. "Racal-Decca: Birth of an Electronics Giant?", NEWTON, David J. Multinational Business, No. 2., 1980. "NIC's Need Multinationals", Multinational Business, No. 2, 1980. "Mikroprozessoren und Mikrocomputer. NIESS, P. RKW-Studie (1)", München, 1977. ROECK, H. SCHLAUCH, R. NISSEN, Beth "At Texas Instruments, If You're Pro-Union, Firm May Be Anti-You", Wall Street Journal, 28 July 1978. "Computer Data Bases: The Future is Now", NOLAN, Richard L. Harvard Business Review, September - October 1973, p. 98. "L'informatisation de la société", 5 volumes. NORA, Simon La Documentation Française, Paris, January 1978. MINC, Alain NORRIS, John "Crisis, Conflicts and Competition in the World Economy - a Long-range Projection till 1990", Chase Econometrics, Penn., December 1980, 2 vols. NOYCE, Robert N. "Microelectronics", in: Forester, Tom (ed) - "The Microelectronic Revolution", Oxford, 1980.

NYE, Joseph, DEESE, David A.

O'BRIEN, Peter

"Third World Industrial Enterprises as Exporters of Technology - Recent Trends and Underlying Causes". Ernst, D. (ed), 1981.

"Transborder Data Flows and International Business - A Pilot Study".

"Energy Security. Report of the Harvard Energy

and Security Research Project", Bullinger Publishing Company, 1981.

Study prepared by Christiano Antonelli for the Working Party on Information, Computer and Communications Policy, (DSTI/ICCP/81.16), Paris, 2 June 1981.

"Technological Innovation and the Economy",

background report (SPT/Min (81)4) to the Meeting of the Committee for Scientific and Technological Policy at Ministerial Level, Paris, 23 February 1981.

"International Co-operation in Science and Technology in the OECD Area. Trends, Problems, Prospects",

background report to the Meeting of the Committee for Scientific and Technological Policy at Ministerial Level, SPT/Min (81)6, Paris, 23 February 1981.

"Innovation in Small and Medium Firms", report prepared for the Committee for Scientific and Technological Policy, SPT(81)1, Scale 2, Paris, 5 January 1981.

"Microelectronics, Productivity and Employment", (proceedings of a special session of the OECD -Working Party on Information, Computer and Communications Policy, 27 - 29 November 1979. Paris, 1981.

OECD

OECD

OECD

OECD

OECD
- 368 -

OECD	"North - South Technology Transfer: The Issue of Feedback Effects", (SPT (80) 25), Paris, 15 October 1980.
	Published as: "North/South Technology Transfer - the Adjustments Ahead", Paris 1981.
OECD	"Information Activities, Electronics and Tele- communications Technologies - Impacts on Employment, Growth and Trade", V Lume I, Analytical Report. Directorate for Scie. :e, Technology and Industry Working Party on Information, Computer and Communications Policy (DSTI/ICCP/80.10). Paris, 1 September 1980.
OECD	"The Electronic Industry. Sector Report",
	study prepared by Mick McLean for the OECD programme on "Science and Technology in the New Economic and Social Context", Paris, 1 August 1980.
OECD	"Group of Experts on Economic Analysis of Information Activities and the Role of Electronics and Telecommunications Technologies", Vol. II : Background Reports,
	Directorate for Science, Technology and Industry Working Party on Information, Computer and Communications Policy. DSTI/ICCP/80.17 Scale E Paris, 30 June 1980.
OECD	"Impact of Multinational Enterprises on National Scientific and Technological Capacities. Analytical Report", SPT (80)4 - 1st Revision, Paris, 22 May 1980.
OECD	"Technical Change and Economic Policy. Science and Technology in the New Economic and Social Context", Paris, 1980.
OECD	"Les transferts de technologie Nord-Sud; le problème des effets en retour; etude de cas, la pétrochemie", report prepared by Jean-Marie Chevalier, Paris, 1980.









9



OECD	"The International Flows of Technology to Developing Courries", Analytical Study No. 2. (DSTI/SPR/79.32), París, 22 October 1979.
OECD	"Transfer of Technology in the Consumer Electronics Industry - The Television Sector. Sectoral Study 2",
	Directorate for Science, Technology and Industry Ad-hoc Group on the Transfer of Technology to Developing Countries. DSTI/SPR/79.27 Paris, 14 September 1979.
OECD	"Impact of Multinational Enterprises on National Scientific and Technical Capacities. Computer and Data Processing Industry",
	study prepared by Michel Delapierre and Charles Albert Michalet, for the Directorate for Science, Technology and Industry. (DSTI/SPR/77.39 - MNE), Paris, 27 December 1977.
OECD	"The conditions for success of technological innovation", <u>OECD</u> , Paris 1971.
OECD	"Gaps in Technology: Electronic Computers", Paris, 1969.
CECD	"Gaps in Technology: Electronic Components", Paris, 1968.

OECD - Interfutures "Capital Goods: Sectoral Evolution and World Prospects". Paris, 20 December 1979. OECD - Interfutures "Industrial Electronics, Structural Trends and World Outlook"; Paris, October 1979. OECD - Interfutures "Facing the Future: Mastering the Probable and Managing the Unpredictable - Final Report". OECD, Paris, June 1979 "Offshore Subcontractors Boom", Electronics, 29 March 1979. "The Fabrication of Microelectronic Circuits", in: OLDHAM, William G. Forester, Tom (ed) - "The Microelectronic Revolution", Oxford, 1980, p. 45. "Experts Look Ahead to the Day of the Full-Blown OLLING, Gustav Computer-Integrated Automatic Factory", IEEE Spectrum, October 1978. CRME, Michael "Micros: A Persuasive Force. A Study of the Impact of Microelectronics on Business and Society 1946 - 1990", Associated Business Press, London, 1979.

> "An Introduction to Microcomputers", Berkeley, Calif., 1978.

"Die japanische Herausforderung annehmen", Blick durch die Wirtschaft, 20 February 1981.

"Government Procurement Policies and Industrial Innovation",

report prepared for the Six Countries Programme on Government Policies towards Technological Innovation in Industry, Delft, December 1980.

"The Electronics Industry in Singaproe: Structure, Technology and Linkages", ERC Research Monogr. Series No. 7, Chopmen Enterprises, University of Singapore, Economic Research Institute, 1977.

PANG ENG FONG LIN, Linda

OSBORN, A.

OSER, Ervin

OVERMEER, W.

PRAKKE, F.

PASTRÉ, Olivier MEYER, Dominique TRUEL, Jean-Louis ZARADER, Robert	"Automation, Travail et Emploi: Etude Empirique des Principaux Automatismes Avancés et Elements d'Approche Mecro- économiques ",
	study prepared for the Mission à l'Informatique du Ministère de l'Industrie, Paris 1979.
PASTRÉ, Olivier TOLEDANO, J.	"Automation et emploi: l'hétérogénéi+4 des consequénces sociales du progrès technique", study prepared for Commissariat General au Plan, La Documentation Française, Paris, 1979.
PASTRÉ, Olivier TOLEDANO, J.	"Filières d'entraînement et effets externes: le développement de la filière composants électro- niques et ses effets sur l'emploi, étude empirique des principaux automatismes avancés, et éléments d'approche macro-économiques", <u>IRIS</u> , April 1979.
PHASE	A Guide to the Health Effects of Chemicals Used in Electronics Manufacturing, Mountain View, Calif., 1980.
PINEYE, David	"L'URSS et l'Asie septentionale: Une nouvelle approche des relations économiques avec le Tiers Monde?", <u>Economic Prospective Internationale</u> , No. 4. October 1980, p. 95 - 118.
PIPE, R.	"Developments within OECD and its member countries", in: P. Hewitt (ed) - "Computers, Records and the Right to Privacy", Lund, 1979, p. 105 - 110.
PLOTKE, David	"Technology and Social Development in the Contemporary United States: Political and Theoretical Issues",
	paper presented to the Round Table '81 "Socialism, Science, Tehenology Development Strategics". Cavtat, fugoslavia, 21 - 26 September 1981.
PORAT, M.U.	"The Information Economy: Definition and Measurement", <u>OT Special Publication</u> , 77, 12 (1) May 1977, U.S. Department of Commerce, Washington, D.C.
POSA, John G.	"'No Hands', Assembly Packages Chips", Electronics, 2 June 1981, p. 38.

- 1

- 372 -

PREDICASTS, INC. "Access via Lockheed Information System", Predicasts Market Abstracts, Cleveland/Ohio, 1980. PROGNOS AG and "Technischer Fortschrit. Auswirkungen auf MACKINTOSH CONSULTANTS LTD. Wirtschaft und Arbeitsmarkt", study prepared for the Ministry for Research and Technology (BMFT), FRG, Econ Verlag, Düsseldorf, Wien, 1980. QUATREPOINT, J -M. "Un deuxième "Plan Composants"? Les pouvoirs publics pourraient accroître leur effort tinancier pour le développement des circuits intégrés", Le Monde, 10 April 1981. RADA, Juan "Structure and Behaviour of the Semiconductor Industry", study prepared for the UN Centre on Transnational Corporation, New York, 1982, (forthcoming). RÁDA, Juan "The Impact of Microelectronics. A Tentative Appraisal of Information Technology", study prepared for the ILO, Geneve, 1980. REIJERS, L.N. "Automatisering in de Productie, een postindustriële revolutie', manuscript, Delft, University of Technology, 1980. REIJERS, L.N. "Comments on the OECD Study 'The Machine Tool Industry', prepared by Bernard Real", Manuscript, Delft, University of Technology, 23 March 1979. ROBINSON, Arthur L. Series of articles on microelecronics, in: Science, 2 May, 9 May, 30 May, 13 June, 11 July 1980. "Robot Irends at General Moters", American Machinist, August 1979 "Robots Join the Labor Force", Business Week, 9 June 1980, p. 62 - 76. ROHDE, Eric "L'informatisation: nature et usages", Futuribles, No. 36, September 1980 ROLANT, Michel "L'evolution économique des Etats-Unis et ses

incidences sur l'economie française", Paris, 1981.

"INTEL Corporation - Progress Report" ROSEN, B. Morgan Stanley and Co., New York, 1975. ROSENBERG, Nathan "Perspectives on Technology, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, etc. 1976. "Bio-technologies et bio-industrie", EOSNAY, J. La Documentation Française, Paris, 1979. ROTHWELL, Roy "Trends in Collective Industrial Research", study prepared for the Six Countires Programme on Aspects of Government Policy Towards Industrial Innovation, TNO, Delft/Netherlands, April 1980. ROTHWELL, Roy "Industrial Innovation and Government Regulation", report for the Six countries Programme on Aspects of Government Policy Towards Innovation in Industry and The National Science Foundation, TNO, Delft/Netherlands, March 1980. ROTHWELL, Roy "Industrial Innovation and Public Policy: ZEGVELD, W. Preparing for the 1990s", Pinter, London, March 1981. ROTHWELL, Roy "Technical Change and Employment", ZEGVELD, W. report prepared for the Six Countries Programme on Government Policies towards Technological Innovation in Industry, TNO, Delft/Netherlands. June 1979. ROTHWELL, Roy "Small and Medium Sized Manufacturing Firms: ZEGVELD, W. Their Role and Problems in Innovation. Government Policy in Europe, The USA, Canada, Japan and Israel", 2 volumes. report prepared for the Six Countries Programme on Government Policies towards Technological Innovation in Industry, TNO, Delft/Netherlands, June 1978. RUMELT, Richard P. "Strategy, Structure, and Economic Performance", Harvard Business School, Boston, 1974.

"Information et Macro-économie. Une premierè SAINT-GEOURS, Frédéric approche", in: Simon Nora and Alain Mine (ed) -"L'informatisation de la société", Annex I "Nouvelle informatique et nouvelle croissance" La Documentation Française, Paris, January 1978, p. 107 - 154. SALTER, W.E.G. "Productivity and Technical Change", Cambridge University Press, 1960. SATTER, D. "Tough Problem for Soviet Computers. Mcscow must decide on the future of its high technology", Financial Times, 1 July 1981. "Schlumberger. The Star of the Oil Fields Tackles Semiconductors", Business Week, 16 Feburary 1981. SCHMITZ, P. "Einführung in die anwendungsorientierte Informatik', SEIBT, D. München, 1975. "Technoligie und Innovation in der industriellen SCHOLZ, L. Produktion", Göttingen, 1974. SCIBERRAS, E. "Multinational Electronic Companies and National Economic Policies ", IAI Press, New York, 1977. "The Electronics Industry in Scotland. A SCOTTISH DEVELOPMENT AGENCY Proposed Strategy". study prepared by Booz, Allen and Hamilton, Management Consultants, Clasgow, April 1979. "Selling More Chips to Japan", Business Week, 11 February 1980. "Semiconductor Takes on its Own Gloy", Business Week, 1 December 1980, P. 98 P-E. "The Semiconductor Assembly Industry", report prepared for the Private Development Corporation of the Philippines, Makati, 1977.

- 375 -

"Can Semiconductors survive big business?", special Report, Business Week, 3 December 1979. "New Leaders in Semiconductors. An in-depth look at the strategies of two newcomers that are moving up fast", Business Week, 1 March 1976. SHAIKEN, Harley "Computer Technology and the Relations of Power in the Workplace", Wissenschaftszentrum Berlin, IIV^G discussion papers/ 80-217, Berlin, October 1980. SHAIKEN, Herley "The Brave New World of Work in Auto", In These Times, 19 - 25 September 1979. SHAPIRO, B.P. "Money Making through Marketing ", Harvard Business Review, July 1979. SHARPE, W.F. "The Economics of Computers", Columbia University Press, 1969. SHEPPARD Jr., Mark "Distributed computing power: opportunities and challenge", Keynote address, National Computer Conference, Dallas 1977. SIEGEL, Lenny "Delicate Bonds: The Global Semiconductor Industry", Pacific Research, Special Issue, Vol. XI/No. 1, January 1981. "The Japanese Semiconductor Industry", SILIN, R.H. Bank of America Asia Ltd., Hong Kong, 1979. "Microcomputer Handbook", SIPPL, Ch. J. New York, 1977.

"Computer Power for Small Business", SIPPL, Ch. J. Englewood Cliffs, 1979. "Software. An intelligent language takes off", Business Week, 17 November 1970. "The Computer Industry - an Economic-Legal SOMA, J.T. Analysis of its Technology and Growth", Lexington Books, Lexington, Mass. 1977. "New Starters in Silicon Valley. Hot, Young Outfits are Suddenly Rushing After the Custom Circuit Business", Business Week, 26 January 1981. STONEMAN, P. "Technological Diffusion and the Computer Revolution: The U.K. Experience", Cambridge University Press, 1976. "Mikroelektronik überwindet Wachstumsgrenzen. STAUDT, E. Eine Chance vor allem auch für Klein- und Mittelbetriebe", Blick durch die Wirtschaft, 6 April 1981. "Innovation als Störenfried. Ursachen des STAUDI, E. Widerstands gegen neue Informationstechnologien" Blick durch die Wirtschaft, 19 February 1981. "Energy Future. Report of the Energy Project STOBAUGH, Robert at the Harvard Business School", YERGIN, Daniel (eds) Ballantine Books, New York, 19802. "La grande_menace industrielle", STOFFAES, Christian Paris 19782, 790 pps. STRATEGIC BUSINESS "Future of the Japanese Electronic Industry", SERVICES, INC. San José, Calif., 95129, July 1981, (\$ 425).

San José, Calif. 1981.

Opportunities 1980-1989", San José, Calif., April 1981.

Tool Task Forec Project,

and Applications".

"Voice Input/Output: Markets, Technologies

"Small Satellite Earth Stations: U.S. Market

San José, Calif, August 1981, (\$ 950).

"Microelectronics and Computer Science",

University of California, October 1980.

"Oligopoly and Technical Progress",

Scientific American, September 1977,

STRATEGIC BUSINESS SERVICES INC. "The Impact of Gallium Arsenide Technology on New Markets and Products",

STRATEGIC INCORPORATED

STRATEGIC INCORPORATED

SUTHERLAND, I.E. HEAD, C.A.

SUTTON, George et al

SYLOS-LABINI, Paolo

SYSTEC CONSULTANTS

"The Adoption of Automation and Control and Related Microelectronics in Manufactoring Industries in Britain, Sweden and West Germany", London, 1981.

Harvard University Press, Cambridge/Mass, 1962.

"Technology of Machine Tools. Report of the Machine

5 volumes, Lawrence Livermore National Laboratory,

"Taking on the Industry Giant. An Interview with Gene M. Amdahl", Harvard Business Review, March - April 1980.

TÉBÉKA, Jacques

"Technologia elettroniche e organizzazione sociale".

"L'informatique créatrice d'emplois". Futuribles, No. 36, September 1980.

special issue of <u>SAPERE</u>, Rome, January 1979.

	"Technological Change and Collective Bargaining", a discussion paper published by the Association of Scientific Technical and Management Staffs, London, 1978, Mimeo.
	"Technology Update. Semiconductors", special report in <u>Electronics</u> , 23 October 1980, p. 114 - 131.
TEXAS INSTRUMENT, INC.	"TMS 9900 Family Software Development Handbook". First Edition, 320 pages. Texas Instruments Deutschland GmbH, Freising, 1981.
TEXAS INSTRUMENT, INC. (ed)	"Printer Manual TI 810", Houston, 1979.
TEXAS INSTRUMENT, INC (ed)	"First Quarter and Stockholders Meeting Report 1978", Dallas, 1978.
TEXAS INSTRUMENT, INC (ed)	"Pocket Guide", Dallas, 1976.
	"Die Textilindustrie auf dem Weg zu automatisierten Betrieben", <u>VDI-Berichte,</u> 324, 1978.
THOM, N.	"Zur Effizieuz betrieblicher Innovationsprozesse", Köln, 1976.
THOMAS, Uwe	"Electronics as an Economic Driving Force- the Importance of Electronics in an Industrialised Country",
	paper prepared for the Financial Times World Electronics Conference (London 11 + 12 May 1981), Bonn, 9 May 1981.
TILTON, J.E.	"International Diffusion of Technology: The Case of Semiconductors", The Brookings Institute, Washington, D.C., 1971.

TORRE, José de la "Decline and Adjustment: Public Intervention Strategies in the European Clothing Industries", European Institute of Business Administration, No. 80/07, Fontainebleau, 1980.

,

ſ,

,

"Trade Gap with Japan Widens". Electronics, 2 June 1981, p. 102 - 104. "A tyro challenges IEM in big computers", Business Week, 12 May 1975 TREILLE, J.M. "Pour définir une stratégie ...dustrielle", Etudes de politique industrielle, No. 7, La Documentation Française, Paris, 1975. TREILLE, J.M. "L'economie mondiale de l'ordinateur", Paris, 1973. TREILLE, J.M. "Progrès technique et stratégie industrielle", Paris, 1973. "L'industrie mondiale des semi-conducteurs", TRUEL, Jean-Louis Université de Paris IX, Paris, February 1980, (Thèse de 3e cycle). TRUEL, Jean-Louis "Les nouvelles stratégies de localisation internationale: le cas des semi-conducteurs", Revue D'economie industrielle, No. 14 4e trimestre 1980, p. 171 - 178. TSURUMI, Y. "The Japanese are coming", Ballinger, Cambridge, 1976. TURNER, Louis "Living with the Newly Industrializing Countries", WOOLCOCK, Stephen et al (eds) The Royal Institute of International Affairs, London, 1981. "Turning Chip Hills into Mountains, New Scientist, 30 October 1980. "Transnational Corporations in World Development -A Re-examination". Study prepared for the Commission on Transnational Corporations. E/C.10/38,

New York, 20 March 1978.

UN

- 380 -

UNCFAD	"Norld Trade Prospects up to the Year 2000". Ceneva August 1981, 280p.
UNCTAD	"International Subcontracting Arrangements in Electronics Between Developed Market-Economy Countries and Developing Countries", TD/B/C.2/144/Supp. 1, New York, 1975.
UN - Department of Economic and Social Affairs	"The application of Computer Technology for Development", (ST/ECA/176). New York, 1973,
UNESCO	"Informatics: A Vital Factor in Development", Paris, 1980.
UNIDO	"Technological Perspectives in Machine Tool Industry with Special Reference to Micro- Electronics Applications", study prepared by S.M. Patil, UNIDO, Vienna, 20 May 1981.
U.S. International Trade Commission	"Import Trends in TSUS Items 806.30 and 807.00.", U.S. Government Printing Office, Washington,D.C., 1980.
U.S. Department of Commerce	"A Report on the U.S. Semiconductor Industry" U.S. Government Printing Office, Washington D.C., September 1979.
	"U.S. Textiles Makers Learn to Play the Export Game", World Business Weekly, 30 June 1980.
UTTERBACK, James	"The Dynamics of Product and Process Innovation in Industry", manuscript,
	Centre for Policy Alternatives, MIT Cambridge/Mass, December 1978.

"Mikroprozessoren und Mikrocomputer", VAHLBERG, J. WIEMANN, B. RKW-Studie (2), München, 1977. "'Order Principally Denotes Power'. Elements and VAITSOS. Constantine Effects of Relative Bargaining Power between State Enterprises and Transnationals", manuscript, Athens, May 1981. "The Role of Transnational Enterprises in Latin VAITSOS, Constantine American Economic Integration Efforts: Who Integrates and with Whom, How and for Whose Benefit?", report prepared for UNCTAD, (TAD/EI/SEM.5/2). 15 March 1978. "The US Computer Industry, 1981 Edition: A VENTURE DEVELOPMENT CORP. Strategic Analysis", Wellesly, Mass., April 1981. von NEUMANN, John "Can We Survive Technology?", New York, 1956. von NEUMANN, John "The General and Logical Theory of Automata", New York, 1958. "Mikroelektronik der 80er Jahre", WEINERTH, H. Elektronik, No. 1. 1979, p. 33 - 37. WEIZENBAUM, Joe "Once More, the Computer Revolution", in: Forester, Tom (ed), 1980, p. 550 - 570. "Computer Power and Human Reason. From Judgement WEIZENBAUM, Joe to Calculation", New York, 1976. "The Origins of Software", WELKE, Larry Datamation, December 1980-WELLES, J.C. et al "The commercial application of missile/space technology", University of Denver Research Institute, 1963.

WELLS, Jr. Louis "Third World Multinationals", <u>Multinational Business</u> No. 1, 1980. "Where Will the Jobs Come From?", a special report, <u>The Economist</u>, 3 January 1981, pp 45 - 62.

WIENER, Norbert

WIENER, Norbert

WILLIAMSON, George

WINOGRAD. T.

WISE, Kensall D. CHEN, Kan JOKELEY, Roland E.

WITHINGTON, Frederic G.

"God and Golem, Inc.", Cambridge, Mass, 1964.

"The Human Use of Human Beings". New York, Doubleday, Anchor Books, 19542.

"Siemens Starts Second But Finishes First", Fortune, 10 April 1978.

"Beyond Programming Languages", Communications of the ACM (Association for Computing Machinery), Vol. 22/7, July 1978.

"Microcomputers: A Technology Forecost and Assessment to the Year 2000", John Wiley and Son, New York etc., 1980.

"The Golden Age of Packaged Software", Datamation, December 1980.

"World Electronics. Speakers Papers of the Financial Times World Electronics Conference 1981, 11-12 May 1981", Financial Times, London.

"World Electronics - Strategies for Success. Speakers Papers of the Financial Times, World Electronics Conference 1980", Financial Times, Monte Carlo, 5 - 7 May 1980.

"Planning your Database", in: A. Simpson (ed), "Current Aspects of Computer Technology: The Computer Software Scene: The Hard Sell", Furley, 1977, p. 27 - 36.

"Wringing out Nonproductive Time", American Machinist, July 1979.

WRIGHT, A.L.

"Some Thoughts on Next-Generation Programming WULF, T. Languages", in: Jones, Anita (ed) - "Perspectives of Computer Science", Academic Press, New York, 1972 "Software Engineering: R + D, Trends and Defense WULF, W.A. Needs", in: P. Wegener (ed), "Research Directions in Software Technology", London, 1979, p. 39 - 43. "Chemical Giants Turn to Biotechnology", YANCHINSKI, Stephanie New Scientist, 6 November 1980. "Making the Move to Structured Programming", YOURDON, Edwe 1 Datamation, June 1978. "Microprocessors". ZAKS, R. Berkeley, 1977. ZEMAN, Zavis P. "La Microélectronique contre l'emploi?", Futuribles, No. 36, September 1980. Ziegler, K. "A distributed information system study", IBM-System Journal, Vol. 18, No.3, 1979. p. 374 - 401. ZIMMERMANN, Halter L. "Datenverarbeitung. Fünfter Band. Mathematische und technische Grundlagen", Wiesbaden, 1980.

- 383 -



